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We are pleased to submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the Oregon Public 
Employees Retirement System (PERS, System or Agency) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This report 
includes all funds over which the Public Employees Retirement Board (Board) exercises authority. These 
funds were established to provide retirement, death, and disability benefits and other postemployment 
benefits (OPEB) to members; administer retiree health insurance programs; and oversee the state-sponsored 
deferred compensation program. As of June 30, 2022, PERS provides services to 898 employers and more 
than 393,000 active, inactive, and retired members and beneficiaries. 

The ACFR is intended to fulfill the legal requirements of Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 238.630. PERS 
management is responsible for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the 
presentation, including all disclosures. 

Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP (MGO) has audited the accompanying financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The independent 
auditor's report is included in this report. 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Included in this report is a section entitled Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This section 
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements. The 
letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. We 
would like to direct your attention to the MD&A that begins on page 20. 

Financial Information 

The financial statements contained in this report have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, also known as generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as set forth in the principles established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB), including all effective GASB pronouncements, and in conformance with the guidelines for financial 
reporting developed by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada 
(GFOA). 
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Management of the System assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the 
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, 
management of the System has established internal controls designed to protect the System's assets from 
loss, theft, or misuse, and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the included 
financial statements. Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed their effectiveness, 
management has developed controls that provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the 
financial statements contained in this report will be free of material misstatements. As management, we 
assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all 
material aspects. 

Factors Affecting Economic Condition 

The economic condition of the System is primarily affected by investment earnings. A comparative analysis 
of investment rates of return is presented on page 31 of this report. 

Funding 

The System is funded through contributions and investment earnings. For judges, the contribution is set at 
7.0% of covered salary. Employer contributions are established by actuarial valuations conducted biennially 
in odd-numbered calendar years. The System's funding objective is to meet long-term benefit promises 
through contributions that fund benefits as they accrue. An adequate contribution level, when combined 
with investment earnings, will result in the full funding of benefits as they come due. If the level of funding 
is adequate, the ratio of assets accumulated to total liabilities will increase, and more income will be available 
for investment. Prudent investment of assets, and returns on those investments, may increase the funding 
base and allow for a more stable employer contribution rate. As of the December 31, 2021, actuarial 
valuation, the System has a funded ratio of 86.4% for the defined benefit pension plan it administers, 
including employer side accounts, and 79.6% funded ratio, excluding employer side accounts. 

All members, with the exception of judges, contribute 6.0% of salary to the Individual Account Program 
(IAP), an individual account-based program under the PERS tax-qualified governmental plan for all PERS 
members, established in 2004. Beginning July 1, 2020, Senate Bill 1049 required a portion of most member 
contributions to their IAP accounts be redirected to their new Employee Pension Stability Account (EPSA) to 
help fund the cost of their future pension benefits. For Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) 
members, the redirected amount is 0.75% of their IAP contribution and for Tier One and Tier Two members, 
the redirected amount is 2.5% of their IAP contribution. In 2021, only members who earned more than $3,333 
a month were subject to a portion of their IAP contributions being redirected to the EPSA. 

Investments 

The Oregon Investment Council (OIC) has statutory authority (ORS 293.701) to establish policies for the 
investment and reinvestment of the System's funds. The System's long-term investment strategy is designed 
to capitalize on investment return while protecting principal. The OIC works to strategically allocate assets 
in the System's portfolio. The target investment portfolio mix at fair value as of June 30, 2022, was 30.0% 
public equity, 20.0% private equity, 20.0% debt securities, 12.5% real estate, 7.5% real assets, 7.5% diversifying 
strategies, and 2.5% risk parity. In addition to approved asset classes, target asset allocation ranges, and 
rebalancing policies, the OIC further safeguards the System's investment portfolio through use of an 
independent custodian, defined limits on delegated authority, and independent audits. The OIC uses external 
portfolio managers, employing both passive (indexed) and active investment strategies. The portfolio is 
broadly diversified among equities, debt securities, real estate, and private equities, with additional 
diversification achieved through domestic and international investing. System securities are held by State 
Street Bank and Trust Company. 

3 
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The System's Regular Investment Portfolio (Portfolio) experienced in fiscal year 2022 a rate of return of 6.3%. 
This compares with a rate of return of 25.5% for fiscal year 2021. The Portfolio's trailing 10-year return was 
9.3%. Descriptions of OIC policies regarding diversification, performance objectives, fees, and asset allocation 
are found on page 102. 

Major Initiatives 

Senate Bill 1049 (SB 1049) 

SB 1049 was signed into law by the governor on June 11, 2019. The challenge for PERS has been to not only 
implement this bill, but also continue to provide our members and employers with uninterrupted service 
while working through the intricacies of implementing SB 1049. 

The Agency developed an overall implementation approach to tackle each element of SB 1049. This approach 
is to manage this as one comprehensive program with the following five individual projects: 

Project 
Employer Programs 

Salary Limit 

Work After Retirement 
Member Redirect 
Member Choice 

Effective Date 
7/1/2019 

1/1/2020 
1/1/2020 
7/1/2020 
1/1/2021 

As of June 30, 2022, PERS fully finished and closed the Employer Programs and Salary Limit projects. The 
Member Choice project was closed in August 2021. Work completed on the Work After Retirement project 
in February 2022, and the Member Redirect project has an expected completion date of April 2024. PERS 
also initiated a new project, Technical Debt, to address some technical debt issues that arose as a result of 
project implementations. PERS received funding for these projects for the 2021-23 biennium. 

Strategic Management System 

PERS continues to evolve its outcome-based management system (POBMS) to improve operational 
performance and organizational alignment. This process-based system integrates problem solving and 
decision making with active engagement from the front-line staff who perform daily work. 

The 2018-23 PERS Strategic Plan was updated during the year to reflect six strategic priorities. Each priority 
has several areas of focus and specific, achievable goals and objectives. The six strategic priorities are: 

1. Organizational Management and Development 

2. Member Services and Communications 

3. Data Reliability 

4. Information Governance, Security, and Technology 

5. Financial Management 

6. Enterprise Risk Management 

4 
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For each of the strategic priorities, PERS is using existing strategic and operational planning functions to 
prioritize and allocate resources. Strategies are being implemented using a variety of methods. The methods 
include problem solving, project management, breakthrough initiatives, and integration into core business 
practices. Specific performance metrics have been identified for tracking. 

Supporting the Agency's strategic priorities are six core operating processes and six core supporting processes. 
Each process has an owner, sub-processes, and outcome measures to monitor and document progress. 
Quarterly target review meetings are held to review progress and identify areas for improvement. 

More information on the 2018-2023 PERS Strategic Plan can be found on our website at: 

https://www.oregon.gov/pers/Documents/Strategic-Plan.pdf . 

Information Security and Continuity Management Programs 

The Agency has established a Continuity Management Program, which encompasses our Continuity of 
Operations Plan, Business Recovery, and Disaster Recovery Plans. That said, there is recognition that, while 
we now have the basics in place, there is still significant effort required to ensure that we continue to 
enhance our Continuity Management Program. 

Similar to Continuity Management, Information Security is one of the foundational initiatives the Agency 
has in place. This ensures that the data and personal information we maintain are secure. Working 
collaboratively with the State Enterprise Security Office, staff made significant strides in enhancing our 
Information Security Program in fiscal year 2022. 

Member and Employer Satisfaction Surveys 

PERS' 2022 Member Satisfaction Survey results show a slight increase in member satisfaction from 2021, 
continuing the trend of higher satisfaction during years when the Legislature is not in regular session. 
Overall quality of service was rated at 85.1% in 2022, up from 83.6%. This year was the first time that the 
survey was disseminated solely via digital channels without the print edition of the Perspectives newsletter. 
Retiree satisfaction also increased, with more than 98.0% rating PERS' overall quality of service as "excellent" 
or "good." Nonretired member satisfaction came back at a 72.2% overall satisfaction rate. 

Employers reported a satisfaction rating of nearly 86.0% in 2022, up from 85.1% in 2021. We received 76.0% 
more responses on the employer survey than in 2021, with more than 500 responses. 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

Certificate of Achievement 
The Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting is applicable for the year ended June 30, 
2021. The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award presented by the Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA) that recognizes conformance to the highest standards of preparation of state and 
local government financial reports. 

To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and 
efficiently organized ACFR, whose contents conform to program standards. The ACFR must satisfy both 
generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is 

5 
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valid for one year. The System has received a Certificate of Achievement for the last 31 consecutive years. 
We believe our current report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program 
requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA. 

Public Pension Standards Award 
The Public Pension Coordinating Council (PPCC) awarded the 2022 Public Pension Standards Award to PERS 
for its plan design and administration. 

The PPCC is a coalition of three associations representing public pension funds covering the vast majority of 
public employees in the United States. The associations are as follows: the National Association of State 
Retirement Administrators (NASRA), the National Conference on Public Employee Retirement Systems 
(NCPERS), and the National Council on Teacher Retirement (NCTR). Public pension standards are intended to 
reflect minimum expectations for public retirement system management and administration. They also 
serve as benchmarks by which all defined benefit public plans are measured. 

This is the 20th year the PPCC has offered the award to public retirement systems and the 19th consecutive 
year PERS has applied for, and received, the award. 

Acknowledgments 

The information contained in this report is used to make management decisions, to demonstrate stewardship 
of the assets entrusted to the System, and to comply with legal and accounting provisions. Staff strives to 
provide reliable and complete information for these purposes. The compilation of this report reflects the 
combined efforts of the PERS Financial Services Division. 

This report is available on the PERS website at https:/ /www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/ Actuarial­
Financial-Information.aspx, and a link to this document is e-mailed to all PERS employers. Summary 
financial information and the website link are also reported in the PERS newsletter, Perspectives, which is 
distributed to active and retired members. 

We would like to thank the PERS Board and staff, participating employers, the Oregon Investment Council, 
the Office of the State Treasurer, and all others working on behalf of the System for their time, commitment, 
support, and hard work. We are grateful for their continued support and assistance. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Kevin Olineck 

Director 

Richard Horsford 

Chief Financial Officer 
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The Oregon Legislature has delegated authority to the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) Board of 
Trustees (Board) to administer the PERS system. The board is composed of five trustees who administer 
retirement (service and disability), death, and retiree health insurance benefits. PERS also administers the 
Oregon Savings Growth Plan (OSGP), a deferred compensation program for state and local government 
employees. 

All members of the PERS Board are appointed by the state governor and confirmed by the state senate. The 
governor designates the chairperson. 

Statute specifies that PERS Board membership must consist of three people with experience in business 
management, pension management, or investing who are not members of the PERS system; one person who 
is either an employee of the state in a management position or a person who holds an elective office in the 
governing body of a participating public employer other than the state; and one person representing public 
employees and retirees. 

As of June 30, 2022, the three PERS Board members representing business management, pension 
management, or investing are Sadhana Shenoy (Board Chair), Stephen Buckley, and Jardon Jaramillo. John 
Scanlan was appointed to represent public employees and retirees; Lawrence J. Furnstahl (Vice-Chair) was 
appointed to represent public employers. Terms for each member are staggered. 

Sadhana Shenoy (Board Chair) 
Sadhana Shenoy has spent more than five years in the mobility as a service (Maas) space. She was the Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Operations Officer of Moovel, a transit technology company, and she held this 
position as the company developed from start-up to acquisition and into growth. She started her career as a 
software engineer working with databases and children's software. She then moved to the nonprofit sector, 
working on boards within the environmental (Sierra Club), educational (Montessori School of Beaverton), 
and legal (CRAG Law Center) areas. Ms. Shenoy is a charter and board member of TiE Oregon (The Indus 
Entrepreneurs) and of TYE Oregon (TiE Youth Entrepreneurs). She enjoys angel investing in exciting new 
ideas and promoting youth entrepreneurship. 

Ms. Shenoy holds Bachelor of Science degrees in accounting and business administration and a Master of 
Science degree in computer science. She is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in Oregon. 

Lawrence J. Fumstahl (Vice-Chair) 
Lawrence J. Furnstahl has nearly four decades of experience in the strategic, financial, and operational 
management of complex organizations, including universities and academic health centers. Mr. Furnstahl 
has served as a chief financial officer for more than 25 years. He is now the Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer of Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU). OHSU is a $3.7 billion public 
corporation with nearly 3,000 faculty, 17,500 staff, and 4,000 students and trainees. OHSU participates in 
$500 million of research and is the state's only major academic health center. Prior to joining OHSU in 
January 2011, Mr. Furnstahl served as Chief Financial and Strategy Officer with the University of Chicago 
Medical Center and Biological Sciences Division. Over the years, he has also served as Vice President of 
Financial Planning for Science for University of Chicago; Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
for University of California, San Francisco, Stanford Health Care; Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
for the University of Chicago; and Vice President and Treasurer of Patient Services for the University of 
Chicago Hospitals. Mr. Furnstahl is a member of the Visiting Committee to the Physical Sciences Division of 
the University of Chicago and a board director and former Chair of the Hyde Park Art Center. He is a 
graduate of the College of the University of Chicago, with a degree in economics. 
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Stephen Buckley 
Stephen Buckley was a partner at the Portland, Oregon law firm Brownstein Rask LLP prior to his retirement 
on June 30, 2019. For more than 30 years, Mr. Buckley served as legal counsel for boards of trustees of 
private sector health and welfare plans and defined benefit, defined contribution, and 401(k) pension plans in 
Washington, Oregon, and California. Mr. Buckley was a frequent speaker at employee benefit plan 
conferences sponsored by the International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans. Mr. Buckley earned his 
Bachelor of Arts degree in political science from Colorado State University and his Juris Doctorate degree 
from Willamette University College of Law. 

John Scanlan 
John Scanlan was a teacher for 29 years and retired in 2021. He taught English language arts to students in 
grades 6 to 12 in three districts; was an adjunct professor at Eastern Oregon University (EOU); co-directed the 
Oregon Writing Project at EOU; and coordinated the Pendleton School District Outdoor School, the longest 
continuously operating outdoor school program east of the Cascades. Mr. Scanlan also served as president of 
the Oregon Council of Teachers of English, frequently presented at council conferences, and has been 
published in the council's peer-reviewed Oregon English Journal. He has been active in the Oregon Education 
Association, including serving as a local building representative, treasurer, negotiation team leader, 
president, and board member. 

Jardon Jaramillo 
Jardon Jaramillo serves as Senior Director of Investor Relations, Treasury, and Risk Management at Portland 
General Electric, communicating and managing financial results. He previously worked as Director of 
Compensation and Benefits from 2013 to 2016. As director, he was responsible for managing the company's 
defined benefit pension plan as well as overseeing health care programs for all of PGE's employees. Before 
joining PGE, Mr. Jaramillo was a manager with Deloitte in the M&A Transactions Services consulting group. 
He spent his early career at Deloitte in the audit and assurance space. Mr. Jaramillo enjoys contributing to 
solutions to equity issues in the community and serves as Vice Chair of the Board of Metropolitan Family 
Services. 

Mr. Jaramillo received an MBA from the Anderson School at the University of California, Los Angeles, a BA 
in economics from Northwest Nazarene University, and is a CPA licensed in Oregon. 
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Executive Director/CEO 
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Operating Principles  

 

Mission  

Core Values  

••• 

We serve the people of Oregon by administering public employee benefit trusts to 
pay the right person the right benefit at the right time . 

••• 

Service-Focus: We work together to meet the needs of others with dependability, 
professionalism, and respect. 

Accountability: We take ownership for our decisions, actions, and outcomes. 

Integrity: We inspire trust through transparency and ethical, sound judgment. 

••• 

Professional: We are responsive, respectful, and sensitive to the needs of our 
members, employers, and staff. 

Accurate: We ensure data integrity and provide consistent, dependable information 
and benefits. 

Judicious: We use sound judgment and prudent, principled decision-making in 
upholding our fiduciary responsibility. 

Information Security: We are constantly vigilant to safeguard confidential 
information. 

• •• 
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C:P ,tjfjp ,1 

Pu le 
ACCOU1'ler l.:. 

Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

ln.depfll.du Audito s Report 

To the Ho orable Kate Brown 
Gov-emo ofOregon 

To the Pub ·c Employees Retirement Board of the 
Orego Public Emp oyees Retirament System 

Tigard, Oregon 

Report on the Audit of the Finan.cl.al tatemul , 

Opinio,u 

We have audited the finmcul std:emeIIh of the fi.dnciary activities andpmprietuy adivities of the Oregon 
Pu_b · r Employees Retirement S}'S,te-m (the System), an agency of the State of Oregon, as of and or the 
fisc.11 year ~ June 30, 2022, and the related notes o the financial e:meots, ·hich collectively 
comprise the System s basic financial statements a.s listed in the tab e of contems.. 

In our opinion, the acco panying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the respective 
financial positio of the fiduciary tivi.ties and prop · etuy activities of the O.regon Public Employees 
Retirement System, as of Jone 3-01 2022., and the respec: · ·e changes in financial position, and, here 
applicab e cash flows thereof fo the fiscal year the ended in accordance with. acc:owrting principles 
generally aroep d in the · ted States of America. 

Baris for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in ac:c:ordanc:e with auditing standards generally accepted in the United Sbtes of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicab to financial audits contained in Go\'BTllmfflt Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the · ted States ( Gowmmrffll Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further descn.Ded in the Auditor' s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Finanr.ia S meJits section of our report. ,; e are required to be independent of the System and to 
meet om oftier ethical responsioilities in accordance with the relevant e · cal requiremems relating to our 
audit We b · eve that the audit evidence e have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
or our audit opinions. 

Other Maner 

Prior-Year Comparativ lefonnation 

The financial ments include partial prior-year comparative information. Such infonnation doe-s not 
include all of the infomwion required to constitute a prresentatio:n in conformity with accounting principles 
generally arce,p ed in the "ted States of America. Accordingly, such infonnation should be read in 
conjunclion with the System's financial statements for the fiscal year ended Jone 30, 2021 , from which 
such partial ioformation was de · ed. 

www.m ocpa.com 
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Rq,ort ,on PllTtial CofffJNUatm Inft1T11UU.it111 

We lrn-e previous! audited the Sysmn's 02) fioancia] -.ta.temen and we expressed unmodified audit 
opinions oo the financial stdeme:nts in om repo.rt dated December I , 0 ] . In rmr opinion, the parti:al 
cmnparati~ iofonna1ion presenfed herein as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 is ~oosistent, 
in alJ material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it was derived. 

Rq,onsibilitifl of MmrA,n,tot1 for tire Futtu1cuzl Stlllannrts 

The System's management is respo11S1l>le for the prepandion and fair presentation of the financial 
strtemeuts in accordance with accOlllltmg principles generally accepted in the Uoited. States of America, 
and for- the design, impleroentati~ and mai:nteoanre of imemaJ control r-elevant o the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial m1emems that are free from material misstatement, whether- dne to fraud or- error-. 

lo preparing the financial strtements managemem is required to evaluate whether the-@ are conditions OI' 
e\'eltts, cansidered in the aggregate, that raise substantial <ioubt about the System 1 s ability to cootinue as a 
going concern for months beyond the financial statement cbt incl.w:ling my mrrentl known 
infor:ma1ion that may raise substmtw doubt shortly thereafter. 

AJulimr's RLSpOIUilRl.itusfor tlJe A1ulit of dre Finmtaal Strrtffltents 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements :os a whole are free 
from material mi.sstdement whether dne to fraud or- error, md to issue an auditor s report that includes our 
opinions. Rssooable assurance is a high le\,eJ of assunoc:e but is not absoJute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that m audi condu.ded in accordance wiJh GAAS and GoWITPfJff t .Auditing Standards will 
always ,detect a material missf.ltemeof when it exists. The risk of no · detecting a material misstatement 
resulting &om fraud is higher- than fOI' one resulting &om error as :fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, roisrepresenhtioos, OI' the over-ride of iotemal control Misstatements :rre coosidered 
maferi:al if there is a substmtial likelihood that, individually OI' .in the aggreg.rt they would influence the 
jucwr,ent made by a reasanab user based on the financial sb1eroiems. 

lo perfonning an audit in accxmianc:e with GAAS md Govenun t AudiJing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whedier ,due to 
fraud or error and design and perform audit procedures respcmsi~ to those risks. Such procedures 
include ex;rminin g, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• Obb:in an tlllds:stmdiog of iotemal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that aie appropriate in the c:ircmnstmces, but oo for the purpose of expressing an opinion ,on the 
e.ifecliveness ,of the S s inte.roal control Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Ei,-aluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used md the reasooableness of signi:fi.cmt 
accounting estimates made by roa:n.igemen as well as e1.-.tlnate the o\'enll prasentation of the 
financial ¢lfemenb 

• Cooclwle whether, in our judgment, there aie conditions or ~ , considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substmtial doubt about the System's ability to cootimJe as a going ooncem for a 
reasonable period of time. 

2 
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Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

We are required to romonmi<-.ate with those charged with gm.·em.ance regarding, amang other ma the 
planned scope and timing of the au.di significant audit findin and cemin internal control--ntlated matters 
that e identified dm:ing the audit. 

luq_uird S,q,ple1ftntuny lnfunnlltiDft 

Accounting principles g:merally accepted in the United Sta.tes of America require that the m.m.agement' s 

discussion and analysis, the s:chedule of changes in net pension liability/(asset) and related ratios - defined 
benefit pension plan, the schedule ,of investmem returns - defined benefit pension plan, the scbeduJe of 
defined benefit pension p.lan employer- cootnoutions, the schedule of changes in net OPEB (asset) and 
related ratios - OPEB Plan-RHIA, the schedole of investment retmns - OPEB Plan-RHIA, the schedule 
of changes in net OPEB lia.bility/(a.s:set) and related ratios - OPEB Plan - RlilP A, the schednle of 
investment retums - OPEB Plan - RHIP A, the schednl.e of OPEB RHIA employer contn'"butions the 
schedule of OPEB RHIP A empJo 1er contnlmtions, and the schedule of claims ,de,.,tlopment informatio 
as listed in the table of conteoh, be presented to supplemem the basic- financial stitemems. Such infomwirm 
is the responsibility of~ and, abbougb not a part of the basic financial statement;., is iequired 
by the Goi;.-emmentd Accotm1ing Standards Board who considets it to be an ,essemiaJ part ,of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial m1eme.nts in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied cemi:n limifed procedures to the required supplementary informat:ion in 
accordance wifh GAAS which consisted of inquiries ofm.anagemmt about the methods ofp1eparing the 
information and comparing the informat:ion for consistency with management' s responses ourinqumes, 
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtrined during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or- prt>'\-ide m assurance on the in:fon:nation because the limited 
procedures do DO provide us with sufficient ev-idence to express an opinion or- pro,,;de ;my assm.mce. 

S.pple .. ntuuy lnfunwr.ti°"' 

Our audit was ~cted for the pmpw..e of forming opinions on the financial statements that coilective.ly 
c.-amprise the System's basic financial ~ The schedole of plan net posiiion - defined benefit 
pension plan, the s:chedule ,of changes in plan net position - defined benefit pension plan, the sch.edole of 
administrative expenses - all funds, the schedule of payments to conroltmts and contrado and the 
summary of uwestment fees, commissions, and expenses (supplementary infoanati.on) are p.-esented for 
purposes of addifio analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
in.focmatian is the respc:ms1bility of management and was derived nom and relates directl to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financ:ial c;t.tements. The information has been 
subjected to tlie auditmg procedures applied in the audit of die basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, · ding comparing and reconciling such infmnati.an directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the b asic financial statements or to the basic 6naoci:al 
statements themselves, and oiher additional procedures in acc.ordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the 
supplementuy infoanati.on, is f.rirl stated, in all material respects., in relation to the basic financial 
strfem.ents as a whole. 

Otlur lnfonnlrlUJn 

The System's management is respansib fm the odier infmmatioo · ded in the a:mnw report. The other 
in.focmation comprises the imrodncloey, inv--esfment, actuarial, and statistic::al sections but does DO include 
th.e basic financial statements and our auditor s report thereon. Om opinions on the basic fi:naoci:al 

ements do no cover the other infonnation, and w1! do not express an opinion or ;my fo:rm of assurance 
thereon. 

l 
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Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

In connedioo with our audit of the basic financial ~ our respons1"'bi.li. is to read the other 
information md a>osider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other infonnation and the 
basic tinaoci.a) stnements, or the other information otherwise appears io be materially misstated. It: based 
on the wmk performed, we conclude that an uncorrected m.ab!Jul misstatement of the other information 
exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other luportin~ ~aired b · Goffntlftmt Auiitma St1m1llml.s 

In a~o:nbnce wifh Gow1rnmtm1 .AudiJing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December , 2022, on our consideration of the System's intemal coniroJ o,-er financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compJiance with cert.in provisions of laws, regubtions, contracts, and grant agreemeoh and 
other matters. The pmpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of intemal control 
over financial reporting and complianoe and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effec:tn't!llesS of infemal control over firomcial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in acxmdance with Gow,nrment .Amliti.ng SJmrdtrnu in considering the System's intemal 
control over- financial reporting and compl.ianc.e.. 

If&((;;~ &,hi { 0 1CoMe(( /_§p 
Sacr.i:meofo Califomi.l 
December ·, 021 

4 
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Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
This section presents management's discussion and analysis of the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 
System's (PERS or the System) financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. It is a 
narrative overview and analysis that we present in conjunction with the Letter of Transmittal included in 
the Introductory Section of this Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). It should also be read in 
conjunction with PERS' basic financial statements, as presented in this report. 

PERS is primarily responsible for administering retirement benefits, health insurance benefits, and 
supplemental retirement savings plans. PERS comprises six funds: a defined benefit pension plan, an 
individual account-based program under the PERS tax-qualified governmental plan, two other 
postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans, a deferred compensation plan, and a proprietary fund. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOMPANYING INFORMATION 
Management's discussion and analysis provides an introduction to and overview of the basic financial 
statements, which comprise the following components: Fund Financial Statements and Notes to the 
Financial Statements. Collectively, this information presents the combined net position restricted for pension 
benefits, OPEB, the individual account-based program, and deferred compensation, along with the 
unrestricted net position of the proprietary fund administered by PERS as of June 30, 2022. It also 
summarizes the combined changes in net position restricted for pension benefits, other employee benefits 
and OPEB, the changes in unrestricted net position, and the cash flows of the proprietary fund for the year 
then ended, along with an actuarial measurement of the employers' total pension and OPEB liabilities 
compared to the fiduciary net position of the defined benefit pension and OPEB plans. The information 
available in each of these sections is briefly summarized below. 

Fund Financial Statements 
As of June 30, 2022, financial statements are presented for the two types of funds administered by PERS: 
fiduciary funds, where PERS acts in a fiduciary capacity as a trustee for others and is responsible for 
administering the assets placed under its control; a custodian for assets held in a custodial capacity, and 
administers a proprietary fund, where fees are charged for services provided and the focus is on determining 
financial position, operating and non-operating income, changes in net position, and cash flows. 

Fiduciary funds include the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan Individual 
Account Program (IAP), the Retirement Health Insurance Account (RHIA), the Retiree Health Insurance 
Premium Account (RHIPA), and the deferred compensation plan, known as the Oregon Savings Growth Plan 
(OSGP). Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of PERS participants. A 
statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position are presented for the 
fiduciary funds as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, along with comparative total information 
as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. These financial statements reflect the resources available to 
pay benefits to retired members and other beneficiaries as of year-end, as well as the changes in those 
resources during the year. 

Proprietary fund includes the Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account (SRHIA), an enterprise fund. A 
statement of net position; a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and a statement of 
cash flows are presented for the proprietary fund as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, along 
with comparative total information as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. These financial 
statements reflect the net position, changes in net position, and cash flows resulting from PERS business­
type activities. 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

Note 1 - provides a summary of significant accounting policies, including the basis of accounting for each 
of the fund types: investment accounting policies, management's use of estimates, and other significant 
accounting policies. 

Note 2 - provides a general description of PERS as well as a description of each of the funds administered 
by PERS. Information regarding employer and member participation in the pension and OPEB plans 
administered by PERS is also provided. 

Note 3 - provides information on the System's accounts receivables and payables. 

Note 4 - provides information on cash and cash equivalents. The note also describes investments, 
including the techniques and inputs used to determine fair value, investing authority, investment risk 
categorizations, and additional information about unfunded investment commitments, securities 
lending, and derivatives. 

Note 5 - provides information about capital assets used in plan operations. 

Note 6 - provides information on reserves. 

Note 7 - provides information on potential contingencies of PERS. 

Note 8 - provides information on the estimated claims liability of the SRHIA. 

Note 9 - provides information on the Employers' Net Pension Liability. 

Note 10 - provides information on Employers' Net OPEB (Asset). 

Note 11- provides information on subsequent events. 

Required Supplementary Information 
In addition to the financial statements and notes explained above, this ACFR includes 10 additional Required 
Supplementary Information schedules with historical trend information, as described below: 

The Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability/(Asset) and Related Ratios, page 76, presents the 
pension plan's change in total pension liability, change in the fiduciary net position, net pension liability, 
fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability, total covered payroll, and net pension 
liability as a percentage of covered payroll. This required 10-year trend schedule will disclose future 
years prospectively, beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. 

The Schedule of Investment Returns - Defined Benefit Pension Plan, page 76, presents for each fiscal 
year the annual money-weighted return (internal rate of return) on pension plan investments, net of 
pension plan investment expense. This required 10-year trend schedule will disclose future years 
prospectively, beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. 

The Schedule of Defined Benefit Pension Plan Employer Contributions, on pages 77 and 78, contains a 10-
year schedule comparing the amount of actuarially determined contributions with the amount of 
contributions recognized in relation to the actuarially determined contributions, and showing whether 
there is a contribution deficiency or excess. The schedule also shows the amounts of contributions 
recognized by the pension plan in relation to the actuarially determined contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll. 

The Schedules of Changes in Net OPEB Liability /(Asset) and Related Ratios for RHIA is on page 79 and for 
RHIPA on page 80 presents the OPEB plan's change in the total OPEB liability, change in the fiduciary 
net position, net OPEB liability /(asset), fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability, 
total covered payroll, and net OPEB liability /(asset) as a percentage of covered payroll. These required 10-
year trend schedules will disclose future years prospectively, beginning with the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2017. 
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The Schedules of Investment Returns - OPEB Plans, for RHIA and RHIP A, on pages 79 and 80, 
respectively, present for each fiscal year the annual money-weighted return (internal rate of return) for 
each of the OPEB plan investments, net of OPEB plan investment expense. These required 10-year trend 
schedules will disclose future years prospectively, beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 

The Schedules of OPEB Plan Employer Contributions for both RHIA and RHIPA, on pages 81 through 84, 
contain a 10-year schedule comparing the amount of actuarially determined contributions with the 
amount of contributions recognized in relation to the actuarially determined contributions. They also 
indicate whether there is a contribution deficiency or excess. The schedules also show the amounts of 
contributions recognized by the OPEB plans in relation to the actuarially determined contributions as a 
percentage of covered payroll. 

The Schedule of Claims Development Information for SRHIA on page 85, shows earned revenues and 
expenses over the past ten years. 

Other Supplementary Information 
In addition to the Required Supplementary Information, there are five Other Supplementary Information 
schedules, as described below: 

The Schedule of Plan Net Position and Schedule of Changes in Plan Net Position - Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan, pages 87 and 89, display the components of the defined benefit pension plan. 

The Schedule of Administrative Expenses and Schedule of Payments to Consultants and Contractors on 
pages 91 and 92 show the costs of managing the System. 

The Summary of Investment Fees, Commissions, and Expenses begins on page 93 and provides the detail 
of investment-related expenses included in the Investment Expense line item reported in the Statement 
of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
PERS' assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of fiscal year 2022, with $99,535.0 million restricted for 
pension, IAP, OPEB, and deferred compensation benefits. 

Fiduciary net position decreased by $1,240.4 million, or 1.2%, primarily because investment earnings and 
employer contributions were less than total benefits and administrative expenses paid. 

PERS' funding objective is to meet long-term benefit obligations. As of December 31, 2021, the date of the 
latest actuarial funding valuation, the funded ratio of the defined benefit pension plan, including side 
accounts, was 86.4%. In general, this means that for every $1 of future pension benefits due, PERS has 
approximately $0.86 available for payment. 

Revenues (additions to fiduciary net position), which include member and employer contributions of 
$5,026.8 million and investment activities totaling $214.2 million, were down 79.3% for fiscal year 2022, 
from $25,444.3 million in fiscal year 2021. This decrease was attributable to a $22,160.8 million decrease 
in investment earnings. 

Expenses (deductions from fiduciary net position) increased 7.0% to $6,497.8 million during the fiscal year 
from $6,074.5 million in fiscal year 2021, primarily because of a similar increase in benefit payments. 
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FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
The condensed comparative summaries of Fiduciary Net Position on page 24 demonstrate that the pension 
trust and other employee benefit trust funds are primarily focused on investments and net position 
(reserves). 

The net position of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan decreased approximately $561.8 million, or 0.7%, 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This was primarily because the combination of the decrease 
in the fair value of investments and employer contributions was roughly equal to the total of benefits 
paid and administrative expenses. 

The net position of the OPSRP IAP decreased approximately $345.3 million, or 2.7%, during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022. This decrease was primarily caused by the decrease in the fair value of investments. 

The net position of the Deferred Compensation Plan decreased approximately $316.1 million, or 11.2%, 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This was because a $319.9 million, or 11.4%, decrease in the 
fair value of investments. 

The net position of the RHIA decreased approximately $22.2 million, or 3.0%, during the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022,. This was primarily caused by a $18.6 million, or 2.5%, decrease in the fair value of 
investments. 

The net position of the RHIPA increased approximately $4.9 million, or 6.3%, during the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022. This was primarily because of the increase in the fair value of investments of 8.6%. 

CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
Revenues - Additions to Fiduciary Net Position 
Additions to Fiduciary net position that are needed to finance retirement benefits are accumulated through 
the collection of employer and member contributions and through investment income. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan: 

Total additions for fiscal year 2022 decreased $16,340.1 million, or 76.7%, compared to fiscal year 
2021. This decrease was chiefly attributed to the $18,208.6 million, or 95.8%, decrease in Net 
Investment and Other Income. 

Employer contributions increased $1,868.7 million in fiscal year 2022 compared to fiscal year 
2022, partially because of $1,888.6 million in new lump-sum deposits to side accounts. 

Member contributions, consisting primarily of redirected IAP contributions deposited to the 
Employee Pension Stability Account (EPSA) funds decreased $0.2 million, or 0.1%. 

The Individual Account Program: Total additions decreased $2,727.8 million, or 86.9%, because of the 
$2,779.5 million, or 108.5%, decrease in Net Investment and Other Income. 

Deferred Compensation Plan: The Oregon Savings Growth Plan had a $935.2 million, or 119.6%, decrease 
in total additions. Like the other plans, this decrease was due to the $978.9 million, or 155.4%, decrease in 
Net Investment and Other Income compared to fiscal year 2021. Member contributions increased $43.6 
million, or 28.7%, over fiscal year 2021. 

Retirement Health Insurance Account: Total additions decreased $164.8 million, or 94.3%, primarily 
because of a decrease of $164.3 million, or 95.6%, in Net Investment and Other Income. 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account: Total additions decreased $19.0 million, or 67.8%, over the 
fiscal year 2021. This decrease was primarily because of the $15.5 million, or 95.3%, decrease in Net 
Investment and Other Income. 
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TAm.E1 

FIDUCIARY NET POSmON, PEN'SION AND OTI-IER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

(in thousands) As of June 30 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Individual Account Program Deferred Compensation Plan 
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Cash and Receivables $ 7,436,005 $ 4,641,088 $ 1,171,302 $ 900,682 $ 24,212 $ 18,691 

Investments at Fair Value 80,873,065 81,586,458 11,770,343 12,093,590 2,486,727 2,806,582 

Securities Lending 

Collateral 408,623 568,547 46,016 64,868 2 

Other 30,994 31,693 1,091 1,013 

Total Assets 88,748,687 86,827,786 12,988,752 13,060,153 2,510,941 2,825,273 

Investment Purchases 4,528,482 1,888,776 450,715 163,331 5,071 3,245 

Securities Lending 

Payable 408,711 568,592 46,026 64,873 2 

Other Payables, Leases 

Payable and Def. Inflows 41,941 39,102 46,326 40,941 179 274 

Total Liabilities 

and Deferred Inflows 4,979,134 2,496,470 543,067 269,145 5,252 3,519 
Total Net Position $ 83,769,553 $ 84,331,316 $ 12,445,685 $ 12,791,008 $ 2,505,689 $ 2,821,754 

TAm.E2 

FIDUCIARY NET POSmON, OTI-IER POSTEMPLOYMEN'T BENEFITS 

(in thousands) As of June 30 

Retirement Health Insurance Retiree Health Insurance 
Account Premium Account 

2022 2021 2022 2021 

Cash and Receivables $ 57,832 $ 42,967 $ 7,478 $ 6,135 

Investments at Fair Value 713,945 732,522 80,059 73,713 

Securities Lending 

Collateral 3,610 5,134 406 517 

Other 75 66 9 7 

Total Assets 775,462 780,689 87,952 80,372 

Investment Purchases 38,421 15,504 4,023 1,298 

Securities Lending 

Payable 3,611 5,134 406 517 

Other Payables 2,730 7,145 195 163 

Total Liabilities 44,762 27,783 4,624 1,978 

Total Net Position $ 730,700 $ 752,906 $ 83,328 $ 78,394 
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Expenses - Deductions From Fiduciary Net Position 
Benefit payments, refunds of contributions to members who terminate employment, health insurance 
premium subsidies, deferred compensation payments, and administrative costs comprise the System's 
expenses. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan: Pension benefit and other expenses were $5,541.8 million in fiscal year 
2022, a $233.6 million, or 4.4%, increase over fiscal year 2021. This was primarily due to the 4.4% net 
increase in pension benefits paid. 

Individual Account Program: IAP benefit and other expenses increased by $166.1 million, or 28.1%, 
during the year from what they were in fiscal year 2021. The increase in IAP benefit payments is 
primarily due to the significant increase in member account balances after earnings crediting at the end 
of calendar year 2021. 

Deferred Compensation Plan: Deferred compensation benefits and other expenses increased by $23.8 
million, or 17.1%, from fiscal year 2021,because of an increase in requests for rollovers and distributions. 

Retirement Health Insurance Account: RHIA healthcare premium and other expenses decreased by 
approximately $409,000, or 1.3%, from fiscal year 2021. This decrease was attributed to an 
approximately $726,000, or 2.3%, decrease in healthcare premium subsidies, which was consistent with 
the decrease in participants. 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account: RHIPA healthcare premium and other expenses increased 
by 3.3%, from fiscal year 2021, because of increased healthcare costs. 

The tables on page 26 show condensed comparative summaries of the changes in fiduciary net position 
and reflect the activities of the plans administered by the System. 

PROPRIETARY FUND 
Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account (SRHIA) uses an enterprise fund to account for the activities of 
PERS' health insurance program (PHIP), a public entity risk pool. 

Net Position 

The net position of the SRHIA as of June 30, 2022, was $93.5 million, a $6.3 million, or 6.3%, decrease from 
fiscal year 2021. This was primarily due to an increase in claims expenses. 
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TABLE3 

CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSmON, PENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

(in thousands) For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Individual Account Program Deferred Compensation Plan 
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Additions: 

Employer Contributions $ 4,030,159 $ 2,161,451 $ $ $ $ 

Member Contributions 160,098 160,309 630,155 578,414 195,637 151,996 

Net Investment and 

Other Income 789,785 18,998,416 (218,607) 2,560,936 (348,864) 630,011 

Total Additions 4,980,042 21,320,176 411,548 3,139,350 (153,227) 782,007 

Deductions: 

Pension Benefits 5,468,215 5,237,138 744,713 577,900 161,003 136,615 

Other 73,590 71,019 12,158 12,827 1,835 2,418 

Total Deductions 5,541,805 5,308,157 756,871 590,727 162,838 139,033 

Net Increase (Decrease) (561,763) 16,012,019 (345,323) 2,548,623 (316,065) 642,974 

Net Position 

Beginning of Year 84,331,316 68,319,297 12,791,009 10,242,386 2,821,754 2,178,780 

EndofYear $ 83,769,553 $ 84,331,316 $ 12,445,686 $ 12,791,009 $ 2,505,689 $ 2,821,754 

TABLE4 

CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSmON, OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

(in thousands) For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

Retirement Health Insurance Retiree Health Insurance 
Account Premium Account 

2022 2021 2022 2021 

Additions: 

Employer Contributions $ 2,459 $ 2,963 $ 8,265 $ 11,724 

Net Investment and 

Other Income 7,547 171,822 765 16,297 

Total Additions 10,006 174,785 9,030 28,021 

Deductions: 
Healthcare Premium 
Subsidies 30,609 31,335 3,432 3,673 

Other 1,604 1,287 666 292 

Total Deductions 32,213 32,622 4,098 3,965 

Net Increase (Decrease) (22,207) 142,163 4,932 24,056 

Net Position 

Beginning of Year 752,907 610,744 78,396 54,340 

EndofYear $ 730,700 $ 752,907 $ 83,328 $ 78,396 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Changes in Net Position 

SRHIA insurance premiums and other revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was $2.4 million, 
or 7.6%, lower than fiscal year 2021. This decrease was primarily due to a similar decrease in insurance 
premiums. 

SRHIA healthcare and other expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, increased $4.9 million, or 
16.0%, from fiscal year 2021. This was primarily due to providers reopening following the initial pandem­
ic shutdown. 

The tables below and on the next page show the condensed summary of net position and the condensed 
summary of changes in revenues, expenses, and net position for SRHIA. 

TABLES 
NET POSmON, PROPRIETARY FUND 
(in thousands) As of June 30 

Standard Retiree Health Insurance 
Account 

2022 2021 
Cash and Receivables $ 95,984 $ 102,024 
Net OPEB Asset 12 2 
Securities Lending Collateral 541 302 

Total Assets 96,537 102,328 

Deferred Outflows of Resources: 
Pensions 200 184 
OPEB 2 3 
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 202 187 

Cairns Payable 848 830 
Other Payables 1,309 970 
Securities Lending Payable 541 302 
Net Pension Liability 286 549 
Other Liabilities 43 40 

Total Liabilities 3,027 2,691 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
Pensions 223 12 
OPEB 11 2 
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 234 14 

Total Net Position $ 93,478 $ 99,810 
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TABLE6 

REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND OiANGES IN NET POSmON, PROPRIETARY FUND 

(in thousands) For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

Standard Retiree Health 
Insurance Account 

2022 2021 

Revenues: 

Insurance Premiums $ 28,296 $ 30,379 

Investment Income 612 895 

Total Revenues 28,908 31,274 

Expenses: 

Oaims 31,035 25,743 

Change in Estimated Liabilities 18 200 

Administrative Expense 4,187 4,434 

Total Expenses 35,240 30,377 

Net Increase (6,332) 897 

Net Position 

Beginning of Year 99,810 98,913 

End of Year $ 93,478 $ 99,810 

NET PENSION LIABILITY 
The Employers' Net Pension Liability (NPL) as of June 30, 2022, was $15,312.0 million, compared to a Net 
Pension Liability of $11,966.5 million as of June 30, 2021. The $3,345.5 million increase in Employers' Net 
Pension Liability correlates to the $2,783,8 million increase in Total Pension Liability. 

NET OPEB LIABil.ITY /(ASSET) 
The Employers' Net OPEB Asset for RHIA as of June 30, 2022, was $355.3 million, compared to the Net OPEB 
Asset of $343.4 million as of June 30, 2021. The Employer's Net OPEB Asset for RHIPA as of June 30, 2022, 
was $34.2 million, compared to the Net OPEB Asset of $15.5 million as of June 30, 2021. 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 
During fiscal year 2022, investments decreased 1.4% from the prior fiscal year as markets moved toward 
more stability. Holdings in asset classes experienced varied investment returns. The Private Equity portfolio 
decreased 4.4%; while Real Estate and Real Estate Investment Trusts increased 32.8%, and Real Assets 
Diversifying Strategies combined increased 31.5%. One-year returns on asset classes and comparative 
benchmarks are presented in the table on page 31. 
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PLAN MEMBERSHIP 

Table 7 reflects the Defined Benefit Pension Plan membership as of the end of the last two fiscal years. 

TABLE7 

CHANGES IN PLAN MEMBERSHIP 
Asof June30 

Active members: 

General 

Police and Fire 

Subtotal - Active members 

Retirees and Inactive members: 

Receiving Benefits: 

General 

Police and Fire 

Not Receiving Benefits: 

General 

Police and Fire 

Subtotal - Inactive members 

Total members 

RETIREMENTS FROM SERVICE 

2022 

165,299 

15,641 

180,940 

146,712 

13,614 

49,320 

2,494 

212,140 

393,080 

2021 

164,080 

16,018 

180,098 

143,495 

13,005 

46,167 

2,217 

204,884 

384,982 

Percentage Change 

0.7 % 

(2.4) 

0.5 

2.2 

4.7 

6.8 

12.5 

3.5 

2.1 % 

Retirements from service increased 7.1% in fiscal year 2022. Service retirements in fiscal year 2022 were 
7,811 compared to 6,917 in fiscal year 2021. 

9,000 

8,000 
~ 

7,000 
Ul 6,000 = cu 5,000 e cu 4,000 ... ... .... cu 3,000 ~ 

2,000 

1,000 

TABLES 
RETIREMENTS FROM SERVICE 

By Fiscal Year 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS, CONDmONS, OR DECISIONS 
The following represents currently known facts, conditions, or decisions that are expected to have a 
significant effect on the System's financial position or results of operations. 

Since June 30, 2022, 18 school districts and community college employers participated in the issuance of 
pension obligation bonds, resulting in lump-sum deposits to new side accounts with PERS totaling $93.2 
million. 

CONTACTING THE SYSTEM'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
This financial report is designed to provide plan participants, employers, citizens, taxpayers, and others with 
a general overview of the System's finances and to demonstrate the Board's oversight of the System. If you 
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, please contact the Financial 
Services Division Administrator at P.O. Box 23700, Tigard, Oregon 97281-3700, or send an email to us at 
pers.gasb.questions@pers.oregon.gov. 
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Table9 
Investment Results* 

PeriodsEndedJune30,2022 

Total Portfolio, Excluding Variable Account 
Policy Benchmark1 

Variable Account 
Benchmark: MSCI All Country World Investable Market Index Net 

Domestic Stocks 
Benchmark: Russell 3000 Index 

International Stocks 

Benchmark: MSCI All Country World ex-US Investable Market Index Net 

Fixed Income Segment 
Benchmark: Oregon Custom Index2 

Risk Parity3 

Benchmark: S&P Risk Parity -12% Target Volatility 

Real Estate 

Benchmark: Oregon Custom Real Estate Benchmark4 

Private Equity 

Benchmark: Russell 3000 Index+ 300 bps5 

Alternatives Portfolio6 

Benchmark: Consumer Price Index+ 400 bps 

Real Assets6 

Benchmark: Consumer Price Index+ 400 bps 

Diversifying Strategies6 

Benchmark: HFRI FOF Conservative Index 

Opportunity Portfolio 
Benchmark: Consumer Price Index+ 500 bps 

2022 2021 

6.32 % 25.54 % 
(0.66) 26.89 

(16.21) 41.29 
(16.52) 40.94 

(12.92) 46.86 
(13.87) 44.16 

(16.47) 43.12 

(19.86) 37.18 

(9.05) 127 
(10.12) 0.67 

(12.95) 2151 
(6.67) 31.51 

29.61 8.18 
27.26 1.47 

24.23 44.12 
15.25 67.21 

n/a 1148 
n/a 9.59 

23.15 n/a 
13.39 n/a 

17.09 n/a 
0.13 n/a 

10.19 31.52 
14.47 9.59 

The rates of return reported in the Investment Section are based on a time-weighted rate of return methodology based upon market values, 
unless disclosed otherwise in the footnotes to the associated table. 

• Investment Results are based upon OIC asset classes as determined by each manager's primary investment type, not the financial statement 
cla~fication of individual holdings. 

1 From July 1, 2020to September 30, 2021 the policy benchmark was 19% Russell 3000+300 Bps quarter lag, 20% Oregon Custom Fl Benchmark, 125% Oregon Custom Real 
Estate Benchmark, 33.5% MSCI ACWI lMI Net, 1250% CP1+4%, and 250% S&P Risk Parity -12% Target Volatility. From October 1, 2021 to Present the policy benchmark is 
20% Russell 3000+300 Bps quarter lag, 20% BBG U.S. Aggregate, 12.50%NCRIEF ODCE (Custom), 30% MSCI ACWI lMI Net, 7 50% CP1+4%, 7 50% HFRI FOF Conservative 
Index and 250% S&P Risk Parity -12% Target Volatility. 
2 From March 1, 2016 to September 30, 2021, index was 46% BBG Aggregate Bond, 37% BBG Treasury, 13% S&P LST A and 4% BofAML High Yield Master II. From October 1, 
2021 to Present, index is 100% Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate. 
3 Inception date is May 1, 2020. 

4 Starting July 1, 2017, methodology for monthly return is calculated by geometrically linking prior months returns, and then deriving the monthly returns by 
calculating the geometric average. Returns are not actual monthly, but rather equivalent for all intra-quarter months, in order to match the actual quarterly return. 

5 From July 1, 2017, the monthly return is calculated as the geometrically linked monthly-portion of the quarterly return. Returns are not actual monthly, but rather 
equivalent for all intra-quarter months, in order to match the actual quarterly return. 
6Beginning October 1, 2021, the Alternatives Portfolio has been split up into new portfolios: Real Assets and Diversifying Strategies. 
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Basic Financial Statements 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
Pension and Other Postemployment Plans 
As of June 30, 2022, with Comparative Totals as of June 30, 2021 

Defined Benefit OPEB Plans 
Oregon Public 

Service Retirement Retiree Health 
Defined Benefit Plan Individual Retirement Health Insurance Premium 

Pension Plan Account Program Insurance Account Account 
Assets: 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 4,022,204,289 $ 806,167,602 $ 29,305,235 $ 3,910,652 

Receivables: 
Employer 45,254,184 1,691,076 541,186 
Plan Member 27,901,002 
Interest and Dividends 138,121,053 15,359,773 1,223,787 137,232 
Member Loans 
Investment Sales and Other Receivables 2,901,277,479 321,861,175 25,611,894 2,888,878 
Leases 242,030 
Transition Liability 305,741,323 

Total Receivables 3,390,636,069 365,121,950 28,526,757 3,567,296 

Due from Other Funds 23,164,923 12,260 38 161 

Investments: 
Debt Securities 15,547,742,373 3,038,350,041 137,756,907 15,447,609 
Public Equity 18,041,656,731 3,473,805,619 157,242,696 17,632,681 
Real Estate and Real Estate Investment Trusts 12,028,715,637 1,337,655,141 106,577,445 11,951,246 
Private Equity 21,932,889,468 2,439,050,289 194,330,916 21,791,633 
Real Assets 6,684,489,024 743,349,613 59,226,254 6,641,438 
Diversifying Strategies 4,631,885,567 515,089,535 41,039,671 4,602,054 
Opportunity Portfolio 2,005,685,976 223,042,612 17,770,882 1,992,769 

Total Investments 80,873,064,776 11,770,342,850 713,944,771 80,059,430 

Securities Lending Collateral 408,622,830 46,016,417 3,609,961 405,835 
Prepaid Expenses 10,119,791 935,788 74,559 8,361 
Capital Assets at Cost, Net 20,874,179 155,626 

Total Assets 88,748,686,857 12,988,752,493 775,461,321 87,951,735 

liabilities: 
Investment Purchases and Accrued Expenses 4,528,482,088 450,714,897 38,420,657 4,023,250 
Deposits and Other Liabilities 32,981,250 31,828,822 2,657,717 115,777 
Due to Other Funds 8,230,412 14,496,912 72,520 78,980 
Leases Payable 488,211 
Securities Lending Collateral Due Borrowers 408,710,702 46,026,189 3,610,740 405,922 

Total liabilities 4,978,892,663 543,066,820 44,761,634 4,623,929 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 

Leases, net of Amortization 241,340 

Net Position: 
Restricted for: 

Pension 83,769,552,854 
Individual Account Program 12,445,685,673 
Other Postemployment Benefits 730,699,687 83,327,806 
Deferred Compensation Plan 

Total Net Position $ 83,769,552,854 $ 12,445,685,673 $ 730,699,687 $ 83,327,806 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

Continued on next page 
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Deferred 
Compensation Plan 2022 2021 

$ 10,275,495 $ 4,871,863,273 $ 4,036,777,432 

47,486,446 36,959,288 
27,901,002 21,427,477 

581,524 155,423,369 132,640,598 
13,354,659 13,354,659 13,051,681 

3,251,639,426 996,697,692 
242,030 

305,741,323 358,150,836 
13,936,183 3,801,788,255 1,558,927,572 

23,177,382 13,859,404 

462,003,363 19,201,300,293 16,577,911,142 
2,024,723,424 23,715,061,151 33,064,101,068 

13,484,899,469 10,151,288,539 
24,588,062,306 25,725,638,086 

7,493,706,329 6,165,719,130 
5,192,616,827 3,482,234,605 

2,248,492,239 2,125,974,636 
2,486,726,787 95,924,138,614 97,292,867,206 

1,955 458,656,998 639,065,785 
11,138,499 10,995,390 
21,029,805 21,783,313 

2,510,940,420 105,111792,826 103,574,276,102 

5,070,688 5,026,711,580 2,072,151,814 
67,583,566 73,864,243 

179,479 23,058,303 13,760,231 
488,211 

1,955 458,755,508 639,116,840 
5,252,122 5,576,597,168 2,798,893,128 

241,340 

83,769,552,854 84,331,316,437 
12,445,685,673 12,791,008,510 

814,027,493 831,303,653 
2,505,688,298 2,505,688,298 2,821,753,374 

$ 2,505,688,298 $ 99,534,954,318 $ =====100,=77=5=!.,3=8=!1,=97=4= 

Continued from previous page 
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 
Pension and Other Postemployrnent Plans 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022, with Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Defined Benefit OPEB Plans 

Oregon Public 
Service Retirement Retiree Health 

Defined Benefit Plan Individual Retirement Health Insurance Premium 
Pension Plan Account Program Insurance Account Account 

Additions: 
Contributions: 

Employer $ 4,030,158,539 $ $ 2,458,525 $ 8,264,936 
Plan Member 160,097,904 630,155,422 

Total Contributions 4,190,256,443 630,155,422 2,458,525 8,264,936 

Investment Income: 
Net Appreciation/(Decrease) in Fair Value 

of Investments 103,479,143 (299,544,894) 1,492,572 113,806 
Interest, Dividends and Other Investment Income 1,951,134,285 221,033,254 17,378,762 1,867,508 

Total Investment Income 2,054,613,428 {78,511,640) 18,871,334 1,981,314 

Less Investment Expense (1,275,161,216) (148,194,472) (11,359,555) (1,220,298) 
Net Investment Income 779,452,212 (226,706,112) 7,511,779 761,016 

Securities Lending Income: 
Securities Lending Income 6,037,093 677,520 53,877 5,746 
Less Securities Lending Expense (2,131,752) (239,437) (19,016) (2,031) 
Net Securities Lending Income 3,905,341 438,083 34,861 3,715 

Other Income 6,427,103 7,660,886 
Total Additions 4,980,041,099 411,548,279 10,005,165 9,029,667 

Deductions: 
Benefits 5,462,482,777 744,712,857 
Death Benefits 5,732,332 
Refunds of Contributions 14,893,205 
Administrative Expense 58,696,368 12,158,259 1,604,127 665,569 
Healthcare Premium Subsidies 30,609,060 3,432,236 

Total Deductions 5,541,804,682 756,871,116 32,213,187 4,097,805 

Net lncrease/(Decrease) {561,763,583) (345,322,837) {22,208,022) 4,931,862 

Net Position 
Beginning of Year 84,331,316,437 12,791,008,510 $ 752,907,709 $ 78,395,944 
End of Year $ 83,769,552,854 $ 12,445,685,673 $ 730,699,687 $ 83,327,806 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

Continued on next page 
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Deferred 
Compensation Plan 2022 2021 

$ $ 4,040,882,000 $ 2,176,138,628 
195,637,308 985,890,634 890,719,246 
195,637,308 5,026,772,634 3,066,857,874 

(353,055,948) (547,515,321) 21,612,104,148 
8,369,920 2,199,783,729 1,757,373,842 

(344,686,028) 1,652,268,408 23,369,477,990 

{6,475,339) {1,442,410,880) (999,681,203) 
(351,161,367) 209,857,528 22,369,796,787 

1 6,774,237 7,106,443 
(1) {2,392,237) {1,831,050) 

4,382,000 5,275,393 

2,296,921 16,384,910 2,410,306 
(153,227,138) 5,257,397,072 25,444,340,360 

161,003,068 6,368,198,702 5,946,729,957 
5,732,332 4,922,561 

14,893,205 11,934,465 
1,834,870 74,959,193 75,910,699 

34,041,296 35,007,770 
162,837,938 6,497,824,728 6,074,505,452 

{316,065,076) (1,240,427,656) 19,369,834,908 

$ 2,821,753,374 100,775,381,974 81,405,547,066 
$ 2,505,688,298 $ 99,534,954,318 $ 100,775,381,974 

Continued from previous page 
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Statement of Net Position 
Proprietary Fund 
As of June 30, 2022, with Comparative Totals as of June 30, 2021 

Assets: 
Current Assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Securities Lending Collateral 

Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Net OPEB Asset 

Total Noncurrent Assets 

Total Assets 

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
Pension 
OPEB 

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 

liabilities: 
Current Liabilities 

Accrued Expenses 
Compensated Absences 
Due to Other Funds 
Estimated Insurance Qaims Due 
Pension Obligation Bonds 
Securities Lending Collateral Due Borrowers 

Total Current liabilities 

Noncurrent liabilities 
Compensated Absences 
Pension Obligation Bonds 
Other Liabilities 
Net Pension Liability 

Total Noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Pension 
OPEB 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Net Position: 
Restricted for: 

$ 

Enterprise Fund 

Standard Retiree Health Insurance 
Account 

2022 

95,984,305 
540,718 

96,525,023 

12,201 
12,201 

96,537,224 

199,506 
2,087 

201,593 

1,153,819 
34,089 

119,079 
848,000 

2,283 
540,718 

2,697,988 

19,175 
12,426 
11,320 

286,029 
328,950 

3,026,938 

223,312 
11,047 

234,359 

3,241 
93,474,279 

$ 

2021 

102,023,985 
302,207 

102,326,192 

1,802 
1,802 

102,327,994 

184,031 
2,387 

186,418 

840,577 
26,093 
99,173 

830,000 
2,153 

302,207 
2,100,203 

14,050 
15,160 
10,482 

549,185 
588,877 

2,689,080 

12,477 
2,417 

14,894 

1,772 
99,808,666 

OPEB 
Unrestricted 
Total Net Position $ ===93...,,4=7=7=,5=20= $ 99,810,438 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Proprietary Fund 

Basic Financial Statements 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022, with Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Enterprise Fund 

Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 
2022 2021 

Operating Revenues: 
Insurance Premium Revenue $ 28,295,570 $ 30,379,505 
Reinsurance Reimbursements 6,102 

Total Operating Revenues 28,295,570 30,385,607 

Operating Expenses: 
Oaims Expense 31,035,409 25,743,066 
Increase in Estimated Liabilities 18,000 200,000 
Administrative Expense 4,187,165 4,433,395 

Total Operating Expenses 35,240,574 30,376,461 

Operating Income/(Loss) (6,945,004) 9,146 

Non-Operating Revenues: 
Interest, Dividends, and Other Investment Income 612,086 887,863 

Securities Lending Income 1,179 597 
Less Securities Lending Expense (1,179) (597) 
Net Securities Lending Income 

Total Non-Operating Revenues 612,086 887,863 

Change in Net Position (6,332,918) 897,009 

Total Net Position 
Beginning of Year 99,810,438 98,913,429 

EndofYear $ 93,477,520 $ 99,810,438 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Fund 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022, with Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Enterprise Fund 

Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 

2022 2021 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 

Insurance Premiums and Reinsurance Reimbursements $ 28,295,570 $ 31,064,247 

Claims Paid (31,035,409) (25,743,066) 

Other Payments (3,911,927) (4,822,040) 

Net Cash Provided by /(Used for) Operating Activities (6,651,766) 499,141 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 

Interest and Dividends Received 612,086 887,863 

Net lncrease/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (6,039,680) 1,387,004 

Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 102,023,985 100,636,981 

Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 95,984,305 $ 102,023,985 

Reconciliation of Operating lncome/(Los.,) to Net 

Cash Provided by/(used for) Operating Activities 

Operating Income/(1..oss) $ (6,945,004) $ 9,146 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income/(loss) to net cash 

provided by/(used for) operating activities: 

Changes in assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 

and deferred inflows of resources: 

Reinsurance Reimbursements and Rebate Receivables 678,640 

Net OPEB Asset (10,399) 4,362 

Deferred Outflows of Resources - Pension (15,475) (10,316) 

Deferred Outflows of Resources - OPEB 300 (998) 

Accrued Expenses 313,242 (394,045) 

Compensated Absences 13,121 10,717 

Due to Other Funds 19,906 19,614 

Estimated Insurance Oaims Due 18,000 200,000 

Pension Obligation Bonds (2,604) (2,336) 

Other Liabilities 838 (3,511) 

Net Pension Liability (263,156) 2,250 

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Pension 210,835 (13,598) 

Deferred Inflows of Resources - OPEB 8,630 (784) 

Net Cash Provided by/ (used for) Operating Activities $ (6,651,766) $ 499,141 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Note 1- Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies 
A. Reporting Entity 

The accompanying financial statements include 
all activities and funds administered by the Oregon 
Public Employees Retirement System (PERS or the 
System). The Defined Benefit and OPEB plans are 
fiduciary component units of the State of Oregon for 
financial reporting purposes. PERS financial 
statements are included in fiduciary and 
proprietary funds in the State of Oregon's Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). 

B. Basis of Presentation 
The accompanying financial statements are 

prepared on the basis of a fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022, in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States of 
America as set forth in Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements that apply 
to governmental accounting for fiduciary funds and 
enterprise funds. Fiduciary funds are used to 
account for assets held by a governmental unit in a 
trustee capacity (trust funds). Proprietary funds 
may be used to report any activity for which a fee is 
charged to external users for goods or services. 

PERS' pension, other postemployment benefits 
(OPEB), and deferred compensation activities are 
accounted for in four pension, other employee 
benefit, and other postemployment benefit trust 
funds: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer plan, which includes the 
Variable Annuity Account. 
Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan -
Individual Account Program, an individual 
account-based program under the PERS tax­
qualified governmental plan. 
Retirement Health Insurance Account, a cost­
sharing, multiple-employer plan. 
Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account, a 
single-employer plan. 
Deferred Compensation Plan (Oregon Savings 
Growth Plan)-other employee benefit trust 
fund. 

PERS' public entity risk pool activity is accounted 
for in a single proprietary enterprise fund: 

Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account. 

C. Basis of Accounting 
The accrual basis of accounting is used for all 

funds. Revenues are recognized when earned. 
Contributions are recognized when due, pursuant to 
legal (or statutory) requirements. Benefits and 
withdrawals are recognized when they are 
currently due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the plans. 
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Proprietary funds distinguish operating 
revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result 
from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal 
operating revenues are insurance premiums and 
operating expenses include claims and 
administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses 
not meeting this definition are reported as non­
operating revenues and expenses. Deferred outflows 
of resources related to pension and OPEB resulting 
from contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability and net OPEB liability or 
as an increase in the net OPEB asset in the following 
year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pension and OPEB will be recognized in 
pension and OPEB expenses for approximately each 
of the next four years. 

D. Investments 
Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 293.706 

established the Oregon Investment Council (OIC), 
which consists of five voting members. Four 
members of the council, who are qualified by 
training and experience in the field of investment or 
finance, are appointed by the governor subject to 
state senate confirmation. The State Treasurer 
serves as the council's remaining voting member. In 
addition, the Director of PERS serves as a non-voting 
OICmember. 

ORS 293.701 defines the investment funds over 
which OIC has responsibility. Included are the 
Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund (OPERF), 
which is composed of the Defined Benefit Pension 
Plan, the Individual Account Program, the Other 
Postemployment Benefit plans, and the Deferred 
Compensation Fund. OIC establishes policies for the 
investment and reinvestment of moneys in the 
investment funds as well as the acquisition, 
retention, management, and disposition of 
investments in the investment funds. OIC is also 
responsible for providing an examination of the 
effectiveness of the investment program. 

OIC ensures moneys in the investment funds are 
invested and reinvested to achieve the investment 
objective of making the moneys as productive as 
possible. Furthermore, the investments of those 
funds are managed as a prudent investor would do 
under the prevailing circumstances and in light of 
the purposes, terms, distribution requirements, and 
laws governing each investment fund. This standard 
requires the exercise of reasonable care, skill, and 
caution and is applied to investments, not in 
isolation, but in the context of each fund's portfolio 
as part of an overall investment strategy. The 
strategy should incorporate risk and return 
objectives reasonably suitable to the particular 
investment fund. 
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When implementing investment decisions, ore 
has a duty to diversify the investments of the 
investment funds unless, under the circumstances, 
it is not prudent to do so. In addition, ore must act 
with prudence when selecting agents and 
delegating authority. 

Investments are recognized at fair value, that is 
the amount that could be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement 
date. Investments that do not have a readily 
determinable fair value are valued using the net 
asset value (NA V) per share. Such values generally 
represent PERS' ownership interest in partnership 
capital. Investments are reported on the trade date. 

The fair value of publicly traded debt and equity 
securities in active markets is determined by the 
custodian's pricing agent using nationally 
recognized pricing services. The custodian's pricing 
agent values equity securities traded on a national 
or international exchange at the last reported sales 
price and generally values debt securities by using 
evaluated bid prices. For securities that do not have 
an active market, such as private placements or 
commingled investment vehicles, a market price is 
calculated by either the custodian's pricing agent or 
the investment manager. For example, a similar 
benchmark security may be used to derive the fair 
value. The benchmark will typically have a coupon 
rate and maturity date comparable to the debt 
security being valued, and its market risk will be 
similar, considering current market conditions. The 
fair value of real estate investment trust (REIT) 
securities is determined by the custodian's pricing 
agent using recognized pricing services. 

Investments in real estate, other than publicly 
traded REITs, for which observable market prices in 
active markets do not exist, are reported at fair 
value as of June 30, 2022, as determined by 
management based on valuation information 
provided in good faith by the general partner. Direct 
investments in real estate are appraised every two 
to three years, and between appraisals, investment 
managers adjust values to reflect current and 
projected operating performance and financial 
transactions. In the absence of observable market 
prices, general partners determine the fair value of 
real estate partnerships using valuation methods 
considered most appropriate. A variety of factors 
are considered, including the nature of the 
investment, local market conditions, trading values 
on public exchanges for comparable investments, 
current and projected operating performance, and 
financing transactions subsequent to the acquisition 
of the investment. 

Investments in private equities are recorded at 
fair value as of June 30, 2022, as determined by 
management based on valuation information 
provided by the general partner. Investments in 
private equities representing publicly traded 
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securities are stated at quoted market price. When 
observable market inputs are not available, 
valuation models are applied. The general partner 
determines fair value based on the best information 
available and by reference to information including, 
but not limited to, the following: projected sales, net 
earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization, balance sheets, 
public and private transactions, valuations for 
publicly traded comparable companies, and/or other 
measures, and consideration of any other pertinent 
information including the types of securities held 
and the general partner's own assumptions 
regarding the investment. The methods used to 
determine the fair value of these investments 
typically include: (1) the market approach (whereby 
fair value is derived by reference to observable 
valuation measures for comparable companies or 
assets) and (2) the income approach (e.g., the 
discounted cash flow method). 

Investments in the opportunity, real assets and 
diversifying strategies portfolios are recorded at fair 
value as of June 30, 2022, by the respective general 
partner or account manager. Investments in the 
opportunity and alternatives portfolios representing 
publicly traded securities are stated at quoted 
market price. Where observable market inputs are 
not available, valuation models are applied. The 
general partner or account manager determines fair 
value based on the best information available and 
by reference to information including, but not 
limited to, the following: projected sales, net 
earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization, balance sheets, 
public and private transactions, valuations for 
publicly traded comparable companies, and/or other 
measures, and consideration of any other pertinent 
information including the types of securities held 
and the general partner's own assumptions 
regarding the investment. The methods used to 
determine the fair value of these investments 
typically include: (1) the market approach (whereby 
fair value is derived by reference to observable 
valuation measures for comparable companies or 
assets) and (2) the income approach (e.g., the 
discounted cash flow method). 

Due to the inherent uncertainty and the degree 
of judgment involved in determining real estate, 
private equity, opportunity, real assets and 
diversifying strategies portfolios investment 
valuations, the fair values reflected in the 
accompanying financial statements may differ 
significantly from values that would have been used 
had a readily determinable fair value for the 
investments existed, and the difference could be 
material. In addition, these investments are 
generally considered to be illiquid long-term 
investments, and the recorded fair values may 
materially differ from the amounts that eventually 
may be realized from the sale or other disposition of 
these investments. 
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OIC has approved the following asset classes for 
the OPERF: Short-Term Investments, Fixed Income, 
Real Estate, Public and Private Equities, Real Assets, 
and Diversifying Strategies. In addition, OPERF 
invests in the Opportunity Portfolio, which may be 
populated with investment approaches across a 
wide range of investment opportunities with no 
limitation as to asset classes or strategies. OIC must 
approve, in advance, the purchase of investments in 
a new asset class not described above. 

Table 1 below displays the OIC-approved asset 
allocation policy. See the Long-Term Expected Rate 
of Return Table 31 on page 7 4. 

TABLE1 

Asset Cass 

Cash 

Debt Securities 

Public Equity 

Private Equity 

Real Estate 

RealA~s 

Diversifying Strategies 

Risk Parity* 

Total 

Target Allocation 

0.0% 

20.0% 

30.0% 

20.0% 

12.5% 

7.5% 

7.5% 

2.5% 

1000% 
• Risk Parity asset class/strategy included within Diversifying 
Strategies on the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Leases 
E. 

For GASB 87 reporting, lease expenses are 
immaterial to the pension trust funds. Certain lease 
assets meet the capitalization threshold set by the 
State, but are still considered immaterial to the 
pension trust fund. Leases meeting that threshold of 
total lease payments of $5,000 for lessors and 
$250,000 for lessees have been disclosed in Note 5, 
Capital Assets, including information regarding 
Lease Obligations. PERS' leases are included in the 
financial reporting of the State of Oregon. 

F. Earnings Crediting 
By law, earnings are credited to member 

accounts on a calendar-year basis. Members in Tier 
One are currently guaranteed to receive at least the 
assumed earnings rate used in the most recent 
actuarial valuation. Variable Annuity Account 
participants, IAP members, and Tier Two members 
are credited actual earnings or losses, less deductions 
allowed by law. 

G. Administrative Costs 
PERS' administrative expenses are funded from 

investment earnings and administrative fees 
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collected from employers and members and are 
allocated to all plans and programs administered by 
the System. If investment earnings and fees are 
insufficient for such purpose, the remaining 
expenses are paid from employer contributions. 

H. Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial 
Statements 

The preparation of the System's financial 
statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America 
requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain financial statement 
amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

I. Comparative Totals 
The basic financial statements include certain 

prior year summarized comparative information in 
total, but not at the level of detail required for a 
presentation in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Accordingly, such information should be 
read in conjunction with the System's financial 
statements as of and for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2021, from which the summarized information 
was derived. 

J. Effect of New Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncement GASB 
Statement No. 87 and Statement No. 97 

In June 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 87, 
Leases, to improve accounting and financial 
reporting of leases by governments. The objective of 
this Statement is to better meet the informational 
needs of financial statement users by improving 
accounting and financial reporting for leases by 
governments. In June 2020, GASB issued Statement 
No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation 
Plans, to enhance the relevance, consistency, and 
comparability of the accounting and financial 
reporting for Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 
457 deferred compensation plans. PERS has 
implemented these standards for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022 and all references have been 
updated accordingly. Lease receivables and deferred 
inflows are considered immaterial to the defined 
benefit plan. 

K. Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 

comparative totals as of June 30, 2021 to conform to 
the presentation as of June 30, 2022. 

Note 2 - Description of Plan 
A. Organization 

PERS administers a cost-sharing, multiple­
employer defined benefit pension plan for units of 
state government, political subdivisions, community 
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colleges, and school districts. The Plan contains 
multiple actuarial pools. Plan assets may be used to 
pay the benefits of the employees of any employer 
that provides pensions through the Plan. 
Participation by state government units, school 
districts, and community colleges is mandatory. 
Participation by most political subdivisions is 
optional but irrevocable if elected. As of June 30, 
2022, there were 898 participating employers. 

PERS is administered in accordance with 
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 238, Chapter 
238A, and Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a). 
The Oregon Legislature has delegated authority to 
the Public Employees Retirement Board (Board) to 

TABLE2 

Plan Membership as of June 30, 2022 Employers 

Employers 

State Agencies 108 

Political Subdivisions 479 

Community Colleges 17 

School Districts 294 

Total Employers 898 

Inactive Members - General Service 

Retirees and Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 

Alternate Payees Currently Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members - General Service Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members Eligible for, but not yet Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members Eligible for Refund Value of Account Only 

Inactive Members not Eligible for Refund or Retirement 

Inactive Members - General Service Not Receiving Benefits 

Total Inactive Members - General Service 

Inactive Members - Police and Fire 

Retirees and Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 

Alternate Payees Currently Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members - Police and Fire Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members Eligible for, but not yet Receiving Benefits 

Inactive Members Eligible for Refund Value of Account Only 

Inactive Members not Eligible for Refund or Retirement 

Inactive Members - Police and Fire Not Receiving Benefits 

Total Inactive Members - Police and Fire 

Active Members - General Service 

State Agencies 

School Districts 

Political Subdivisions 

Community Colleges 

Total Active Members - General Service 

Active Members - Police and Fire 

State Agencies 

School Districts 

Political Subdivisions 

Community Colleges 

Total Active Members - Police and Fire 

Grand Total Members 

1 Defined benefit only. No individual accounts are maintained. 

administer and manage the System. All members of 
the Board are appointed by the governor and 
confirmed by the senate. The Governor designates 
the chairperson. One member must be a public 
employer manager or a local elected official, one 
member must be a union-represented public 
employee or retiree, and three members must have 
experience in business management, pension 
management, or investing. 

B. Plan Membership 
Employer, retiree, active and inactive member 

data as of June 30, 2022, is shown in Table 2 . 
The 1995 Legislature enacted Chapter 654, 

Section 3, Oregon Laws 1995, which has been 

Postemployment 

Defined Benefit Plan Healthcare 

Tier One Tier Two OPSRP Total RHlA RHIPA 

115,559 18,615 9,573 143,747 39,377 506 

2,765 153 47 2,965 n/a n/a 

118,324 18,768 9,620 146,712 39,377 506 

6,332 5,461 8,249 20,042 11,751 n/a 

1,740 7,245 n/a1 8,985 n/a n/a 

0 0 20,293 20,293 n/a n/a 

8,072 12,706 28,542 49,320 11,751 -

126,396 31,474 38,162 196,032 51,128 506 

10,452 1,916 600 12,968 2,341 101 

600 36 10 646 n/a n/a 

11,052 1,952 610 13,614 2,341 101 

261 307 376 944 658 n/a 

39 322 n/a1 361 n/a n/a 

0 0 1,189 1,189 n/a n/a 

300 629 1,565 2,494 658 -

11,352 2,581 2,175 16,108 2,999 101 

3,257 5,938 35,615 44,810 9,090 9,203 

4,444 11,125 58,246 73,815 15,497 n/a 

2,563 5,742 31,241 39,546 8,282 n/a 

402 1,074 5,652 7,128 1,470 n/a 

10,666 23,879 130,754 165,299 34,339 9,203 

344 1,190 4,438 5,972 1,530 1,506 

6 18 72 96 24 n/a 

396 1,964 7,197 9,557 2,360 n/a 

1 5 10 16 6 n/a 

747 3,177 11,717 15,641 3,920 1,506 

149,161 61,111 182,808 393,080 92,386 11,316 
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codified into ORS 238.435. This legislation created a 
second tier of benefits for those who established 
membership on or after January 1, 1996. The second 
tier does not have the Tier One assumed earnings 
rate guarantee and has a higher normal retirement 
age of 60, compared to age 58 for Tier One. 

As of June 30, 2022, there were 11,413 active 
plan members, 129,376 retired plan members or 
their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, 8,372 
inactive plan members entitled to but not yet 
receiving benefits, for a total of 149,161 Tier One 
members. For Tier Two members, as of June 30, 
2022, there were 27,056 active plan members, 
20,720 retired plan members or their beneficiaries 
currently receiving benefits, 13,335 inactive plan 
members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits, 
for a total of 61,111. 

The 2003 Legislature enacted House Bill 2021, 
codified as ORS 238A, which created the Oregon 
Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP). OPSRP 
consists of the Pension Program and the Individual 
Account Program. Membership includes public 
employees hired on or after August 29, 2003. 

As of June 30, 2022, there were 142,471 active 
plan members, 10,230 retired plan members or their 
beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, 8,625 
inactive plan members entitled to but not yet 
receiving benefits, and 21,482 inactive plan 
members not eligible for refund or retirement, for a 
total of 182,808 OPSRP Pension Program members. 

Beginning January 1, 2004, PERS active Tier One 
and Tier Two members became members of the 
Individual Account Program (IAP) of OPSRP. PERS 
members retain their existing Regular or Variable (if 
applicable) accounts, but member contributions are 
now deposited into the member's IAP account. 
Accounts are credited with earnings and losses net 
of administrative expenses. OPSRP is part of PERS 
and is administered by the Board. The PERS Board is 
directed to adopt any rules necessary to administer 
OPSRP, and such rules are to be considered part of 
the plan for IRS purposes. 

C. Plan Benefits 

1.. PERS Pension (Chapter 238 - Tier One/Tier 
Two) 

a. Pension Benefits 
The PERS retirement allowance is payable 

monthly for life. Members may select from 13 
retirement benefit options that are actuarially 
equivalent to the base benefit. 

These options include survivorship benefits and 
lump-sum refunds. The basic benefit is based on 
years of service and final average salary. A 
percentage (2.0% for Police and Fire employees, 
1.67% for General Service employees) is multiplied 
by the number of years of service and the final 
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average salary. Benefits may also be calculated 
under a formula plus annuity (for members who 
were contributing before August 21, 1981) or a 
money match computation if a greater benefit 
results. Monthly payments must be a minimum of 
$200 per month or the member will receive a lump­
sum payment of the actuarial equivalent of benefits 
to which he or she is entitled. 

Under Senate Bill (SB) 1049, passed during the 
2019 legislative session, the salary included in the 
determination of final average salary is limited for 
all members beginning in 2021. The limit was equal 
to $210,582 as of January 1, 2022, and it is indexed 
with inflation every year. 

Police and Fire members may purchase 
increased benefits that are payable between the date 
of retirement and age 65. 

A member is considered vested and will be 
eligible at minimum retirement age for a service 
retirement allowance if he or she has had a 
contribution in each of five calendar years or has 
reached at least 50 years of age before ceasing 
employment with a participating employer (age 45 
for Police and Fire members). General Service 
employees may retire after reaching age 55. Police 
and Fire members are eligible after reaching age 50. 
Tier One General Service employee benefits are 
reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 58 with 
fewer than 30 years of service. Police and Fire 
member benefits are reduced if retirement occurs 
prior to age 55 with fewer than 25 years of service. 
Tier Two members are eligible for full benefits at age 
60. The plans are closed to new members hired on or 
after August 29, 2003. 

A judge member who has made contributions to 
PERS during each of five calendar years shall receive 
a retirement allowance, payable monthly, for life. 
Before reaching age 60, judge members must choose 
the calculation formula under which they will 
retire. The election is irrevocable after the member 
attains age 60. The two formulas, A and B, are 
described in the following paragraph. 

The Plan A retirement allowance for judge 
members is computed by multiplying 2.8125% by the 
final average salary for the first 16 years of service 
and 1.67% of the final average salary multiplied by 
the number of years of service as a judge in excess of 
16. For most judge members, the maximum amount 
is limited to 65% of final average salary. The Plan B 
retirement allowance for judge members is 
computed by multiplying 3.75% by the final average 
salary for the first 16 years of service and 2.0% of the 
final average salary multiplied by the number of 
years of service as a judge in excess of 16. For most 
judge members, the maximum amount is limited to 
75% of final average salary. Plan B requires a judge 
to serve up to 35 days per year for a period of five 
years as a pro tern judge. There is no actuarial 
reduction for retirement before age 65. 
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b. Death Benefits 
Upon the death of a nonretired member, the 

beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the 
member's account balance (accumulated 
contributions and interest). In addition, the 
beneficiary receives a lump-sum payment from 
employer funds equal to the accour:it balanc_e: 
provided one or more of the following conditions are 
met: 

The member was employed by a PERS 
employer at the time of death. 
The member died within 120 days after 
termination of PERS-covered employment. 
The member died as a result of injury 
sustained while employed in a PERS-covered 
job. 
The member was on an official leave of 
absence from a PERS-covered job at the time 
of death. 

A member's beneficiary may choose a monthly 
payment for life instead of the lump-sum or a . 
combination of lump-sum and monthly payments, if 
eligible. The monthly payment must be a minimum 
of $200 per month for deaths that occur after July 
30,2003. 

c. Disability Benefits 
A member with 10 or more years of creditable 

service who becomes disabled from other than duty­
connected causes may receive a non-duty disability 
benefit. A disability resulting from a job-incurred 
injury or illness qualifies a member (including PERS 
judge members) for disability benefits regardless of 
the length of PERS-covered seryice: ~pan qu_alifying 
for either a non-duty or duty disability, service time 
is computed to age 58 (55 for Police and Fire 
members) when determining the monthly benefit. 

Judge members of PERS who have served a 
minimum of six consecutive years and who become 
physically or mentally incapacitated are entitled to 
benefits as provided in ORS 238.555. 

d Benefit Changes After Retirement 
Members may choose to continue participation 

in their variable account after retiring and may 
experience annual benefit fluctuations caused by 
changes in the fair value of the underlying global 
equity investments of that account. 

Under ORS 238.360, monthly benefits are 
adjusted annually through cost-of-living changes 
(COLA). The COLA is capped at 2.0%. 

2. OPSRP Pension Program 

a. Pension Benefits 

This portion of OPSRP provides a life pension 
funded by employer contributions. Benefits are 
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calculated with the following formula for members 
who attain normal retirement age. 

Police and Fire: 1.8% multiplied by the number of 
years of service and t~e final a".'erage salary: Normal 
retirement age for Police and Fire members is age 60 
or age 53 with 25 years of retirement credi~. T~ ~e 
classified as a Police and Fire member, the individual 
must have been employed continuously as a Police 
and Fire member for at least five years immediately 
preceding retirement. General Service: 1.5~ 
multiplied by the number of years of service and the 
final average salary. Normal retirement age for 
General Service members is age 65, or age 58 with 30 
years of retirement credit. 

Under Senate Bill 1049, passed during the 2019 
legislative session, the salary included_ in_th~ 
determination of final average salary is limited for 
all members beginning in 2021. The limit was equal 
to $210,582 as of January 1, 2022, and is indexed 
with inflation every year. 

A member of the pension program becomes 
vested on the earliest of the following dates: the date 
the member completes 600 hours of service in each 
of five calendar years, the date the member reaches 
normal retirement age, or, if the pension program is 
terminated, the date on which termination becomes 
effective. 

b. Death Benefits 
Upon the death of a nonretired member, the 

spouse or other person who is constitutionally 
required to be treated in the same manner as the 
spouse receives for life 50% of the pension that 
would otherwise have been paid to the deceased 
member. The surviving spouse or other person may 
elect to delay payment of the death benefit, but 
payment must commence no later than December 31 
of the calendar year in which the member would 
have reached 70½ years of age. 

c. Disability Benefits 
A member who has accrued 10 or more years of 

retirement credits before the member becomes 
disabled or a member who becomes disabled from a 
job-related injury shall receive a disability benefit of 
45% of the member's salary determined as of the last 
full month of employment before the disability 
occurred. 

3. Individual Account Program 
a. Benefit Terms 
The IAP is an individual account-based program 

under the PERS tax-qualified governmental plan as 
defined under ORS 238A.400. An IAP member 
becomes vested on the date the employee account is 
established or on the date the rollover account was 
established. If the employer makes optional 
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employer contributions for a member, the 
contributions are deposited into a separate 
employer account. The member becomes vested in 
this account on the earliest of the following dates: 
the date the member completes 600 hours of 
service in each of five calendar years, the date the 
member reaches normal retirement age, the date 
the IAP is terminated, the date the active member 
becomes disabled, or the date the active member 
dies. The accounts fall under Internal Revenue 
Code Section 401(a). 

Upon retirement, a member of the IAP may 
receive the amounts in his or her employee 
account, rollover account, and vested employer 
account as a lump-sum payment or in equal 
installments over a 5-, 10-, 15-, or 20-year period or 
an anticipated life-span option. Installment 
amounts vary with market returns as the account 
remains invested while in distribution. When 
chosen, the distribution option must result in a 
$200 minimum distribution amount, or the 
frequency of the installments will be adjusted to 
reach that minimum. 

b. Death Benefits 
Upon the death of a nonretired member, the 

beneficiary receives in a lump sum the member's 
account balance, rollover account balance, and 
vested employer optional contribution account 
balance. If a retired member dies before the 
installment payments are completed, the 
beneficiary may receive the remaining installment 
payments or choose a lump-sum payment. 

c. Recordkeeping 
PERS contracts with Voya Financial to 

maintain IAP participant records. 

TABLE3 

Contribution 
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4. Postemployment Healthcare Benefits 
ORS 238.420 established the Retirement Health 

Insurance Account (RHIA) and authorizes a payment 
of up to $60 from RHIA toward the monthly cost of 
health insurance for eligible PERS members. RHIA is 
a cost-sharing, multiple-employer OPEB plan for 898 
participating employers. The plan was closed to new 
entrants hired on or after August 29, 2003. 

To be eligible to receive this monthly payment 
toward the premium costs, the member must: (1) 
have eight years or more of qualifying service in 
PERS at the time of retirement or receive a disability 
allowance as if the member had eight years or more 
of creditable service in PERS, (2) receive both 
Medicare Parts A and B coverage, and (3) enroll in a 
PERS-sponsored health plan. 

A surviving spouse or dependent of a deceased 
PERS retiree who was eligible to receive the subsidy 
is eligible to receive the subsidy if he or she (1) is 
receiving a retirement benefit or allowance from 
PERS or (2) was insured at the time the member died 
and the member retired before May 1, 1991. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, PERS 
employers contributed 0.05% of PERS-covered 
salaries for Tier One and Tier Two members to fund 
the normal cost portion of RHIA benefits. No 
unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) rate was assigned 
for the RHIA program as it was funded over 100% as 
of December 31, 2019. Typically, PERS employers 
contribute an actuarially determined percent of all 
PERS-covered salaries to amortize the unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability over a fixed period with 
new unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities being 
amortized over 10 years. These rates were based on 
the December 31, 2019, actuarial valuation. This is 
included in the employer contribution rates listed in 
Table 3 below. 

Rate Summary1 
Defined Benefit Pension Postemployment Healthcare 

PERS Defined Benefit Plan 

Pooled Employers Non-Pooled Employers 

State and Local 
State Government Political 

Agencies2 RatePool3 School Pool3 Subdivisions3.4 Judiciary 

Employee IAP 6.00 % 6.00 % 6.00 % 6.00 % 

Employee 

Normal Cost 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Employer 

Normal Cost 15.32 15.41 13.45 16.87 

Unfunded Actuarial 

Liability 5.04 12.67 14.09 11.77 

Total Employer 

Contributions 20.36 % 28.08 % 27.54 % 28.64 % 

1Group average rates shown are effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023. 
2A sulx:omponent of the State and Local Government Rate Pool; includes UAL payment rate offset. 
3Does not include UAL payment rate offsets. 

"Non-pooled Political Subdivisions are valued separately for the Defined Benefit Plan. 
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0.00% 

7.00 

19.65 

4.91 

24.56 % 

OPSRP Pension Program RHIA RIDPA 

All Employers All Employers State Agencies 

General Police and 
Service Fire 

6.00 % 6.00 % 0.00% 0.00 % 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

8.64 13.00 0.05 0.11 

1.69 1.69 0.00 0.17 

10.33 % 14.69 % 0.05 % 0.28 % 
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Employer contribt:tions ar_e advanc~-funded on 
an actuarially determmed basis. There is no 
inflation assumption for RHIA postemployment 
benefits because the payment amount is set by 
statute and is not adjusted for increases in 
healthcare costs. The number of inactive plan RHIA 
participants receiving benefits was 41,718 for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and there were 
38,259 active and 12,409 inactive members who 
meet the requirements to receive RHIA benefits 
when they retire. 

ORS 238.415 established the Retiree Health 
Insurance Premium Account (RHIPA) and requires 
the Board on or before January 1 of each year to 
calculate the average difference between the health 
insurance premiums paid by retired state employees 
under contracts entered into by the Board and 
health insurance premiums paid by active state 
employees. ORS 238.415 authorizes payment of this 
average difference to qualified retired state . 
employees. Retired state employ~es are qualified to 
receive this benefit if they had eight or more years 
of qualifying service with a state agency in ~h~ 
System at the time of retiremen~ or are receiymg a 
disability pension calculated ~s if they had eigl;1t_ or 
more years of qualifying service but a~e no~ eligible 
for federal Medicare coverage. RHIPA is a smgle­
employer (the state as one employer) defin~d benefit 
OPEB plan and is closed to new entrants hired on or 
after August 29, 2003. 

A surviving spouse or dependent of a deceased 
retired state employee is eligible to receive the 
subsidy if he or she (1) is receiving a retirement 
benefit or allowance from PERS or (2) was insured at 
the time the member died, and the member retired 
on or after September 29, 1991. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, state 
agencies contributed 9.05 and 0.11~ of PERS­
covered salaries for Tier One and Tier Two 
members to fund the normal cost portion of RHIA 
and RHIPA benefits, respectively. State agencies 
contributed 0.17% of all PERS-covered salaries to 
amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability of 
the RHIPA program over a fixed period with new 
unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities being 
amortized over 10 years. The first 10-year 
amortization base for outstanding RHIA and RHIPA 
UAL amounts began December 31, 2007. These rates 
were based on the December 31, 2019, actuarial 
valuation. This is included in the employer 
contribution rates listed in Table 3 on the previous 
page. 

The number of inactive plan RHIPA participants 
receiving benefits was 607 for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022. As of June 30, 2022, there were 
10 709 active members who meet the requirements 
to ~eceive RHIPA benefits when they retire. Inactive 
members are not eligible for these benefits. All 
subsidy payments from the RHIA and RHIPA are 
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initially deposited in the Standard Retiree Health 
Insurance Account, as described in Note 8 on page 
69, and subsequently remitted to the appropriate 
PERS health plan. 

5. Deferred Compensation Plan 
Deferred compensation plans are authorized 

under Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The 
Oregon Legislature enacted Chapter 179, Oregon 
Laws 1997, which established the Deferred 
Compensation Fund. ORS 243.400 to 243.~0? 
established and provided for PERS to admmister the 
state deferred compensation plan, known as the 
Oregon Savings Growth Plan (OSGP). As of June 30, 
2022, the fair value of investments was $2,486.7 
million. 

The plan is a benefit available to all state 
employees. To participate, an employee exE:cutes an 
individual agreement with the state deferrmg 
current earnings to be paid at a futu~e date. 
Participants in the plan are not required to pay 
federal and state income taxes on the deferred 
contributions and earnings until the funds are 
received. Participants or their beneficiaries can~ot 
receive the funds until at least one of the followmg 
occurs: termination by reason of resignation, death, 
disability, or retirement; unforeseeable emergency; 
or by requesting a de minimis distribution from 
inactive accounts valued less than $5,000. A loan 
program is also available for eligible participants. 
Member loans receivable at June 30, 2022, totaled 
$13.4 million. Of that amount, $10.4 million is not 
expected to be collected within one year. 

PERS contracts with Voya Financial to maintain 
OSGP participant records. The Oregon State 
Treasury, as custodian of the assets, also contracts 
with State Street Bank and Trust Company to 
provide financial services. There are 20 i~vestment 
options with varying degrees of market nsk. Up to 
five financial institutions provide investment 
services in mutual funds for each investment option. 
A participant receives a bl~nd of th~~e mutu~l funds 
within the investment option. Participants direct the 
selection of investment options and also bear any 
market risk. The Oregon State Treasury has no 
liability for losses under the plan but does have the 
prudent investor responsibility of due care. Total 
membership as of June 30, 2022, was 30,473. 

PERS may assess a charge to the participants not 
to exceed 2.0% on amounts deferred, both 
contributions and investment earnings, to cover 
costs incurred for administering the program. Actual 
charges to participants, including investment 
charges, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, 
averaged 0.19% of amounts deferred. Oregon 
Revised Statute 243.505 established a Deferred 
Compensation Advisory Committee to provide input 
to the PERS Board. This committee is composed of 
seven members who meet at least quarterly. 
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6. Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 
ORS 238.410 established the Standard Retiree 

Health Insurance Account (SRHIA), a public entity 
risk pool. SRHIA is both a risk sharing and insurance 
purchasing pool. The Board contracts for medical 
and hospital insurance on behalf of retired 
members. Members and their dependents are 
eligible for PERS healthcare coverage if the member 
is receiving a retirement allowance or benefit under 
the System. A surviving spouse or dependent of a 
PERS retiree is eligible to participate if he or she was 
covered under the health plan at the time of the 
retiree's death. As of June 30, 2022, there were 
51,708 retirees and their dependents participating in 
the health insurance program. 

PERS contracts with various contracted health 
plans (CHP) on a fully insured, conventionally 
funded insurance basis and remits premiums 
collected from participating members to the CHPs 
monthly. PERS contracts with Delta Dental of 
Oregon under a minimum premium arrangement. 
Under the minimum premium program, Delta 
Dental of Oregon agrees to split the rate into an 
agreed upon fixed claims rate (referred to as 
maximum premium), and an agreed upon fixed 
amount to cover non-claims related costs (referred 
to as the minimum premium). In addition, claims 
are invoiced on a weekly basis as Delta Dental 
makes payments for services delivered to covered 
PERS members. A settlement is required after 
calendar year end to reconcile that the claims 
payments did not exceed the contractual maximum 
liability established during the annual renewal 
process. The current estimate of incurred but not 
reported (IBNR) for Delta Dental of Oregon 
insurance claims is $848,000. 

D. Contributions 
PERS' funding policy provides for periodic 

member and employer contributions at rates 
established by the Board, subject to limits set in 
statute. The rates established for member and 
employer contributions were approved based on the 
recommendations of the System's third-party 
actuary. 

1. Member Contributions 
Beginning January 1, 2004, all member 

contributions, except for contributions by judge 
members, were placed in the OPSRP Individual 
Account Program (IAP). Prior to that date, all 
member contributions were credited to the Defined 
Benefit Pension Plan. Member contributions are set 
by statute at 6.0 or 7.0% of salary and are remitted 
by participating employers. The contributions are 
either deducted from member salaries or paid by 
the employers on the members' behalf. 

The Member Reserve, described in Note 6.A., 
represents accumulated member contributions and 
earnings allocations made prior to January 1, 2004, 
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and subsequent earnings allocations less refunds 
and amounts transferred to reserves for retirements 
and disabilities. The IAP member accounts represent 
member contributions made on or after January 1, 
2004, plus earnings allocations less disbursements 
for refunds, death benefits, and retirements. 

Starting July 1, 2020, Senate Bill 1049 required a 
portion of member contributions to their IAP 
accounts to be redirected to the Defined Benefit 
fund. In 2022, if the member earns more than $3,333 
per month, 0.75% (if OPSRP member) or 2.5% (if Tier 
One/Tier Two member) of the member's 
contributions that were previously contributed to 
the member's IAP now fund the new Employee 
Pension Stability Accounts (EPSA). The EPSA 
accounts will be used to fund the cost of future 
pension benefits without changing those benefits, 
which means reduced contributions to the member's 
IAP account. Members may elect to make voluntary 
IAP contributions equal to the amount redirected. 

a. Employee Pension Stability Accounts 
EPSA was created by the Oregon Legislature 

through Senate Bill 1049 (2019) to address the 
increasing cost of funding pension benefits. EPSA's 
function is to help pay for part of an applicable 
member's lifetime monthly pension benefit when 
they retire. 

EPSA rules apply to most PERS members, but the 
EPSA redirect is only triggered when the member's 
gross pay in a month exceeds the monthly salary 
threshold, tied to the annual Consumer Price Index 
(All Urban Consumers, West Region). EPSA accounts 
are credited with investment earnings and losses 
annually, and have no guaranteed rate of return. 
Tier One and Tier Two EPSA accounts earn the Tier 
Two rate, and OPSRP EPSA accounts earn the 
OPRSP Plan rate. Tier One, Tier Two, and OPSRP 
members may have EPSA account balances eligible 
for withdrawal if the member stops working for all 
PERS-covered employers and/or all control groups 
under a PERS-covered employer and is not yet 
eligible for service retirement. OPSRP pension plan 
members who withdraw their EPSA and IAP will 
completely cancel membership in OPSRP, 
including forfeiting all accumulated retirement or 
service credit and potential retirement benefits. The 
redirect to EPSA remains in effect when the PERS 
system is less than 90% funded. 

b. Target-Date Funds 
The Oregon Investment Council, responsible for 

all PERS fund investments, approved the transition 
to a target-date fund investment methodology for all 
IAP accounts beginning January 1, 2018. This 
change in investment methodology reflects an 
investment best practice that will better protect 
participants from potential losses as they approach 
and enter retirement by gradually reducing 
investment risk as participants age. Participants are 
placed in a target-date fund based on their year of 
birth. Investments in each fund will adjust over time 
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to reduce investment risk and potential losses in 
market downturns. As the participant moves 
toward retirement, the investments in the fund 
gradually shift, becoming more conservative to help 
protect against market fluctuations. 

2. Employer Contributions 

PERS funding policy provides for monthly 
employer contributions at actuarially determined 
rates. These contributions, expressed as a percentage 
of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate 
sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. This 
funding policy applies to the PERS Defined Benefit 
Plan and OPEB plans. Employer contribution rates 
during the period were based on the December 31, 
2019, actuarial valuation, which became effective 
July 1, 2021. The state of Oregon and certain schools, 
community colleges, and political subdivisions have 
made supplemental unfunded actuarial liability 
payments, and their rates have been reduced. See 
the contribution rate summary provided in Table 3 
on page 46. Effective January 1, 2020, Senate Bill 
1049 requires employers to pay contributions on re­
employed PERS retirees' salaries as if they were 
active members, excluding IAP (6%) contributions. 
Re-employed retirees do not accrue additional 
benefits while they work after retirement. 

a. PERS Defined Benefit Plan (ORS 238) 

Effective July 1, 2021, the contribution rate for 
State Agencies was 20.36%, the State and Local 
Government Rate Pool 28.08%, School Districts 
27.54%, and judiciary 24.56% of PERS-covered 
salaries. Political subdivisions that have not joined 
the State and Local Government Rate Pool had an 
average pension rate of 28.64%. 

Oregon Laws 2001, Chapter 945, Section 13 
authorized the establishment of the State and Local 
Government Rate Pool. Local political subdivisions 
were given the option to join the state of Oregon and 
community colleges for the actuarial purpose of 
calculating employer rates. Participation by local 
political subdivisions in this pool was effective for 
the actuarial valuation period beginning January 1, 
2002. Oregon Laws 2001, Chapter 945, Section 13 
authorized the establishment of the School Districts 
Pool. Local political subdivisions were given the 
option to join the state of Oregon and community 
colleges for the actuarial purpose of calculating 
employer rates while all education service districts, 
school districts, and charters schools were/ are 
required to join the School Districts Pool. 
Participation in these pools was effective for the 
actuarial valuation period beginning January 1, 
2002. 

Based on the actuarial valuation as of December 
31, 2019, the state agencies, the judiciary, and 
political subdivisions all had increases in employer 
contribution rates on July 1, 2021, while schools had 
a decrease in employer contribution rates. These 
rate changes are measured against the actual 
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average rates paid since the last rate-setting 
valuation. Every two years, the PERS Board adjusts 
contributions so that, over time, those contributions 
will be sufficient to fund the benefits earned, if 
earnings follow assumptions. 

b. OPSRP Pension Program (ORS 238A) 

All PERS employers with OPSRP Pension 
Program members are actuarially pooled and share 
the same contribution rate. The OPSRP Pension 
Program employer rates effective July 1, 2021, 
through June 30, 2022, are 10.33% of covered 
salaries for General Service employees and 14.69% of 
covered salaries for Police and Fire employees. These 
rates increased from 9.85% of covered salaries for 
General Service and 14.48% of covered salaries for 
Police and Fire employees for the period July 1, 2019, 
through June 30, 2021. Each of these rates includes a 
component related to disability benefits for General 
Service and Police and Fire members. 

Note 3 - Receivables and Payables 

A. Receivables 
Table 4 disaggregates accounts receivable 

balances reported in the Statement of Fiduciary Net 
Position. The Strunk and Eugene Accrual resulted 
from recalculating benefits for recipients who 
received overpayments based on the reallocation of 
1999 earnings. Approximately 91% of these 
overpayments were received as of June 30, 2022; 
$4.7 million is expected to be collected within the 
next year. 

TABLE4 

Accounts Receivable 

Broker Receivables 
Transition Liability 
Interest and Dividends Receivable 
Employer and Member Receivables 
Strunk and Eugene Accrual 
Other 

Total Accounts Receivable 

B. Payables 

June 30, 2022 

$ 3,233,213,854 
305,741,323 
155,423,369 
75,387,448 

6,210,735 
25,811,526 

$ 3,801,788,255 

Table 5 on page 50 disaggregates payable 
balances reported in the Statement of Fiduciary Net 
Position as Investment Purchases and Accrued 
Expenses. 

Note 4 - Investments 

The Oregon State Treasury is the investment 
officer for the state of Oregon. Investment standards 
are established in ORS 293.726 and require funds to 
be managed as a prudent investor would do. The 
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TABLES 

Accounts Payable 

June 30, 2022 

Broker Payable $ 4,509,592,293 
Pension Roll 441,957,218 
Investment Fees 23,449,546 
Death Benefits 40,589,735 
Compensated Absences 3,414,400 
Services and Supplies 2,547,722 
Other 5,160,666 

Total Accounts Payable $ 5,026,711.580 

Oregon Investment Council (OIC) establishes 
policies for the investment and reinvestment of 
moneys in the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 
Fund. Policies are established based on the primary 
investment asset class of each investment manager 
and do not reflect the classifications of individual 
holdings as presented in the financial statements. 
Contracts with individual investment managers 
provide additional guidelines that vary from 
manager to manager. 

A.Deposits 
PERS cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 

on hand, deposits in the Oregon Short Term Fund 
(OSTF), moneys held by external investment 
managers, cash equivalents held by the health 
insurance provider, and cash held by the IAP 
program custodian. OSTF is a cash and investment 
pool that operates as a demand deposit account and 
is required for use by all state funds. See Table 6. 

OSTF is separately audited by the Oregon Audits 
Division. The audited financial statements are 
available at: 
https:/ / sos.oregon.gov /audits/Documents/2022-
26.pdf. OSTF investment risks are addressed in the 
notes to those financial statements. 

Health Insurance Claims Fund of $2.9 million 
was held at U.S. Bank. The account is identified as 
Public Funds; therefore, any amount in the account 
above Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
was collateralized by the Public Funds 
Collateralization Program. 

TABLE6 

Depository Account Bank Balance 
Insured $ 750,000 
Oregon Short Term Fund 3,029,835,902 

Health Insurance Claims Fund 2,698,415 

IAP On Demand Deposit 3,532,285 

Uninsured and Uncollateralized 1,945,509,206 

Total Deposits $ 4,982,325,808 
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TABLE7 

Invesbnents as of June 30, 2022 Fair Value 

U.S. Treasury Obligations $ 7,405,478,728 
U.S. Treasury Obligations - Strips 706,365,325 
U.S. Treasury Obligations -TIPS 142,561,012 
U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage Securities 852,601,921 
U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage TBAs 1,327,169,790 
U.S. Federal Agency Debt 101,343,055 
U.S. Federal Agency Strips 429,313 
International Debt Securities 1,153,680,734 
Non-U.S. Government Debt Securities 1,395,606,265 
Corporate Bonds 1,600,651,572 
Bank Loans 1,288,904,402 
Municipal Bonds 35,833,562 
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 499,310,353 
Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities 90,217,654 
Asset-Backed Securities 406,154,657 
Guaranteed Investment Contracts1 302,017,127 
Domestic Fixed Income Funds 960,016,206 
Global Fixed Income Funds 893,258,617 
Repurchase Agreements 39,700,000 

Total Debt Securities 19,201,300,293 

Derivatives in Asset Positions 5,841,579 
Domestic Equity Securities 11,035,418,382 
International Equity Securities 6,804,294,094 
Domestic Equity Funds 3,597,615,173 
Global Equity Funds 684,340,569 
International Equity Funds 758,844,722 
Target Date Funds 789,884,105 
Oregon Savings Growth Plan - Self Directed 38,822,527 

Total Public Equity 23,715,061,151 

Real Estate and Real Estate Investment Trusts 13,484,899,469 
Private Equity 24,588,062,306 
Real Assets 7,493,706,329 
Diversifying Strategies 5,192,616,827 
Opportunity Portfolio 2,248,492,239 

Total PERS Investments - Fiduciary Funds $ 95,924,138,614 

1Guranteed Investment Contracts are stated at contract value. 

1. Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that 

in the event of a bank failure, PERS' deposits may 
not be recovered. As noted above, the deposit and 
investment risks, including custodial risk, of the 
OSTF deposits are outlined in the OSTF financial 
statements. As of June 30, 2022, the carrying 
amount of PERS' deposits in OSTF totaled $3,015.4 
million and the corresponding bank balance was 
$3,030.1 million. Investment managers' deposits 
with custodian banks consist of cash and cash 
equivalents that represent buying reserves. As of 
June 30, 2022, there was as sum of $1,945.8 million 
on deposit for the accounts of the OPERF 
investment managers. 

As of June 30, 2022, the IAP On Demand Deposit 
Account of $3.8 million was held at State Street 
Bank, the custodian of the IAP program third-party 
administrator. The balance on the deposit is insured 
by the FDIC up to the standard maximum deposit 
insurance amount. The balance in excess of the 
FDIC limit was uninsured and uncollateralized. 
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2. Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk for deposits is the risk that 

changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of the deposits. Foreign currency risk is 
controlled via contractual agreements with the 
investment managers. As of June 30, 2022, the sum 
of $277.8 million in cash and cash equivalents was 
exposed to foreign currency risk. The U.S. dollar 
balances of these deposits, organized by currency 
denomination, are presented in Table 12 on page 57. 

3. Restricted Cash Equivalents 
PERS' cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 

2022, include collateral of $594.2 million held by 
investment managers. Swap collateral is offset by a 
related liability with a net settlement feature. 
Collateral is restricted and is not available to pay 
current liabilities. 

B. Investments 
Table 7 on page 50 lists the fair value of 

investments held by the state of Oregon for PERS as 
of June 30, 2022. 

1. Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be 

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. Observable 
inputs are developed based on market data obtained 
from sources independent of the reporting entity. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the 
best information available about the assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing the asset. 

The classification of investments within the fair 
value hierarchy is based upon the activity level in 
the market for the security type and the inputs used 
to determine their fair value. The three levels of the 
hierarchy are described below: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices for identical 
instruments in active markets. 

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments 
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or 
similar instruments in markets that are not active, 
and model-derived valuations in which all 
significant inputs are observable. 

Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation 
techniques in which significant inputs are 
unobservable. 

Inputs used to measure fair value might fall in 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
Categorization within the hierarchy is based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

Equity securities are generally valued based on 
quoted prices from an active market and are 
therefore categorized in level 1. In the absence of 
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quoted market prices, such as equity securities that 
trade infrequently or not at all, valuations are based 
on the last traded price or a price provided by 
investment managers. 

Debt securities classified as level 2 are valued 
using the latest bid prices or evaluated quotes from 
independent pricing vendors. The third-party 
vendors use a variety of methods when pricing 
these securities that incorporate relevant 
observable market data to arrive at an estimate of 
what a buyer in the marketplace would pay for a 
security under current market conditions. When 
independent price sources are not available, debt 
securities are priced based on the last traded price or 
a valuation provided by the investment manager 
and are categorized in level 3. 

Funds priced using a net asset value (NA V) that 
is published daily and validated with a sufficient 
level of observable activity are categorized in level 1. 
If observable activity is limited yet supports that the 
NA V represents an exit value of the security at the 
measurement date, the securities are categorized in 
level 2. Investments that are measured at NA V as a 
practical expedient, such as most private equity, real 
assets, diversifying strategies, opportunity, and real 
estate investments, are excluded from the fair value 
hierarchy if the NA V per share (or its equivalent) 
was calculated in a manner consistent with the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board's 
measurement principles for investment companies. 
Funds not meeting this criteria are categorized in 
level 3. 

Exchange-traded derivatives, including futures, 
rights, and warrants, that are actively traded are 
valued using quoted prices and are categorized in 
level 1. Derivative contract valuations, such as 
swaps and options, are modeled using observable 
pricing inputs and techniques that do not entail 
material subjectivity and are therefore categorized 
in level 2. Level 3 derivatives include securities 
valued at a price that has been determined by the 
investment manager's valuation committee. 

Investments in real estate, other than real estate 
investment trusts, which are generally valued based 
on an active market price and are categorized in 
level 1, have been valued based on the NA V per 
share (or its equivalent), as provided by the general 
partner. This type includes 64 commingled real 
estate funds, structured as limited partnerships, 
where the funds have a finite term. Distributions 
from the funds will be received as the underlying 
investments of the funds are liquidated. Liquidation 
is expected to take place during the five-year period 
following the termination of the investment period, 
which extends to 2035. Investments in real estate 
also include 16 joint ventures where the 
investments are expected to be held for the long 
term and generate cash flow that will represent a 
significant component of the total return. Real 



  

Notes to the Financial Statements 

estate also includes investments in 13 open-ended 
funds that permit quarterly redemption of shares, 
subject to certain requirements being met. 

Private equity consists of approximately 207 
funds, organized as limited partnerships and limited 
liability companies, participating in diversified 
strategies including leveraged buyouts, venture 
capital, growth equity, fund-of-funds, co­
investments, and special situations. The fair values 
of the private equity investments have been 
determined using the NA V per share (or its 
equivalent) as provided by the general partner or 
managing member. These funds have a finite term. 
Distributions will be received as the underlying 
investments of the funds are liquidated, which is 
expected to occur over the next 12 to 14 years. 

investments with a focus on infrastructure and 
natural resources. Real assets consists of 83 
investments in commingled funds organized as 
limited partnerships and limited liability companies. 
The fair values of the investments have been 
determined using a NA V per share (or its equivalent) 
of the investments. For real asset infrastructure and 
natural resource investments, which includes 68 of 
the 83 funds, the funds have a finite term. 
Distributions will be received as the underlying 
investments of the funds are liquidated, which is 
expected to occur over the next 10 to 14 years. The 
remaining 15 funds are open-ended, permitting 
periodic redemption of shares, subject to certain 
requirements being met. They consist of 14 funds 
investing in diversifying hedge strategies, and one 
fund investing in a risk parity strategy. 

Real asset and diversifying asset investments 
seek to provide diversification and inflation-hedging 
characteristics to the fund. They include 

The opportunity portfolio includes strategies that 
fall outside of other asset classes and include 24 funds 
investing in a broad range of performing and distressed 

TABLES 

Investments and Derivative Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

Investments by Fair Value Level 

Debt Securities 

U.S. Treasury Obligations 

U.S. Treasury Obligations - Strips 

U.S. Treasury Obligations -TIPS 

U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage Securities 

U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage TBAs 

U.S. Federal Agency Debt 

U.S. Federal Agency Strips 

Non-Government Debt Securities 

Corporate Bonds 

Bank Loans 

Municipal Bonds 

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 

Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities 

Asset-Backed Securities 

Domestic Fixed Income Funds 

Global Fixed Income Funds 

Repurchase Agreements 
Total Debt Securities1 

Public Equity 
Domestic Equity Securities 
International Equity Securities 
Domestic Equity Funds 
Global Equity Funds 
International Equity Funds 
Target Date Fund 
Oregon Savings Growth Plan - Self Directed 

Total Public Equity 

Real Estate Investment Trusts 

Total Investments by Fair Value Level 

$ 

$ 

6/30/2022 

7,405,478,728 

706,365,325 

142,561,012 

852,601,921 

1,327,169,790 

101,343,055 

429,313 

1,395,606,265 

2,050,010,369 

1,348,659,219 

35,833,562 

660,247,450 

90,313,624 

889,688,710 

960,016,206 

893,258,617 

39,700,000 
18,899,283,166 

11,035,418,382 
6,804,294,094 

3,597,615,173 
684,340,569 
758,844,722 
789,884,105 

38,822,527 
23,709,219,572 

591,019,171 

43,199,521,909 
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Fair Value Measurements Using 
Quoted Prices in 

Active Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1) 

$ 

10,988,766,827 
6,791,873,048 

534,841,768 

38,822,527 
18,354,304,170 

591,019,171 

$ 

$ 18,945,323,341 $ 

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level2) 

7,405,478,728 $ 

706,365,325 

142,561,012 

852,599,948 

1,303,699,872 

101,343,055 

429,313 

1,395,606,265 

1,985,046,984 

1,210,694,354 

35,833,562 

659,619,113 

90,313,624 

847,377,648 

960,016,206 

893,258,617 

39,700,000 
18,629,943,626 

3,597,615,173 
684,340,533 
129,134,738 
789,884,105 

5,200,974,549 

23,830,918,175 $ 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level3) 

1,973 

23,469,918 

64,963,385 

137,964,865 

628,337 

42,311,062 

269,339,540 

46,651,555 
12,421,046 

36 
94,868,216 

153,940,853 

423,280,393 

TABLE 8 continues on the next e 
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TAm..E 8 continuing from the previous page 

Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value (NA V) 
Real Estate 

Real Estate Investments $ 9,834,443,080 
Real Estate Open Ended Funds 3,059,437,218 

Total Real Estate 12,893,880,298 
Private Equity 24,588,062,306 
Real Assets 7,493,706,329 
Diversifying Strategies 5,192,616,827 
Opportunity Portfolio 

Opportunity Private Investments 1,250,079,598 
Opportunity Open Ended Funds 998,412,641 

Total Opportunity Portfolio 2,248,492,239 

Total Investments Measured at the NA V 52,416,757,999 

Total Investments Measured at Fair Value $ 95161§i2791908 

Investments Derivative Instruments 
Credit Default Swaps $ 133,050 $ 
Foreign Exchange Forwards (291,710,186) 
Interest Rate Swaps 4,858,207 
Options 362,453 
Rights and Warrants 291,577 
Total Return Swaps 196,292 

Total Assets (285,868,607) 

Credit Default Swaps (2,090,180) 
Foreign Exchange Forwards 447,805,935 
Interest Rate Swaps (8,686,229) 
Options (3,127,742) 
Total Return Swaps (10,194,965) 

Total Liabilities 423,706,819 

Total Investments Derivative Instruments $ 137,838,212 $ 

Invested Securities Lending Collateral 
Asset-Backed Securities $ 6,118,813 $ 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 100,998,867 
Commercial Paper 28,985,282 
Corporate Bonds 66,951,684 
Repurchase Agreements 251,200,000 

Total Invested Securities Lending Collateral2 $ 454,254,646 $ 

1Guaranteed Investment Contracts are excluded from the table as these are stated at contract value. 

178,734 
210,937 
196,292 
585,963 

$ 

585,963 $ 

$ 

$ 

2 For OSTF's participation in securities lending activity of $5,329,546, refer to their audited financial statements at: 
https://sos.oregon.gov/audits/Documents/2022-26.pdf 
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133,050 $ 
(291,710,186) 

4,858,207 
183,719 

(286,535,210) 

(2,090,180) 
447,805,935 

(8,686,229) 
(3,127,742) 

(10,194,965) 
423,706,819 

137,171,609 $ 

6,118,813 $ 
100,998,867 

28,985,282 
66,951,684 

251,200,000 

454,254,646 $ 

80,640 

80,640 

80,640 
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TABLE9 

Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value 

Fair Value 

RealFstate 

Real Estate Investments $ 9,834,443,080 $ 

Real Estate Open Ended Funds 3,059,437,218 

Private F.quity 24,588,062,306 

Real Assets 7,493,706,329 

Diversifying Strategies 5,192,616,827 

Opportunity Portfolio 

Opportunity Private Investments 1,250,079,598 

Opportunity Open Ended Funds 998,412,641 

Total $ 52,416,757,999 $ 

Unfunded 
Commitments"' 

3,528,736,996 

108,375,345 

7,541,355,639 

3,187,452,427 

983,897,815 

295,928,675 

15,645,746,897 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Redemption 
Frequency (If Redemption 

Currently Eligible) Notice Period 

n/a n/a 

Quarterly 15-90 days 

n/a n/a 

n/a n/a 

Monthly 3-90 days 

n/a n/a 

Monthly, Quarterly 5-90 days 

* Excludes unfunded commitments associated with investments included in the fair value hierarchy (Levels 1, 2, and 3) and 
new commitments not yet funded at 6/30/2022. 

debt and debt-related securities as well as royalties and 
insurance-based investments. The fair values of the 
investments have been determined using a NA V per 
share (or its equivalent) of the investments. For 18 of 
the 24 funds, the funds have a finite term. Distributions 
will be received as the underlying investments of the 
funds are liquidated, which is expected to occur over 
the next 7 to 10 years. The remaining six funds are 
open-ended, permitting periodic redemption of shares. 

PERS has recurring fair value measurements as of 
June 30, 2022, as shown in Table 8 on page 52. 
Disclosures regarding redemption and investments 
valued at the NA V per share (or its equivalent), 
including Unfunded Commitments, are presented in 
Table 9 above. 

2. Rate of Return 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the 

annual money-weighted rate of return on defined 
benefit pension plan investments, net of defined 
benefit pension plan investment expenses, was 
6.16%. The annual money-weighted rates of return 
on the other postemployment healthcare benefits 
(OPEB) investments, net of OPEB investment 
expenses, were 6.49% for the Retirement Health 
Insurance Account (RHIA) and 6.82% for the Retiree 
Health Insurance Premium Account (RHIPA). The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the timing of cash flows and 
the changing amounts actually invested. 

3. Investment Concentrations 
As of June 30, 2022, there were no organizations 

that represent 5% or more of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position or total investments. 
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4. Credit Risk Debt Securities 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other 
counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. OIC has no formal policy regarding 
credit risk. As of June 30, 2022, the fair value of 
below grade investments, excluding unrated 
securities, is $1,335.8 million, or 12.52%, of total 
securities subject to credit risk and 6.96% of total 
debt securities. The weighted quality rating average 
is AA-. Unrated securities include $582.6 million in 
bank loans, $1,469.3 million in domestic and global 
fixed income funds, $302.0 million in guaranteed 
investment contracts, and $658.6 million in other 
debt securities. Unrated federal agency securities 
include $173.7 million in Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC), $1,490.3 million in 
Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), and 
$265.1 million in other federal agency securities. 
These federal agency securities are not rated by the 
credit rating agencies as these are implicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government. Table 10 on the 
next page details the quality ratings for credit risk 
debt securities as of June 30, 2022. 

5. Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the 
risk that in the event of a failure of the 
counterparty, PERS will not be able to recover the 
value of the investments or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party. OIC 
has no formal policy regarding the holding of 
securities by a custodian or counterparty. As of 
June 30, 2022, investment securities (excluding 
cash, cash equivalents, and repurchase agreements 
held as securities lending collateral) are registered 
and held in the name of the OIC, for the benefit of 
PERS, and are not exposed to custodial credit risk. 
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TABLE10 

Schedule of Credit Risk at June 30, 2022 

Quality Rating 
AAA 
AA 
A 
BBB 
BB 
B 
CCC 
cc 
C 
D 
Not Rated 
Not Rated - U.S. Agency1 

Total Subject to Credit Risk 

U.S. Government Guaranteed Securities 

Total Debt Securities 

Fair Value 
$ 1,215,636,765 

610,333,928 
961,446,692 

1,606,258,436 
309,269,660 
712,214,910 

242,848,709 
63,987,553 
1,092,736 
6,348,682 

3,012,620,133 
1,929,128,425 

10,671,186,629 

8,530,113,664 

$ 19,201,300,293 

1 Federal Agency securities are not rated by the credit rating agencies as they 
carry an implicit guarantee of the U.S. Government. See Credit Risk Debt 
Securities note disclosure on the previous page for more detail. 

TABLE11 

Schedule of Interest Rate Risk - Effective Duration at June 30. 2022 

Investments Fair Value 

U.S. Treasury Obligations $ 7,405,478,728 
U.S. Treasury Obligations - Strips 706,365,325 
U.S. Treasury Obligations -TIPS 142,561,012 
U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage Securities 852,601,921 
U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage TBAs 1,320,039,240 
U.S. Federal Agency Debt 101,343,055 
U.S. Federal Agency Strips 429,313 
International Debt Securities 1,153,680,734 
Non-U.S. Government Debt Securities 1,395,606,265 
Corporate Bonds 1,600,635,982 
Bank Loans 1,281,036,618 
Municipal Bonds 35,833,562 
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 499,310,353 
Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities 90,217,654 
Asset-Backed Securities 406,154,657 
Domestic Fixed Income Funds 960,016,206 
Global Fixed Income Funds 893,258,617 
Repurchase Agreements 39,700,000 

No Effective Duration: 
U.S. Federal Agency Mortgage TBAs 7,130,550 
Corporate Bonds 15,590 
Bank Loans 7,867,784 
Guaranteed Investment Contracts 302,017,127 

Total Debt Securities 19,201,300,293 

Cash Equivalent - Mutual Funds - STIF 1,267,067,682 
Cash Equivalent - Oregon Short Term Fund 2,098,356,870 

Total Subject to Interest Rate Risk $ 22,566,724,845 

1a.001 year 
2Weighted average maturity. Pools are not rated. 
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Effective Weighted 
Duration Rate 

(in years) 

3.07 
0.25 
4.88 
6.56 
4.00 
2.85 

18.91 
4.60 
4.36 
5.80 
6.40 
4.27 
8.28 
6.81 
4.60 
5.33 
6.48 

0.001 

NIA 
NIA 
NIA 
NIA 

11days2 

185 days2 
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6. Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in 

interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment. This risk is managed within the 
portfolio using the effective duration methodology. 
As of June 30, 2022, the weighted average duration 
of PERS' fixed income portfolio was 4.31 years. 

Effective duration is a measure of a fixed income 
investment's exposure to fair value changes arising 
from changes in interest rates. Effective duration 
makes assumptions regarding the most likely timing 
and amounts of variable cash flows. These 
assumptions take into consideration factors 
indicative of investments that are highly sensitive 
to interest rate changes, including callable options, 
prepayments, and other factors. These factors are 
reflected in the effective duration numbers provided 
herein. No individual fixed income investment 
manager's portfolio was outside the policy 
guidelines as of June 30, 2022. Table 11 on the 
previous page shows the investments by type, 
amount, and effective weighted duration. 

At June 30, 2022, PERS held approximately 
$1,442.1 million in debt instruments backed by 
pooled mortgages, collateralized mortgage 
obligations, commercial mortgage backed securities, 
or fixed-rate mortgages. These securities represent a 
stream of principal and interest payments from 
underlying mortgages. Assets with these 
characteristics are susceptible to prepayment by the 
mortgage holders, which may result in a decrease in 
total interest realized. The value of these securities 
can be volatile as interest rates fluctuate. 
Additionally, the risk of default exists and collateral 
held may potentially be insufficient to cover the 
principal due. PERS also held approximately $1,327.2 
million in To-Be-Announced (TBA) federal agency­
issued mortgage pools. An additional $406.2 million 
of debt instruments held are asset-backed securities 
backed primarily by automobiles, consumer credit 
receivables, student loan receivables, and heavy 
equipment leases. 

7. Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in 

exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment or a deposit. As of June 30, 2022, 
approximately 6.61% of the debt investment 
portfolio was invested in non-dollar denominated 
securities. Policies for PERS' portfolio do not limit 
non-dollar denominated investments. PERS utilizes 
a currency overlay manager to reduce risk through 
offsetting investments in the developed foreign 
currency market for international equity portfolios. 
See Table 12 on the next page. 

8. Unfunded Commitments 
OIC has entered into agreements that commit 

OPERF, upon request, to make additional 
investment purchases up to a predetermined 
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amount. As of June 30, 2022, the OPERF had 
$4,888.1 million in commitments to purchase real 
estate investments and $9,911.0 million in 
commitments to purchase private equity 
investments, which include $6,392 million in 
recallable distributions. There were $3,548.7 million 
in commitments to purchase real assets, which 
includes $1,074 million in recallable distributions. 
Additionally, there were $1,279.8 million in 
commitments to purchase opportunity portfolio 
investments, which include $664 million in 
recallable distributions. These amounts are 
unfunded and are not recorded in the Statement of 
Fiduciary Net Position. 

C. Securities Lending 
In accordance with state investment policies, 

OPERF participates in securities lending 
transactions. Through securities lending 
authorization agreements, the Oregon State 
Treasury has authorized its custodian, State Street 
Bank, to lend its securities pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of policy and applicable agreements. Both 
OPERF and the borrowers maintained the right to 
terminate all securities lending transactions on 
demand. There were no significant violations of the 
provisions of securities lending agreements during 
the period of these financial statements. 

During the period of these financial statements, 
the custodian had the authority to loan short-term, 
fixed income, and equity securities and to receive as 
collateral U.S. dollar and foreign currency cash, U.S. 
government and agency securities, letters of credit, 
and foreign sovereign debt of Organization of 
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 
countries. Borrowers were required to deliver 
collateral for each loan equal to or not less than 
102% of the fair value of loaned U.S. securities and 
international fixed income securities, or 105% in the 
case of international equity. The custodian did not 
have the ability to pledge or sell collateral securities 
absent a borrower default, and OPERF did not 
impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the 
amount of the loans the custodian made on its 
behalf. OPERF is fully indemnified against losses 
caused by borrower default by its current custodian. 
There were no losses during the year from the 
failure of borrowers to return loaned securities and 
no recoveries of amounts from prior losses. 

The maturities of investments made with cash 
collateral did not generally match the maturities of 
the securities loaned. Because the securities loaned 
are callable on demand by either the lender or 
borrower, the life of the loans at June 30, 2022, is 
effectively one day. On June 30, 2022, OPERF had 
no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the 
amounts OPERF owes borrowers exceeds the 
amounts borrowers owe OPERF. 

On June 30, 2022, the fair value of cash collateral 
received and invested cash collateral were $454.0 
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TAm.E12 

!:111:r~!!&J: Exoosur~& l!x Aaet C!iH in !JS Dollar F.Qmnl~ng ill !If Jim!: 30. ~ 
Real Assets and 

Cash and Cash Derivatives in Diversifying 
Curren!:! gg_uivalents Debt Securities Public gg_uitI Asset Positions RealFstate Stratell!es Total 

Argentine peso $ 2,659 $ $ $ $ $ $ 2,659 
Australian dollar 6,097,412 36,863,547 274,683,975 54 9,110,005 47,843,486 374,598,479 
Brazilian real 1,810,122 88,302,182 90,112,304 
Canadian dollar 7,752,359 30,103,451 461,173,202 3,684,380 502,713,392 
Otilean peso 483,059 2,408,359 2,891,418 
Otinese yuan renminbi 98,452,905 73,327,034 167,217,091 338,997,030 
Colombian peso 4,055 798,629 208,831 1,011,515 
Czech koruna 6,658 1,026,536 1,570,792 2,603,986 
Danish krone 262,960 2,075,776 187,217,006 189,555,742 
Egyptian pound 1,864 2,152,073 580 2,154,517 
Euro 95,982,924 501,248,737 1,238,875,527 4,639 119,829 2,785,336,823 4,621,568,479 
Hong Kong dollar 4,117,848 494,356,250 16,133,853 514,607,951 
Hungarian forint 2,241 391,568 4,283,776 4,677,585 
Indian rupee 1,451,601 117,626,017 119,077,618 
Indonesian rupiah 554,286 10,565,165 34,241,188 45,360,639 
Israeli shekel 205,095 15,255,877 53,615,341 69,076,313 
Japanese yen 11,074,812 314,581,163 970,855,636 1,975,241 1,298,486,852 
Kenya shilling 847,287 818,523 1,665,810 
Kuwaiti dinar 40,697 703,054 743,751 
Malaysian ringgit 561,313 9,096,686 31,651,121 1,503,209 42,812,329 
Mexican peso 4,295,039 29,512,190 39,843,596 9,880,051 83,530,876 
New Taiwan dollar 3,462,650 208,622,846 212,085,496 
New Zealand dollar 1,034,257 2,806,157 7,590,918 11,431,332 
Nigerian naira 785,065 4,170,423 4,955,488 
Norwegian krone 398,639 373,775 80,829,955 81,602,369 
Pakistani rupee 77,347 4,736,121 4,813,468 
Peruvian nuevo sol 2,838 6,344,347 9,939 6,357,124 
Philippine peso 62,813 9,598,403 9,661,216 
Polish zloty 257,174 1,381,103 13,674,838 15,313,115 
Pound sterling 24,575,452 211,205,451 951,770,894 980,133 44,911,598 1,233,443,528 
QataririaI 68,726 24,282,446 24,351,172 
Romanian leu 668,162 1,344,914 2,013,076 
Russian ruble 704,043 1,677,576 36,320,402 38,702,021 
Saudi Arabian riyal 545,531 44,136,324 44,095 44,725,950 
Singapore dollar 873,108 9,825,642 93,112,247 5,795 11,759,215 115,576,007 
South African rand 788,554 4,125,531 67,535,216 72,449,301 
South Korean won 2,633,449 248,720,339 18,098 14,045 251,385,931 
Swedish krona 1,640,361 1,078,209 131,152,334 133,870,904 
Swiss franc 5,404,748 400,127,566 196,293 405,728,607 
Thailand baht 377,579 4,099,895 32,518,242 620,433 417,039 38,033,188 
Turkish lira 73,086 13,549,068 13,622,154 
United Arab Emirates dirham 18,139 11,597,666 11,615,805 
Vietnamese dong 13,097 1,523,635 1,536,732 

Total Subject to Foreign 
Currency Risk $ 277,803,852 $ 1268,432,207 $ 6,558,728,276 $ 2,349,101 $ 54,117,886 $ 2,878,091.907 $ 11.039,523,229 

million and $453.9 million, respectively. The 
cumulative unrealized loss in invested cash 
collateral of $98,510 has been recognized in 
securities lending income in the Statement of 
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position in the period in 
which the gain or losses occurred. For the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022, total income from securities 
lending activity was $6.8 million, and total expenses 
for the period were $2.4 million for a net gain of 
$4.4 million. 

information on OSTF's participation in securities 
lending activity, refer to their audited financial 
statements: 

Oregon Short Term Fund (OSTF) also 
participates in securities lending activity. OPERF 
receives an allocated portion of this activity based 
on its deposits in OSTF. As of June 30, 2022, 
OPERF's allocated portion of cash collateral received 
and invested cash collateral were $5.3 million and 
$5.3 million, respectively. 

Cash collateral received for OSTF securities lent 
is invested in securities lending collateral pools and 
is not exposed to custodial risk. For more 
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https:/ / sos.oregon.gov /audits/Documents/2022-
26.pdf. 

Table 13 shows the combined balances of the 
securities on loan, cash and securities collateral 
received and investments of cash collateral held. 
Table 14 and 15 disclose how the cash collateral 
received was invested. Securities lending collateral 
subject to credit risk as of June 30, 2022, is shown 
in Table 14. Securities lending collateral subject to 
interest rate risk as of June 30, 2022, is shown in 
Table 15 on page 59. 

D. Derivative Instruments 
Oregon Investment Council policy allows, with 

some restrictions, for the use of derivative 
instruments in the prudent management of OPERF 
investments. Certain internally and externally 
managed accounts are allowed, through contract 
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TABLE13 

Securities Lending as of June 30, 2022 

Investment Type 

Securities on Loan 

at Fair Value 
Cash and Securities 

Collateral Received 
Investments of Cash 

Collateral at Fair Value 

U.S. Treasury Securities $ 42,776,731 $ 43,548,285 
51,768,626 

404,937,993 
65,724,545 
81,224,524 
6,656,330 

$ 2,373,235 

345,057,146 
69,167,660 
37,270,129 

5,329,546 

U.S. Agency Securities 50,961,362 
Domestic Equity Securities 390,082,730 
Domestic Debt Securities 64,583,979 
International Equity Securities 76,097,911 
Allocation from Oregon Short Term Fund 6,528,184 

Total $ 631,030,897 $ 653,860,303 $ 459,197,716 

and policy, to invest in derivative instruments to 
carry out their investment management activities. 

Risks inherent with derivatives are managed 
through investment management's adherence to 
contractual and policy prescribed terms that are 
consistent with OPERF's investing objectives. 

All derivative instruments held by OPERF are 
considered investments. The fair value of OPERF 
derivative investments is reported in the 
Investment Sales and Other Receivables, Investment 
Purchases and Accrued Expenses, and the Public 
Equity lines of the Statement of Fiduciary Net 
Position - Pension and Other Postemployment Plans 
on pages 33 and 34. Changes in fair value during the 
fiscal year are reported in the Net 
Appreciation/Depreciation in Fair Value of 
Investments line of the Statement of Changes in 
Fiduciary Net Position - Pension and Other 
Postemployment Plans on pages 35 and 36. 

Table 16 on page 60 presents the fair value 
amounts, the related net appreciation/(depreciation) 
in fair value amounts, and the notional amounts of 
derivative instruments outstanding as of June 30, 
2022. 

A forward foreign currency exchange contract is 
a forward contract that is a commitment to purchase 
or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a 
negotiated forward rate. The fair value of a foreign 
currency forward is determined by the difference 
between the contract exchange rate and the closing 
exchange rate at the end of a reporting period. Risks 
associated with such contracts include movement in 
the value of foreign currencies and the ability of the 
counterparty to perform. 

A futures contract represents a commitment to 
purchase or sell an underlying asset at a future date 
and at a specified price. Futures contracts have 
standardized terms and are traded on exchanges. 
The counterparty credit risk for futures is generally 
less than for privately negotiated forward contracts, 
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since the clearinghouse, which is the issuer or 
counterparty to each exchange-traded future, settles 
daily the net change in the futures contract's value 
in cash with the broker and results in the contract 
itself having no fair value at the end of any trading 
day. 

A swap is an agreement that obligates two 
parties to exchange a series of cash flows or the net 
value of cash flows at specified intervals based upon, 
or calculated by, reference to changes in specified 
prices or rates for a specified amount of an 
underlying asset. Swaps are privately negotiated 
contracts with customized terms and are transacted 
in over-the-counter markets. OPERF held various 
types of swaps including credit default, interest rate, 
and total return swaps. The payment flows are 
usually netted against each other, with the 
difference being paid by one party or another. In 
addition, collateral may be pledged or received by 
OPERF in accordance with the terms of the 
respective swap agreements to provide value and 
recourse to OPERF or its counterparties. Swaps are 
subject to general market risk, liquidity risk, credit 
risk, interest rate risk, and the risk that the 
counterparty may fail to perform. 

An option is an instrument that gives one party 
the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell an 
underlying asset from or to another party at a fixed 
price over a specified period of time. In writing an 
option, OPERF bears the market risk of an 
unfavorable change in the price of the underlying 
investment of the written option. Exercise of an 
option written by OPERF could result in OPERF 
selling or buying an asset at a price different from 
the current fair value. Options may be subject to 
interest rate risk, general market risk, liquidity risk, 
credit risk, foreign currency risk, and, for non­
exchange traded options, the risk of the 
counterparty's ability to perform. 

Rights are the right, but not the obligation, to 
purchase newly issued equity shares, often in 
proportion to the number of shares currently 
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TABLE14 

Securities Lending Invested Cash Collateral Subject to Credit Risk as of June 30, 2022 

Quality Rating 

AAA 
AA1 

A 
Total Subject to Credit Risk 

U.S. Government Guaranteed Repurchase Agreements 

Allocation from Oregon Short Term Fund 

Cash 

Payable 

Total Securities Lending Invested Cash Collateral 

1Commercial paper ratings of A-1 +/ A-1 categorized as AA. 

TABLE15 

$ 

$ 

Fair Value 

6,118,813 

130,972,890 

75,962,943 

213,054,646 

241,200,000 

5,329,546 

71,516 

(457,992) 

459,197,716 

Securities Lending Invested Cash Collateral Subject to Interest Rate Risk as of June 30. 2022 

Effective 

Weighted 

Duration Rate 
Security Type 

Asset-Backed Securities 

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 

Corporate Bonds 

Commercial Paper 

Repurchase Agreements 

Total Subject to Interest Rate Risk 

U.S. Government Guaranteed Repurchase Agreements 

Allocation from Oregon Short Term Fund 

Cash 

Payable 

Total Securities Lending Invested Cash Collateral 

1 Weighted average days to maturity or next reset date. 

$ 

$ 

59 

Fair Value 

6,118,813 

100,998,867 

28,985,282 

66,951,684 

10,000,000 

213,054,646 

241,200,000 

5,329,546 

71,516 

(457,992) 

459,197,716 

(indays) 1 

69 

47 

103 

52 

2 

27 
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TABLE16 

Derivative Instruments as of June 30, 2022 

Net Appreciation/ 
(Depreciation) in 

Investment Derivatives Fair Value of Investments 1.3 

Commodity Futures Long $ 
Commodity Futures Short 
Credit Default Swaps Bought 
Credit Default Swaps Written 
Fixed Income Futures Long 
Fixed Income Futures Short 
Fixed Income Options Bought 
Fixed Income Options Written 
Foreign Currency Options Bought 
Foreign Currency Options Written 
Foreign Exchange Forwards 
Futures Options Bought 
Futures Options Written 
Index Futures Long 
Index Futures Short 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Rights 
Total Return Swaps Bond 
Total Return Swaps Equity 
Warrants 

41,647,527 
(7,870,761) 
3,612,188 

(40,255,185) 
(579,947,520) 

56,840,332 
1,790,216 

(6,057,334) 
50,727 
(97,659) 

721,542,754 
(2,023,380) 

5,115,601 
(97,929,209) 
198,159,817 
152,161,099 

(132,012,337) 
148,444 
254,331 

37,218,606 
100,696 

Total $ 352,448,953 ======================== 
1 Negative values (in brackets) refer to losses. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Classification Fair Value Notional Value 2 

Public Equity $ $ 66,586,589 
Public Equity (1,005) 
Public Equity 89,255 34,640,000 
Public Equity (2,046,385) 363,033,243 
Public Equity 3,948,897,553 
Public Equity (394,110,503) 
Public Equity 148,531 2,100,000 
Public Equity (2,576,553) (364,776,660) 
Public Equity 35,187 4,502,500 
Public Equity (35,968) (4,079,500) 
Receivables/Payables 156,095,749 24,561,268,049 
Public Equity 178,734 93,000 
Public Equity (515,220) (524,000) 
Public Equity 23,114,766 
Public Equity (2,558,415) 
Public Equity 31,788,549 1,686,208,661 
Public Equity (35,616,571) 904,401,735 
Public Equity 20,240 190,277 
Public Equity 678,919 20,386,065 
Public Equity (10,677,592) (106,673,518) 
Public Equity 271,337 1,225,914 

$ 137,838,212 $ 30.743,924.751 

2 Notional may be a dollar amount or size of underlying for futures, rights, warrants, and options. Negative values refer to 
short positions. 

3 Excludes futures margin payments. 

owned, in a specified company at a pre­
established price on or within a predetermined 
date. A warrant provides the holder the right, but 
not the obligation, to purchase securities from the 
issuing entity at a specific price and within a 
certain time period. In the OPERF portfolio, rights 
and warrants are often obtained and held because 
of existing investments and are subject to general 
market risk and liquidity risk. 

1. Counterparty Credit Risk 

Table 17 on page 61 presents a summary of 
counterparty credit ratings relating to derivative 
instruments in asset positions as of June 30, 2022. 

2. Interest Rate Risk 
As of June 30, 2022, OPERF is exposed to interest 
rate risk on its various swap arrangements and 
options. Table 18 on page 61 presents a segmented 
time schedule of those instruments, and Table 19, 
on pages 62 through 64, shows a schedule of 
derivative instruments that were highly sensitive 
to interest rate changes. 

3. Foreign Currency Risk 
OPERF is exposed to foreign currency risk on its 
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derivative instruments. Table 20 on page 65 
presents a summary of derivative instruments 
subject to foreign currency risk as of June 30, 
2022. 

Note 5 - Capital Assets and Leases Used in Plan 
Operations 

Capital construction of PERS' headquarters in 
Tigard, Oregon, was completed May 31, 1997. The 
land, building, and improvements are recorded at 
cost. The depreciation of the building and 
improvements is computed on the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of 40 years. 

Data processing hardware, furniture, and 
equipment are recorded at cost. These are items 
that are not consumed in the normal course of 
operations, have a useful life of more than one 
year, and are valued at $5,000 or more. 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method over the assets' estimated useful lives. 
Useful lives range from 3 to 10 years. 

Data processing software generated internally 
as part of the Oregon Retirement Information On­
line Network (ORION) Project is recorded at cost. 
The useful life is amortized using the straight-line 
method over 20 years. See Table 21 on page 66. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

TABLE17 

Derivative Instruments Subject to Counterparty Credit Risk as of June 30. 2022 

Percentage of S&P Fitch Moody's 
Counterparty Name Net Exposure Rating Rating Rating 

Morgan Stanley Capital Services Inc 16.90% A- A A1 
UBSAG 8.86% A+ AA- Aa3 
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. 6.67% A+ AA Aa2 
Citibank N.A. 6.66% A+ A+ Aa3 
Toronto Dominion Bank 6.31% AA- AA- A1 
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. London 5.63% A+ AA Aa2 
Credit Agricole CIB 5.18% A+ A+ Aa3 
State Street Bank London 4.57% A AA- A1 
NatWest Markets PLC 4.56% A- A+ A2 
Morgan Stanley CME 4.27% A- A A1 
Societe Generale 4.18% A A- A1 
Standard Chartered Bank 3.42% A+ A+ A1 
Westpac Banking Corporation 3.37% AA- A+ Aa3 
HSBC Bank PLC 3.36% A- A+ A3 
HSBC Bank USA 3.12% A+ AA- Aa3 
Goldman Sachs Bank USA 2.56% BBB+ A A2 
Morgan Stanley LCH 1.94% A- A A1 
BNP Paribas SA 1.66% A+ A+ Aa3 
State Street Bank and Trust Company 1.47% AA- AA Aa3 
Bank of America, N.A. 0.81% A+ AA Aa2 
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. 0.72% A+ AA Aa2 
Royal Bank of Canada (U.K) 0.71% AA- AA- A1 
Barclays Bank PLC Wholesale 0.68% A A+ A1 
Goldman Sachs International 0.52% A+ A+ A1 
The Bank of New York Mellon 0.52% AA- AA Aa2 
Bank of New York 0.46% A AA- A1 
Barclays Bank LCH 0.25% A A+ A1 
Royal Bank of Canada 0.25% AA- AA- A1 
Morgan Stanley and Co. International PLC 0.14% A- A A1 
Morgan Stanley Co Incorporated 0.11% A- A A1 
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 0.06% AA- A+ Aa3 
Deutsche Bank AG 0.05% A- BBB+ A2 
JP Morgan ICE 0.03% A- AA- A2 

100.00% 

TABLE18 

Derivative Instruments Subject to Interest Rate Risk as of June 30, 2022 

Investment Maturities (in years) 
Investment Type Fair Value LessThan1 1-5 6-10 MoreThan10 

Credit Default Swaps Bought $ 89,255 $ (61,958) $ 153,225 $ $ (2,012) 
Credit Default Swaps Written (2,046,385) 8,299 (2,054,684) 
Fixed Income Options Bought 148,531 148,531 
Fixed Income Options Written (2,576,553) (1,813,444) (763,109) 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 31,788,549 12,578,816 7,973,478 11,236,255 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps (35,616,571) (9,693,854) (13,702,706) (12,220,011) 
Total Return Swaps Bond 678,919 678,919 
Total Return Swaps Equity (10,677,592) (10,677,592) 

Total $ (18,211,847) $ (11,865,776) $ 368,925 $ (5,729,228) $ (985,768) 
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TAm.E19 

Deriyative Instruments Highly Sensitive to Interest Rate Changes as of June 30, 2022 
Investment Type 

Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

Reference Rate 

Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 1.0000% 
Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 0.7500% 
Receive Variable 1-Month US CPI, Pay Fixed 2.3295% 
Receive Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR, Pay Fixed 0.0000% 
Receive Variable 1-Month US CPI, Pay Fixed 2.2740% 
Receive Variable 1-Month US CPI, Pay Fixed 2.3450% 
Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 1.2500% 
Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 1.3500% 
Receive Variable 6-month AUD BBSW, Pay Fixed 1.7500% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.72875% 
Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 1.2500% 
Receive Variable 12-Month CHF SARON, Pay Fixed 0.5000% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.5200% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 0.7100% 
Receive Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR, Pay Fixed 0.5000% 
Receive Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR, Pay Fixed 0.2500% 
Receive Variable 12-month GBP SONIA, Pay Fixed 0.7500% 
Receive Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR, Pay Fixed 0.4140% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.5600% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.7334% 
Receive Variable 12-Month US CPI, Pay Fixed 2.9500% 
Receive Variable 3-Month MYR KUBOR, Pay Fixed 3.2500% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.5200% 
Receive Variable 0-Month US CPI, Pay Fixed 3.9700% 
Receive Variable 3-Month MYR KUBOR, Pay Fixed 3.5000% 
Receive Variable 3-Month MYR KUBOR, Pay Fixed 3.5000% 
Receive Variable 6-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.4465% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.0390% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.0390% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.3200% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.6300% 
Receive Variable 6-Month INR MIBOR, Pay Fixed 5.7500% 
Receive Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR, Pay Fixed 1.0000% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.6500% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.4300% 
Receive Variable 3-month UBOR, Pay Fixed 1.2700% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.11678% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.8500% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.0000% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 1.7500% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.8000% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.7000% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.2500% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.5000% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.5000% 
Receive Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR, Pay Fixed 0.4500% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.6000% 
Receive Variable 3-Month CAD COOR, Pay Fixed 2.2500% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.78234% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 2.96478% 
Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.1415% 
Receive Variable 12-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.05876% 
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Fair Value Notional Value 

$ 533,434 $ 3,500,000 
4,802,215 26,600,000 

48,367 500,000 
87,509 313,635 

964,697 9,300,000 
114,101 1,200,000 

743,423 8,148,000 
2,834,168 32,928,000 

666,643 3,850,840 
2,168,069 12,286,000 
1,267,316 17,100,000 

13,370,241 
3,001,284 14,048,000 
5,773,257 62,100,000 

176,141 522,725 
54,781,574 

118,667 850,115 
11,395,404 

1,294,657 6,050,000 
566,283 13,290,000 
494,178 13,300,000 
295,288 4,492,343 
626,714 20,770,000 
549,664 18,270,000 

7,088 158,820 
13,164 294,952 

105,353 662,471 
14,427,146 

2,355,452 
2,292,641 122,500,000 
3,370,183 17,330,000 
300,754 6,575,707 
864,150 21,327,178 
508,720 2,660,000 

2,630 100,000 
1,255,719 55,900,000 

320,859 21,800,000 
1,473,095 126,400,000 

475,535 7,331,000 
1,106,326 23,900,000 

78,689 1,398,550 
736,079 

2,061,021 
3,459,571 

150,557 6,610,000 
2,944,315 

120,678 13,741,000 
1,279,414 10,465,522 

26,407 28,460,000 
(327,166) 46,000,000 
(102,387) 35,439,000 

(66,786) 6,200,000 

TAm.E 19 continues on the next pa e 
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TAm.E 19 continuing from the previous page 

Investment Type Reference Rate 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.4000% 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.0220% 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.3000% 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.2000% 
Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Variable 0-Month SOFR, Pay Fixed 3.1765% 
Subtotal - Pay Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 7.4500%, Pay Variable 1-Month MXN TIIE 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 7.4400%, Pay Variable 1-Month MXN TIIE 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.000%, Pay Variable 3-Month CAD COOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.2500%, Pay Variable 3-Month CAD COOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.2500%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.7400%, Pay Variable 1-month GBP UKRPI 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.7000%, Pay Variable 1-month GBP UKRPI 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.8200%, Pay Variable 3-month LIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 3-month LIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.000%, Pay Variable 12-Month CHF SARON 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.0000%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.0000%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.2500%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month KRW KSDA 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.7700%, Pay Variable 12-Month US CPI 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month NZD NZDBB 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.0600%, Pay Variable 3-Month CAD COOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.4500%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 12-month GBP SONIA 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 12-month GBP SONIA 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month CAD COOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month NZD NZDBB 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.3700%, Pay Variable 0-Month US CPI 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month JPY TONAR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.7500%, Pay Variable 12-month GBP SONIA 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.0000%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.6170%, Pay Variable 3-month LIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.2940%, Pay Variable 12-Month CHF SARON 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.3425%, Pay Variable 12-Month CHF SARON 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 0.2950%, Pay Variable 12-Month CHF SARON 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 5.7500%, Pay Variable 12-Month INR MIBOR 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 5.7500%, Pay Variable 6-Month INR MIBOR 

Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 

Receive Fixed 0.2500%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 

Receive Fixed 0.7000%, Pay Variable 12-Month JPY TONAR 

Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 
Receive Fixed 0.5000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed 0.6444%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed 1.6950%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 
Receive Fixed 0.6900%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR 
Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 
Receive Fixed 0.3675%, Pay Variable 12-Month CHF SARON 
Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 
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$ 
Fair Value Notional Value 

(3,157,230) $ 496,701,000 
(121,324) 10,962,000 

(4,211,607) 190,368,000 
(1,102,988) 33,321,000 

31,788,549 
(1,038,105) 
(1,088,391) 

(725,360) 
(28,505) 

(2,937,980) 
(389,669) 
(162,694) 
(326,903) 

(1,943,522) 

(2,999,189) 
(338,157) 
(870,140) 

(98,829) 
(120,092) 

(39,579) 
(6,618,477) 
(2,592,460) 
(1,190,578) 
(345,309) 
(102,499) 
(188,694) 
(429,047) 
(946,229) 
(271,544) 

(86,712) 
(117,179) 
(275,638) 
(36,376) 

(219,193) 
(533,834) 
(928,306) 

(1,577,703) 
(250,762) 
(125,424) 
(220,299) 

(47,319) 
{551,713) 
(96,661) 

(48,882) 

(36,374) 

(59,988) 
(20,491) 

(808,082) 
{315,099) 
(378,996) 
(186,769) 
(333,557) 
{66,904) 

24,652,000 
1,686,208,661 

13,367,533 
13,916,211 
7,907,283 

155,045 
11,395,404 
1,045,450 
1,214,450 
2,307,455 
6,899,969 

313,635 
128,660,000 

8,700,000 
13,370,241 
14,427,147 

3,459,571 
2,355,452 

36,360,747 
25,090,797 
10,724,199 

13,300,000 
8,517,978 

11,628,358 
2,944,316 

10,201,380 
6,315,140 
5,194,000 
9,574,953 

18,270,000 
4,710,905 
5,741,415 

11,300,000 
3,036,125 

14,300,000 
3,000,000 
3,342,560 
5,640,570 
1,253,460 

40,067,112 
2,113,394 

560,034 

2,061,021 

736,079 

234,762 
21,327,178 
7,098,605 
3,600,000 
3,439,530 
2,206,194 
8,565,310 

766,511 

TAm.E 19 continues on the next pa e 
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TABLE 19 continuing from the previous page 

Investment Type Reference Rate Fair Value Notional Value 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF (2,222) 25,456 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.7500%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (1,982,083) 22,500,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.7500%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (314,881) 1,800,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 11.0300%, Pay Variable 0-month Brazil BRCDI (207,609) 5,067,454 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month KRW KSDA (80,059) 3,019,177 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.4700%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR (942,838) 83,213,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 1.0000%, Pay Variable 6-Month Euro EURIBOR (31,697) 3,868,165 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.1750%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (102,436) 2,900,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 11.9850%, Pay Variable 0-month Brazil BRCDI (84,692) 4,971,842 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.7500%, Pay Variable 3-Month NZD NZDBB ('74,305) 5,782,277 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 12.0900%, Pay Variable 0-month Brazil BRCDI (58,048) 4,015,719 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 4.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month MYR KUBOR 9,721 1,270,562 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 4.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month MYR KUBOR 15,796 2,064,663 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.2500%, Pay Variable 3-Month KRW KSDA (1,378) 322,705 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.7700%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR (160,359) 33,131,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.2500%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 2,831 101,824 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.2500%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF 12,894 463,866 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 4.0000%, Pay Variable 3-Month NZD NZDBB (20,730) 8,331,453 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.7500%, Pay Variable 6-Month THB THBXF (9,225) 506,293 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.95103%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (59,721) 28,460,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.96466%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (19,062) 9,600,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.96815%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (32,760) 17,000,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.02628%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (13,530) 14,200,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.00387%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (9,698) 7,300,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.88642%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 200,477 23,100,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.7500%, Pay Variable 6-Month SGD IBOR 4,164 1,580,800 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.53117%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 52,563 7,000,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.4000%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (105,324) 9,900,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.3700%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR (63,658) 3,600,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.4859%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 24,301 3,600,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.52695%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 44,630 6,000,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.00494%, Pay Variable 12-Month SOFR 46,596 2,500,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.1000%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR 1,401,858 15,283,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 3.1660%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR 58,126 17,271,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.8920%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR 8,877,000 
Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps Receive Fixed 2.6570%, Pay Variable 0-Month SOFR 13,057,000 
Subtotal - Receive Fixed Interest Rate Swaps (35,616,571) 904,401,735 

Total Interest Rate Swaps $ 13.828,022) $ 2,590,610,396 
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TABLE20 

Derivative Instruments Subject to Foreign Currency Risk as of June 30, 2022 

Currency Forward Contracts 

Currency Name 

Australian dollar 
Bahraini dinar 
Brazilian real 
Canadian dollar 
Chilean peso 
Colombian peso 
Czech koruna 
Danish krone 
Egyptian pound 
Euro1 

Hong Kong dollar 
Hungarian forint 
Indian rupee 
Indonesian rupiah 
Japanese yen 
Kuwaiti dinar 
Malaysian ringgit 
Mexican peso 
Moroccan dirham 
New Israeli sheqel 
New Taiwan dollar 
New Zealand dollar 
Norwegian krone 
Peruvian nuevo sol 
Philippine peso 
Polish zloty 
Pounds sterling 
Romanian leu 
Russian ruble 
Saudi riyal 
Singapore dollar 
South African rand 
South Korean won 
Swedish krona 
Swiss franc 
Thailand baht 
Turkish lira 
United Arab Emirates dirham 
Yuan renminbi 
Yuan renminbi - offshore 

Total Subject to Foreign Currency 
Risk 

U.S.dollar 

Total 

Net Receivables Net Payables 
Options/Rights/ 

Warrants 

$ (25,659,591) $ 21,219,276 $ 54 $ 
1,473 (74,126) 

15,191,779 (17,709,507) 
(23,976,515) 10,920,348 
(3,049,503) 2,286,198 
(3,857,281) 1,929,198 
(2,384,897) 2,820,491 
(3,145,347) 14,163,928 

(223,619) 2,674 
(18,064,517) 71,909,460 

(189,017) 231,558 
(3,555,758) 960,990 
(3,529,921) 1,688,618 
(394,466) 543,161 

(90,963,112) 178,128,314 
(4,973) 3,381 
19,098 565,924 

4,043,579 (4,413,341) 
(115,001) 25,072 

(5,191,825) 12,004,879 
(2,140,426) 6,180,022 

(24,162,289) 20,426,382 
(49,642,841) 32,113,126 

54,219 (466,917) 
(1,242,921) 908,158 

(12,915,222) 6,601,492 
(15,699,450) 43,626,048 

(860,639) 463,774 
17,808,642 (6,240,561) 

17,813 (21,913) 
(2,490,277) 3,541,431 
(9,812,469) 4,642,371 
(5,629,193) 11,518,026 

(11,148,960) 19,845,546 
5,759,439 (5,299,851) 

(396,114) 414,625 
(292,894) (25,338) 

(1,511) 1,481 
(116,753) (1,041,640) 

(2,650,253) 2,314,504 

(280,611,513) 436,707,2.62 

580 
(90,661) 

(19,057) 

18,098 

64,477 

(2.6,509) 

(2,447,203) 

$ (280,611,513) $ 436,707,2.62 $ (2,473,712) $ 

1 Re resents all of the sitions with a Euro le . It is not solel USD/Euro activit . 

Swaps Total Exposure 

666,643 $ 

(350,349) 
419,709 

(15,961,266) 

(347,620) 

(1,251,606) 

341,057 
(2,126,496) 

(314,712) 

(2,517,010) 

4,164 

(1,272,015) 
65,363 

(1,350,605) 
(318,769) 

(24,313,512) 

(3,773,618) 
(72,653) 

(2,868,077) 
(12,636,458) 

(763,305) 
(1,928,083) 

435,594 
11,018,581 

(220,365) 
37,793,016 

42,541 
(2,594,768) 
(2,188,923) 

148,695 
85,913,596 

(1,592) 
926,079 

(2,496,258) 
(89,929) 

6,813,054 
4,039,596 
(4,050,619) 

(17,529,715) 
(412,698) 
(334,763) 

(6,313,730) 
25,390,531 

(396,865) 
11,568,081 

(4,100) 
1,055,318 

(5,170,098) 
4,634,916 
8,761,949 

(891,017) 
(235,781) 
(318,232) 

(30) 
(1,158,393) 
(335,749) 

131,755,728 

8,529,687 6,082,484 

(15,783,825) $ 137,838,212 

PERS leases a building from Pacific Realty 
Associates, L.P. which ends on July 31, 2023.The 
total amount of payments on the lease comes to 
$644,022. There is an early termination fee based 
on the tenant's improvement allowance and 
broker commission, and there is sublease 
availability. PERS also leases two copiers, with 

payments for the Ricoh lease ending on February 
28, 2026 with total lease payments of $33,514, and 
payments for the Sharp lease ending on 
November 30, 2023 with total lease payments of 
$146,013. Future minimum lease payments are 
shown in table 21. Beginning balances were 
immaterial and no restatement was recorded. 

65 



  

TABLE21 

Schedule Qf Changi::& in Cam,l;il Azt& fQr thi:: Fiscal Year Ended JJ.m!il 30. 2022 

Beginning 

of Year Increases 

Capital assets, not being 
depreciated or amortized: 
Land $ 944,463 $ $ 

Total capital assets, not being 
depreciated or amortized 944,463 

Capital assets, being depreciated 
or amortized: 
Furniture and Equipment 1,345,519 114,248 
Data Processing Software 40,618,388 91,188 
Data Processing Hardware 2,386,918 448,740 
Building and Building Improvements 9,210,403 990,469 
Right-To-Use-Asset - Building Lease 644,023 
Right-To-Use-Asset - Equipment Lease 167,306 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated or amortized 53,561,228 2,455,975 

Less accumulated depreciation 
or amortization for: 
Furniture and Equipment (1,289,515) (40,558) 
Data Processing Software (24,798,812) (1,896,035) 
Data Processing Hardware (1,500,313) (444,683) 
Building and Building Improvements (5,133,738) (387,857) 
Right-To-Use-Asset - Building Lease (295,177) 
Right-To-Use-Asset - Equipment Lease (87,648) 

Total accumulated depreciation 
or amortization (32,722,378) (3,151,958) 

Total capital assets, being 
depreciated or amortized, net 20,838,850 (695,982) 

Capital assets, net $ 21,783,313 $ (695,982) $ 

Di::m:i::i;;iatiQn a,nd Amm::l;izatign !il!Zn&!il 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan Depreciation and Amortization $ 
Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 

Individual Account Program Depreciation and Amortization 
Total Depreciation and Amortization expense $ 

l.E!i&!il& Pa,ya.bli:: 
The lease liability activity for the period ended June 30, 2022, is as follows: 

June 30, 2021 Addition Reduction 
Building Lease 
Equipment Lease 
Totals 

$ $ 688,626 $ (286,588) $ 
122,703 (36,530) 

$ $ 811,329 $ (323,118) $ 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Decreases 

$ 

(15,034) 

(42,491) 

(57,525) 

(57,525) 

(57,525) $ 

AmC)Jlllt 
3,129,726 

22,232 
3,151,958 

June 30, 2022 
402,038 

86,173 
488,211 

End of Year 

944,463 

944,463 

1,444,733 
40,709,576 

2,835,658 
10,158,381 

644,023 
167,306 

55,959,678 

(1,330,073) 
(26,694,847) 

(1,944,996) 
(5,521,595) 

(295,177) 
(87,648) 

(35,874,336) 

20,085,342 

21,029,805 

The principal and interest payments on the lease liability as of June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

Equipment Leases Building Lease 
Year Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total 
2023 $ 49,793 $ 2,089 $ 51,882 $ 329,414 $ 7,268 $ 336,682 
2024 22,834 754 23,588 72,624 390 73,014 
2025 8,033 346 8,379 
2026 5,513 73 5,586 

$ 86,173 $ 3,262 $ 89,435 $ 402,038 $ 7,658 $ 409,696 
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Note 6 - Reserves and Designations 
In accordance with the following plan 

requirements, various funds have been established 
to account for reserves or designations held for 
future and current payments. 

Chapter 238 Defined Benefit Plan 
Table 22 on the next page details the amounts 

comprising the total Net Position Restricted for 
Pension Benefits. 

A. Member Reserve 
The Member Reserve represents member 

contributions made through December 31, 2003, and 
earnings allocations less refunds and amounts 
transferred to reserves for retirements and 
disabilities. 

B. Employer Contribution Designation 
The Employer Contribution Designation 

represents employer contributions and earnings 
allocations less amounts transferred to reserves for 
retirements and disabilities. Employer side accounts 
consist of lump sum payments deposited into the 
Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund, less 
amounts amortized as credits to employer 
contributions, plus investment earnings allocated in 
accordance with OAR 459-007-0530. Final earnings 
crediting is done annually on a calendar year basis. 
PERS estimates that the approximate value of 
employer side accounts was $6,600.3 million as of 
June 30, 2022. Side account balances are included in 
the Employer Contribution Designation reserve. 

C. Benefit Reserve 
The Benefit Reserve is the amount set aside to 

pay future benefits. It includes funds transferred 
from the individual member and employer accounts 
and earnings allocations less amounts paid for 
retirements and disabilities. 

D. Tier One Rate Guarantee Reserve 
The Tier One Rate Guarantee Reserve may be 

credited with investment earnings in excess of the 
required Tier One assumed earnings rate guarantee. 
ORS 238.255(1) requires regular accounts for Tier 
One members to be credited at the assumed rate of 
return on investments adopted by the Board for use 
in actuarial valuations. 

The regular account for Tier One members and 
alternate payees of those members cannot be 
credited with earnings in excess of the assumed 
interest rate until: (a) the reserve is fully funded 
with amounts determined by the Board, after 
consultation with the actuary employed by the 
Board, that are necessary to ensure a zero balance in 
the reserve when all Tier One members and 
alternate payees of those members have retired; and 
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(b) the reserve has been fully funded as described in 
(a) of this subsection in each of the three 
immediately preceding calendar years. 

E. Contingency Reserve 
The Contingency Reserve is to be maintained 

and used by the Board to prevent any deficit of 
moneys available for the payment of retirement 
allowances caused by interest fluctuations, changes 
in mortality rates, or other unforeseen 
contingencies. 

F. Employer Contingency Reserve 
The Employer Contingency Reserve was 

established by the Board to prevent any deficit in 
the fund caused by insolvency of an employer. 
Earnings on employer contributions fund this 
reserve. 

G. Unallocated Earnings Designation 
The Unallocated Earnings Designation 

represents January through June investment 
earnings or losses less administrative expenses, 
which will be credited on a calendar year basis. 
Crediting takes place in March of the following year 
after employer annual reports have been reconciled 
and contributions have been posted to individual 
member and employer accounts. 

H. OPSRP Defined Benefit Program 
OPSRP Defined Benefit Program reserve 

represents the program's accumulation of employer 
contributions and investment earnings less benefits 
and administrative expenses. 

I. Employee Pension Stability Account Reserves 
EPSA reserves represent the program's 

accumulation of redirected member IAP 
contributions and investment earnings less benefits 
and administrative expenses, amounts withdrawn 
by eligible members prior to retirement, amounts 
transferred to the Employer Contribution 
Designation for Tier One and Tier Two member 
retirements, and amounts transferred to the OPSRP 
Defined Benefit program for OPSRP member 
retirements. 

Other Postemployment Benefits Plans 

J. Retirement Health Insurance Account (RHIA) 
The RHIA plan fiduciary net position balance 

represents the program's accumulation of employer 
contributions and investment earnings less 
premium subsidies and administrative expenses. As 
of June 30, 2022, the balance of this account was 
$730.7 million. The Internal Revenue Code limits 
employer contributions to a 401(h) account to a 
maximum of 25% of the employer's normal cost 
contributions to the pension plan. 
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K. Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 
(RHIPA) 

The RHIPA plan fiduciary net position balance 
represents the program's accumulation of employer 
contributions and investment earnings less 
premium subsidies and administrative expenses. As 
of June 30, 2022, the balance of this account was 
$83.3 million. The Internal Revenue Code limits 
employer contributions to a 401(h) account to a 
maximum of 25% of the employer's normal cost 
contributions to the pension plan. 

Other Plans 

L. Individual Account Program (IAP) 

The IAP fiduciary net position balance 
represents member contributions and investment 
earnings less benefits paid and administrative 
expenses. As of June 30, 2022, the balance of this 
account was $12,445.7 million. Member 
contributions are described in Note 2.D.a. (page 48). 
The Oregon Legislature created the IAP in 2003 to 
provide an individual account-based defined 
contribution retirement benefit for new workers 
hired on or after August 29, 2003, and for Tier 
One/Tier Two members active on and after January 
1, 2004. 

M. Deferred Compensation Plan 
The Deferred Compensation plan fiduciary net 

position balance represents the program's 
accumulation of plan member contributions and 
investment earnings less benefits paid and 
administrative expenses. As of June 30, 2022, the 
balance of this account was $2,505.7 million. The 
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Internal Revenue Code (IRC) limits plan member 
contributions to an IRC 457 account to a maximum of 
$19,500 (calendar year 2021), with optional catch- up 
provisions available to members over age 50. 

Enterprise Fund 

N. Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 
(SRHIA) 

The SRHIA net position balance represents the 
program's accumulation of retiree insurance 
premiums, reinsurance reimbursements, and interest 
earnings less insurance claims and administrative 
expenses. As of June 30, 2022, the balance of this 
account was $93.5 million. 

Note 7 - Litigation 
PERS is a defendant in various lawsuits. 

Although the outcomes of these lawsuits are not 
presently determinable, in the opinion of the 
System's legal counsel, the resolution of these 
matters will not have a material adverse effect on 
the financial condition of the System. 

Note 8 - Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 
(SRHIA) 
A. Basis for Estimated Liabilities 

The SRHIA establishes claim liabilities based on 
estimates of the ultimate costs of claims (including 
future claim adjustment expenses) that have been 
reported but not settled and of claims that have been 
incurred but not reported (IBNR). Table 23 on page 69 
shows the changes in the aggregated estimated 
claims liabilities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2022 and 2021. 

Defined Benefit 
Reserves and Designations as of June 30, 2022 Pension Plan 
Chapter 238 Defined Benefit Plan and Employee Benefit Plan 

Member Reserve 
Employer Contribution Designation 
Benefit Reserve 
Tier One Rate Guarantee Reserve 
Contingency Reserve 
Employer Contingency Reserve 
Unallocated Earnings Designation 
OPSRP Defined Benefit Program 
Employee Pension Stability Account Reserves 

Net Position Restricted for Pension Benefits 
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$ 1,480,159,491 
21,300,213,436 
28,252,902,800 

448,759,505 
47,500,000 

2,500,000 
21,507,849,368 
10,397,661,138 

332,007,116 

$ 83,769,552,854 
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The estimated claims liability was calculated 
by Butler Partners & Associates, PERS' health 
insurance consultant, at June 30, 2022, using a 
variety of mathematical and statistical techniques 
and adjusted for actual experience to produce 
current estimates that reflect recent settlements, 
claim frequency, and other economic and social 
factors. Adjustments to claims liabilities are 
charged or credited to expense in the periods in 
which they are made. The estimated claims 
liability of $848,000 is carried at its face amount, 
and no interest discount is assumed. The IBNR 
represents an estimate for claims that have been 
incurred prior to June 30, 2022, but have not been 
reported to the SRHIA. 

Note 9 - Employers' Net Pension Liability 
A. Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 

The components of the net pension liability of 
the defined benefit pension plan are shown in 
Table 24 on page 71. The actuarial valuation 
calculations are based on the benefits provided 
under the terms of the plan in effect at the time of 
each valuation and on the pattern of sharing of 
costs between the employer and plan members. 
The December 31, 2020, system-wide Actuarial 
Valuation was used to develop the GASB 67 
financial reporting results for the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan as of June 30, 2022, using standard 
roll-forward procedures. Key actuarial methods 
and assumptions used to measure the total 

TABLE23 

pension liability are illustrated in Table 25 on page 
71. 

B. Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total 
pension liability was 6.9% for the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan, a reduction approved by the Board 
from 7.2% in the prior fiscal year. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate 
assumed that contributions from plan members and 
those of the contributing employers are made at the 
contractually required rates, as actuarially 
determined. Based on those assumptions, the 
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected 
to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the 
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability. 

C. Sensitivity Analysis 

Table 26 on page 71 presents the net pension 
liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.9%, 
as well as what the net pension liability would be if 
it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower (5.9%) or 1% higher (7.9%) than the current 
rate. The results of actuarial valuations used for 
rate setting and the related Schedules of Funding 
Progress may be found in the Actuarial Section 
beginning on page 136. 

Changes in the Aggregated &ti.mated Claims Liabilities of SRHIA 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30. 

Total Estimated Claims at Beginning of Fiscal Year 

Insured Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses 
Provision for Insured Events 

of Current Fiscal Year 
Increase in Provision for 

Insured Events of Prior Years 

Total Incurred Claims and 
Claim Adjustment Expenses 

Payments 
Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses 

Attributable to Insured Events of 
Current Fiscal Year 

Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses 
Attributable to Insured Events of 
Prior Fiscal Year 

Total Payments 

Total Fstimated Claims at End of Fiscal Year 
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2022 

$ 830,000 

30,271,731 

781,678 

31,053,409 

30,253,731 

781,678 

31,035,409 

$ 848,000 

2021 

$ 630,000 

19,407,489 

6,535,577 

25,943,066 

19,197,920 

6,545,146 

25,743,066 

$ 830,000 
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D. Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of 
the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
June 2021 the PERS Board reviewed long-term 
assumptions developed by both Milliman's capital 
market assumptions team and the Oregon 
Investment Council's (OIC) investment advisors. 
Table 31 on page 74 shows Milliman's assumptions 
for each of the asset classes in which the plan was 
invested at that time based on the OIC long-term 
target asset allocation. The OIC's description of each 
asset class was used to map the target allocation to 
the asset classes shown in Table 31 on page 74. Each 
asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of 
underlying assumptions and includes adjustment 
for the inflation assumption. These assumptions are 
not based on historical returns, but instead are based 
on a forward-looking capital market economic 
model. 

E. Depletion Date Projection 

GASB 67 generally requires that a blended 
discount rate be used to measure the Total Pension 
Liability (the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated 
using the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost 
Method). The long-term expected return on plan 
investments may be used to discount liabilities to 
the extent that the plan's Fiduciary Net Position (fair 
value of investment assets, all others at cost) is 
projected to cover benefit payments and 
administrative expenses. A 20-year high-quality 
(AA/ Aa or higher) municipal bond rate must be used 
for periods when the Fiduciary Net Position is not 
projected to cover benefit payments and 
administrative expenses. Determining the discount 
rate under GASB 67 will often require that the 
actuary perform complex projections of future 
benefit payments and asset values. GASB 67 
(paragraph 43) does allow for alternative 
evaluations of projected solvency, if such evaluation 
can reliably be made. GASB does not contemplate a 
specific method for making an alternative 
evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to professional 
judgment. 

The following circumstances justify an alternative 
evaluation of sufficiency for Oregon PERS: 

PERS has a formal written policy to calculate 
an Actuarially Determined Contribution 
(ADC), which is articulated in the actuarial 
valuation report. 

The ADC is based on a closed, layered 
amortization period, which means that 
payment of the full ADC each year will bring 
the plan to a 100% funded position by the end 
of the amortization period if future 
experience follows assumption. 

GASB 67 specifies that the projections 
regarding future solvency assume that plan 
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assets earn the assumed rate of return and 
there are no future changes in the plan 
provisions or actuarial methods and 
assumptions, which means that the 
projections would not reflect any adverse 
future experience that might impact the 
plan's funded position. 

Based on these circumstances, it is our third­
party actuary's opinion that the detailed depletion 
date projections outlined in GASB 67 would clearly 
indicate that the Fiduciary Net Position is always 
projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments 
and administrative expenses. 

Note 10 - Employers' Net OPEB (Asset) 
A. Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 

The components of the net OPEB (asset) for the 
OPEB plans are shown in Table 27 on page 73. The 
actuarial valuation calculations are based on the 
benefits provided under the terms of the plan in 
effect at the time of each valuation and on the 
pattern of sharing of costs between the employer 
and plan members as of the December 31, 2020, 
valuation rolled forward to June 30, 2022. Key 
actuarial methods and assumptions used to measure 
the total OPEB liability are illustrated in Table 28 on 
page73. 

B. Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total 
OPEB liability was 6.9% for the OPEB plans, a 
reduction approved by the Board from 7.2% in the 
prior fiscal year. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that 
contributions from contributing employers are 
made at the contractually required rates, as 
actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, 
the OPEB plans' fiduciary net position was projected 
to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the 
long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan 
investments for the OPEB plans was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine 
the total OPEB liability. 

C. Sensitivity Analysis 

Table 29 on page 73 presents the net OPEB 
(asset) calculated using the discount rate of 6.9%, as 
well as what the net OPEB (asset) would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower (5.9%) or 1% higher (7.9%) than the current 
rate. The results of actuarial valuations used for 
rate setting and the related Schedules of Funding 
Progress may be found in the Actuarial Section on 
page 139. 

Table 30 on page 74 presents the net OPEB 
(asset) calculated using the current healthcare cost 
trend rates, as well as what the net OPEB (asset) 
would be if it were calculated using healthcare 
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TABLE24 

Net Pension Liability (in Millions) 

As of June 30. 

2022 

Total Pension Liability $ 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Employers' Net Pension Liability 

99,081.6 

83,769.6 
$ 15,312.0 
======= 

Plan net position as a percentage of 

total pension liability 84.5 % 

TABLE25 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Valuation date 
Measurement date 
Experience Study 
Actuarial assumptions: 

Actuarial cost method 

Inflation rate 

Long-term expected rate of return 

Discount rate 

Projected salary increases 

Cost-of-living adjustments (COLA) 

Mortality 

TABLE26 

Pension 
December 31, 2020 

June 30, 2022 
2020, published July 20, 2021 

Entry Age Normal 

2.40 percent 

6.90 percent 

6.90 percent 

3.40 percent 

Blend of 2.00% COLA and graded COLA (1.25%/0.15%) 
in accordance with Moro decision; blend based on service. 

Healthy retirees and beneficiaries: 

Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 
adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation. 
Active members: 

Pub-2010 Employee, sex distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 
adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation. 
Disabled retirees: 

Pub-2010 Disabled Retiree, sex distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation. 

Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate (in Millions) 
As of June 30. 2022 

Employers' Net Pension Liability 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan $ 

1%Decrease 
(5.90%) 

27,154.5 $ 
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Current 
Discount 

Rate (6.90%) 

15,312.0 $ 

1% Increase 
(7.90%) 

5,400.4 
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trend rates that are 1% lower or 1% higher than the 
current rates. Healthcare trend cost rates are 
applicable to RHIPA only because of the variable 
nature of benefits. 

D. Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the 
long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
June 2021 the PERS Board reviewed long-term 
assumptions developed by both Milliman's Capital 
Market Assumptions Team and the Oregon 
Investment Council's (OIC) investment advisors. 
Table 31 on page 74 shows Milliman's assumptions 
for each of the asset classes in which the plans were 
invested at that time based on the OIC long-term 
target asset allocation. The OIC's description of each 
asset class was used to map the target allocation to 
the asset classes shown on page 7 4. Each asset class 
assumption is based on a consistent set of 
underlying assumptions and includes adjustment 
for the inflation assumption. These assumptions are 
not based on historical returns but instead are based 
on a forward-looking capital market economic 
model. 

E. Depletion Date Projection 

GASB 7 4 generally requires that a blended 
discount rate be used to measure the Total OPEB 
Liability (the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated 
using the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost 
Method). The long-term expected return on plan 
investments may be used to discount liabilities to 
the extent that the plan's Fiduciary Net Position (fair 
value of investment assets) is projected to cover 
benefit payments and administrative expenses. A 
20-year high-quality (AA/ Aa or higher) municipal 
bond rate must be used for periods when the 
Fiduciary Net Position is not projected to cover 
benefit payments and administrative expenses. 
Determining the discount rate under GASB 7 4 will 
often require that the actuary perform complex 
projections of future benefit payments and asset 
values. GASB 7 4 (paragraph 51) does allow for 
alternative evaluations of projected solvency, if such 
evaluation can reliably be made. GASB does not 
contemplate a specific method for making an 
alternative evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to 
professional judgment. 

The following circumstances justify an alternative 
evaluation of sufficiency for Oregon PERS: 

PERS has a formal written policy to calculate 
an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), 
which is articulated in the actuarial valuation 
report. 

The ADC is based on a closed, layered 
amortization period, which means that payment 
of the full ADC each year will bring the plan to a 
100% funded position by the end of the 
amortization period if future experience follows 
assumption. 
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GASB 74 specifies that the projections 
regarding future solvency assume that plan 
assets earn the assumed rate of return and there 
are no future changes in the plan provisions or 
actuarial methods and assumptions, which 
means that the projections would not reflect 
any adverse future experience that might 
impact the plan's funded position. 

Based on these circumstances, it is our third­
party actuary's opinion that the detailed depletion 
date projections outlined in GASB 74 would clearly 
indicate that the Fiduciary Net Position is always 
projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments 
and administrative expenses. 

Note 11-Subsequent Events 

During July and August 2022, 18 employers 
made $93.2 million in a lump-sum deposits to new 
side accounts with PERS. 

Note 12- Effect of Future Pronouncements 

The future GASB pronouncements that may 
have an impact to PERS financial statements are as 
follows: 

GASB 96, Subscription Based Information 
Technology Arrangements (SBIT A)-provides 
guidance on the accounting and financial 
reporting for SBIT As for government end users. 
GASB 99, Omnibus 2022-to enhance 
comparability in accounting and financial 
reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature. 
GASB 100, Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections -an amendment of GASB 62-related 
to restating prior period balances. 
GASB 101, Compensated Absences - updates the 
recognition and measurement guidance for 
compensated absences. 
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TABLE27 

Net OPEB - RHIA (Asset) fin Millions) 

As of June 30. 2022 

Net OPEB - RHIPA fAsset) (in Millions) 

As of June 30. 2022 

2022 2022 

Total OPEB- RHIA Liability $ 375.4 Total OPEB - RHIPA Liability $ 49.1 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Employers' Net OPEB- RHIA (Asset) 
730.7 Plan Fiduciary Net Position 83.3 

$ (355.3) Employer's Net OPEB- RHIPA (Asset) $ (34.2) 

Plan net position as a percentage of Plan net position as a percentage of 

Total OPEB - RHIA Liability 194.6 % Total OPEB-RHIPA Liability 169.7 % 

TABLE28 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Valuation date 

Measurement date 

Experience Study 

Actuarial assumptions: 

RHIA 
December 31, 2020 

June 30, 2022 

2020, published July 20, 2021 

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal 

Inflation rate 2.40 percent 

Long-term expected rate of return 6.90 percent 

Discount rate 6.90 percent 

Projected salary increases 3.40 percent 

Retiree healthcare participation Healthy retirees: 27.5% 
Disabled retirees: 15% 

Healthcare cost trend rate 

Mortality 

TABLE'l!J 

Not applicable 

Healthy retirees and beneficiaries: 
Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

Active members: 
Pub-2010 Employee, sex distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

Disabled retirees: 
Pub-2010 Disabled Retiree, sex distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

RHIPA 
December 31, 2020 

June 30, 2022 

2020, published July 20, 2021 

Entry Age Normal 

2.40 percent 

6.90 percent 

6.90 percent 

3.40 percent 

8-14 Years of Service: 10.0% 

15-19Yearsof Service: 11.0% 

20-24 Years of Service 14.0% 

25-29 Years of Service: 22.0% 

30+ Years of Service: 27.0% 

Applied at beginning of plan year, starting with 5.9% 

for 2021, decreasing to 4. 7% for 2028, increasing to 

4.8% for 2037, and decreasing to an ultimate rate of 

3.9% for 2074 and beyond. 

Healthy retirees and beneficiaries: 
Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

Active members: 
Pub-2010 Employee, sex distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

Disabled retirees: 
Pub-2010 Disabled Retiree, sex distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation 

Sensitivity of Net OPEB (Asset> to Changes in the Discount Rate fin Millions) 
As of June 30, 2022 

Employers' Net OPEB (Asset) 

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIA 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIPA 

1%Decrease 
(5.90%) 

Current 
Discount 

Rate (6.90%) 
1%lncrease 

(7.90%) 

$ 
$ 

(320.3) $ (355.3) $ (385.4) 
(36.9) (31.4) $ (34.2) $ 
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TABLE30 

Sensitivity of Net OPEB (Asset) to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate (in Millions) 
As of June 30. 2021 

Employers' Net OPEB (Asset) 1% Decrease Current Trend Rate 1% Increase 

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIA 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIPA 

TABLE31 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 1 

Target 
Asset Class Allocation 

Global Equity 30.62 % 

Private Equity 25.50 

Core Fixed Income 23.75 

Real Estate 1225 

Master Limited Partnerships 0.75 

Infrastructure 1.50 

Commodities 0.63 

Hedge Fund of Funds - Multi.strategy 1.25 

Hedge Fund Equity - Hedge 0.63 

Hedge Fund- Macro 5.62 

USCash -2.50 
3 

Assumed Inflation - Mean 

$ (355.3) $ 
(38.1) 

Annual 
Arithmetic 

Return 2 

7.11 % 

1135 

2.80 

6.29 

7.65 

7.24 

4.68 

5.42 

5.85 

5.33 

1.77 

(355.3) $ 
(34.2) 

20-Year 
Annuallized 
Geometric 

Mean 

5.85% 

7.71 

2.73 

5.66 

5.71 

6.26 

3.10 

5.11 

5.31 

5.06 

1.76 

2.40 % 
1 Based on the OIC Statement of Investment Objectives and Policy Framework for the Oregon Public 

Employees Retirement Fund, including revisions adopted at the OIC meeting on June 2, 2021. 

(355.3) 
(29.9) 

Annual 
Standard 
Deviation 

17.05 % 

30.00 

3.85 

12.00 

21.30 

15.00 

18.85 

8.45 

11.05 

7.90 

1.20 

1.65 % 

2 The arithmetic mean is a component that goes into calculating the geometric mean. Expected rates of return are 
presented using the geometric mean, which the Board uses in setting the discount rate. 

3 Negative allocation to cash represents levered exposure from allocation to Risk Parity strategy. 

74 



OREGON 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

• 



  

 

  

Required Supplementary Information 
Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Llability/(Asset) and Related Ratios (Unaudited) 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,1 

(amounts in millions) 

Total Pension liability 2 

Service Cost 
Interest on Total Pension Liability 
Effect of Plan Changes 3 

Changes in Benefit Terms 
Changes in Assumptions 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 
Benefit Payments, including refunds of contnllutions 
Net Change in Total Pension Liability 

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 

Total Pension Liability - Ending 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pcaition 
Employer Contributions 
MemberContn'butions 
Net Investment and Other Income 
Benefit Payments 
Refunds of Contributions 
AdministrativeExpense 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pcaition - Ending 

Net Pension liability/{Asset) 

2022 

$ 1,387.7 
6,505.6 

490.3 
(116.7) 

(5,483.1) 
2,783.8 

96,297.8 

$ 99,081.6 

$ 4,030.2 
160.1 
789.8 

(5,468.2) 
(14.9) 
(58.7) 

(561.7) 

84,331.3 

$ 83,769.6 

$ 15,312.0 

2021 

$ 1,263.5 
6,349.3 

148.5 

3,041.9 
600.9 

(5,249.0) 
6,155.1 

90,142.7 

$ 96,297.8 

$ 2,161.5 
160.3 

18,998.4 
(5,237.2) 

(11.9) 
(59.1) 

16,012.0 

68,319.3 

$ 84,331.3 

$ 11,966.5 

$ 

2020 

1,187.2 
6,162.9 

(50.5) 
406.7 

(5,064.8) 
2,641.5 

87,501.2 

$ 90,142.7 

$ 2,299.0 
10.2 

923.3 
(5,064.8) 

(52.1) 
(1,884.4) 

70,203.7 

$ 68,319.3 

$ 21,823.4 

2019 

$ 1,146.4 
5,952.1 

(50.6) 

804.2 
(4,827.0) 
3,025.1 

84,476.1 

$ 87,501.2 

$ 1,720.2 
11.4 

4,010.0 
(4,815.1) 

(11.9) 
(38.4) 
876.2 

69,327.5 

$ 70,203.7 

$ 17,297.5 

2018 

$ 1,1082 
5,8582 

2,240.3 
74.3 

(4,656.6) 
4,624.4 

79,851.7 

$ 84,476.1 

$ 1,390.1 
12.6 

6,247.5 
(4,642.7) 

(13.9) 
(37.8) 

2,955.8 

66,371.7 

$ 69,327.5 

$ 15,148.6 

2017 

$ 1,105.5 
5,662.2 

351.8 
(4,362.2) 
2,757.3 

77,094.4 

$ 79,851.7 

$ 1,022.2 
13.1 

7,660.0 
(4,346.2) 

(16.0) 
(43.5) 

4,289.6 

62,0821 

$ 66,371.7 

$ 13,480.0 

2016 

$ 1,016.8 
5,355.3 

3,946.4 
317.3 

(4,206.5) 
6,429.3 

70,665.1 

$ 77,094.4 

$ 977.3 
14.2 

413.9 
(4,193.3) 

(13.1) 
(40.5) 

(2,841.5) 

64,923.6 

$ 62,082.1 

$ 15,012.3 

2015 

$ 960.9 
4,779.5 

5,353.5 

380.0 
(3,943.6) 
7,530.3 

63,134.8 

$ 70,665.1 

$ 1,123.3 
13.8 

2,364.5 
(3,927.2) 

(16.5) 
(35.7) 

(477.8) 

65,401.4 

$ 64,923.6 

$ 5,741.5 

2014 

$ 1,020.3 
4,819.4 

(2,423.6) 

(3,863.4) 
(447.3) 

63,582.1 

$ 63,134.8 

$ 915.2 
15.3 

9,886.6 
(3,837.8) 

(25.6) 
(31.2) 

6,922.5 

58,478.9 

$ 65,401.4 

$ (2,266.6) 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total Pension Liability 84.5 % 87.6 % 75.8 % 80.2 % 821 % 83.1 % 80.5 % 91.9 % 103.6 % 

Covered Payroll $ 12,942.6 $ 12,235.5 $ 11,574.8 $ 10,716.7 $ 10,044.0 $ 10,037.5 $ 9,428.4 $ 9,000.2 $ 8,701.7 

Net Pension Liability /(Asset) as 
a Percentage of Covered Payroll 118.31 % 97.8 % 188.5 % 161.4 % 150.8 % 134.3 % 159.2 % 

1 10-year trend information will be clisclosed prospectively 
2 See Table 25 for Actuarial Methods and Asswnptions 
3 Senate Bill 1049, sjgn.ed into law in June 2019, introduced a limit on the amount of annual salary included far the calc:ulation of benefits. Beginning in 2020, annual salary in excess of $195,000 

(as indexed in future years) will be excluded when detennining member benefits. As a result, future benefits for certain active members are now projected to be lower than price" to the legislation. 

Senate Bill 111, enacted in June 2021,provlies an increased pre-retirement death benefit ftr members who die on ar after their earlyretirementage. 

Chanpl in BenefltTenns and .Asu.mptim■: 

~ The 2013 Oregon Legislature made a series of changes to PERS that lowered projected future benefit payments from the System. These changes included reductions to future Cost 

of Living Adjustments (COLA) made throogh Senate Bills 822 and 861. Senate Bill 822 aho required the cantn'bution rates scheduled to be in effect from July 2013 to June 2015 to be reduced. The 
Oregon Supreme Court decision in Maro v. State of Oregon, issued on April X>, 2015, reversed a significant portion of the reductions the 2013 Oregon Legislature made to future System Cost of Living 
Adjustments (COLA) through Senate Bills 822 and 861. This reversal increased the total pension liability as of June 30, 2015 compared to June 30, 2014 total penSD\ liability. 

~ The PERS Board adopted asswnption changes that were used to measure the June X>, 2016 totalpensico liability and June X>, 2018 total pensico liability. For June 30, 2016, the changes 
inchlded the lowering of the long-term expected rate of return to 7.50 percent and lowering of the assumed inflation to 2.50 percent For June X>, 2018, the long-term expected rate of return was 
lowered to 7 .']JJ percent For June X>, 2021, the long-term expected rate of return was lowered to 6.90 percent, and the inflation rate was lowered from .2.5 to 2.4 percent In addition, the healthy mortality 
assumption was changed to reflect an updated mortality improvement scale for all groups, and assumptk>ns "Were updated for merit increases, unused skk leave, and vacation pay "Were updated. 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Investment Returns (Unaudited) 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 301 

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return 
Net of Investment Expense 

2022 

6.2% 

1 10-year trend information will be disclosed prospectively. 

2021 

26.2% 
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2020 2019 2018 2017 

0.5% 6.4% 9.7% 11.8% 

2016 

1.6% 

63.8 % (26.0) % 

2015 2014 

3.7% 17.2% 
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Schedule of Defined Benefit Pension Plan Employer Contributions3 (Unaudited) 
Last 10 Fiscal Years 
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

2022 2021 2020 2019 

Actuarially determined contributions1 $ 2,117,323 $ 2,058,483 $ 1,981,943 $ 1,410,966 

Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contributions2 2,117,323 2,058,483 1,981,943 1,410,966 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ $ $ 

Covered payroll $ 12,942,642 $ 12,235,510 $ 11,574,796 $ 10,716,707 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 16.36% 16.82% 17.12% 13.17% 

Notes: 
1 The actuarially determined contributions on this Schedule of Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Contributions have been adjusted to remove contribution requirements related to employer­
specific liabilities. 

2 Employer contributions on the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position include interest 
related to employer-specific liabilities and employers' optional supplemental contributions. 

3 For Actuarial Assumptions and Methods, see table below. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Actuarial Valuation: December 31, 2019 December 31, 2017 
Effective: July 2021- June 2023 July 2019 - June 2021 
Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal 
Amortization method: Level percentage of Level percentage of 

payroll payroll 
Asset valuation method: Fair value Fair value 
Remaining amortization periods: 20 years 20years 
Actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation rate 2.40 percent 2.50 percent 
Projected salary increases 3.40 percent 3.50 percent 
Investment rate of return 6.90 percent 7.20 percent 

Continued on next page 
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2018 

$ 1,318,672 

1,318,672 

$ 

$ 10,044,005 

13.13% 

December 31, 2015 
July 2017 - June 2019 
Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of 

payroll 
Fair value 
20years 

2.50 percent 
3.50 percent 
7.50 percent 
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

$ 960,254 $ 941,321 $ 909,912 $ 866,635 $ 781,015 

960,254 941,321 909,912 866,635 781,015 

$ $ $ $ $ 

$10,037,542 $9,428,447 $9,000,246 $ 8,701,657 $8,280,731 

9.57% 9.98% 10.11% 9.96% 9.43% 

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2009 
July 2015 - June 2017 July 2013 - June 2015 July 2011 - June 2013 

Entry Age Normal Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit 
Level percentage of Level percentage of Level percentage of 

payroll payroll payroll 
Fair value Fair value Fair value 
20 years NIA NIA 

2.75 percent 2.75 percent 2.75 percent 
3.75 percent 3. 75 percent 3.75 percent 
7.75 percent 8.00 percent 8.00 percent 

Continued from previous page 
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Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB (Asset) and Related Ratios (Unaudited) 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIA 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,1 

(amounts in millions) 

2022 2021 2020 2019 
Total OPEB liability 2 

Service Cost $ 1.9 $ 2.0 $ 2.3 $ 2.5 
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 27.3 28.3 30.3 32.4 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
Changes in Assumptions (19.7) 10.7 (16.5) 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (13.0) (7.1) (13.0) (32.3) 
Benefit Payments (30.6) (31.3) (31.8) (32.2) 
Net Change in Total OPEB liability (34.1) 2.6 (28.7) (29.6) 

Total OPEB liability- Beginning 409.5 406.9 435.6 465.2 

Total OPEB liability- Ending $ 375.4 $ 409.5 $ 406.9 $ 435.6 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Employer Contributions $ 2.5 $ 3.0 $ 6.3 $ 49.6 
Net Investment and Other Income 7.5 171.8 8.6 36.0 
Benefit Payments (30.6) (31.3) (31.8) (32.2) 
Administrative Expense (1.6) (1.3) (1.3) (1.3) 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position (22.2) 1422 (18.2) 52.1 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 752.9 610.7 628.9 576.8 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending $ 730.7 $ 752.9 $ 610.7 $ 628.9 

Net OPEB (Asset) $ (355.3) $ (343.4) $ (203.8) $ (193.3) 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total OPEB Liability 194.6 183.9 150.1 144.4 % 

Covered Payroll $ 3,792.8 $ 3,929.8 $ 3,955.6 $ 4,023.3 

Net OPEB (Asset) as a Percentage 
of Covered Payroll (9.37) % (8.74) % (5.15) % (4.80) % 

1 10-year trend information will be disclosed prospectively 
2 See Table 28 for Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Changes in Benefit Terms and Assumptions: 
As,mmptkms: The PERS Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the June 30, 2021 total 
OPEB liability. The changes include the lowering of the long-term expected rate of return from 7.20 to 6.90 percent 
and the inflation rate from 2.5 to 2.4 percent. In addition, the healthy healthcare participation and healthy mortality 
assumptions were changed to reflect an updated trends and mortality improvement scale for all groups. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Investment Returns (Unaudited) 

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIA 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 3c>1 

Annual Money-Weighted. Rate of Return 

Net of Investment Expense 

2022 

6.5% 

1 10-year trend information will be disclosed prospectively. 

2021 

26.3% 
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2020 2019 

0.6% 6.7% 

2018 2017 

$ 3.1 $ 3.4 
342 33.8 

(O.S) 
(9.1) 

(32.5) (31.2) 
(4.8) 6.0 

470.0 464.0 

$ 4652 $ 470.0 

$ 48.0 $ 49.8 
50.9 57.6 
(32.6) (31.2) 

(1.3) (1.3) 
65.0 74.9 

511.8 436.9 

$ 576.8 $ 511.8 

$ (111.6) $ (41.8) 

124.0 % 108.9 % 

$ 4,3032 $ 4,570.1 

(2.59) % (0.91) % 

2018 2017 

9.7% 12.5% 
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Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability/(Asset) and Related Ratios (Unaudited) 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIP A 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,1 

(amounts in millions) 

2022 2021 2020 2019 
Total OPEB liability 2 

Service Cost $ 1.2 $ 1.3 $ 1.4 $ 1.5 
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 4.3 4.5 5.1 5.0 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
Changes in Assumptions (11.4) 1.1 (7.9) 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (4.5) (4.6) (2.2) (0.3) 
Benefit Payments (3.4) (3.7) (4.1) (4.5) 
Net Change in Total OPEB liability (13.8) (1.4) (7.7) 1.7 

Total OPEB liability - Beginning 62.9 64.3 72.0 70.3 

Total OPEB liability - Ending $ 49.1 $ 62.9 $ 64.3 $ 72.0 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Employer Contributions $ 8.3 $ 11.8 $ 11.2 $ 14.0 
Net Investment and Other Income 0.8 16.3 0.8 2.5 
Benefit Payments (3.4) (3.7) (4.1) (4.5) 
Administrative Expense (0.7) (0.3) (0.3) (0.3) 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 4.9 24.1 7.6 11.7 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 78.4 54.3 46.7 35.0 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending $ 83.3 $ 78.4 $ 54.3 $ 46.7 

Net OPEB liability/(Asset) $ (34.2) $ (15.5) $ 10.0 $ 25.3 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total OPEB Liability 169.7 % 124.6 % 84.5 % 64.9 % 

Covered Payroll $ 1,125.8 $ 1,159.0 $ 1,166.4 $ 1,120.5 

Net OPEB (Asset)/Liability as a Percentage 
of Covered Payroll (3.04) % (1.34) % 0.86 % 2.26 % 

1 10-year trend information will be disclosed prospectively 
2 See Table 28 for Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Changes in Benefit Terms and Assumptions: 
Assumptions: The PERS Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the June 30, 2021 total 
OPEB liability. The changes include the lowering of the long-term expected rate of return from 7.20 to 6.90 percent 
and the inflation rate from 2.5 to 2.4 percent. In addition, the healthy healthcare participation and cost trend rates, and 
healthy mortality assumptions were changed to reflect an updated trends and mortality improvement scale for all groups. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Investment Returns (Unaudited) 

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan - RHIP A 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 3<>1 

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return 

Net of Investment Expense 

2022 

6.8% 

1 10-year trend information will be disclosed prospectively 

80 

2021 2020 2019 

26.6% 1.0% 7.6% 

2018 2017 

$ 1.5 $ 15 
5.2 5.0 

0.4 
(3.0) 
(4.7) (4.3) 
(0.6) 22 

70.9 68.7 

$ 70.3 $ 70.9 

$ 13.3 $ 11.9 
2.4 2.0 
(4.7) (4.3) 
(0.3) (0.3) 
10.7 9.3 

24.3 15.0 

$ 35.0 $ 24.3 

$ 35.3 $ 46.6 

49.8 % 34.3 % 

$ 1,165.3 $ 1,327.1 

3.03 % 351 % 

2018 2017 

10.2% 14.3% 
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Required Supplementary Information 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of OPEB RHIA Employer Contributions1 (Unaudited) 
Last 10 Fiscal Years 
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

2022 2021 

Actuarially determined contributions1 $ 2,458 $ 2,963 
Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contributions 2,458 2,963 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ 

Covered payroll $12,942,642 $ 12,235,510 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 0.02% 0.02% 

Note: 
1 For Actuarial Assumptions and Methods, see table below. 

2020 2019 

$ 6,360 $ 49,615 

6,360 49,615 

$ $ 

$ 11,574,796 $ 10,716,707 

0.05% 0.46% 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Actuarial Valuation: December 31, 2019 December 31, 2017 
Effective: July 2021- June 2023 July 2019 - June 2021 
Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal 
Amortization method: Level percentage of payroll, Level percentage of payroll, 

closed closed 
Amortization Period: 10 years 10 years 
Asset valuation method: Market value Market value 
Remaining amortization periods: 10 years 10 years 
Actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation rate 2.40 percent 2.50 percent 
Healthcare cost trend rates None. Statute stipulates $60 None. Statute stipulates $60 

monthly payment for monthly payment for 
healthcare insurance. healthcare insurance. 

Projected salary increases 3.40 percent 3.50 percent 
Investment rate of return 6.90 percent 7.20 percent 

Continued on next page 
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2018 

$ 47,998 

47,998 

$ 

$ 10,044,005 

0.48% 

December 31, 2015 
July 2017 - June 2019 

Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of 

payroll, closed 
10years 

Market value 
20 years 

2.50 percent 
None. Statute stipulates 
$60 monthly payment 
for healthcare insurance. 

3.50 percent 
7.50 percent 
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Required Supplementary Information 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

$ 49,786 $ 44,588 $ 53,648 $ 48,253 $ 47,294 

49,786 44,588 53,648 48,253 47,294 

$ $ $ $ $ 

$ 10,037,542 $ 9,428,447 $9,000,246 $ 8,686,772 $8,686,771 

0.50% 0.47% 0.60% 0.56% 0.54% 

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2009 
July 2015 - June 2017 July 2013 - June 2015 July 2011 - June 2013 

Entry Age Normal Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit 
Level percentage of payroll, Level percentage of Level percentage of 

closed payroll, closed payroll, closed 
10 years 10 years 10years 

Market value Market value Market value 
20years NIA NIA 

2. 75 percent 2.75 percent 2.75 percent 
None. Statute stipulates None. Statute stipulates None. Statute 
$60 monthly payment for $60 monthly payment stipulates $60 
healthcare insurance. for healthcare insurance. monthly payment for 

3. 75 percent 3. 75 percent 3.75 percent 
7.75 percent 8.00 percent 8.00 percent 

Continued from previous page 
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Required Supplementary Information 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of OPEB RHIP A Employer Contributions1 (Unaudited) 
Last 10 Fiscal Years 
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

Actuarially determined contributions1 $ 8,265 $ 11,724 $ 11,242 $ 14,009 $ 13,290 

Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contributions 8,265 11,724 11,242 14,009 13,290 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ $ $ $ 

Covered payroll $ 4,013,100 $ 3,794,773 $ 3,555,791 $ 3,118,065 $ 2,952,776 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 0.21% 0.31% 0.32% 0.45% 0.45% 

Note: 
1 For Actuarial Assumptions and Methods, see table below. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Effective: 
Actuarial cost method: 
Amortization method: 

Amortization Period: 
Asset valuation method: 
Remaining amortization periods: 
Actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation rate 
Healthcare cost trend rates 

Projected salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

Continued on next page 

December 31, 2019 
July 2021- June 2023 

Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of payroll, 

closed 

10years 
Market value 

10years 

2.40 percent 
change to: Graded from 7.1 
percent in 2019 to 4.0 
percent in 207 4. 

3.40 percent 
6.90 percent 
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December 31, 2017 December 31, 2015 
July 2019 - June 2021 July 2017 - June 2019 

Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of payrolL Level percentage of 

closed payroll, closed 

10years 10years 
Market value Market value 

10years 20years 

2.50 percent 2.50 percent 
Graded from 6.5 percent in Graded from 6.3 percent 
2018 to 4.2 percent in 2093. in 2016 to 4.4 percent in 

2094. 
3.50 percent 3.50 percent 
7.20 percent 7.50 percent 
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Required Supplementary Information 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

$ 11,864 $ 10,967 $ 6,887 $ 6,150 $ 3,444 

11,864 10,967 6,887 6,150 3,444 

$ $ $ $ $ 

$ 3,024,383 $ 2,850,753 $ 2,737,792 $ 2,566,555 $2,422,404 

0.39% 0.38% 

December 31, 2013 
July 2015 - June 2017 

Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of 

payroll, closed 

10years 
Market value 

20years 

0.25% 0.24% 

December 31, 2011 
July 2013 - June 2015 
Projected Unit Credit 
Level percentage of 

payroll, closed 

10years 
Market value 

NIA 

2.75 percent 2.75 percent 
Graded from 6.1 percent in Graded from 6.9 percent in 
2014 to 4.7 percent in 2012 to 4.5 percent in 
2083. 2029 

3.75 percent 
7.75 percent 

Continued from previous page 

3.75 percent 
8.00 percent 

0.14% 

December 31, 2009 
July 2011- June 2013 
Projected Unit Credit 
Level percentage of 

payroll, closed 

10years 
Market value 

NIA 

2.75 percent 
Graded from 7.0 

percent in 2010 to 4.5 
percent in 2029 
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3.75 percent 
8.00 percent 
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Required Supplementary Information 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Claims Developnent Information (Unaudited) 
Standard Retiree Health Insurance Account 
Fiscal and Policy Year Ended (In Millionsf 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

1. Net earned required contribution and 

investment revenues $ 195.59 $ 198.85 $ 226.61 $ 197.92 $ 157.55 $ 176.38 $ 111.68 $ 32.49 $ 31.27 $ 28.91 

2. Unallocated expenses 25.00 29.00 32.09 26.30 16.55 16.11 11.36 4.98 4.43 4.19 

3. Estimated incurred claims and expense, 

end of policy year 172.89 175.41 212.21 179.01 133.10 142.94 83.24 18.27 25.94 31.05 

4. Paid (cumulative) as of: 

End of policy year 172.76 175.01 211.90 184.61 133.60 142.44 91.57 18.50 25.74 31.04 

One year later 185.22 192.78 226.61 200.50 151.25 149.18 98.32 25.05 26.53 

Two years later 185.21 192.81 226.61 200.50 151.78 156.07 98.31 25.05 

Three years later 185.20 192.81 226.61 200.49 151.75 156.05 98.31 

Four years later 185.20 192.81 226.60 200.48 151.75 156.05 

Five years later 185.20 192.81 226.60 200.48 151.75 

Six years later 185.20 192.81 226.60 200.48 

Seven years later 185.20 192.81 226.60 

Eight years later 185.20 192.81 

Nine years later 185.20 

5. Reestimated incurred claims and expense: 

End of policy year 172.89 175.41 212.21 179.01 133.10 142.94 83.24 18.27 25.94 31.05 

One year later 185.35 193.18 226.92 194.90 151.25 149.68 89.98 24.81 26.73 

Two years later 185.34 193.21 226.92 194.91 151.28 156.57 89.97 24.81 

Three years later 185.33 193.21 226.91 194.90 151.25 156.55 89.97 

Four years later 185.33 193.22 226.91 194.88 151.25 156.55 

Five years later 185.33 193.21 226.90 194.88 151.25 

Six years later 185.33 193.21 226.90 194.88 

Seven years later 185.33 193.21 226.90 

Eight years later 185.33 193.21 

Nine years later 185.33 

6. Increase in estimated incurred claims and 
expense from end of policy year: 12.46 17.77 14.71 15.89 18.15 13.59 6.74 6.55 0.78 
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Other Supplementary Information 

Other Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Plan Net Position 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
Asof June 30, 2022 

Employee Pension Oregon Public Service 
Stability Account Retirement Plan 

Regular PERS 238/Regular Pension 
Account (Tier One/Tier Two) ProEam 

Assets: 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 3,491,582,180 $ 8,659,986 $ 506,675,359 

Receivables: 
Employer 24,996,043 20,258,141 
Interest and Dividends 120,439,411 314,670 17,148,324 
Investment Sales and Other Receivables 2,531,778,509 6,570,543 358,362,897 
Leases 242,030 
Transitional Liability 305,741,323 

Total Receivables 2,983,197,316 6,885,213 395,769,362 

Interaccount Receivables and Payables 23,014,109 (7,189,102) 
Due from Other Funds 5,227,982 8,017,209 (205,568) 

Investments: 
Debt Securities 13,557,389,699 35,421,150 1,930,319,203 
Public Equity 15,475,089,813 40,431,490 2,203,363,899 
Real Estate and Real Estate Investment Trusts 10,488,853,079 27,404,039 1,493,416,872 
Private Equity 19,125,138,725 49,967,908 2,723,062,725 
Real Assets 5,828,770,535 15,228,725 829,908,112 
Diversifying Strategies 4,038,932,223 10,552,446 575,068,550 
Opportunity Portfolio 1,748,926,998 4,569,390 249,014,555 

Total Investments 70,263,101,072 183,575,148 10,004,153,916 

Securities Lending Collateral 356,302,683 929,933 50,728,974 
Prepaid Expenses 9,042,545 19,171 1,044,754 
Capital Assets at Cost, Net 19,615,019 1,259,160 

Total Assets 77,151,082,906 208,086,660 10,952,236,855 

Liabilities: 
Investment Purchases and Accrued Expenses 4,007,397,987 9,196,973 502,172,328 
Deposits and Other Liabilities 31,316,176 1,663,505 
Due to Other Funds 12,458 7,886,011 
Leases Payable 488,211 
Securities Lending Collateral Due Borrowers 356,379,306 930,133 50,739,884 

Total Liabilities 4,395,594,138 18,013,117 554,575,717 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
Leases 241,340 

Net Position Restricted for Pension Benefits $ 72,755,247,428 $ 190,073,543 $ 10,397,661,138 

Continued on next page 
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Employee Pension 
Stability Account Variable 
OPSRP Program Account Total 

$ 6,176,497 $ 9,110,267 $ 4,022,204,289 

45,254,184 
218,648 138,121,053 

4,565,530 2,901,277,479 
242,030 

305,741,323 
4,784,178 3,390,636,069 

{15,825,007) 
10,125,300 23,164,923 

24,612,321 15,547,742,373 
28,093,748 294,677,781 18,041,656,731 
19,041,647 12,028,715,637 
34,720,110 21,932,889,468 
10,581,652 6,684,489,024 
7,332,348 4,631,885,567 
3,175,033 2,005,685,976 

127,556,859 294,677,781 80,873,064,776 

646,386 14,854 408,622,830 
13,321 10,119,791 

20,874,179 
149,302,541 '1137,977,895 88,748,686,857 

6,390,500 3,324,300 4,528,482,088 
1,569 32,981,250 

331,943 8,230,412 
488,211 

646,525 14,854 408,710,702 
7,368,968 3,340,723 4,978,892,663 

241,340 

$ 141,933,573 $ '1134,637,172 $ 83,769,552,854 

Continued from previous page 

88 



  

Other Supplementary Information 

Other Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Changes in Plan Net Position 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Employee Pension Oregon Public Service 
Stability Account Retirement Plan 

Regular PERS 238/Regular Pension 
Account (Tier One/Tier Two) Program 

Additions: 
Contributions: 

Employer $ 3,026,361,217 $ $ 1,003,797,322 
Plan Member 7,244,026 87,365,388 

Total Contributions 3,033,605,243 87,365,388 1,003,797,322 

Investment Income: 
Net Appreciation/(Decrease) 

in Fair Value of Investments 17,184,842 12,923,077 124,137,954 
Interest, Dividends and Other Investment Income 1,699,845,391 4,629,898 243,263,404 

Total Investment Income 1,717,030,233 17,552,975 367,401,358 

Less Investment Expense (1,111,850,281) (2,894,884) (157,982,418) 
Net Investment Income 605,179,952 14,658,091 209,418,940 

Securities Lending Income: 
Securities Lending Income 5,320,020 9,835 700,540 
Less Securities Lending Expense (1,878,123) (3,503) (247,733) 
Net Securities Lending Income 3,441,897 6,332 452,807 

Other Income 6,409,239 17,864 
Total Additions 3,648,636,331 102,029,811 1,213,686,933 

Deductions 
Benefits 5,348,793,355 78,422,522 
Death Benefits 5,732,332 
Refunds of Contributions 14,836,709 
Administrative Expense 44,798,019 264 11,703,692 
Interaccount Transfers (80,198,189) 16,890,129 (1,199,073) 

Total Deductions 5,333,962,226 16,890,393 88,927,141 

Net Increase/(Decrease) (1,685,325,895) 85,139,418 1,124,759,792 

Net Position Restricted for Pension Benefits 
Beginning of Year 74,440,573,323 104,934,125 9,272,901,346 
EndofYear $ 72,755,247,428 $ 190,073,543 $ 10,397,661,138 

Continued on next page 
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Employee Pension 
Stability Account Variable 
OPSRP Program Account Total 

$ $ $ 4,030,158,539 
65,326,471 162,019 160,097,904 
65,326,471 162,019 4,190,256,443 

8,293,536 (59,060,266) 103,479,143 
3,365,240 30,352 1,951,134,285 

11,658,776 (59,029,914) 2,054,613,428 

(2,094,056) (339,577) (1,275,161,216) 
9,564,720 (59,369,491) 779,452,212 

6,688 10 6,037,093 
(2,383) (10) (2,131,752) 
4,305 3,905,341 

6,427,103 
74,895,496 (59,207,472) 4,980,041,099 

35,266,900 5,462,482,777 
5,732,332 

56,496 14,893,205 
264 2,194,129 58,696,368 

1,199,073 63,308,060 
1,199,337 100,825,585 5,541,804,682 

73,696,159 (160,033,057) (561,763,583) 

68,237,414 444,670,229 84,331,316,437 
$ 141,933,573 $ 284,637,172 $ 83,769,552,854 

Continued from previous page 
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Other Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Administrative Expenses - All Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Personal Services: 
Staff Salaries $ 29,589,972 
Social Security 6,774,734 
Retirement 2,155,246 
Unemployment compensation 30,916 
Worker Compensation 8,123 
Insurance 6,803,649 
Assessments 182,673 

Total Personal Services 45,545,313 

Professional Services: 
Acturarial 418,912 
Data Processing 32,697 
Legal Counsel 274,579 
Medical Consultants 1,286,686 
Training and Recruitment 147,442 
Contract Services 8,447,074 
Healthcare Fees 2,648,626 

Total Professional Services 13,256,016 

Communications: 
Printing 66,075 
Telephone 258,331 
Postage 627,061 
Travel 69,003 

Total Communication 1,020,470 

Rentals: 
Office Space 157,029 
Equipment 307 

Total Rentals 157,336 

Miscellaneous: 
Central Government Charges 11,784,763 
Supplies 2,719,987 
Maintenance 605,025 
Non-Capitalized Equipment 1,206,883 
Depreciation and Amortization 3,151,958 
Other Expenses {301,393) 

Total Miscellaneous 19,167,223 

Total Administrative Expenses: $ 79,146,358 
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Other Supplementary Information 
Other Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Payments to Consultants and Contractors 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Individual or Firm Fees Paid Nature of Service 
ACCENTURE LLP $ 427,000 Consulting 
ACCURATE CORPORA TE SERVICES INC 24,067 Contractual 
ADT COMMERCIAL 96 Contractual 
AZIMUTH COMMUNICATIONS INC 19,189 Contractual 

BENEFilHELP SOLUTIONS 2,965,351 Health Insurance 
BUTLER PARTNERS & ASSOCIATES LLC 52,400 Health Insurance 
CANTEL SWEEPING 900 Contractual 

CASCADE CENTERS INC 13,484 Contractual 
CDW 82,121 Contractual 

CEDAR MILL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY LLC 1,980 Contractual 
CEM-COST EFFECTIVENESS MEASUREMENT INC 50,000 Benchmarking 

CITISTREET 3,021,537 Contractual 

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 345,916 Contractual 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 161,873 Legal 
DEPAUL INDUSTRIES 28,607 Contractual 
EMPLOYMENT DEPARTMENT 111,745 Contractual 
FIRST RESPONSE 8,964 Contractual 

FREDRICK WILLIAM MILLER MD 51,550 Medical 
GARTNER GROUP INC 223,000 Technology 

HARVEY & PRICE CO 1,450 Contractual 
ICE MILLER 330 Legal 

IES COMMERCIAL INC 3,342 Contractual 
INDUSTRIAL SOURCE 501 Contractual 

LANCESOFT INC 7,967,495 Technology 

LANDCARE 24,553 Contractual 
LANGUAGE LINE SOLUTIONS INC 1,845 Contractual 

LEXISNEXIS RISK DA TA MANAGMENT INC 6,214 Technology 
MACIAS GINI & O'CONNELL LLP 64,302 Audit 

MILLIMAN INC 418,636 Actuarial 

MITCHELL INTERNATIONAL INC 6,712 Contractual 
NATIONAL INTERPRETING SERVICE INC 3,060 Contractual 

OLYMPIC PERFORMANCE INC 1,210 Contractual 
OREGON DENTAL SERVICE 2,093,589 Contractual 
OREGON UNIONS STA TE WORKER 14,776 Contractual 

PACIFIC OFFICE AUTOMATION INC 72,000 Contractual 
PACIFICREALTY ASSOCIATES LP 351,575 Contractual 

PORTIAND MECHANICAL CONSTRUCTION INC 1,313 Contractual 
PROTEMP 5,125 Contractual 
RAY KLEIN INC 127 Contractual 
RELAY 386 Contractual 

lHE SEGAL COMPANY 329,000 Contractual 

TVWINC 127,066 Contractual 
TVWD 7,904 Contractual 

ULINE 389 Contractual 
VOY A HOLDINGS INC 459,167 IAP Administration 

WEST COAST PLANT CO INC 2,283 Contractual 
$ 19,554,125 
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Other Supplementary Information 
Summary of Investment Fees, Commissions, and Expenses 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Debt Securities Managers 
Alliance Bernstein 
Ashmore Investment Management 
Blackrock Financial Management 
Fidelity Institutional Asset Management 
Global Evolution 
Guggenheim Partners 
KKR Asset Management 
Morgan Stanley Investment Management 
Oak Hill Advisors 
PGIM Fixed Income 
PIMCO 
Putnam Investments 
Schroder Investment Management 
Wellington Management Company 
Western Asset Management Company 

Domestic F,guity Fund Managers 
AQR Capital Management, LLC 
Boston Company /Mellon 
Callan Associates 
Dimensional Fund Advisors LTD 
Eudaimonia Asset Management 

International Equity Fund Managers 
Acadian Asset Management 
Adrian Lee & Partners 
AHL Partners LLP 
Alliance Bernstein International 
AQR Capital Management, LLC 
Arrowstreet Capital, LP 
Aspect Capital 
Brandes Investment Partners LP 
Dimensional Fund Advisors LTD 
EAM Investors, LLC 
Genesis Asset Managers 
Harris Associates 
Lazard Asset Management 
Los Angeles Capital Management 
Pangora Asset Management 
PEGlobal 
Walter Scott Management 
Westwood Global Investments 
William Blair & Company 

Real Estate Portfolio Managers 
ABKB I Lasalle Advisors-Intl 
Aetos Capital Asia III 
Aetos Capital Asia TE II 
AEW Core Property Trust 
ASB Allegiance RE 
Ascentris - OR Partners LLC 
Ascentris Core 
Beacon Capital Strategic Partners VI, LP 
Blackstone Real Estate Partners IX, LP 
Blackstone Real Estate Partners VII, LP 
Brazil Real Estate Opportunities II 
Cameron Village 
Clarion 
Clarion (Non Mandate) 
Clarion Columbia Office Property 
Columbia Woodbourne Holdings, LLC 
DivcoWest Fund IV REIT, LP 
DivcoWest Fund V 
DivcoWest Fund VI 
DW Columbia Perfco 
GID Mainstay Fund 
Harrison Street Core Property Fund Co-Investment 
Harrison Street Real Estate Core Property 

2022 

$ 553,230 
521,517 

1,705,719 
42,453 

449,677 
1,069,585 

351,842 
606,762 

7,017,306 
491,454 
807,361 
675,062 
967,627 

1,119,509 
1,335,179 

892,926 
1,649,805 
1,084,714 
3,047,047 
1,363,181 

4,071,448 
1,300,000 
4,203,752 
1,639,767 
3,227,859 

13,580,416 
1,500,000 
1,895,542 
4,644,054 

837,546 
1,814,105 
1,963,746 
4,238,456 
2,636,596 
2,454,099 
1,573,151 
2,375,711 
1,014,106 
2,187,453 

1,040,530 
8,222 

24,309 
675,485 

1,600,430 
5,021,356 
1,544,129 

616 
3,750,000 

493,118 
490,268 
561,890 
671,787 
386,162 

4,624,503 
363,313 
63,258 

2,008,551 
1,942,371 
1,699,964 

340,831 
396,448 

1,641,936 
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Real Estate Portfolio Managers (continued! 
Harrison Street Real Estate Partners IX 
Harrison Street Real Estate Partners V-A 
Harrison Street REP V Co-Investment 
Harrison Street REP VIII 
Harrison Street US SA V (Core Account) 
Harrison Street US SA V (Non-COre Account) 
Heitman America Real Estate Trust, LP 
Heritage Fields Capital 
IL & FS India Realty Fund 
IL & FS India Realty Fund II 
JPMCB Strategic Property Fund 
Landmark Real Estate Partners VII, LP 
LBA Core Industrial 
Lincoln (Non Mandate) 
Lincoln CIP Industrial Core 
Lion Mexico Fund 
Lionstone One Value Add 
Lone Star Fund IX 
Lone Star Fund VIII 
Lone Star Real Estate Fund II 
Lone Star Real Estate Fund IV 
Lone Star Real Estate Fund V 
LORE One, L.P. (Core) 
Madison Realty Capital Debt Fund III, LP 
Morgan Stanley Prime Property Fund 
Nuveen U.S. Cities Multifamily Fund 
Oak Street Real Estate Capital Fund V 
Och Ziff RE III (Sculptor 3) 
Oregon Abacus Multifamily Associates LP 
Prologis Targeted Europe Logistics Fund 
Prologis Targeted US Logistic Fund 
Regency Core 
Regency II 
Rockpoint Finance Fund I, LP 
Rockpoint Growth and Income Fund I, LP 
Rockpoint Real Estate Fund II, LP 
Rockpoint Real Estate Fund III 
Rockpoint Real Estate Fund IV 
RREEF America REIT II 
Sculptor RE IV 
Starwood Cap Hospitality Fd II Global LP 
Vornado Capital Partners LP 
Wal ton Street Real Estate Core-Plus Fund 
Waterton Fund IX PT Chicago, LLC 
Waterton Residential Property Venture XII 
Waterton Residential Property Venture XIV 
Waterton Residential Property XI 
Windsor Columbia Realty Fund 

Private Equity Portfolio Managers 
A&M Capital Partners 
A&M Capital Partners Europe 
A&M Capital Partners II 
A&M Capital Partners III 
ACON Equity Partners IV 
Advent Global Technology 
Advent Global Technology II 
Advent International Global Private Equity IX 
Advent International Global Private Equity VI A 
Advent International Global Private Equity VII C 
Advent Latin American Private Equity VI 
Advent Latin American Private Equity VII 
Alpine Investors VIII 
APAXIX 
APAXVIII 
Apollo Investment Fund IX 

$ 

2022 

97,356 
698,661 
193,712 

1,875,000 
81,385 
96,616 

1,378,592 
292,659 
159,029 
156,665 

2,599,864 
265,005 

2,514,876 
552,043 

5,302,060 
194,080 

3,044,836 
155,469 
76,073 

53 
217,927 
244,014 

6,083,668 
1,292,005 
3,529,776 

412,697 
884,833 
258,214 

2,061,100 
2,546,005 
4,018,757 
1,169,680 
1,416,599 

1,402 
736,602 

2,900 
36,842 

116,954 
1,125,559 
1,312,500 

351,163 
195,646.00 

703,361 
582,000 
717,328 

1,500,000 
149,532 

9,902,642 

318,691 
2,274,885 
2,271,282 
1,656,164 
1,407,824 

639,797 
1,076,087 
1,458,399 

141,419 
233,742 
934,665 

3,000,000 
2,164,384 
2,423,655 

645,328 
6,240,000 
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Other Supplementary Information 

Other Supplementary Information 
Summary of lnvesbnent Fees, Commissions, and Expenses 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

2022 2022 
Private f,guity: Portfolio Manasrers (continued) Private f,guity: Portfolio Manasrers (continued) 

Apollo Investment Fund VIII $ 315,333 KKR North America Fund XII $ 4,156,667 
Aquiline Financial Services Fund III 559,115 KKR North America Fund XIII 3,437,500 
Aquiline Financial Services Fund IV 3,500,001 KPS Special Situations Fund V 625,000 
Arsenal Capital Partners Growth 750,000 KSL Capital Credit Opportunities Fund 52,194 
Arsenal Capital Partners VI 1,870,879 KSL Capital Partners Fund III 320,411 
Baring Asia Fund V 301,633 KSL Capital Partners Fund IV 1,418,789 
Blackstone Capital Partners VI 253,061 KSL Capital Partners Fund V 2,998,521 
Blackstone Capital Partners VII 3,171,480 Lion Capital Fund II {36,549) 
Blackstone Capital Partners VIII 6,250,000 Luminate Capital Partners Fund III 3,000,100 
Blackstone Energy Partners II 1,330,527 Mayfield Select 57,359 
Bridgepoint Europe VI 3,791,475 Mayfield Select II 50,501 
Bridgepoint Europe VI (Sidecar) 108,044 Mayfield XIV 504,996 
Capital International Private Equity Fund VI 633,083 Mayfield XV 636,364 
CDHFundV 1,079,469 Mayfield XVI 330,513 
Centerbridge Capital Partners II 4,477 MBK Partners Fund IV 2,295,818 
Centerbridge Capital Partners III 1,215,001 MHR Institutional Partners IV 2,279,549 
Centerbridge Capital Partners IV 4,612,330 Nordic Capital Fund VIII 512,978 
Centerbridge Special Credit Partners III 5,253,565 North Haven Private Equity Asia IV 258,764 
anven VI Fund 1,343,176 Novalpina Capital Fund I 2,195,298 
anven VII Fund 3,145,520 Oak Investments Partners XIII 109,643 
Clearlake Capital Partners VI 2,625,000 Oaktree European Principal Fund III (US) 617,871 
Clearlake Capital Partners VII 3,178,767 Oaktree Opportunities Fund IX 702,580 
Clearvue Partners III 2,400,000 Oaktree Opportunities Fund VIIIb 279,575 
eve Capital Partners Asia V 2,250,000 Oaktree Opportunities Fund X 532,101 
eve Capital Partners VI (A) 1,214,014 Oaktree Opportunities Fund Xb 1,600,000 
eve Capital Partners VII (A) 2,360,469 Oaktree Opportunities Fund XI 2,624,516 
eve Capital Partners VIII 5,476,575 Odyssey Investment Partners Fund VI 3,000,000 
EnCap Energy Capital Fund X 869,625 OrbiMed Private Investments V 258,616 
EnCap Energy Capital Fund XI 3,750,000 OrbiMed Private Investments VI 778,459 
Fifth anven Fund 277,329 Orchid Asia VI 648,483 
Francisco Partners Agility II 750,000 Palladium Equity Partners IV 766,367 
Francisco Partners III 325,228 Palladium Equity Partners V 4,000,000 
Francisco Partners IV 1,212,393 Pathway Private Equity Fund III-B 966,663 
Francisco Partners V 2,062,060 Pathway Private Equity Fund III-CO 2,233,397 
Francisco Partners VI 3,387,938 PermiraVI 2,358,949 
General Atlantic Partners 10,029,500 PermiraVII 3,066,821 
Genstar IX Opportunities Fund I 2,305,488 Permira VIII 1,628,930 
Genstar VIII Opportunities Fund I 1,716,666 Providence Equity Partners VII 425,401 
Genstar X Opportunities Fund I 2,293,707 Public Pension Capital 1,226,038 
GGV Capital Select 230,665 Rhone Partners IV 97,130 
GGV Capital V 656,312 Rhone Partners V 938,179 
GGV Capital VI 703,095 Riverside Europe Fund IV (93,321) 
GGV Capital VII 1,090,983 Roark Capital Partners IV 993,425 
GGV Capital VIII 1,350,000 Roark Capital Partners V 3,091,048 
GGV Discovery II 357,454 Roark Capital Partners VI 4,375,000 
GGV Discovery III 562,500 RRJ Capital Master Fund II 177,148 
GI Partners Fund IV 1,052,444 RRJ Capital Master Fund III 862,069 
GI Partners Fund V 3,100,234 Sherpa Healthcare Co-Investment 100,000 
Granite Ventures II 92,699 Sherpa Healthcare I 838,381 
Green Equity Investors VI 705,114 Sherpa Healthcare II 1,125,000 
Green Equity Investors VII 1,786,485 TAXIV 943,109 
GTCR Fund XII 2,333,863 Tailwind Capital Partners II 128,204 
GTCR Fund XIII 3,299,523 Tailwind Capital Partners III 1,250,000 
GTCR Strategic Growth Fund 527,727 TOR Capital III 677,808 
Hamilton Lane International SMID Fund 796,628 TOR Capital IV 3,276,030 
Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IX 2,926,101 The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund VI 452,121 
Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners VIII 576,174 Thoma Bravo Fund XIV 3,750,000 
Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners X 5,249,996 Thoma Bravo Fund XV 865,385 
KKR 2006 Fund 1,308,001 TPG Growth II 14,157 
KKR Asian Fund 61,506 TPG Growth III (A) 1,386,249 
KKR Asian Fund II 1,028,101 TPG Growth IV 1,821,696 
KKR Asian Fund III 2,465,604 TPGGrowthV 3,718,749 
KKR European Fund II 25,519 TPG Healthcare Partners 1,275,001 
KKR European Fund III 168,551 TPG Partners VII 2,094,780 
KKR North America Fund XI 623,333 TPG Partners VIII 5,099,999 
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Other Supplementary Information 

Other Supplementary Information 
Summary of Investment Fees, Commissions, and Expenses 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

2022 2022 
Private Egui:ty: Portfolio Maruurers {continued) Real Assets Portfolio Maruurers {continued) 

USV2019 $ 217,500 Starwood Energy Infrastructure Fund III $ 2,250,000 
USV2021 465,000 Stonepeak Global Renewables Fund 1,363,648 
USV Climate 2021 420,000 Stonepeak Infrastructure Fund 569,862 
USV Opportunity 2019 164,063 Stonepeak Infrastructure Fund II 2,651,270 
Veritas Capital Fund IV 26,581 Stonepeak Infrastructure Fund III 3,502,618 
Veritas Capital Fund V 1,294,846 Stonepeak Infrastructure Fund IV 4,783,730 
Veritas Capital Fund VI 2,839,954 Taurus Mining Finance Annex Fund 56,563 
Veritas Capital Fund VII 3,903,869 Taurus Mining Finance Fund 87,541 
Vestar Capital Partners V 4,727 Taurus Mining Finance Fund II 1,875,000 
Vista Equity Partners Fund IV 617,418 Tillridge Global Agribusiness Partners II 1,463,287 
Vista Equity Partners Fund V 1,872,863 Twin Creeks Timber 590,581 
Vista Equity Partners Fund VI 7,500,000 Warwick Partners III 2,376,071 
Vista Equity Partners Fund VII 7,500,000 Warwick Partners IV 4,000,000 
Vista Foundation Fund II 848,138 Westbourne Infrastructure Debt 6 487,124 
Vista Foundation Fund III 3,224,082 Di:llersifxing Strategies Portfolio Mimams 
Vitruvian Investment Partns IV 3,117,437 AQR Multi-Strategy Fund X 3,846,622 
Wellspring Capital Partners V 133,184 Aspect Core Trend HV Fund 5,274,472 

Real As.gets Portfolio Maruurers Blackrock Style Advantage 516,652 
Alinda Infrastructure Fund II 248,499 Brevan Howard 424,625 
Alterna Core Capital Assets Fund II 831,814 Bridgewater All Weather 2,190,436 
Appian Natural Resources Fund 695,962 Bridgewater Optimal Portfolio 5,819,747 
Appian Natural Resources Fund II 2,000,000 Caxton Global Investments (USA) 656,193 
Blackstone Energy Partners III 2,500,000 Davidson Kempner Institutional Partners 312,500 
Brookfield Agriculture Fund II (1,280,734) Fort Global Trend Fund Series A 2020 1,670,287 
Brookfield Infrastructure Fund III B 3,017,103 GMO Systematic Global Macro 1,231,291 
Brookfield Infrastructure Fund IV 4,139,603 Hudson Bay Fund 1,250,000 
Brookfield Super-COre Infrastructure Partners 456,897 Man AHL Alpha 1.SX 968,706 
Brookfield Timberlands Fund V 109,856 Man AHL Alpha Core 1.SX 357,729 
Cube Infrastructure Fund III 2,082,854 Reservoir Strategic Partners Fund 577,083 
Digital Colony Partners 1,662,754 Oonortunitv Portfolio Mana2ers 
EMR Capital Resources Fund II 1,834,724 Arctos Sports Partners Fund I 2,175,000 
EnCap Flatrock Midstream Fund III 527,770 Blackstone Tactical Opportunity Fund 1,605,897 
EnCap Flatrock Midstream Fund IV 1,695,000 Blackstone Tactical Opportunity Fund II 157,044 
Energy & Minerals III 1,681,030 Blue Torch Credit Opportunities Fund II 832,645 
Enervest XIV 758,271 Clearlake flagship Plus Partners 937,430 
EQT Infrastructure Fund III 2,232,924 Content Partners Fund 3 438,381 
EQT Infrastructure Fund IV - USD Fund 3,401,482 Fidelity Real Estate Opportunistic Income Fund 1,117,595 
EQT Infrastructure Fund V 4,550,000 Lone Star Fund X 210,227 
EQT Infrastructure V Co-Investment Fund 12,275 Nephila Juniper 28,987 
GIP Aquarius Fund 281,250 Nephila Palmetto 122,605 
Global Infrastructure Partners Capital Solutions Fund 1,640,037 OHA Tactical Investment Fund 3,214,171 
Global Infrastructure Partners II Al 1,194,247 OrbiMed Royalty Opportunities Fund II 132,778 
Global Infrastructure Partners III 4,795,470 Pathlight Capital Fund II 1,909,247 
Global Infrastructure Partners IV 5,200,000 Sanders Capital All Asset Value Fund 4,063,207 
Harrison Street SIF Co-Investment I 129,500 Sixth Street Specialty Lending Europe II 637,650 
Harrison Street Social Infrastructure Fund 1,443,354 TPG Specialty Lending Europe I (US Feeder) 353,952 
Highstar Capital Fund IV 576,580 TSSP Adjacent Opportunities Partners 3,775,465 
Homestead Capital USA Farmland Fund II 1,352,981 TSSP TAO Contingent 1,020,666 
International Infrastructure Finance Company Fund 162,490 Whitehorse Liquidity Partner IV 1,400,000 
LS Power Equity Partners III Feeder 1 852,966 Whitehorse Liquidity Partner V 1,050,000 
LS Power Equity Partners IV 3,000,000 Russell Investments - Cash Overlay 1,188,650 
NGP Agribusiness Follow-on Fund 788,175 BlackRock - Variable Fund 201,165 
NGPNatural Resources X 315,977 IAP Target Date Funds: Alliance Bernstein 3,968,263 
NGP Natural Resources XI 1,920,644 IAP Target Date Funds: State Street Bank 450,694 
NGP Natural Resources XII 3,745,563 Brokerage Commissions 9,319,061 
NGP Royalty Partners 1,405,107 Consulting and Subscription Fees 11,858,566 
Northern Shipping Fund III 585,917 State Street Bank: 
Northern Shipping Fund IV 2,249,999 Incentive Fee/Carried Interest 597,807,719 
Orion Mine Finance Fund I 163,660 Foreign Income Taxes 26,370,594 
QL Capital Partners 1,918,359 Operating Expenses1 144,446,789 
Reservoir Resource Partners 13,849 Other Expenses2 18,697,631 
Sheridan Production Partners III-B 229,588 State Treasury Fees 28,772,241 
Silver Creek Aggregate Reserves Fund I 230,519 Deferred Compensation Investment Fees and Expenses 6,475.339 
Sprott Private Resource Royal 1,336,233 Total Investment Fees, Commissions and Expenses $ 1,442,410,880 

1Start up fee for new private equity fund and improvement made to real estate property. 
2Expenses related to legal, travel, and other adjustments. Negative expenses are due to adjusting entries, reimbursements, and litigation settlement. 
Note: Negative management fees are due to adjusting entries and reimbursements. 
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~28,2022 

Dear PF.RS Manbe1>: 

Investment Section 

.._llllfa'I 
o;,iity~ll'araftr 

The lm-estment Di,1Sian of Ifie ~ Strle Treasury (OS'l) manages a colledim of portfolios on behalf of 
the Strte, \\duch help mnd 111imJ important Strle objedive.s incluctinr:, •etin:ilrllf :SeCUJ:ity fur public sector 
employees, academic support for On:goo schoolchildren, and rornpens:atian claims fer mjured strte wodceo. 
In ~ Ifie~ Dn-isimi. oversees assets of approsirrtafely $134 billion as of June 30, 2022 This 
portfulio includes the Oregcm Public Employee Ret:iaaa:ut Fund (OPERF), which am.meed 632% last fiscal 
,ear, totu.ed $96..91:illion at June 30, 2022 and comprised the Oregon Public Employee R.efum.:nt System 

Defined Benefit Pemion. Pim, the Individual~ Program of file Oregcn Public Service Rt!tiremm fun 
and other post-eq,10)'1lll!llt benefit pl.ms. 

Consistent with instifutiooal iuvestmem st:andank OPERF is broadly and dehl>e:rately diversi:6ed across 
nmltq,le cbnains, incmding but not limited to, se.'l!l'.al asset classes and gpog13pbies On behalf of ail Oregon 
Public Employee R.efuetta!llf System beneficiaries, OPERP assets am mrnmingled, llM!Sfled coosisted with a 
comrnoo ~ of objectives and allocated ~ the fuilowiog seven, stntegic investmerJt categories: public 
equity, p:iv.rle equity, real .estne, fixed income, risk parity, real assets, and di.-emfying strafepes. Refmn 
expedatiaos and target all~ fur each of these six categmes am developed between staff and emmal 
consu1t.mfs; marem-w, rerum :fixec.ists eu, 1fe1q.biP a 0-year im-estment baizan. lmportmtly eqmfy­
oru:med imrestmems represem OPERF' s l.U'gest capital allocation. While imprm,-ing the likelihood of 
~ an adeqime, long-fl:lm return. this equify~biased approach also prodnces bigba- levels of 
uncemml:y of short-term portfolio return. The breadth of diversificatioo chat underpins the OPERF partiiilio 
attemph ti> lower the St.de' s risk in the ,'<lliability of c:cmfribution. rates and funded st.ms. 

With the dr.umtic rise in inflation 0\-W this past fisc:al year, the global markets have retreated; however, our 
highly dn.-ersified portfulio has prmrided fer steadier returns. TI.! Conqm,pr Price Iodi:x bas CCllsisterdl been 
nmmng in eiu:es_s of 8.0-/4 rear-mw--year which are levels we have not experienced smce the l 970's into the 
e.arly 1980 s. The rise in infbtion bas can:espood6!d to a rise in the Jie1ii for 3-Mooih US Treasury Bills fram 
near:l 0. 0-/4 to above 2.~ dming this fiscal year. As eq>eded. this rise in infbtion and interest mes bas led 
to a global equity IDiUlet sell~ff', widi Ifie~ ACWI lMI Net imex dawn 16.S-/41• Despite this . gnificant 
decline in the global equity maihts, OPERF R2gulu- Accoom JrOduced a gain of 6.31/e.. As we ba,,.-e llCted in 
the pas om higbl cliwrsified portfulio tends to lag when the equity markeis are proch.aciQg abo\'1! average 

positive returns, but also tends to pemxm better relati,-e to equity m.n:keB when risky asseis are declining 
rapidly as \\'1! ba,,.-e experienced m-w this past fiscal year. \Vhile ~ risks, \\'1! can also see the 
benefits of our equity-bi:ased investmem slrah:gy. as evidena!d by the performance mmJber:s as n:bnns. across 

I Ail~£p- . · 1 iatlm .,_ DaM CD mm.Ill \~I ...:I~ Dllmlcalmlrimu. 

.-crtmc.,t u;,.;~oo 
lGl!)D W.1 Up~~ E<lcn:!. F:ny Rood 
'lJHlf, Ort Q7J)~ 
1_.Il.'111 ,Jl'i4•1 

11.,~n Olftc 
!67 ,•/th!l(llt, l,•,c Y: 
~•IHI\.O qnn1 
•,n:a : 11 1UHI 
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Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

ff OREGON 
STATE 
TREASURY 

multiple timefi:ames exceed estimated returns from prior str.rfegic asset alloc:afian ttiscussums by the Ore~ 
In.esioet G<JIIIlcil and PBRS Bomi. ANDlilti:zP'i net retmns far the m-e- and tl!n-year periods ended Jane 30, 

022 \\'1![1! 9.4% and 93% respedi,.-ely. 

The U.S. stock. madet (as measmed by the Russell 3000 index) gienerated a 1055 last fiscal ,ear <Y'f 2022) of 
13.9% CJ\'l!r the 12-mi:mfh period ended Jane 30, 2022 Wifh a net loss of 12.9"/4, OPERF's U.S. public •ty 
portfolio ,outpaced i1s Rnssell 3000 benchmark ,me to ;m emphasis on •ty "'style f.adm such as value and 
small c.apitalizatioo smch. Foreign equities wuti111--cl ft> lag cbnestic stocks in FY 2022. OPERF manager:s 
im'l!Sting al:roadproduceda colle.di\l'e 165% 1055 last fiscal ,ear, better than the 19.9'/4 loss by OPERFs DCJD:­

U.S. pub ·c equity benchmark, the M5Cl ACWI Ex~US IMI Net inde-.!t:. 

With m estimated fiscal year-4!Dd value of $26. billioo. OPP.RF's pri,'clte ,equify investments represemed 
28.0-/4 of total OPERF assets at June 30 20 ' and~ a net gain of24 o in FY 2022.. At 15 . .S-/4, 
"'~ ammal mums m'l!r the pe\'XJUS lO-year period fell short of the 17.7% remm fiir the bencbma:rl:, the 
Russell 3000 (lagged ooe qu.uter) plus 300 basis points.. 

In.real estate, OPERF capital is allocated~ fuur property or security types;: core, value-add, ~ 
aodpublicl -traded i:e.il estde im-estmenttrusts 6- REITs). lnFY 2022, OPF.RF's i:e.il esate .investrnents 
generated a 29.6% net return. ahead the 27 3 o rebn:n OD OPP.RF's real estrle benc:bma:rk, ibe NCREIF Ftmd 
Index - Open End Di\'l!ISified Core Equity, lagged ,cme quarter_ At fiscal year-end, these real estate 
im'l!Sfmerds were ,'alued at $12. 7 billim, aDd represented lH f/4 of total OPERF ~ For-the ten-year 
period ended Jane 30, 20 OPERF's real estate pcrtfi>Jio .deJi,;-ered a net l 3% OD m il\~ge ammal basis, 
ahead ,of the benchmark ' s 9 .8% il\'l!ragl! annual return dming that same period. 

Band markets deln'l!rl!d neg;itive resn1fs in FY 022, doe to the f.ast rise in mll!lest mes and infl;,tioo 
lnt.-edmenls: in fixed income securities c-onpised 19.8% ,of total OPERF assets at Juae 30, 022, aDd produced 
a loss of9.l ¾ Dl!t rerum in FY 022, but still be.rlmgthe loss of l0. l%:retum recorded byOPERF's cnstan 
:fixed incamr beocbmark 

In 202l, the Oregan ~ Couacil officially adopted the separation of the "Altemafutes portfolio mfo 
its cauip, ments pans of Real Assets and Di,.'l!ISifying So:ategies. These two programs produced refmns of 
23.2% .and 17 J o/-, re:.pedi\.e)y, fiir FY 022. Both programs be.at their respectiw beoc:bmm:s The Rsl 
Asseb program ic: beachrnark...f to CPI+4 o, which produced a gain of 13. % fur fhe fiscal ,ear_ The 
Dii.'1!1:Sifyiog So:ategies bendw:mdr is the HFRI: FoF Conser'\,dive Index, which w.1S nearly flat fiir this period 
at 0.1% gain. Rouadingoutthe asset classes, Risk Parifyproduceda loss ofl3.0-/4 1aggmg · beocbmadr 'IS 

the S&P Risk Parity- 12% TargJ!t Volatility lost 6.'r/4. 

-llll t!.'.l l Ui\i>1L41 
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Sincerely, 

OREGON 
STATE 
TREASURY 

11---
RexT.Kim 

Cbieflnvesb:nent Officer 
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Investment Objectives 
The function of PERS is to provide present and 
future retirement or survivor benefits for its 
members. The investment program - comprising 
the Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund 
(OPERF), which includes PERS' Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan, Oregon Public Service Retirement 
Plan - Individual Account Program, and other 
postemployment benefit plans - is managed to 
provide long-term financial security for PERS 
members while maintaining the Fund's stability 
and future productivity. The OIC has established 
policies that promote and guide investment 
strategies with the highest probability of achieving 
the PERS Board's approved, actuarial discount rate 
at a corresponding risk level deemed acceptable for 
both active and retired PERS members. 

Description of Investment Policies 
Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 293.706 established 
the Oregon Investment Council (OIC), which 
consists of five voting members. Four members of 
the council, who are qualified by training and 
experience in the field of investment or finance, are 
appointed by the governor subject to state senate 
confirmation. The State Treasurer serves as the 
council's remaining voting member. In addition, the 
director of PERS serves as a non-voting OIC 
member. 

ORS 293.701 defines the investment funds over 
which OIC has responsibility. Included are the 
OPERF and the Deferred Compensation Fund. OIC 
establishes policies for the investment and 
reinvestment of moneys in the investment funds as 
well as the acquisition, retention, management, and 
disposition of investments in the investment funds. 
OIC is also responsible for providing an examination 
of the effectiveness of the investment program. 

OIC ensures moneys in the investment funds are 
invested and reinvested to achieve the investment 
objective of making the moneys as productive as 
possible. Furthermore, the investments of those 
funds are managed as a prudent investor would do 
under the prevailing circumstances and in light of 
the purposes, terms, distribution requirements, and 
laws governing each investment fund. This 
standard requires the exercise of reasonable care, 
skill, and caution; it is applied to investments not in 
isolation but in the context of each fund's portfolio 
as part of an overall investment strategy. The 
strategy should incorporate risk and return 
objectives reasonably suitable to the particular 
investment fund. 

When implementing investment decisions, OIC has 
a duty to diversify the investments of the 
investment funds unless, under the circumstances, 
it is not prudent to do so. In addition, OIC must act 
with prudence when selecting agents and 
delegating authority. OIC has approved the 
following asset classes for OPERF: Short-Term 
Investing, Fixed Income, Real Estate, Public and 
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Private Equities, Real Assets, and Diversifying 
Strategies. In addition, OPERF invests in the 
Opportunity Portfolio, which may be populated 
with investment approaches across a wide range of 
investment opportunities with no limitation as to 
asset classes or strategies. OIC must approve, in 
advance, the purchase of investments in a new asset 
class not described above. 

OIC has an open-door policy wherein investment 
officers employed by the Oregon State Treasury will 
hear and consider investment proposals and 
solicitations from any person, firm, or partnership 
that submits a proposal or solicitation in good faith. 
However, under no circumstance does this policy 
require that the Oregon State Treasury purchase the 
proposed investment. 

OIC maintains an equal opportunity policy. When 
awarding contracts or agreements, OIC does not 
discriminate because of age, race, color, sex, religion, 
national origin, marital status, sexual orientation, or 
disability. Furthermore, OIC encourages firms doing 
or seeking to do business with OIC to have equal 
opportunity programs. OIC requires that all written 
contracts or agreements with OIC incorporate a 
reference that affirms compliance with applicable 
nondiscrimination, equal opportunity, and contract 
compliance laws. 

In compliance with ORS 192.630-660, OIC holds its 
meetings in a public forum. Public notice, including 
a meeting agenda, is provided to interested persons 
and news media who have requested notice. 
Written minutes and recordings are taken at all 
meetings. 

OIC regularly reviews various aspects of investment 
policy, performance of investment managers and 
accounts, asset allocation, and a large number of 
investment proposals and recommendations. OIC's 
statement of Investment Objectives and Policy 
Framework is available on the Oregon State 
Treasury website at https://www.oregon.gov/ 
treasury/invested-for-oregon/Documents/Invested­
for-OR-O IC-INV /Inyested-for-OR-OIC-INV-1203-­
Statement-of-Investment-Objectives-and-Policy­
Framework.pdf 
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Investment Section 

Investment Results"' 
Periods Ended June 30, 2022 

Annualized 
1-Year 3-Year 5-Year 

Total Portfolio, Excluding Variable Account 6.32 % 10.30 % 9.36 % 
OPERF Policy Benchmark1 (0.66) 8.95 8.65 

Variable Account (16.21) 6.31 7.05 
Benchmark: MSCI All Country World Investable (16.52) 5.98 6.70 

Market Index Net 

Domestic Stocks (12.92) 8.61 9.18 
Benchmark: Russell 3000 Index (13.87) 9.77 10.60 

International Stocks (16.47) 4.62 4.59 
Benchmark: MSCI All Country (19.86) 1.55 2.50 

World ex-US Investable Market Index Net 

Fixed Income Segment (9.05) (0.25) 1.33 
Benchmark: Oregon Custom Index2 (10.12) (0.86) 0.92 

Risk Parity3 (12.95) n/a n/a 
Benchmark: S&P Risk Parity -12% Target Volatility (6.67) n/a n/a 

Real Estate 29.61 13.61 11.02 
Benchmark: Oregon Custom Real Estate Benchmark4 27.26 10.30 8.90 

Private Equity 24.23 21.86 19.64 
Benchmark: Russell 3000 Index+ 300 bps (Adj.)5 15.25 21.74 18.82 

Real Assets6 23.15 9.60 7.15 
Benchmark: Consumer Price Index+ 4% 13.39 9.16 8.02 

Diversifying Strategies6 17.09 2.80 0.68 
Benchmark: HFRI FOF Conservative Index 0.13 4.65 4.03 

Opportunity Portfolio 10.19 13.04 9.92 
Benchmark: Consumer Price Index+ 5% 14.47 10.20 9.06 

The rates of return reported in the Investment Section are based on a time-weighted rate of return methodology based upon market 
values, unless disclosed otherwise in the footnotes to the associated tables. 

1From July 1, 2016 to March 31, 2018 the policy benchmark was 20% Russell 30()(}!-300 Bps quarter lag, 225% Oregon Custom FI Benchmark, 12.5% Oregon 
Custom Real Estate Benchmark, 40% MSC! ACWI IMI Net and 5% CPl+4%. From April 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 the policy benchmark was 19% Russell 
3000+300 Bps quarter lag, 22% Oregon Custom FI Benchmark, 125% Oregon Custom Real Estate Benchmark, 39% MS□ ACWI IMI Net and 7 5% CPl+4%. From 
January 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 the policy benchmark was 19% Russell 3000+300 Bps quarter lag, 21% Oregon Custom FI Benchmark, 125% Oregon Custom 
Real Estate Benchmark, 37 5% MS□ ACWI IMI Net and 10% CPI+4%. From July 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021 the policy benchmark was 19% Russell 3000+300Bps 
quarter lag, 20% Oregon Custom FI Benchmark, 125% Oregon Custom Real Estate Benchmark, 335% MSC! ACWI IMI Net, 1250% CPl+4%, and 250% S&P Risk 
Parity -12% Target Volatility. From October 1, 2021 to Present the policy benchmark is 20% Russell 3000+300 Bps quarter lag, 20% BBG U.S. Aggregate, 1250% 
NCRIEF ODCE (Custom), 30% MSC! ACWI IMI Net, 7 50% CPI+4%, 7 50% HFRI FOF Conservative Index and 250 % S&P Risk Parity -12% Target Volatility. 

2 From March 1, 2016 to September 30, 2021, index was 46% BBG Aggregate Bond, 37% BBG Treasury, 13% S&P I.ST A and 4% BofA ML High Yield Master IL From 
October 1, 2021 to Present, index is 100%Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate. 

3 Inception date is May 1, 2020. 

4 Starting July 1, 2017, methodology for monthly return is calculated by geometrically linking prior months returns, and then deriving the monthly returns by 
calculating the geometric average. Returns are not actual monthly, but rather equivalent for all intra-quarter months, in order to match the actual quarterly 
return. 

5 From July 1, 2017, the monthly return is calculated as the geometrically linked monthly-portion of the quarterly return. Returns are not actual monthly, but 
rather equivalent for all intra-quarter months, in order to match the actual quarterly return. 

6Beginning October 1, 2021, the Alternatives Portfolio has been split up into new portfolios: Real Assets and Diversifying Strategies. 

* Investment Results are based upon OIC asset classes as determined by each manager's primary investment type, not the financial 
statement classification of individual holdings. 
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Investment Section 

OIC Target and Actual Investment Allocation as of June 30, 2022* 

OICPolicy OIC Target 

Asset Class/Strategy Range Allocation Asset Class/Strategy 
Debt Securities 15.0 25.0 % 20.0 % Debt Securities 

Public Equity 25.0 35.0 30.0 Public Equity 
Real Estate 7.5 17.5 12.5 Real Estate 

Private Equity 15.0 27.5 20.0 Private Equity 

Risk Parity 0.0 3.5 2.5 Risk Parity 

Real Assets 2.5 10.0 7.5 Real Assets 

Diversifying Strategies 2.5 10.0 7.5 Diversifying Strategies 

Opportunity Portfolio1 0.0 5.0 0.0 Opportunity Portfolio 
Total 100.0 % Total 
1Opportunity Portfolio is an investment strategy and it may be invested up to 5% of total Fund assets. 
2 Based on the actual investment value at 6/30/2022. 
3 'ri. October 2021 the Alternatives Portfolio was split in to Real Assets and Diversifying Strategies. 

Actual 

Allocation2 

19.8 % 

21.2 
13.6 

28.0 

2.0 

7.9 

4.9 

2.6 
100.0 % 

Investment Mix by Asset Class/Strategy Total Fund Performance 

Diversifying 
Strategies 

4.9% \ 

Private 
Equity 
28.0% 

Opportunity 
Portfolio 

2.6% 

I 

Debt 
Securities 

19.8% 

Public Equity 
21.2% 

Real Estate 
13.6% 

12.7% 

10-Y ear Review, One-Year Returns 

16.6% 

n 

4.3% 

1.2% 

• 

11.9% 

n 
9.4% 

n 
6.5% 

0.5% -

25.5% 

n 

6.3% 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

* The OIC Target Allocations are based on OIC asset classes as determined by each manager's primary investment type, not the 
financial statement classification of individual holdings. The Target Allocation amounts do not include Deferred Compensation Plan 
investments. The Actual Investment Allocation is based on the financial statement investment classifications, including Deferred 
Compensation Plan investments. Risk Parity is included with the Diversifying Strategies. 

104 



  

Investment Section 

List of Largest Assets Held 

Largest Stock Holdings (by Fair Value) 
June 30, 2022 

Description Shares 

Microsoft Corporation 1,411,396 
Apple Inc. 2,645,281 
Johnson & Johnson 1,121,395 
Pfizer Inc. 3,209,267 
United.health Group Inc. 323,467 
Alphabet Inc. Cass A 70,990 
Alphabet Inc. Cass C 65,982 
Abbvielnc. 832,890 
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. Cass B 440,040 
Meta Platforms Inc. Cass A 723,003 

Largest Bond Holdings (by Fair Value) 
June 30, 2022 

Description 

FNMA TBA 30 Year Single Family Conventional 5% 
Issue August 2052 

U.S. Treasury Note 2.250% 
Due November 15, 2025 

FNMA TBA 30 Year Single Family Conventional 4.5% 
Issue August 2052 

U.S. Treasury Note 1.750% 
Due July 31, 2024 

U.S. Treasury Note 2.250% 
Due August 15, 2046 

U.S. Treasury Note 0.125% 
Due February 15, 2024 

U.S. Treasury Note 1.250% 
Due August 15, 2031 

U.S. Treasury Note 0.625% 
Due July 31, 2026 

U.S. Treasury Note 2.250% 
Due November 15, 2024 

U.S. Treasury Note 1.250% 
Due June 30, 2028 

$ 

Par Value 

260,004,000 

211,200,000 

191,406,000 

200,700,000 

201,000,000 

158,300,000 

172,190,000 

160,794,000 

144,420,300 

152,500,000 

$ 

$ 

Fair Value 

362,488,835 
361,662,818 
199,058,826 
168,261,869 
166,142,355 
154,705,667 
144,332,326 
127,565,432 
120,139,721 
116,584,234 

Fair Value 

264,599,774 

205,705,501 

195,952,804 

195,666,821 

162,071,952 

151,244,520 

148,231,377 

145,820,059 

141,971,925 

137,184,472 

A complete list of portfolio holdings may be requested from the Oregon State Treasury, 350 Winter Street 
NE, Suite 100, Salem, OR 97301-3896. 
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Investment Section 

Schedule of Fees and Commissions 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Investment Managers' Fees: 
Debt Securities Managers 
Public Equity Managers 
Real Estate Managers 
Private Equity Managers 
Real Assets Managers 
Diversifying Strategies Managers 
Opportunity Portfolio Managers 

Total Assets Under Management 

Other Investment Service Fees: 
Investment Consultants 
Commissions and Other Fees 

Total Investment Service and Managers' Fees 

Schedule of Broker Commi!mons 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Broker's Name 

Goldman, Sachs & Co. 
lnstinet 
Barclays Capital 
J.P.Morgan 
Morgan Stanley 
Citigroup 
BofA Securities, Inc. 
UBS 
Pershing Securities, LLC 
Jefferies 
Credit Suisse 
Merrill Lynch 
HSBC Securities 
Virtu 
Societe Generale 
JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC 
Macquarie Securities 
Cowen and Company, LLC 
Liquidnet 
Piper Jaffray 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Assets Under 
Management 

19,201,300,293 $ 
23,715,061,151 

13,484,899,469 
24,588,062,306 

7,493,706,329 
5,192,616,827 

2,248,492,239 
95,924,138,614 

Commism.on 

2,110,680 $ 
1,099,768 

497,392 
461,693 
409,769 
390,147 
379,182 

352,000 
299,627 
284,944 
238,815 
235,493 
219,746 
199,889 
135,619 
125,694 
118,989 
109,130 
104,240 
102,282 

Fees 

17,714,283 
71,004,252 
90,653,217 

274,264,054 
94,747,844 
25,096,343 
25,182,947 

11,858,566 
831,889,374 

$1,442,410,880 

Shares/Par 

112,731,680 
522,396,068 
222,790,588 
311,237,101 
133,866,592 
137,614,177 
46,669,020 
133,666,219 

814,344,018 
88,587,915 

269,901,456 
108,412,845 
244,336,694 

33,899,188 
85,807,956 

6,335,321 
93,701,689 
9,373,094 
19,818,217 
7,549,052 

$ 

Brokerage commissions on purchases and sales are too numerous to list; therefore, only the top 20 brokers by 
amount of commission paid are shown. 
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Percentage 

0.0923 % 
0.2994 
0.6723 
1.1154 
1.2644 
0.4833 
1.1200 

Commism.on 
per Share 

0.0187 
0.0021 
0.0022 
0.0015 
0.0031 
0.0028 
0.0081 
0.0026 
0.0004 
0.0032 
0.0009 
0.0022 
0.0009 
0.0059 
0.0016 
0.0198 
0.0013 
0.0116 
0.0053 
0.0135 
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Investment Section 

Investment Summary 

Type of Investment 

Debt Securities 

US Government Securities $ 

US Agency Securities 

International Debt Securities 

Non-US Government Debt Securities 

Corporate Bonds 

Bank Loans 

Municipal Bonds 

Asset-Backed Securities3 

Guaranteed Investment Contracts2 

Domestic Fixed Income Funds 

Global Fixed Income Funds 

Repurchase Agreements 

Total Debt Securities 

Public Equity 

Derivatives in Asset Positions 

Domestic Equity Securities 

International Equity Securities 

Domestic Equity Funds 

Global Equity Funds 

International Equity Funds 

Target Date Funds 

Oregon Savings Growth Plan - Self Directed 

Total Public Equity 

Real Estate 

Private Equity 

Real Assets 

Diversifying Strategies 

Opportunity Portfolio 

Total Fair Value $ 

1 These percentages do not include cash and cash equivalents. 
2 Guaranteed Investment Contacts are stated at contract value. 

Fair Value as of Percent of 

June 30, 2022 Total Fair Value1 

8,254,405,065 8.61 % 

2,281,544,079 2.38 

1,153,680,734 1.20 

1,395,606,265 1.46 

1,600,651,572 1.67 

1,288,904,402 1.34 

35,833,562 0.04 

995,682,664 1.04 

302,017,127 0.31 

960,016,206 1.00 

893,258,617 0.93 

39,700,000 0.04 

19,201,300,293 20.02 

5,841,579 0.01 

11,035,418,382 11.51 

6,804,294,094 7.09 

3,597,615,173 3.75 

684,340,569 0.71 

758,844,722 0.79 

789,884,105 0.82 

38,822,527 0.04 

23,715,061,151 24.72 

13,484,899,469 14.06 

24,588,062,306 25.64 

7,493,706,329 7.81 

5,192,616,827 5.41 

2,248,492,239 234 

95,924,138,614 100.00 % 

3 Asset-Backed Securities includes Collateralized Mortgage Obligations, and Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities. 
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Milliman 

November 23, 2022 

Public Employees Retirement Board 
Oregon Pubrc Employees Retirement System 

Re: Actuarial Valuation as of December 31 2021 

Dear Members of the Board, 

Actuarial Section 

1455 SW~ 
~1600 

OR9nll1 

T< •1 SID 7:Z1 06M 

.mm 

As part of our engagement ·th the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System (•PERS• or 
"the System•), we performed an actuarial valuation of PERS as of December 31 , 202 . Our 
find-ngs are set tcx1h in the system- -de December 31, 2021 Actuarial Valuation report, issued 
September" 19, 2022. Previously, we published a system-wide December 31 , 2020 Actuarial 
Valuation report, which was issued December 9, 2021 . Both reports reflect the benefit 
provisions of the system in effect as of those valuation dates as wel as Senate BiD 111 and 
House BiD 2906 signed into law ·n June 2021 . 

Both the December 31 , 2021 Actuarial Valuation and the December 3 , 2020 Actuarial 
Valuation are used to develop information provided in the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report (ACFR) for Oregon PERS. The December 31 , 2021 Actuarial Valuation forms the basis 
for the Actuarial Sedion of the ACFR. The December 31 , 2020 Actuarial Valuation is used to 
develop the financial reporting results required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 67 for the Tter One/Tter Two and OPSRP programs and by GASB 
Stateme t No. 74 for the RHIA and RHIPA programs. 

Actuarial Section of the ACFR 

The material included in the Actuarial Section of the ACFR for Oregon PERS is a subset of the 
results contained in the December 31 , 2021 Actuarial Valuation. The descriptions i that report 
regarding the actuarial basis of the valuation and the material ·nputs and limitations of use of the 
valuation apply o the ACFR exh its and are incorporated here·n by reference. 

Actuarial valuations are petfOfJlled annually, but only 'Irate-setting" valuations performed as of 
the end of each odd-numbered year are used to set actuarially determined biennial contribution 
ra es. Those rates are then considered for adoption by the Public Employees Retirement Board 
(8PERB•). Interim valuations performed as of the end of each even-numbered year are only 
advisory in nature, and co tribution rates developed in those valuations are not presented to the 
PERB for adoption. 

The PERB has sole authority to determine the actuarial assumptions and methods used for the 
valuation. The actuarial aSSUJl1>tions and methods used in both the December 31, 2021 and the 
December 31 , 2020 Actuarial Valuai ·on were adopted by the PERB based upon the results of 
the 2020 Experience Study conduced by i i man, issued July 20, 2021 . The assumptions and 
methods were selected in a manner consisten with curren Actuarial Standards of Practice. 
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Actuarial Section 

Public Employees Retirement Board 
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Dirnan prepared the following information that is presented in the Actuarial Section of the 2022 
ACFR based on the December 31 , 2021 Actuarial Valuation: 

• Schedule of Active Member Valu ·o Dala 
• Schedule of Retirees and Beneficiaries Added o and Removed from Rolls 
• Schedules of Funding Progress by Rate Pool 
• Sol ency Test 
• Analysis of Financial Experience 
• Schedules of Funding Progress 

We understand the Actuarial Section at the ACFR wiD also indude summaries ,of the actuarial 
methods, actuarial assumptions, and plan provisions valued. These summaries are contained in 
the December 31, 2021 Actuarial Val ation. 

financia Reporting Under GASB 67 and GASB 7 4 

Under GASB 67 and GASB 74, the required financial reporting schedules present infonnation 
using a easuremen Date of the System's fiscal year elld. The Total Pension ·ability (under 
GASB 67) and Total OPEB Liability (under GASB 74) for the June 30, 2022 fiscaJ year end were 
de ennined ased on the results of the December 31 , 2020 Actuarial Valuation. lhe liabi ity 
calcula ed 81 the actuarial valuation date was then adjusted to the Measuremen Date using 
standard actuarial roll-forward procedures. The Total Pension Liabilityffotal OPEB Liability is 
compared to the Fid ciary Net Position as of the Measurement Da e, as provided by PERS and 
measured on a fair marke value of assets basis, to determine the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 
under GASB 67 and the Net OPEB Liabi ity (Asset) under GASB 74. 

Dirnan prepared the following exhibits for GASB 67 to assist PERS in completing the required 
Notes to the Financial Stateme.nts and Required Supplementary lnformaoon: 

• Net Pension Liability (Asset) 
• Changes in Net Pension Liabi1ity (Asset) 
• Sensitivity Analysis 
• Schedule of Changes in Net Pens,on Liability (Asset) and Rela ed Ratios 
• Long Term Expected Ra e of Return 

These exhibits, along with a discussion ,of the actuarial basis underlying the results, are 
presen ed · our GASB 67 Reporting for Frscal Year End 2022 letter dated November 16, 2022. 

Diman prepared the following exhibits for GASB 74 to assist PERS in completing the required 
Notes to the Financial Sbiteme.nts and Required Supplementary lntormaoon: 

• Net OPEB Liability (Assset) 
• Changes in Net OPEB iability (Asset) 
• Sensitivity Analysis 
• Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Lia.bi ity (Asset) and Related Ratios 
• Long Term Expected Rate of Return 
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Public Employees Retirement Board 
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Actuarial Section 

These exhibits, along with a discussion of the actuarial basis under1ying the results, are 
presented ·n our GASB 74 Reporting for Frscal Year End 2022 letter dated November 16, 2022. 
The first four exhbts lis ed above were provided sepa:ratety for RHIA and RHIPA. 

Funding Por cy 

The funding pof cy selected by the PERB is to adopt biennial contrmutioo ra es in accordance 
with the results of a '"rate-setting• actuarial valuatio performed using the assumptioos and 
me1hods described in the associated actuarial valuation eport. For example, the rates 
devek>ped in the December 31 , 2021 Actuarial Valuation were adop ed by the PERB and 
established employer contnbutions for the July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2025 bienn·um. Contri>ution 
ra es include funding the cost associa ed with new benefit acauals as well as amortizing any 
unfunded actuarial liability, determined using the market value of assets, over ,closed, layered 
amortization periods that vary from 10 to 20 years, according to the benefit program. In 
accordance with Sena e Bil 1049, the unfunded actuarial liability for Tier OneffierTwo was 
reamortized over 22 yeara as of December 31 , 2019. The contribution rate stabilization method 
(also iknown as the •rate collar") limits rate changes from one biennium to the ne in effect 
phasing in changes over muffiple rate-setting periods if asset or liabi ity experience causes a 
large movemen ·n the actuarially calcula: ed contribution rate prior to application of the ra e 
collar. 

Al members hired prior to August 29, 2003, are covered under Chapter 238 and are collectively 
referred to as Tier One/Tier Two membefs. lheir benefit costs are calcu a ed using two 
experience sharing pool valuations and some independent employer valuations. AD school 
districts pool their Tier One/Tier Two experience through the school district pool. State 
government and some local governments pool their Tier Onemer Two experie ce through the 
State and Local Government Rate Poo (SLGRP). As of December 31 , 2021 , there are also 127 
independent employers who do not pool their Tier One/Tier Two experience ·th the other 
employers except through the Benefits in Force Reserve, wti·ch pools the experience of Tier 
Oneffier Two members in payee status across al employers and all other Tier One/Tier Two 
poofng arrangements. 

Al membefs hired after August 28, 2003, are covered under Chapter 238A and are referred to 
as OPSRP meml>ers, except for those members who prEMousty established membershjp under 
Chapter 238 and meet the sfabJt:Of)' requirements to reinstate those benefits. Experience for 
Chap er 238A members · pooled across aD employers regardless of their status under the 
Chap er 238 arrangements. Chapter 238 benefits and Olapter 238A enefits are parts of a 
single plan. 

Finally, some employers made lump sum deposits in ad<tition to their regu arty scheduled 
contributions. These deposits are placed in a "side acoounr within the legally resb'icted pension 
trust and are used to offset a portion of future contribution requirements of the depositing 
employers via side account transfers. For financial reporting purposes, lllf1'> sum deposits are 
no cxnsidered as contributions in relation to the actuarially de ermined contribution. However, 
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Public Employees Retirement Board 
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Page4 

side accounts are included as assets in the Fiduciary Net Position. The Schedu1e of Funding 
Progress and Solvency Test also include side accounts as part of the Plan's assets. 

Actuarial Basis 

In preparing the valuation reports, we relied, without au<fi on infonnation (some oral and some 
·n writing) supplied by the System's staff. This information includes, but is not limited to, System 
benefit provisions as defined by statute, member census data, and financial information. We 
found th·s infonnation o be reasonably consistent and comparable ·th infonnation used for 
other purposes. The valuaJ · on results depend on the integrity of this information. If any of this 
information is inaccurate or inoomplete our resutts may be mfferent and our calcu ations may 
need to be revised. 

Al costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the System have been determined on 
the basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking ·nto 
account the experience of the System and reasonable expectations); and ·ch, in combination, 
offer a reasonable estimate of anticipa ed experience affecting the System. The December 31, 
2020 and December 31 , 2021 valuation resutts were developed using models that employ 
standard actuarial techniques foc pension valuations. 

The valuation reports are only an estimate o the System's financial con ·on as of a single 
date. They can neither predict the System's fuh.a"e cond· ion nor guarantee future financial 
soundness. Actuarial valuations do not affect the ultimate cost of System benefits, only the 
timing of the System's actuarially caJcutated conbibutions. Wfljle the valuatio s are based on an 
array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may also be reasonable 
and valuation results based on those assumptions would be differen . No one set of 
assumptions is uniquely oorrect 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements 
presented in these reports due to such factors as the followi g: System experience differing 
from that anticipa ed by the economic°' dernog~hic assumptions; changes in econom·c or 
demograph·c assumptions; increases ordea-eases expected as part of the natural operation of 
the methodology used for these measurements (such as the end of an amortization period or 
additional cost •or contrmution requirements based on the System's funded status); and changes 
in System benefit pro · sions or appr cable law. Due to the Jimited scope of this assignmen we 
did not perform an analysis of the potenti range of fuh.a"e measurements. The PERB has the 
final decision regarding the appropriateness of the assumptions and adopted them as indi cated 
herein 8J its October 2021 public meeting. 

Some of the actuarial computations presented in the valuation reports are for pu:rposes of 
detennin·ng contribution rates fa- Sys em employers. Other actuarial oomputations presen ed in 
the reports under GASB Statements No. 67, 66 , 74, and 75 are for purposes of assisting the 
System and participating employers in fulfil ling the·r financial reporting requirements. lhe 
computations prepared tor these two purposes may <flffer as disclosed in ,our report. lhe 
c culations in the reports have been made on a basis consistent with our understanding of the 
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Actuarial Section 

System's funding policy and goals. the System benefit provisions as summarized in the reports, 
and GASB Statements No. ol, 68, 74 , and 75. Detemlinations or purposes other than meeting 
these requirements may be significantly different from the resuHs con ·ned in these reports. 
AocordingJy, additional determinations may be needed for other purposes. 

Diman's work has been prepared exdusively for the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 
System tor a specific and limited purpose. j l iman does not intend to benefit and assumes no 
duty or liability to other parties who receive this wock. It is a oomplex., techn·ca1 analysis that 
assumes a high level of knowledge concern· g the System's operations, and uses the System's 
data, wtfch ·1 iman has not audited. No third-party recipien of MiDiman's work product shou1d 
rely upon Milliman's work product SUch recipients shoo d engage qualified professiona'ls for 
advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 

The ,consultants who worked on this assignment are actuaries. Diman's advice is not i tended 
to be a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel. 

The signing actuaries are inclepende t of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any 
relationship that wou d ~ir the objectivity of our ork__ 

On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
this report is comple e and accurate and has been pre.pared ·n acoordance · generally 
recognized and aocepted actuarial principles and practices wh·ch are oonsistent with the 
principles prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board and the C-Ode of Professional Conduct 
and Quafdication Standards for Actuaries Issuing Sta ements of Actuarial Op ·nion in the United 
States published by the American Academy of Actuaries. We are members of the American 
Academy of Actuaries and meet the Qualification Standards to render the actuarial opi ·on 
conwned herein. 

Sincerely, 

~;;t(l ,#%:-:Z:) ~ 
Matthew R Larra~. FSA, EA, MAAA 
Principal and Consulting Actuary 

Soott D. Preppernau. , EA, MAAA 
Pri cipal and Consulting Actuary 
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Actuaria Methods and Assumptions 
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M man Actuarial Valuation Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
Tier One/T"aer Two (including Retiree Healthcare) 

Tier One/Tier Two (including Retiree Healthcare) 

Actuarial Methods and VaJuation Procedures 

In October 2021 the :Soaro adopted the · g actuarial methods and va ation procedures for- the 
December 31, 2020 d 202 1 actuarial uations of PERS Tier One/Tier-Two ~fits. 

Aduarial cost method 

• Milliman 

Entry Age Normal. Under the Entry Age orm (EAN) cost meeiod. each active 
member's entry age present ·value of projected benevn is alocated <Ner Ile 

member's service from the member's da1e of entry mrti their asstmed date of exit, 
laUlg inlD consideration expected futi..e compensation increases. Thus, the t>taJ 
pension to which each member is expected to become entitled at retirement is 
broken down into units. each associ wih a year of past or projected future 
credited service.. Typicaly, 'MlE!n this melhod is ·nlroduoed, there will be an ... 

br benefits a-edited for SE!fVice prior b th dale. and to the e.x1ent the 
is not COll'E!f-ed by assets of the plan, there is an unfunded acaued to 

be funded OYet" a ~lated period in aocordanoe · an amortizalion schedule. 

A delaied description of the cak:ulation follows: 

• M individual members entry .age present value of projected betiefits is the 
sum of the pn!SEfrt value of the benefit descri>ed ooder- the plan each pos.sille 
separation date. determined the members enby age using Ile projected 
compensation and service at each separation d 

• .M individual member's entry .age present value of projected s.lit.aries is the 

sum of the pn!SEfrtvab! of projected compensation Ollef'1he member's 
woncing, career- associated with each possillle fuue separation da1e, determined 
at the member's entry age_ 

• AA individual member's present vakJe of projected benefits is the sum of the 

present value of the benefit descri>ed under Ile plan at ead, possible separation 

date. de1B'mined at e vlWation date ~ the projeciE!d compensation and 
service at each separation date. 

• M individual member's nonnal cost fur a certain year is lhe merrbef's entry 
age present value of projected be. .efits Jivided by e meni>ef's entry age 

pn!5efltvalue of projected salaries and m ·pied by the member's projeded 
compensation fur the year · ng lhe vabltion da1e. 

• AA individual members actuari.il accrued liability is the meni>er's present 
value of projected benefits less the sum of the present value of the member's 

nonnal costs far each fubn! year. determined at the valuation date usa,g the 
pmjeded compensation and service at each iJIUre year. 

- The p1an·s ,,-mai cost is the sum ,ofthe individual membernormaJ costs, 
and the plan's ac1uarial accrued liability is e sLm of the individual 

mermers· actuarial aa:rued iabilities. 

Tllll . lftlNllm .,...,....,,..., ~ 
P1MIIQSa andffllff - lllher 
1Dbeneft mdiqcr IKl!-ll 

- - pmle br-"' -o,m &'.!lay Of_, 
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M man Actuarial Valuation 

Tier Onetr,er TM> UAL 

amotiizalion 

Re6ree Healthcare UAL 
amortizalion 

AssetvalratJion meJhod 

Actuarial Section 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
T ier One/T"aer Two (including Retiree Healthcare) 

The ier Onetner Two UAL amcr1izaticn period was reset lo 20 years as cf 
December 31 . 20 13. Gains and losses between subsequent ~year valuations 

were amor1ized as a level percentage of projec1ed corrl>ined valuation yrcll (Ttel' 

Onelrll!I' wo plus OPSRP payroll) over acbied 20-ye period from the valuation 
· whicti 1hey are first recognized. 

Senate Bill 1049 was signed into law ·n Jooe 201Q and required a on~ ·me re-­

amortization o Tier- Olle/Tter Two UAL over- a closed 22-year period a the 
December 31 . 201Q rate-setting actuaria valua ·o ·ch set actuarialty 
detemwned conlli>ution .-ates for the 2021-2023 bien ium. Future Tier One/Tier­
Two, UAL g · s or losses wil be amortized over 20 years. The closed period 
amortization under Sen e B 104Q wil con · ue to• decine, and as 20 year.; 

remainil"IQ as of the December 31 , 2021 te-se · g valuation. 

The UAL for the Reuee He-al1hcare programs (RHJA and RHIPA) as cf Oecembe.-

31 . 2007 were amortized as a level percentage of projected corrl>ined valuation 

payrcl {Tll!I' One/Tter Tw:> P'Js OPSRP payrol) over a dosed 10-ye period. 
When RH or- RH PA are less than 100% fwlded gains and losses between 
Slm5equent odd-yea.- vabrtions are amor1ized as a level percentage of combined 
valuation payrol 0t1e.- a closed 10-yea.- period from the on n which l,ey are 
rst recognized. 

If RH or RHI' A are in actuarial surplus (over 100% funded), the Stspkls is 
alTIOrtized C1VE!f' a rolling 20-year period over Tier One/re-Two . The 
resu negative UAL rate ~t the nonnaJ cost of the program, but not below 

ODO%. 

The actuarial value of assets equals the ~ value cf assets, excluding lhe 
Contingency and Capt.al Preservation Reserves.. and lhe Rate Guaranlee Reserve 

en i is in posiiYe surplus status. 
Marlcet values are repor1ed Millman PERS. is a.- understanding that select 
re estate and privale eq investments are repa1ed on a th~month tag basis. 
This valJation report does not atterrp quantify any effects cf the reporting lag. 

Tllll . lftlNllm . ..,...,....,,..., ~ 
P1MIIQSa andffllff - lllher 
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Actuarial Section 

man Actuarial Valuation Actuarial lle1hods and As~ons 
Tier- Onelreeir Two (including Retiree Heiillthcare) 

Contnbution rate 1he UAL Rate ·~ for a rate pool (e.g~ Tter Oneffter Two SLGRP. l!!!f 

sfabilization melhod One/Tl!!!f Two School Districts. OPSRP) is oonfined 1D a colared range based on 

the prior biennium's oollared UAL Rate carponent (prior- lo consideration of side 

Offset for Member 

Redirect Cordmuoons 

Alocation of Liablity for 
SernceSegnerb 

Alocallion of Bene.~ 
In-Force (BIF) Reserve 

• Milliman 

aocount offsels, SLGRP transition or surplus rates. pre-SLGRP iability rate 
charges or offsets. or member redirect dfsets). 

.--. ....... 111W.: The rate pool's new UAL Rate con~>onent generally not increase 
or decrease fran the prior biennium's collared UAL Rate oomponent by more 
the folcMing, amaci1t: 

• Tl!!!r Onefrl!!!f Two SLGRP and Tier- Oie/Tter wo School Dislrias Pool: 
3%ofpayrcl 

• OPSRP: 1 % of payrcl 

• Tier- Oneir ier- T wo rates fur independent ~ greater- of 4% af 
payroll or one-third of the diffes enoe bet-M!en the collared and ln:Xlllared 

UAL Rale at lie prior rate-setting valuation. In addition, the UAL Rate 
not be allowed 1D be less than 0_00% of payroll for eny Tter Qie/Tier Two 
independent ~with a funded status (excluding side acoounts) less 

than 100%. 

UAL Rate decrease restrictions: The UAL Rate ~nenl for eny rate pool will not 
deaease fran the prior biennium's colan!d UAL Rate con-ponent · the pool's 

fl.med sialus (excluding side acoounts) is 87% or lower. the alawallle deaease 
phase i the Ml colar width for rate pools between 87% and 90% funded. 

Under: Senate Bill 1049, a portion o the ~ af pay member aintri>ution otherwise 

made 1he IAP is redirected lo food lier Onerrter Two and OPSRP defined 

benefits beginning .kJly 1, 2020. For Tier-One/Tier Two members. the redireciE!d 

amount is 2.50% of pay, and for OPSRP . is 0.75% of pay. Members with less lian 
$2.500 in mont,ty pay (indexed in future yeais) are exempt fran 1he redirectia ,. 

ouse 2006 subsequenfly increased ihis amount 1D $3,333 per- month effectiYe 

in 2022. 
For employer oontJi>ubon rates shown in tis valuation, me~ redirect 
conlJixJtions are assumed lo offset contribution rates. Re11ecting the effect of 
the mont,ty pay ~ ex:E!f11JOOO noted above. the offset is assumed 1D be 

2 .40% of 1Dtal fcr TterOne/Tier wo and 0.65%oftcml payroll for-OPSRP. 

For active Tter Oneff ter Two, members who have waked fer mulq>le PERS 
e~ Oll'er their career-, the calculated actuarial accrued is allocated 

among 1he employers based on a weighted average af the Money alcti 

methodology, ich uses account balance, and the F~ Fonn1la methodology, 
which uses service. The aDocation is 10% (0% for police & fire) based on accou 
balance with eact, empoyer and 90% (100% ftlr- police & fire) based on service 

· each employer. 

1he ·re normal cost is allocaled lo 1he wrrent eq,loyer. 

1he B F reserve is ed 1D each rate pool in proportion ID 1he retiree liability 

attributable ID 1he rate pool. 
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M. lim n Actuarial Valuation 

Census Data 

lntemal RevenJe Code 
415 Benefit Linils 

• Milliman 

PERS 

Actuarial Section 

Actuarial llethod5 iill1d Assumptions 
Tier- Onefner Two (including ·Retiree He lthcare) 

e data on plan member.. and beneiciaries upon which this 

v ation i:s based. M&nan did not audit lhe data, but did review for 

reasonableness and consistency with data provided fer previous years. in 
aoc:adanoe - Actuarial Slandard of Practice No. 23. 

PERS smff assisted., reso ·ng questions and Sl<l0f1Sisaenci discovered in 1he 

d c-ew!W. and prollided updated rea>rds oc directiol , for~ dais as 

needed. 

The final census data is expected to be sufficien11y acc..-ate and con1)1ete for 

pl.A'J)05E!S of lhe ac:tuarial v tion, and we are not are of any significant 
conoems or i.nesotved issues tmt would Rlltenally affect resulls. 

Annual benefit limils Wide,- lnh!mal Revenue Code 415 ar-e not e.)(J>icitty refleded i 
lhe valuation. 

In accordance - ORS 238.488. we lilder-stand members whose benefits 
are rl!Stricted by IRC 415 benefit limits are paid 1he diffefence between the 
urves1ricted benefit and the IRC 415-restricted beneit from the Public &rl)loyee 
Benefit Equaimlion FISld. 
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Actuarial Section 

Ill man Actuari.il Valuation 

Economic Assumptions 

Actuari.il lleihods and Ass~ptions 
Tier- One/ree-r Two (inclucfrng Retiree He~re) 

The Board adopted the fo economic assumptions fer the Decernbe.- 31 , 2020 and 2021 actuari 
valllations. Al ass'Ump ·ons were reviewed and adopted in ca,· nction · the 2020 Experience Study. 
ptm ed · ly 2021 . The as5Ump ·oo selection process a.nd ration.ale is desaibed in detail in Iha report. 

Investment return 

P~2014 lnteresl 
crediling 

Post-2013 lnteresJ 
crediling 

Inflation 

Ad7Jiiist.ra6\/e 
expenses 

Payroll growth 

Heallhcare cost trend 

• Milliman 

8.00% compounded nually on members' reg 

8.25% compounded nu ally on members" variable acx:ount balances 

6.1:10% compourtded nu ally on members' reg ar accou balances 

6.80% compounded nually on members' variable account balances 

nually 

$5Q.O million pa- ye · s added to the lotal system nonn cost and 
allocated between Tier One/Tier wo and OPSRP based on valuation 
payrol. 

3.40% corrpou,ded an..-, ...... rv. This as.surr.,tx>n represents the sum of the 
tion assumption and a real wage g,cwth assumption of 100 basis points. 

Healthcare cost trend rates are used to, estimate increases · the RH PA 
Ma · um Subsidy. The ealthcare cost trends are based or, the Society of 

AcbJaries (SOA) periodically updated report on long-4eml medical trends. 
These rates were developed reflecting the repeal of the Affordable Care Iv;; 

excise tax by the F~ Consolidate<l Appropria: ·ons Act passed · 
December 2019. 

G' en the s · uncertainty regarding lhe impact ofCOVID-19 on pl 
costs, · c'-t g whether the p demic wil · crease « deaease costs 
d ·ng the tenn of ow projections. we have chosen ot lo make an 

sunent in the expected pf.an costs or in the trend assumptions. I is 
possible that the COVI D-1 g pandemic could ave a m erial impact on the 
projected costs. 

Year• I Rate I Ye¥ I Rate 

2021 5 .8% 2052-2060 4 .7% 

2022 5 .5 2061-2064 4 .6 

2023 5 .1 2065-2066 4 .5 

2024 5 .0 2067 4.4 

2025-2026 4 .9 2068 4 .3 

2027 4 .~ 2069-2070 4.2 

2028-2036 4 .7 207 1 4 .1 

2037-2045 4 .8 2072-2073 4 .0 

2045-2048 4 .Q 2074+ 3.9 

2050-2051 4 .8 

"Fer llii'Uatblt ~ . e heaJt/J w.st trend ratN are ,a.ssinnecf ID be applied at l11e begtrJnlrlg 
~ e plan year. 
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Actuarial Section 

m n Actuariill Valuation Actuariill Methods and Assunptions 
Tier- Onefraer Two (indudi:ng ,Retiree Healthcare) 

Demographic Assumptions 

The Boaro adopted the fo demogra ic assumptions for the December 31. 2020 and 2021 actuari 
vakJations. Al l assumptions were reviewed and adopted in COil. nction ~ the 2020 Experience Study. 
pd> ed · ly 2021 . The study relied on data from Bil observation period of J anua,y 1, 2017 to 
December 31, 2020. with the exception of the merit scale assumption, ich ied on data from 2012 through 

2020 ( certain exclusions due one-off eve ts tha Br"e no expected be · · e o future aperience. 
as det ed ·n the 2020 Experience Study). Assumptions selected from the study represent an estimate of 
future experience based on releva recent experience and raasonable expectations about the future. 

Mortality 

Healthy Retired Members and Beneficiaries 

The following healthy ann · t mortality tables were first adopted in the December- 3 1 valuatio of the yea,s 

shown. 

Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, Sex Distinct. Valuation 
Generational Projection with Unisex Year 

Basic Table Social Security Oat.a Scale Adopted 

School District male 

0 r General Service maJe• 
Police & Fire m e 
School District female 
Other Gen Service female,,. 
Police & Fire female 

Blend 80% eachers and 20% Gf><N>r1ai! 

Employees, no set bad; 

GeneraJ Employees, set back 12 months 
Public Safety, no set bad 
Teachers. no set 
Gen Empfoyee.s. o set back 
Public Safety, set bad; 12 months 

• ti~ llliA! benelTl:farllls ot~ d a aasses 
- Jtir:l\:.dig ~ benelf"1~ cs~ cs ~ 

Disabled Retired Members 

2020 

2018 
2018 
20 18 
20 18 
2018 

The fol · g disabled retiree mortality rates were adoptedforthe December 31 , 2018 actuari valuatio . 

I Pub-2010 Disabled Retiree. Sex Distinct. Gene-rational 
Basic Table Projection with Unisex Social Security Dab S-cale 

Police & Fire m e 

Other General Service m 

Police & Fire female 

Blefided 50% Public Safety, 50% on-Safety, no setback 

Non-Safety. set forward 24 months 

Blefided 50% P ic Safety. 50% on-Safety, no set back 

on-Safety. set forward 12 months Other General Service female 

• Milliman 
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Actuarial Section 

Ill an Actuari.11 Valuation A.ctuari.11 Methods illlnd Ass~ons 
Tier Onefne-r Two (including Retiree Healthcare) 

Non-Annuitant Members 

The following non-ann · t morta1ity tables were first adopted ·n lhe December- 3 1 val.lation of the years 

shown. 

I I 
Valuation 

Pub-2010 Employee, Sex Distinct, Generati,onal YeM 
Basic Table Projection with Unisex Social Security Dm Scale Adopted 

School District male 

Other Gen Service m 

Police & Fire male 

School District female 

0 r Gen SEfVicefemale 

Police & Fire female 

Retirement Assumptions 

125% o Eq,loyee table · same job category 

and set back as He thy Retiree assumption 

11 5% of Employee table · same jpb category 

and set back as He thy Retiree assumption 

100% of Employee table · same jpb categofy 

and set back as He ry Retiree assumption 

100% o Employee table ·. same jpb category 

and set back as Heaflhy Retiree assumption 

125% of Employee table · same jpb categorry 

and se back as He Re · assumption 

100% o Employee table . · same jpb category 
and set back as Heal1hy Retiree assumption 

The retirement assumptions used in lhe aduari valuation · l.lde the following: 

Retirement from active status/dorman status 
Probabi a member elect a lump st.m option at retiremen 
Percentage of members who elect to purchase cre<ited service at re ·remen 

Rate.s of Retirement from Active Status 

2020 

2018 

2018 

2018 

2018 

2018 

The fol · g retirement rate asS\Jmp ·ens were first adopted · the December 31 , 2020 uation. 

Police & Fire General Se-rvice School Districts 

A9@ < 13 yrs 13-24 yrs 25+ yrs < 15 yrs 15-29 y~ 30+ yrs < 15 yrs 15-29 yrs 30+ yrs Judges 

lessthai 50 15.0% 25.0% 

50 1.5% 3.0% 32.0% 15.0% 25.0% 

51 1.5% 3.0% 27.0% 15.0% 25.0% 

52 1.5% 3.0% 27.0% 15.0% 25.0% 

53 1.5% 3.0% 27.0% 15.0% 25.0% 

54 1.5% 3.5% 27.0% 15.0% 25.0% 

55 3.0% 15.5% 27.0% 1.5% 2.5 15.0% 1.5% 3.5% 25.0% 

56 3.0% 10.0% 27.0% 1.5% 2.5% 15.0% 1.5% 3.5% 25.0% 

57 3.0% 10.0% 27.0% 1.5% 2.5% 15.0% LS% 3.5% 25.0% 

58 6.0% 10.0% 27.0% 1.5% ll.0% 21.0% 1.5% 11.0% 27.5% 

59 6.0% 10.0% 27.0% 3.5% ll.0% 2 1.0% 4.5% 11.0% 27.5% ···-···-···-· ................. ·--·--·--· --- -·--·--·-- --·--·--·- ·--·--·--· ·--·--·--· 
11111 tr~ ~ 

• Milliman 
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Actuarial Section 

M an Actuari~ Valuation Actuari~ lle1hods ~ Ass~ptions 
raer One/ne-r Two (indumog ,Retiree Healthcare) 

60 6.0% 12.0% 27.0% 6.0% 11.0% 21.0% 6.5% 125% 27.5% 120% 

61 6.0% 14.0% 27.0% 6.0% 11.0% 21.0% 6 .5% 125% 27.5% 120% 

62 15.0% 25.0% 38.0% 13.0% 1.Q.5% 28.5% 15.0% 21.0% 34.0% 12.0% 

63 15.0% 15.0% 31.0% 11.5% 16.5% 23.0% 13.0% 11l5% 27.5% 120% 

64 15.0% 15.0% 31 .0% 12.5% 16.5% 23.0% 13.0% 19.5 27.5% 120% 

65 40.0% 40.0% 50.0% 19.5% 28.0% 37.5% 25.5% 33.5% 45.0% 12.0% 

66 40.0% 40.0% 50.0% 27.5% 36.0% 40.5% 23.0% 36.5% 45.0% 12.0% 

67 40.0% 40.0% 50.0% 22.5% 26.5% 34.0% 21 .0% 34.5% 38.0% 20.0% 

68 40.0% 40.0% 50.0% 19.5% 26.5% 28.5% 21 .0% 2B.0% 28.5% 20.0% 

69 40.0% 40.0% 50.0% 19.5% 26.5% 28.5% 21 .0% 2B.0% 28.5% 20.0% 

70 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 25.0% 28.5% 28.5% 21.0% 2B.0% 28.5% 30.0% 

71 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 25.0% 28.5% 2B.5% 21 .0% 2a0% 28.5% 30.0% 

72 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 25.0% 28.5% 2B.5% 21 .0% 2a0% 28.5% 30.0% 

73 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 25.0% 28.5% 2B.5% 21 .0% 2S.0% 28.5% 30.0% 

74 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 25.0% 28.5% 28.5% 21 .0% 2a0% 28.5% 30.0% --- --- ------ -·-·-·-·-·-·- ·--·--·--· --- -·--·--·-- --·--·--·- ·--·--·--· ·--·--·--· 
75+ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Retirement from Dormant St.atus 

Dorman members are assumed to re ·re at Norm Reti:remen-t Age (age 58 for Tier One. age 60 for Tier 
Two, age 60 for Judges. and age 55 for Police & F.-e) or at the first unreduced retireme age (30 years of 
seivice. « age 50 with 25 years of service for Police & Fire). 

Lumip Sum Option at Retirement 

embers reti · may ect to re-ceive a ftJI « p IL.m p sum a retirement. The probability that a re · ·ng 

member elect a lump sum at retiremen is summarized · the table below. Due to a conti ued d 
the number of members selection a total ump sum, this assumption was reduced zero as part of the te.s 
shown below. which were adopted effective Decemt>N31, 2020. 

lump Sum Option at Retirement 

Par1ia l..J mp Sum: 2.0% for 

Total Luq> Sum: 0.0% for 

No Lt.np Sum: QB.0% for 

Purch.lse of Credited Service at Retirement 

The fol · g percentages of members are assumed ID pun:hase service al!d at time o retirement for the 
six-month w · · g period that occurs prior-to estab member.; ·p in the system. These rates were~ 
adopted effective December 31 . 2020. 

-----------------

Purchase of Credited Service at Retirement 
-----------------

Retirements: 

• Milliman 
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Actuarial Section 

Actuarial lle1hods and Ass~ptions 
Tier- One/T"1e-r Two (induci:n,g ,Retiree Heillthcare) 

The cost of the service pun:hase is estimated based ,on assumed salary and con ution tes at entry age. 

State Judiciary Member Pl.In Election 

Slate diciary members are asswned to elect to re -re nder the provisions of Pia B. 

Disability Assumptions 

There are two cisabi assumptions used in the v ation - duty disab ity and <>Rfinary (nmHluty) di 
Duty disabiltty rates a:ra separated between Poice & Fire and General Service, while ordinary cisabiltty is the 
same for all members. The rates fer onf dis.a -lily and fer duty disa ity for General Service were first 
adopted effective December 31 , 2020_ The rates for duty sabi foc Police & Fi were first adopted 

effective December 31 . 2012. 

Duty Oisabil Police & F­

Duty Oisabil" Genera Service 

Ordinary Disability 

Percent.age of the 1985 
Disabi lrty Class 1 Rates 

20% 

0-7% 

25% wi o_ 16% cap 

Onf dis.a -lily rates are no applied u -1 the minimum SE!fvice requirement for non-d\lty dis.a -1 benefits 

is met Disabiity tes continue be applied after retiremen ei . but not a r onn Retirement Age_ 

Termination Assumptions 

The General SefVice Fem e lemlination assumption was first adopted effective December 3 1. 2020. The 
General SefVice Male termination assump -on was first adopted e ective December 31 , 2018_ The School 
District termination assumptions were first adopted effective December 31 , 2016_ The Police & Fi 
termination assumption was first adopted effective December 31 . 2014 _ 

Sample em,- ation tes are shown for each group below: 

Duration fTom School District School District Genera Sefvioe General Savice 
Hire Date Male Female Male Female Police & Fire 

0 16_63" 13_5()% 15JJO,r, 15.00% 10.00% 

1 14.25% 12-50% 12_50,r, 14 .00% 5.Q7% 

5 6.86% 7_13,r, 7_ 1g,r, 7.23% 3.31% 

10 3_3 1,r, 3_05,r, 4_13,r, 4 .77 2.23% 

15 2.30% 2-68% 2.93,r, 3.43% 1.50% 

20 1-62% UJ5% 2.oa,r, 2.47% 1.01 

25 1.20% 1_50% 1-47,r, 1.78 0.80% 

30+ 1.20% 1_50% 1-40,r, 1.40% 0.80% 

T erminalion rates are not applied after a member- reaches re -remen . For a complete table of rates, 
please refer the 2020 Experience Study report for 1he System, published in J ly 2021 _ 

TNs wcrl pvduct - prepared sOle:b' tr ~ ElT1)loyees 
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Actuarial Section 

Actuarial lle1hods and Ass~ptions 
Tier- One/T"1e-r Two (induci:n,g ,Retiree Heillthcare) 

Oregon Residency Post-Refireme.nt 

For purposes of determining eligibil for SB 656/HB 334g benefit adju:s1ments, 85% of retirees are assumed 
to rem · Oregon residents after retirement This assumption was first adop ed effective Decemb« 31. 2012. 

Police & Fire Unit Purchase 

Police & Fire members remng from active service prior- to age 65 are assumed to purchase adc:fitional benefit 
units at an estimated employE!f' matching cost of $4.000. 

Salary Increase Assumptions 

The salary increase asstniptions reftected ·n the actuari vabation incklde: 

eri scale increases · addition to the payrol growth increase 

Unused Sick leave uslments 
Vacation Pay aqustments 

Merit Scale Increases 

erit scale increases are ased on duration of service for the ng gro ps · sample rates shown in the 
fol g le. These rates were first adopted effective December 31 , 2020. 

I I Other General I 
Duration S~ District Service Police & Fn 

0 4 . 15% 4 .0~ 5.13% 

3.92% 3 .73% 4.59% 

5 298% 2.60% 2 .87% 

10 1.7Q% 1.52% 1.58% 

15 0.72% 0 .79% 0.Q8% 

20 -0. 11% 0.3~ 0 .79% 

25 -0.55% 0.19% 0.72% 

30+- -0.5Q% 0 .18% 0.50% 

The asstsne<I me~ scale increase for active State Judiciary members is 0.0%. 

Fora comp table o te.s, please re.fer to the 2020 Experience study for the System, pu ished in Jlly 2021. 

Unused 5.ick Le,.we 

embers covered by the provision allowi g, unused sick eave o be used to increase average sa ry at 

time of retirement are assumed to receive increases · their fin a erage salary · accordance with the table 
below. This adjustment is not applied lo disability benefits. Effective dates for the cinen assumption are 
shown · the table. 

• Milliman 
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Actuarial Section 

man Actuarial Valuation Actuarial Methods ~ Ass~ptions 
Tie,- OnefrN!<r Two (including ;Retiree He~re) 

Valuation I 

Unused Sick leave year adopted 

• State Genera Service Female 5.00% 2020 

• School District Male g_5()% 2020 

• School District Female 6.50% 2020 

• LocaJ General Service Male 7.25% 2020 

• Local General Service Fen 4.50% 2020 

• s e Police & Fre 4.25% 2020 

• Local Police & Fire 7.50% 2020 

Dormant Members 5.00% 2020 
Vacation Pill)' 

embers -er "ble to include a lump sum payment of ooused vacation pay · their fin average salary 
calculation a time of retirement are assumed to receive increases in their fin average salary ·n accordance 

with the table below. · s adjus1me is not ied to cisabi benefi:ls. These es were adopted 
December 31, 2020, except the school district assump ·on ich was adop ed e ective Oecerrber 31 . 2012 
and the sta police & asS1Umptio "ch was adopted effective Deoembef"31, 2D18. 

rterOne 

• te General SefVioe 

• School District 

• local Gen Service 

• S te Police & Fi 

• Loca Poice & Fire 

r1erTwo 

Retiree H-athcare Partici~tion 

Vacation Pay 

2.50% 

0.25 

3.50% 

2.75% 

4.75% 

0.00% 

The following percentages of eligible reti . g members are asstJmed to elect RHCPA and RHIA coverag.e: 

Retiree Healthcare Participation 

RHPA 
• 8 - Q years o service 

• 1D-ff4yearsoSE!fVice 

• 15 - ff g year-; 0 5efVice 

• 2D - 24 years o 5efVice 

• 25 - 29 years of 5efVice 

• 3C>+ years of service 

RHIA 
• He y Retin!<I 

• Disabled Retired 

10.0% 

10.0% 
11.0% 

14.0% 
22.0% 
27.0% 

The participations rates were adopted December 3 1, 202D. 

lllls wen. pod soleb' tr ~ ~ 

• Milliman 
pwpm;e--.s nws ftlrallie' 
1Dbeneflandas cllbar es ..,.,._!IM• 

bll pmtles be - by lhu «-2 IICIIIWy °' 0lher 
wat.pnxut. 

127 



  

n Actuarial Valuation 

Spouse Assumptions 

Actuarial Section 

Actuarial lle1hods and Assumptions 
Tier- One/T".e:r Two (ind:udin,g ,Refu'ee Heillthcare) 

Non-ann · nt death benefits are v ed assuming members are married. Future p ·cipants in RHIA and 
RHIPA are ass1Jmed to a e eligible spouses. F« these purposes, the spouse is assumed to be three years 
yow,ger than a male member or- ree years older than a female member. 

Actuarial Equivalence Assumptions 

Earfy retirement factors and optional form conversion fac:tor-; are assumed to rem1( level in a future years.. 

For members wi pop-up annunies., the future amou payable if the spouse predeceases the member is 
estimated based on an assumed 0.90 op ·onal form oonversion factor-for 00% con · nt ann · ·es and an 
asst.med 0.94 op ·onai fonn conversion factor-for 5°'6 conti en nu s. 
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Actuarial Section 

Mil m n Actuariilll Valuation Actuariilll lle1hods .and Assumptions 
OPSRP 

OPSRP 

Most of the methods and assumptions adopted fClf' the OPSRP valuation a.re the same as those used for- ief-
Onelr1er Two_ The methods and assumptions tha d" for OPSRP summarized below. The ~rd 
adopted ihe following me eds. procecrure.s and a.ss\JfflP · ons for ihe December 31 . 2020 and December 31, 
202 1 actuarial v uations.. 

Actuarial I ethods and VaJuatio Procedures 

OPSRP UAL amortization 

Economic Ass mptions 

Admnsbatiw! expense:t 

The UAL as of December 31. 2007 is amortiz:!!d as a level percentage of 
projected con-bined valuation yrcll (Te- One/'ner Two pus OPSRP 
pa ) CN8' a closed period 16 ye period. Gains and losses between 
subsequent odd-year~ are amortized as a level percentage of 

coni>ined valuation payrcl aver 16 years from ihe valuation in · they 

are fir5l recognizied. 

$54t0 million per ye is added o ihe total system norm cost and 
allocated between Tier One/Tier wo and OPSRP based on valuation 
payrol. 

Demographic Assumptions 

Rilte-s of Retwement from Active Status 

Poli ce & Fire Genera I Service School Districts 

Age 

50 0.5% 1.5% 5.ML 

51 0.5% 1.5% 5.ML 

52 0.5% 1.5% 5_5,r, 

53 0.5% 1.5% 27_o,r, 

54 0.5% 1.5% 27_o,r, ---- ---- --------~----1--------- ------- -------- ------ ----
55 2.0% 5.0% 27_o,r, 1.0% 2.5,r, 5.0% 0.5% 2.ML 5.0% 

56 2.0% 5.0% 27_o,r, 1.0% 2.5,r, 5.0% 0.5% 2.ML 5.0% 

57 2_0% 5.0% 27.1),r, 1.0% 2_5,r, 7.5% 1.0% 2.5% 7.5% 

58 5.0% 5.0% 27.1),r, 1.5% 3.o,r, 30.0% 1.5% 3.0'M, 30.0% 

59 5.0% 5.0% 27.1),r, 2.0% 3_0,r, 25.0% 1.5% 3.0'M, 25.0% . 
60 5.0% 15.0% 27.1),r, 2.5% 3 _75,r, 20.0% 2.5% 3.75,r, 20.0% 

61 5.0% S.5% 27_o,r, 2.5% 5_o,r, 20.0% 2.5% 5_o,r, 20.0% 

62 10_0% 25.0% 38_1),r, 6.5% 12..0,r, 30.0% 6.0% 12.o,r, 30.0% 

63 7.0% 15.0% 31.1),r, 6..5% 1 o..o,r, 20.0% 6.0% 10.o,r, 20.0% 

64 7.0% 15.0% 31.1),r, 6_5% 10_0,r, 20.0% 6.0% 10.o,r, 20.0% ---- ---- --------~----1--------- ------- -------- ------ ----
65 7.0% 35.0% 40_o,r, 15.5% 35_0,r, 20.0% 12.5% 35_0,r, 20.0% 

66 7.0% 35.0% 40_o,r, 1&5% 33_0,r, 20.0% 12.5% 33_0,r, 20.0% 

67 7.0% 35.0% 40_o,r, 17.0% 22..0,r, 30.0% 11.0% 22.0,r, 30.0% 

6S 7.0% 35.0% 40_o,r, 14.0% 20..0,r, 25.0% 9.0% 20.o,r, 25.0% 

1'1111 ~ saleb' tr 01-, ElT1)lc,jees 
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m n Actuarfal Valuation 

Police & Fire 

Age 

69 7.0% 35.0% 40J)'6 ---- --------~---
70 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

71 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

72 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

73 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

74 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

75+ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Retirement from Dormant Status 

General Service 

14.0% 20.0% 

Actuarial Section 

Actuarial lle1hods and Ass~ptions 
OPSRP 

School Districts 

25.0% 9.0% 20J)% 25.0% ~--- ~------- ------- ------- ------ ----
14.0% 20.0% 25.0% 9.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

14.0% 20.0% 25.0% 9.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

14.0% 20.0% 25.0% 9.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

14.0% 20.0% 25.0% 9.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

14.0% 20.0% 25.0% 9.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

DonnBll members are assumed to retire at tha- Normal Retirement Aqe. 

Disability Assumptions 

Assumed sabi rates are not applied to OPSRP members after they reach Normal Retirement Aqe. 

Cost of living · ncreases for- the adfusted ry used to calcu e retirement benefits for cisabled OPSRP 
members are estimated based on the v uation infta ·on asSJUmp ·on. 
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Actuarial Section 

n Actuarial Valuation Actuarial lleihods ~ Asst.r0ptions 

Changes in Actuari I Methods nd Assumptions.-Tier One ierT o nd OPSRP 

A summary of key changes implemented since the Deoember-31, 2020 valuation are desaibed brie y below. 

Changes . AcbYrial Methods ~d Allocation Procedures 

There were no, changes to ac rial methods and procedures since the December 31 . 2020 aduari 

vaklation. 

Changes · Economic .Assumptions 

There were no changes o economic assump ·ens since the Deoeflll>N 3 1. 2020 actuarial v uation. 

Changes in Demographic Assumptions 

There were no, changes o demographic assumptions since the Decemb« 31. 2020 actuarial uation. 

lllaWtrtpvdud:-~saldJtr 
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Actuarial Section 

an Actuari.11 Val~tion 

Accou rng / ACFR Exh.bits 
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Actuarial Section 

Actuarial Valuation Accounting/ACFR Exhibit'S 

Accountin ACFR Exhibits 

The fellowing,· ation as.of December 3ff . 2021 has been prepared and provided to Oregon PERS foc 
·nc1usio in the Actuarial Section of the 2022 An.nu.a Comprehensive Fina · Report (ACFR): 

Sched of Active MemberValu.a ·on Data 

Sched e of Retirees and Beneficiaries Added lo 

Schedutes of Fundi,-g Progress by Rate Pool 

Solvency Test 
Analysis of Fin.anci Experience 
Schedutes of Fundi,-g Progress 

Removed from Rolls 

These eJCt1 ·ts do not reflect GASB Statements o. 74 and 75. were isS\Jed by GASB in ne 2015 to 
replace Statements No. 43 and 45. and govern financial repor1ing ftr postemployment benefits other than 
pensions. GASB 74 governs plan reporting e: ective for fisc.al ye.ars beginn· after June 15, 2016, while 
GASB 75 governs employer repo · g fer fiscal years begin ing a: ne 15. 2017. i man provided results 
fer Oregon PERS unde,- GASB 74 d 75 determined as of a June 30, 2021 measurement da · le ers 

dated November 23, 2021 d arch 1, 2022, respectively. The restits fer a measi.sement d e 30. 
2022 wil be provided separately. 

These eJCt, ·ts do not reflect GASB Statements o. 67 and 68. i ssued by GASB · June 2012 lo replace 
S t.ements No. 25 and 27. GASS 67 governs plas, fin.ana reporting effective fer fiscaJ years · ning a: 
June 15. 2013. GASB 68 govem.s employer-financial reporting fer fiscal years beginning a: June 15. 
2014. I provided results focOregon PERS under GASB 67 and 68 determined as of a ne 30. 2021 
me.asirement date in letters dated ovember 1Q. 2021 and March 1. 2022. respectively. The res for a 

measw-ement date of June 30, 2022 be provided sep efy. 

Some employers have made supplemental deposis in addition lo th · regula.rty scheduled con 
These deposits are placed in a side account · · the pensio trust and used to olf:set future conbi>trtion 
re,q ·rements of that employer. The Schedules of Fu g Progress and Solvency Test inc:bJde side a,cco..,ts 
as part ,ofthe P n·s assets • ce those amounts are · a restricted trust a e exclusively fer the benefit of 
p n member.;. 

i man is not an accolA"I ·ng or aucli firm and cannot provide acoou · g actvice. i man is not res,ponsi>le 

fer the · nterpetation of. or compliance with. account.lg standards; citations . and desaiptions of aocounting 
standards provided · thi:s report are for refeJenee purposes only. The ·nferma ·on provided in is section is 
i ended to assist Oregon PERS · •COil11)1e ·,-g its financial tements, but any accoun · g detemination 

should be reviewed by your atJcitor. 

The exhibits are provided on the following pages.. 
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Actuarial Section 

man Actuarial Valuation AccountinglACFR Exhibits 

Actuarial Schedules 

Schedule of Active lllembe.- Valuation D.1Q 

I 1~1~ 1 I Number of 
Valuation Payroll Average %Increase in Participating 

Date Count (Thousands) Annual Pav AveraAe Pav Employers 
1 

12/31/1993 137,513 $4,466,797 $32.483 

12/31/1995 1,41 ,471 $4, ,058 $34,26Q 5 .5"4 

12/31/1997 143. 1Q4 S5, 16 1,562 $36,045 5 .2% 
12/31/199Q 151 ,262 $5,676,606 $37,528 4.1% 

12/31/2000 156,86Q $6,195,862 $39,4Q7 5 .2% 
12/31/2001 160,4n $6,520,225 $40.630 2 .9% otdB 

. 
s 

12/31/2001 160.4TT $6,253,965 $38..971 New Basis2 

12/31r.Dl2 15Q,287 $6,383,475 $40,075 2.8% 

12/31/2003 153.723 $6,248,550 $40,648 1.4% 
12/31/2004 142,635 $6,306,447 $44.214 8.8% 806 

12/31/2005 3 156,501 $6,791,891 $43,3Q8 (1 .8%) 810 
12/31/2006 163.261 $7,326,798 $44,878 3.4% 758 

12/31/2007 167,023 $7,721,8 19 $46.232 3 .0% 760 
12/31/2008 170,569 SB,130, 136 $47,665 3 .1% 766 
12/31/200Q 178,606 SB,5 12, 192 $47,65Q (0.0%) n6 
12/31/2010 193,569 SB,750,064 $45,204 (5 .2%) 787 

12/31/2011 170.972 SB,550,511 $50,011 10.6% 7Q1 

12/31/2012 167. 103 SB,590,879 $51 ,411 28% 7Q8 

12/31/2013 162. 185 SB,671,835 $53.46Q 4.0% 7gg 

12/31/2014 164,859 $Q, 115,767 $55,294 3.4% 802 
12/31/2015 168. 1n SQ,544, 132 $56.751 26% 804 

12/31/2018 172,483 SQ,872,557 $57.238 O.Q% 805 

12/31/2017 173.002 $10,098,889 $58,374 2 .0% 802 
12/31/2018 176.763 $10,851,980 $61 ,3Q3 5.2% 7Q8 

12/31/2019 180,757 SH ,533,740 $63.808 3.Q% 802 

12/31/2020 180.685 $12,042,674 $66,650 4 .5% 7Q7 

12/31/2021 1TT.739 $12 ,684, 124 $71 ,364 7.1% 7Q8 
~le 20C.lO, partk;Jpiltl~ eapo~ are c1etlrB1 lt:Y JJIIPOSoe' as ir1f et1f)layer lllfflt catJefE!d pilYrdl mnng tt,e 

plfar )Sr. In plkryea1'5, ~ Wtll llab ~ bt1 'llttltMJt r:o.weclpa)f'Oil 'll!re lnGltA1l!O as 
t l.eln2J001, A/WK.QI R1)r0IT exefUl:l!-1 memoe1 plat-lf', ,, 
J i.ewt11 12131/2005 ~iaJoo, OPSRPmemt>er.s ana pa)f0II are lltCtuOed. 
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Actuarial Section 

Millim n Actuari.ll Valuation Accountin-glACFR Exhibits 

Actuarial Schedules 

Schedule of Retirees and Be<neficiillries Added to ilOd ,Removed from Rois 

Annu ances are shown in thousands. 

Added to Rolls Removed from Rolls Rolls - End of Year %Increase Average 

Valuation . inAnnual Annual 
Date I Count IA110111ances 11 Count IA11~-~~~~s I Count IA11~-;;~~-es IA110111ancesz Allowances 

12131/1993 
12131/19115 
12131/1997 

12131/19119 
1213112(XX) 

12131/2001 

12131/2002 
12131/2003 

12131/2004 3 6,754 
12131/2005 3 4,472 

12131/2006 3 5,060 

12131/2007 3 5,385 

12131/'2!m 3 5,963 
12131/21m 3 6,377 

12131/'2010 3 6,359 

12131/'2011 3 8,715 
12131/'2012 3 7,023 

12131/'2013 9,724 

12/3112014 4 6,910 

12131/'2015 4 8,566 

12131/'2016 4 6,413 

12131/'2017 4 10,075 

12131/'2018 7,856 

12131/'2019 8,200 

12131/'2020 7,747 

12131/2021 S.,264 

• Milliman 

60,841 $564,341 
64,796 $700, 171 

00.624 SQ19,038 

82.819 $1,299,380 

82.458 $1,385,556 

85,216 $1,.514,4"1 
89,482 $1.722.865 
w.m $2.040,§33 

$14 .474 2.863 $35,151 101 ,668 $2.154,856 
$14 .127 3,217 $36,794 102.."23 $2.267,1'18 

$151.240 3,263 $39,735 104,720 $2.378,704 

$183.232 l-»I $40,500 106,801 $2.521 ,345 

$171. 3.626 $47,062 100,138 $2.645,767 
$226,713 3.374 $46,22.8 112.141 $2.826,252 
$217,424 3.512 $51,627 114.988 $2.Wl.048 
$282.0118 3.679 $55,633 120,024 $3,218,514 
$235.917 4.875 $15Q,353 122. f72 $3..395,079 

$307,551 3.644 $66,607 128,252 ~636.023 
$235.250 l-524 $66,621 131 ,638 $3,.004. 651 
$304,818 3.781 $73,305 136,423 $4,036,165 

$242.372 3.931 $80,903 138,905 $4. 1ffl,633 

$385.197 3..878 $83,9'21 145.102 $4,498,910 

$297,542 3.933 $90,107 14",025 $4,706,345 

$322.057 4.124 $95,486 153,101 $4.Q32,915 
$3.!J.,438 4.587 $112.806 156,261 $5.140,547 

$337.0IIO 4.837 $125,758 159,688 $5.351 ,880 
WldCOU 7N'Ses stnce tfl<e 
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1:I:6"1. $9.276 

24.1% S10.lm 
31.3% $13,200 

41.4% $15.689 
6.6"1. $16.003 
9.3% s11.m 

13.8% $19.254 
8.4% PJ,BBQ 

5..6"1. S21.1Q5 
5..2"1. $22.028 

4.9% $22.715 
6.0% $23,008 

4.9"1. $24.242 
6.8% $25.aJl 
5..9% $.26.021 
7.6"1. $.26.816 
5.5% W ,7Wd 
7.1% $28..351 
4.6"1. $28..002 
6.1% $29.586 

4.0% P).219 
7:r,. $31,005 

4.6"1. $31.581 
4.8% $32.220 

4:r/. S32.Bf17 
4.1% $33.515 
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Actuarial Section 

L man ~ Valuation AccountinglACFR Exhibits 

Actuarial Schedules 

Schedule of Funding P.-ogress by Rate Pool 

· es and assets resulting from the st six actuari valualiol'lS are as follows (amounm in mi1fons) 

I 
Actuarial I Actuarial I I I I UAAL as a % Value of Acaued Unfundeii AAl. Covered of Covered 

Actuarial kisets' ·2 Liability (AAl.)2 (UAAL) Funded Ratio Payw-oll' Paymll 
Valuation 0\111! (a) (b) (t>-a) (alb) (c) (Cl>-a)(c) 
Tter One/Tier T o SQfe & 'local Governme nt Rate Pool 

12JJ112016 $30,417.6 ~ .,351.J $9,.933.7 75.A% u ,s-t6.7 390.1"' 
12JJ 112017 4 $33,366.0 ~ .150.7 $8.784.7 79.2% U,410.6 364.4"' 
12JJ112018 $31 .798..9 $43.149,3 $11,JS0.4 73.7% U.299.5 493.6"' 
12/J 112019 4 U4,D60.0 W ,122.1 $ 10.(162.1 77.2% U ,183.5 460.8"' 
12/3112020 U4.4 8.2 $46,382.2 $11,.974.0 74.2% U,089.D 573.2"' 
12JJ 112021 4 $39.1l3..0 $47.155.1 $8.(122.1 8J..0% $1,981-7 404.B"' 

Tter One/Tier T o School Ii• i::t Rafe Pool 
12JJ112016 $22,.870.2 $29,152.2 $6.282.0 78.5% $1,532.7 09.9"' 
12/3112017 $24,.934.A $29,677.4 ~ .743.1 84.0% $1,.«J.7 328.5"' 
12/3112018 $23,557.9 $29,.898.4 $6.34 .6 78..8% $1,401.2 .t52.5"' 
12JJ112019 $25,091.5 $30,274 .5 55.183.0 32.9% $1,330.2 389.6"' 
12JJ112020 $25.,345.A $31.,486: $6.14 ,6 80.5% $1,250.4 491 .1"' 
12/3112021 $29.B!N>..8 U1.B65.4 $1,.974.7 93..8% $1,216.3 162,3"' 

I ter line./ I H!-r I o lndependle t:mployers and ;JUdla.ary 
12JJ112016 $4,856.6 $6,690,8 $1 ,834.J 72.6% "37..3 419.5"' 
12/3112017 $5,018.2 $6,536,3 $1 .S1B.1 76..8% $392.6 386.7"' 
12/3112018 $4,756.2 $6,736.3 $1,.98 .1 70.6% $375.4 527.5"' 
12JJ 112019 ' $5,D61..J $6,.916.0 $1 ,854.7 73.2% $360..3 514.8"' 
12JJ 1f2020 $5,155..D $7.,373,8 $2.218.8 69.9% $347.9 637.8"' 
12JJ 112021 • $5 .6 $7,528.6 $1 ,720.9 77.1% $320.8 536.5"' 

OPSRP Rafe Pool 
12/3112016 $3,1121 $4,71 7.0 $1 ,695.6 64.1% $5,355.8 31.7"' 
12/3112017 $4,116.5 $5,634.7 $1.518.2 73.1% $5,852.0 25.9"' 
12/3112018 $4,783..D $6,738. $1,.955.0 71..0% $6,775.9 28.9"' 
12JJ112019 $6,190.A $8,082.2 $1 ,.891.8 76.6% $7,659.8 24.7"' 
12JJ112020 $7,548..8 $ 10,008.1 $2,.t59,3 75.A% $8,355.4 29.4"' 
12/3112021 $10,251.2 $ 11.8062 $1,555.0 86..8% $9,165.3 17. "' 

P05b!mployment lfe.althcare Benefits - Retirement lfe.alth ln51nnce Account 
12/3112016 $465..0 $463.7 ($1.J) 100..3% $4,516.7 (0. "') 
12JJ112017 $553..J $437 .6 ($115.7) 126.A% $4,2,t6.9 .7"') 
12/3112018 $57 7 $41 1.7 ($159.1) 138.6% $4,076.1 (3.9"') 
12JJ112019 $644.1 $403.9 ($24 ,3} 159.5% $3,873.9 (62"') 
1213112020 $660.2 $383.6 ($276.6} 172.1% $3,687.3 (7.5"') 
12JJ112021 $763.2 $3692 ($394. 206..7% $3,518.B (11 .2"') 

P05b!mployment He-althcare Benefits - Retiree , illth Insurance Premium Account 
12/3112016 $19. 1 $67.9 $48,8 28.1% $1,276.0 3,8"' 
12/3112017 U9..8 $69.4 $39.5 43..0% $1,212.2 3.J"' 
12/3112018 $38.5 $62.7 $24,3 61..3% $1,159.5 2.1"' 
12JJ112019 $51.9 559,3 S7A 37.5% $1,120.6 0.7"' 
12/3112020 $63.6 $48.0 ($15. 132.6% $1,091.B (1.4 "') 
12JJ112021 $82.9 $45.9 ($37.0} 180.A% $1,053.3 (3.5"') 

• sae auout as:se&:s aesrr:tu:1et1 ner OlleflJer TIID assecs. 
t EXcl!Jd8s effl!(;t al ~File autr;t · UW. d$1Z1 n1 ~ d 12131!2021>-
t OM!ted pil)ITl15flatl/J l5 iJr ers drl!e rate ,pool tJet71!frffrV t1le tnJfTiffl FOr ex, Tier OlleflJer lllD ~ 

05111r;t Is pa UTfEr<:n!/T1erTlillo~iWJ~ ~HMeel; tJilll..lsall'U1l'ZedU511Vc;omilrBST1er 
onemer nio ilX1 OPSRP f'i¥CII. 

• Rl!lrec-ts ~tr.mft!I" as:se&:s am ftab tr:r ltf!W~ tli1t Jdnel1 t1le SLGRP tl1e Vi11Uiil1at !Site. 

• Milliman 
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  

Actuarial Section 

Actuarial Schedules 

Solvency Test 

Pension and Retiree Healthcare Plans Combined 
(dollar amcutb in miifon.sJ 

AccountingfACFR Exhibits 

The schedule below shows results from the defined benefit pension plans and retiree heallhcare pians on a 

oonsofidated asis. Re.suits are also shown separately for each program: Tier One/Tier Two, OPSRP. and 
retiree eafthcare_ Note 1hat the defined benefit pension plan constitutes CtYer QQ% of the oonsor ted a.ssets 
and r ·1ities. 

~ Portion of Actuasial Accrued 
Valuation Valuation Liabilities Covered b Assets 

Oate2 Assets1
'
3 

(1 l (21 (3) 
1213tm12 • $7,704.Q $36,751t3 $16.473.1 $55,(&U 100% 100% 64% 
1213tm13 5 $7,120.1 $39,531.5 $16.476.8 $60,372.9 100% 100% 83% 
1213tr.n14 8 $6.950.4 $46,576.7 $20,470.8 $61 ,700.3 100% 100% 40% 
1213tm15 5 $6.476.8 $49,158..7 $21.(JIM.5 $60,4:11!6 100% 100% 23% 
12131/2116 $6.161l 1 $52,232.7 $23.101.0 $61 ,543..2 100% 100% M% 
1213tm17 5 $5.585.Q $!:6,636.9 $23.340.3 $67,900..2 100% 100% 28% 
1213tra>18 $5.153.6 $51,'Nl.7 $24.597.8 $165,41 1.5 100% 100% 12% 
12131/ZMQ 5 $4,907.4 ~.461.0 $25.540.5 S71 ,(Dl3 100% 100% 26% 
1213tr.m0 ' $4,583.7 $63.068.9 $28.079.3 $73. 11l2..1 100% 100% 191% 
1213tral21 $4.557.6 $64,9'12.:6 $29..266.3 $85,847.4 100% 100% 56% 

'2-Dll'f, ■s IH ■ C/laQgl! 

AccCIU!ts (S'SAJ !IAlw.l::es 1H memll~can 

• Milliman 
This wcrt pvduct - .....,....,.,...,,tp ~ 
pta'pll2S- a!dnvq -
m tieneft and as md~cr 1Daih!F1oat1, 91!1o~~u-.. 

nitpmtlesbe-.illy 
wcrtpn)Qd. 

137 



  

man Actuaml Valuation 

Actuarial Sched les 

Solvency Test 

Tier One/Taer T wo Pension 
(dollar amoinf.5 in milicns> 

12/3 tr.!l 12 
12/3 13 5 

12/31r.!114 a 
12/31r.!115 5 

12/3 tr.!l 16 $6,168.1 
12/31m17 5 $5,585.9 
12/31/2018 $5. 153-6 
12/3 tr.!119 5 $4,007.4 
12/3~ 1 $4,557.6 
12/3t/2J21 $4,446.8 

$14,527.4 
$14,1 14.1 
$17,331 .0 559,370.6 
$17,335.7 $57,611-0 

$51,656.5 $1 4Zl.6 $58,031.6 
$54,007-4 $17.86S.1 563,200.7 
$56,534.Q $1 148.3 $60,01 3 
$56,567.8 $17,888.4 $64, 121,8 
$62.0128 $1a721.9 $64,821t 5 
563,723.1 $1 425.2 $74,7fil1 

~Dtsll1cl (nt!IUUL.at.,~ In 

• TIie 1 
«1st ID EnryAge Hrlfmal 

~ l'l!ettt ts lll'le ---
• TIie 1:t/31 

~ B.'h - llll f . 
I Res; ltJr 1'UJ1/21J2tJ Mid ,eer .tx, 

OPSRP Pension 
(dollar amotn5 in milicn.s, 

s oc:an pr#or ID 9Cll ~-Jear _, • ..,..1'4 ""c=.1wr..~ 

Accountt. 
cnatve.s-~by lll'le:!013'~ Sl~rn 

Actuarial Accrued Liability 

Active Retired 

Actuarial Section 

Accountin-glACFR Exh-bits 

100% 100'X. 36% 
100% 100'X. % 
100% 100'X. 1% 
100% 100'X. 15 
100% 87% 0% 
100% 100'X. 4% 
100% 87% 0% 
100% 100'X. 36% 

.~ and 11111, as H ■ 

Meml>er Meml>ers and other Portion of .Actuarial Accrued 
Valuation Contributions Benefici.aries Members Valuation Liabilities Covered b Assets 

Date' ___ m (2)_ ___ J3) __ Assets __ (1) __ 12) _ (:l}_ _ 
,I !I I ~IIIIIIElZtlll ;·; $0.0 $1,766.9 

12/31/2013 $0.0 $51.2 S2. 19'2.1 100% 100% 
12/31l2014 ' $0.0 $Q2..4 $2,971.6 100% 100% 65% 
12/3 tr.!115 $0.0 $144_6 $3.597.9 100% 100'X. 62% 
12/31/2016 $0.0 S20't.1 $4,515.9 100% 100'X. 62% 

12/31/2017 $0.0 $31 1 S5.3:H.5 $4,116.5 100% 100'X. 71% 
12/3 18 $0.0 $419.0 $6..316.9 $4,783.0 100% 100'X. 6'1% 
12/31r.!119 $0.0 $504.3 $7,527.9 $6,Ull.4 100% 100'X. 75 
1213~• 526.1 ST.!i-1 SQ.255.9 $7,548.8 100% 100'X. 73% 
12/3t/2J21 $1 10.8 S'Qfil3 100% 100'X. 86% 

• AncnMr.W -r,f 
fl!/3f/l!D12 _....,._ s iZl! 

J rn UDro JIIQlt}onsr,f 

• Milliman 
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  

Actuarial Section 

M man Actuarial Valuation AccountinglACFR Exhibits 

Retiree He..ithcare (RHIAand RHIPA) 

(dollar amo1nb in mi/ions) 

, . 

Valuation 

Date' 

•• 
1213tm13 
1213t/2'.H4 

1213tm15 
12/3t/2'.H6 

1213t/2J-H 
1213tm18 

t213tm19 
1213t/:im0 

12131/Zl21 

Valuation 

Date' 

•• 
•• 

•l4 , .111 

12/3tm15 
t2131m16 

1213tm17 
12/3tm18 

12/3tm19 
1213t/:im0 

12131/Zl21 

• 

Retiree Health Insurance Account {RHIA) 

Actuarial Accrued Liabil ir.".Ji 

Active Retired 
Member Members and Other Portion of Actuarial Accrued 

Contributions Beneficiar ies Membe rs Valuation Liabilities Covered b:l'lAssets 
(1) (2} (3) Assets ll (1) 

•1 I < II 

100% 
100% 

$107.9 100% 
$102.0 100% 

$343..Q $553..3 100: 
5329.8 S570.7 100% 

SlalQ S6+t1 100% 
$319.3 $l6tlL2 100% 

$300..Q $763.2 100% 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account (RHIPA) 

Actuarial Accrued Liabil lui ""'l 

Active Retired 

ll (2) II (3) 
· ·-

100% 4% 
100% 36% 

100% 57% 
100% 101% 

100% 224% 
100% 294% 

100% 4 12% 
100% 530% 
100% 754% 

Member Members and Other Portion of Actuarial Accrued 
Contributions Beneficiar ies Members Valuation Liabilities Covered b Assets 

••• .... r •• ,,, 33% 0% 
46% 0% 

$14.Q $529 100% 75% 0% 
$14.4 $53.5 100% 100% 9% 

$14.4 $53.5 100% 100% 9% 
$14.0 $48.8 100% 100% 50% 

$121 $47.2 100% 100% 84% 
$1 8 $37.2 100% 100% 142% 

$10.2 $35.7 100% 100% 203% 
iHSfll'IIPllanS OCCWS ptlor ID ~-«JI <!W!!?--jeM 

ccsr melllod m Entry 

Tllll wort sn,dUct - ~ saieb' tr°'-' ~ 
pwposaes staled ai«r rrrqnd be ill)pop'IR t, use lbr alherpwpases.. M 
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  

Actuarial Section 

M man Actuarial Valuation AccountinglACFR Exhibits 

Actuarial Sched les 

Analysis of Financial Experience 

The schedule below shows results from the defined efit pensic> plans and retiree healhcare plans on a 
conso ated basis. Results are also shown separately to,- each program on Stmsequein pages. 

Gains and Losses in Unfunded Accrued Liability Resulting from Differe,nce.s Between Assumed 

Experience and Actual Experience and Assumption Changes 

(dollar antOU'lf:s in milionsJ 

$ Gain (or Lossl for Year I 

Pension and Retiree Healthcare Plans ~ 
Twe of A.dMty 

Retirements from Ac . Sbhis 

Acth.e Mortality and Withd 

Payb:reases 

Comibutioos 

Weres Cre<iting Experience 

h.estmeff lncane 

Retirement. Mortal and Lump Sl.mS fi"cm lnaicfue Status 

Retiree and Beneficiary Mortality 
New Entrart.s 1 

Olher 

Gain (ex- Lossf During Year rrom Financial Experience 

Hon-Rlecurring lfl!ms 

Assumption O\anges 

Plan 01.anges 

($89.Q) 

74.0 

(676.2) 

341.3 

(72..3) 

8,739.5 

14.0 

137.7 

(106.0) 

142.5 

$8,504..6 

0.0 

0.0 

($52.Q) 

(49.7) 

12. 1 

230.3 

(20.3) 

1.3 

7.4 

Q5.7 

(89.6) 

104.5 

$238.S 

(3.249.0) 

(198.7) 

$8 504..6 208..8 

•,v,r:rued tliibl1Ttya-s5cxlated"'thnewertrant3 ~ sfxMn. Fora a-s5e:ssmentattt,enewentrant on 

I.ML., u»s 'MlUJ'ct need tJ be r:ombfnecJ c;an bc.tJans a-s5cxtated "'th new entrants. 

1'1111 wort sn,dUct - ~ saieb' tr°'-' ~ 
• Milliman 

pwpose staled ai«r rrrqnd be ill)pop'IR t, use lbr alherpwpases.. M 
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  

Actuarial Section 

an Actuarial Valuation Accoun · glAC.FR Exhibits 

The schedules below show results from the Taer One/Ti«Two and OPSRP pension pr0QJ'8fflS separately. 

Gains and Losses in Unfunded Accrued Liability Resulting from Differences between Assumed 
Experience ilnd Actual Experience ilnd Assumption Changes 

(dollar atn0ll.ff5 in million.sJ -
$ Gain (or Losst for Year 

Tier 1mer 2 Pension Program ~ 
T_ype of AclMty 

Retiremenis from Ac . Slaus 

Acth.e Mortality and Withdrawal 

Pay hcrea.ses 

Cortmuticns 

tteres Cn!cfting Experience 

lff.estmed Income 

Retiremert, Mortality and Lump SL.ntS frnm lnactilie Status 

Retiree and Beneiciary Mortality 

New Entrarts 

other 

Gain (or Loss) During Ye.ar from Financial Experience 

Non-Recurring Mems 

Assumption Olanges 

Plan Changes 

Composiie Gain (or~ During YHr 

($87_2) 

19.7 

(4127) 

255_6 

(72..3) 

7,445. 1 

S. 1 

136.8 

(2.2) 

126.5 

$7,417_5 

o_o 
o_o 

$7,417_5 

($52.6) 

(18.6) 

4.1 

177_9 

(20_3) 

(41.8) 

5.5 

Q3.6 

(1.4) 

54.7 

$201_3 

(2.722.2) 

(133.6) 

($2,654.6) 

$ Gain (or Losst for Year 

OPSRP Pension Program ~ 
T_we of Ac.tMty 
Retiremenls from Ac . Slaus 

Acth.e Mcrtality and Wilhdnwral 
Pay hcrea.ses 
ecrtmuticns 
lrM!stmed lncane 
Retirement. Mortality and Lump Smns from lnacir.e Status 
Retiree and Beneiciary Mortality 

New Entrarts 1 

other 
Gain (or Loss) During Ye.ar from Financial Experience 
'Nott-Recurring Mems 
Ass~ooOlanges 
Plan Changes 

-te Gain or 

($2.6) 
$54_3 

($263.6 ) 
$84_3 

S1.197_5 
S5.9 
so_g 

($11n-7) 
$2.7 

$975..6 

$0_0 
$0_0 

$975.6 

(S0.4 ) 
(31.1 ) 

ao 
51.0 
42.0 

1.9 
2.0 

(88.2) 
34.3 

$19_6 

(542.7) 
(65.0) 

$581L1 

• ,v,cruetJ llablllty a$SOC/ated Wlrtl newertr.mts '5 .s/JoWJ. For a I a$Sessment ar r,,e new enO'ilnt on 
UU, this 'MlUl'd need r, tie ccmblrled coo l>UUoos a$Soc;/ated With newentranls. 

llllS wcrt Podl,lct - ~ s01e1Y tr ~ EiTl>1cJlees 
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  

Actuarial Section 

Accoun - -glACFR Exhibits 

The schedule below shows re-suits from the retiree heal re programs. 

Gains and Losses in Unfunded Accrued Liability Resulting from Differances Between Assumed 
Experience and Actual Experience .ad Assumption Changes 

(dollar amounf5 in milfonsJ 

$ Gain (or Loss) for Year 

RHIA RHIPA 

Retiree Healthcare Programs 2021 2020 2021 2020 

T,n,e of .Activity 
Cartribwcns S0.6 SC>-7 $0_7 $0.6 

t-nestment Income 88..3 0_7 8..6 0_5 

Other 10.6 11-5 27 4.0 
Gain (or l...0$) During Year from Financi.11 Experie,nce $99_5 $12.9 $12..0 $5. 

Non-Recurring A!m& 

Asslnlpticr, Oa,ges 0.0 7_ 1 0.0 S..9 

PlanOlanges 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Com Year $99_5 $21>-0 $12..0 $14..0 

• Mill iman 
Tlla ..::rt poclu:t - ~ lllt:1Dlca'l!R ~ 
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  

Actuarial Section 

M man Actuari I Valuation 

Actuarial Schedules 

Schedules of Funding Progress 
(dollar al'1IOU'd.s in millions} 

Pension Bene1its - Tier Onemer Two .md OPS'RP1 

12/3112012 3 $54.784.1 $60,40S2 

12/3112013 4 $60.01 1 $62.$93.6 

12/3112014 $61~%.2 $73.458.9 

12/311201S 4 

12/3112016 

$60,000.1 

$61.0S9.0 

$76.196.6 

$30.97 .J 

-$5.621 .1 
.$2.,579.5 

$ 12.,(J63.7 

$ 16. 196.5 

$ 19.911.2 

90.7'% 

95.9'% 

33.6% 

78.7% 

15.A% 
12/3112017 C $67~6.1 ~,.056.1 $ 16,730. 80.1% 

12/3112018 $64,802..J ~.$74.7 121.772.4 74.9% 

12/3112019 C $70~12..J $39,445.7 $ 19.1J3.5 78.6% 

12/311202fl $72~1Ll $95~00.4 $22.922.1 75.9% 

12/31 21 $85,.001..3 $98,401.4 $ 13.,A00.1 86.A% 

P~ployment He.aHhcare Benefits - Retirement He.alth lrm.ance Account 
12/3112012 $291.6 $471.8 $1802 61..8'% 

12/31/2013 $353.S $473;6 $120. 74.7'% 

12131/2014 $395JI $468.4 $72.S 84.S'% 

12/3112015 $41'9..3 $46S.6 $ 6.J 90.0'% 

1213112016 $465.0 $463.7 ($1 .J ) 100..3% 

1213112017 

12131/2018 

12131/2019 

$553..3 

$570.7 

$644.1 

$437.6 

$41 1.7 

$403.9 

($115.71 

($159.1) 

($2 O.J I 

126.A% 

138.6% 

159.5% 

121311202fl $660.2 $383.6 ($276.6 1 172.1% 

1213112021 5753,2 $369.2 ($394. I 206.7% 

Accoun . :glAOFR Exhibits 

$8,590.9 

$8,671..8 

$9,1 15.8 

$9,544.1 

$9,872.6 

$10,098.9 

$10,852.0 

$11,SJJ.7 

$12,042.7 

$12,684.1 

$8,590.9 

$8,671.8 

$9,1 15.8 

$9,544.1 

$9,872.6 

$10,098.9 
$10,852.D 

$11 ,SJJ.7 

$12,042.7 

$12,684.1 

65.4" 
29.7" 

132.J" 

169.7" 

201 .7" 

165.7" 

200.6" 

165.9" 

190.J" 

105.6" 

2.1 " 

u" 
0.8" 

0.5" 

(0. " ) 

(1.1 " ) 

(1..5") 

.1 " ) 

(2 .J") 

(3.1 " ) 
P~ployment He.aHhcare Benefits - Retiree He;itth Insurance Premi1.1m Account 

12131/2012 $4A $60.3 $55.9 1.A'% 

12/31/2013 $5..2 $61.2 $55.9 8.6'% 

1213112014 

1213112015 

12/3112016 

1213112017 

1213112018 

12/3112019 

12/3 11202fl 

$7.2 
$11.2 

$19.1 

$29..8 

$3&.5 

$S1.9 

$63.6 

$7 .5 

$67.8 

$67.9 

$69.4 

$62.7 

$59.3 

$48. 

12/3112021 $82.9 $45.9 

' soe acaxn c3$StllS .;nll'lC1rdlc1 pen.s1a1 assecs. 

$63.J 

$56.6 

$48.8 

$39.5 

$24.3 

$7.4 

(115.6) 

(l37.0) 

t ~ uw.. a,, Ulfnon&b Rre mt11a ($127 ai as at 12n1/2!J21). 

10.2'% 

16.5'% 

28.1'% 

43.0'% 

61..3'% 

37.5'% 

132.6'% 

1&1l.A'% 

t The 13131/2012 'SCJil/lonl!!llects the ti cJa1gBs 81iiCfl!d'byl1le 2013 ~ ~iIIJn 
ctJatve am me!hot1to "Oe 

$2,432.A 

$2,531.S 

$2,718.9 

$2,831.8 

$2,BBU 

$2,984.5 

$3,211.6 

$3,479.8 

$3,712.6 

$3,938.0 

Sl!lm 8 8Z2 ..nJ 801, as 

2.J" 

2.2" 

2.J" 

2. " 
1.7" 

1.J" 
0,8" 

0.2" 

(DA") 
(0 .9") 

' ~ea:s tt1e tr.mff:!r c3$StllS am ttat, tanewE!ffJll'O)'el5 ttiitft:lne!J ttJe !fil.CIP .JiffJill'f 1 ~ the 'BUitlat cS:l'e. 
' The 13131/2014 'SCJiJJ/lon b ~ Item ftJeOR:'Qlll'I 5q)r1!lne Ctun ~ In ltlJt'O v. S'a!ed0nlglerl, CNl!rt!mE!l1 

po,1lomdSl!niite 8 82'2.nJ801. 
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Actuarial Section 

iDirnan Actuarial Valuation 

Summary of Pia Pov s1ons 

• Milliman 
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  

Actuarial Section 

Mil m n Actuariill Valu.ation Summary of Pl.m Provisions 

Summary of P an Provisions 

The followWlg section summarizes the plan provisions col'lSidered in the actuarial v ation. A more detailed 
descrip ·on of plan provisions is av ble from PERS. 

Membership 

Member 
Contribulions 

Emplo-yer 

Contributions 

. . . 
Mil liman 

Al employees ofp c employers participating in is System who are ·n qualifyi g 
positions become members of the System after comple · g six mo s of service excep 
those who are eligible for and have elected o "cipa op "ona! .... ,.....,,.....,nt plan. 

Different benefi provisio s of the plan apply based on date of fare. 

Tier One 

Tier-Two 

OPSRP 

Judges 

Judges 

AO others 

H" prior lo 1996 

before August 29, 2.003 

Hired a er August 28, 2.003. and neithB a judge nor a former Tier onerrier 
Two member eligible to reestabish Tier One/Tier Two membership 

Members of the sta Jucficiary 

7 of salary 

Prior to January 1. 2004, Taer One/Tier Two members con ed 6% of 
asy 1D member a,c,comts. 

Effective J (jy 1. 202.0: 2.50% o salary for-Tier- One/Taer Two members and 

0.75% of salazy for OPSRP members (only appicable 1D members earning 
at least $2,500 per-month, indexed for · ation and n.ther- ·ncreased to, 
$3,333 per- month effective in 2022) a.re contri>uted to Employee Pension 
S "lity Accounts (EPSA). EPSA ba noes ot affect the tio of 
Money atcti or Fom"AJla Plus.An uity benelils. 

Set by the PERS Board based on actuarial calcu1ations Iha fo 

policies for em~ 

Board rate-5et1ing 
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Actuarial Section 

M- m n Actuarial Valuation Sunwnary of Pl.iln Provisions 

Summary of Chapter 238 Provisions - Tier Oneffier Two nd Judges 

Normal Police and Fire 

Retirement Date Judges 

Age5o 

Age65 

Normal 
Re.irement 

Allowance 

• Milliman 

Titer One General Service Age 58 

Titer Two General Senice Age 60 

For Members who are no Judges, 1he ~Jest of the F I Forrm.Ja benefit. the Money 
Match benefit, or the Formu Plus Annuity benefit (o av ·!able to Members o made 

contributions before August 21 . 1 QS 1 ). For embers 15 or more years cf crecitable 
service, the benefit I not be less than the minimum service retirement allowance o S 00 
peunonth. as desaibed in ORS 23,8_310. 

Money Match 

Formu:ta Plus 
Annuity 

Judges 

salary and years of creditable service plus a prior service pension, i 
applicable. 

I Peroentage Multiplier I Membership Classific.ation 

Fse, Poice and Legis ors 

All o1her members 

converted to 
g employer amount 

equivalent annuity. 

The Member's accoun bal ce converted an actuarially eq · alent 
cash refund an uity plLIS the percentage m "pier from the table below 
multiplied by average sa ry and years of ~ilable sefVice, plus a 

prior service pensio i appl§c:able. 

I Peroentage Multiplier I Membership Classific.ation I 

1.35% 

1.00% 

Fire. Police and legislators 

All olhet" member5 

Fi average salary m ltiplied by the first percentage m "pier from lhe 
le low for up to 16 years of service s the second peroe,nlage 

multiplier for any service · n excess of 16 years, b not to exceed the 
maximum percentage of fin average salary also shown below. Judges 
must elect P n A or Plan B no than age 60. A "Plan e· judge must 

serve as a pro tern judge for a to of 175 days postretiremen 

Percentage of 
Percent.age Factor Percentage FactOf" Final Average I I I 

Maximum 

Plan (up to 16 years) latter 16 years) Salary 

A 

B 

2.8125% 

3.75% 

1.67% 

2.00% 

65% 

75% 

lllllWDl'lpaduct-~saldJlrQr_. 
PIIIJlll1,eSSllllal .wldlTWJ' 
to beneft anctm m~cr --pmtlesbe_""_ 

WDl'lpnxu:1. 
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Actuarial Section 

M an Actuarial Val~tion Summary of P~ Provisions 

Fm/Average 
Salary 

CrediJable 
Service 

Prior Service 
Pension 

SB656/HB 
3349 

Adjustment 

• Mill iman 

The greater ot 

Average salary earned during the three calendar-years in the member wasp ·d 

the highest sala:ry, even if one of those years is less n a fu calendar ye . 

obd salary earned over the last 36 months of employmen divided by the actual 
months of service dwing, that 3fHnonth period. 

Covered salary for this purpose includes the value of member contri ions asSlJrned and 
paid by employers, a:,y payment due to an employer's articipation · the Unused Sick 

Leave program, and,. for Tier One members. lwnp sum payment of unused vacation t.ne. 
For ier wo members, covered salary is limited by temal Revenue Code 401 (a)(H}. 
The m· was $280,000 in 2019. Tter One members are at subjiect to this 

Under Senate Bil 104Q. passed du · the 20 19 I · a1ive session, the included in 

the determination of Final Average Sa ry I be limited for mem · ing · 
2020. The it wi be equ to $195,000 in 2020 and I be indexed n · later 
yeaTS. For · purpose, payment due to, the unused siclt leave program wi not be 
affected by the Final Average S a,y i m However. lump sum payments of unused 

vacation · ~ Tier One member.; wil be included · to 

The number of years and months an active Member is paid a sa ry by a parti · ting 
PERS employer and PERS benefits are bei~ funded 

Benefits payable on a,oooun of Prior Service Cre<it for a member's service · a 
p ·cipating employer prior-to the employer's participation in PERS. as desai>ed in 
ORS 238.442. 

Al members receive an ·nc::rease the. monthly retirement benefit equal ID the greate,- of 

the increase under Senate Bi 656 (SB 656) or- House B 3349 HB 3349). The 

a ustment Jo,; SB 656 only applies 1D members o established membef'Ship prior to 
July 14. 1995. Senate Bil 822. enacted ·n 2013. r its eigi>i for-these adjustments to 
o PERS beneficiaries o ay Olegon state income tax. 

SB 656 
Increase 

Years of Service I General Service I Police & Fi- I 

--- --- --- - --- --- .=____J 
0-Q 0.()% 0 .0% 

10-14 1.0 1.0 

15-19 1.0 1.0 

20-24 2.0 2.5 

25-29 3 .0 4 .0 

30& Over 4.0 4.0 

HB3349 Service prior 
Increase 1 Octcber 1. 1Q91 

( 
1 - maximum Cxegon personal 

- 1) X 
All Service 

income tax rate (imi:ted to 9%) 

Tllls wart 
ptJql0Se mlled ffllQ' 
1Dbeneftand ~ 

IMd 1JJ the 
M wartpn:dlcl. 
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Actuarial Section 

M m n Actuariiill Yalu tion Summary of PLm Provi:sions 

Early 
Relirement 

Eligibirdy 

Early 
Relirement 

Allowance 

Vesting 

Tennina5on 
Benelit:J 

Optional Forms 
of Retirement 
Allowance 

Preretirement 
Death Benefit 
Eligibirdy 

Preretiremen! 
Death Benefit 

• Milliman 

Police and Fire 

Judges 

Age 50 or 30 years o service 

Age60 

General Service Age 55 or 30 years of sernoe 
onn remement a11owance, actuarially reduced to early reuement age. However-. there 

is no reduction applied • a member has completed 30 years of seJVice (25 year.; foe po6ce 

Contributions made i an,y part of five calendar years or- ·rvnent of age 50 (45 for police 
& fire) ·1e wortang ·n a qua · g position. 

Non-Vested 

Vested 

Payment of member's account ba noe. 

Same as normal (or ,earty) reueme allowance. butcommencemen is 

deferred ID norm (orearfy) retirement da . 

The norm funn of benefit is a cash refund nu (joint and two-thirds swvivor 
contingent ann • fer- a married judge). All op ·onal amounts are adjusted to be actuari 
equ· alen 

Options Avail.ab.le 
• Life annuity 

• Cash refund a 

• Life annuity gu teed 15 years 

• Joint and 50% or 1()(),r, survivor contingent annuity. with or without pop-,up tea 

• P ·a1 Lump SLm: Refund of member contribution account ba noe plus a pension 

(under any option form) of em,ployer-pmd portion of the Full Formula or Money Matdl 
arm 

• Tot.a Lump Sum: Refund of me~ contribulio aocou plus a ma ·ng emp~ 

amount. 

Judges 

Al others 

Judges 

others 

Six or more years of sef'Vice. 

Death occu,ing wh the member is an employee of a arlicipating 
employer or wi · 120 days of tenrination provided the employee does 

no withdraw the account ance or re ·re. or a result o · · ries received 
ile ·n the SE!fVice of a parli · · g employer. 

The spouse sha receive a life pension equ to two-thirds o the service 
retireme lowance. The beneficiary of an unmarried judge sh.a receive 
the member's accumulated contributions with ·nteresl 

The member's account b a.nee plus a matching, employer amount 

If the beneficiary is the member's spouse, they may instead elect to 
receive the ·ng benefit 

• If the member was eligible for retirement. the actu · equivalent of 
the retiremen benefit the member was eligi ID receive at date of 
deat 

• If the member- was not · ·ble for retirement. 50% of the actuarial 
eq ivalen of the • etil eme benefit the member d have been 

eligible lo receive · they ha erm· ated employmen on tha-date 

of dea and retired 

Tllls ~ 
ptapDSel aldffW$ 
ta beneft andassr.,es ~er 

..., pm1le be .lfdled II)' 
-,\pn)CUl. 
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Actuarial Section 

M m n Actuari~ Val~tion Sunwnary of Plan Provisions 

Adcfdi011a/ 

Police & Fire 

Death BenefiJB 

Upa, the dealh cf a retired poioe officer or- firefighter, the surviving spouse or- dependent 
children under age 18 wi receive a mo benefit based on 25% of the cash refund 

retirement allowance due to police and fire service. 

o;sability Duty Disability oocuning as a direct resu of a jol>-related injury or- ·I1nes_s, 

regardless o length of service. Benetit EliC}ibTJty 

Q;sability 

Benefits 

Non-Outy Disability oocuning a: ten years o servioe (six years. if a · dge). but 

prior to norm retirement eligibility. 

The normal retirement a ance calculated based on 1he service aedi that d have 
been earned if the member had oontirwed wori(ing to age 58 (age 55 for- police and fire. 
age 65 for judge members) payable commencing · mectiatelY 

Fre and Poice Members' Alternative 

In lieu of the atxwe. firefighters and police officers who q for- duty di may ect 
lo receive a benefit o 50% cf al average man salary at the time af disablement 

Minimum Monthly Retirement ABo~ 

Judges 

AD o1hers 

45,r, of final average mo sa ry. 

S 100 for a member • at least 15 years cf credit.able service. ac:[]LLllniawv 

reduced i an optiona fam of benefit is cho5en. 

Reduction of Benefits 

Whenever a • sabled employee's cisabi benefit and earned · cane for any man 

exceed the mon1hly ry received at the time of disab&ement or- S400. if greater. the 
disa ity benefit ·11 be reduced by the excess. 

For Tter Two, members, the disabil benefi may not exceed the member's ary at 1he 

time of disablemen 

Waiting Trme Members wi at least 10 years cf oombined a-edited and/or prior- service under PERS 

Service may elect to pun:hase semce credi for the six-month "waitng time· period wonted prior to 
Purdiases establishing membership ·n the system. The waiting ·me purchase is interest-free a d 

must be purcha-5ed · one payment prior to retirement. 

Police & Fire Police & fire membef5 may purchase 60-mon1h annuity benefits (up to $80 per month) tha 
Unit Purchases must be paid out by age 65 and cannot commence prior lo 1he earliest retirement age. The 

amount pla'Cha-5ed by the member is ma ched by the employer. In certai si:tualion_s, sudi 

as termination of employment prior to reti · g. or WOflllg beyond age 65. the e"1)Ioye«'s 
matching purchase is forfeited. 

Automatic 
Postre.iremerit 
Cost of Living 

A<fustments 
(COLA.s) 

• Milliman 

Al monthly pension and ann · benefits except u · pun:hases are eligible for­
pos1relirement adjustments. As a result af the Senate Bills 822 and 861 and the Olegon 
Supreme Court decision., Moro v. state of(xegon, automatic pos1relirement adjustments 

are based on a bw!nded COLA as desaibed below. 

Automatic COLA 
prior to SB 822 and 
SB lt61 

Benefits were adjusted ua to re.fleet 1he · aease or 
decraa_se., the Consumer Price ndex (Portland area - al~ ems) 

as published by the Bureau of Laba- Statistics. 

The maximum adjustment be made for- any ye was 2% cf 
1he previous year's benefit. Any C P change · excess of the l im-
was accumulated for fum-e benefit adi stments ich d 

otherwise be less than the lim· No benefit was decreased below 

Thll wcrt podUcl: - ~ ,...,,.,,.,.,,.,,1p ~ 
purposes IS!dtrWf 
_, l:lendl and IIDd~ er 
lhllt ni, pa11es be adied bY lid" a., ac11ary or alller 

wcrtprocul. 
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Ad Hoc 
Adjustments 

Automatic 
Adjustments 

Provided by Sen• 
B:ills 822 and 861 

Blended COL.A aftN 
Moro decision 

Actuarial Section 

Summary of Plan Provisions 

This legislation, passed in 2013, rovided fur benefits would 
be inaeased annu based on a m ·n.a1 rate schedule. The 

increase is culated as 1.25 on the first $60,000 of ann 
benefit and 0.15% on amounts above $60,000 •Of annu benefit. 

The Su preme Court decision ·n Moro requires that member-; 

be enti11ed to receive during retirement a blended COLA te that 
fllec:t:s the different COLA provisions ap e to benefits 

earned at different times.· The Supreme Court <iK:l not articulate 
a specific me1hodology for determi · g the blended COLA. For 
ptrpases of this v ation. we have determined the blend based 
on aedi- service eamed before and after October-20 3 . This 

approach is consisten wi OAR 459-005-0510 adopted by 
PERS Board in September 2015. 

From time ed by the Legisla: re, reued members d beneficiaries have 
received increases ·n their monthly benefits. 

Variable Annuity Contributions 
Program 

Prior to January 1, 2004. members could elect to MVe 25. 50 or 
75 peroent o their contri>u1ions invested · the variable accounl 

Interest Credit 
on Member 
Accounts 

Re.iree 
Hea he.are -
Medicare 
Supplement 
(RHlA) 

• Milliman 

Benefit 

Tier One Regular 

Tier Two Regular 

Variable 

Retiree Eligibility 

Tlla wart P')dud: -

Al ret.-emen members may elect to receive a · le annuity 

with the funds accumulated in their variable aocou 

Alternatively. members may elect to ave a11 or a portion of the 
funds in th · variable account transferred badt the regular 
.account and receive an annuity from the System as though no 
variable a · prog,am existed. 

The employer-provided benefil awever. is based on the 
e -ngs the member-would ave received in the regular 

accounl 

Actuaria assumed rate of return ntil 1he rate guarantee 
reserve as been fully ded for three consecutive years and 
the Board elects to aedi adcfition · lerest.. 

Amom detennined by the Bo , based on actu investment 

e · gs o the reg r account 

Actua earnings · variable accounl 

of the mllowi m st be met: 

(a) Currently receiving a retirement allowance from the System, 

(b) Covered for eig years before re ·remen 

(c) Enrolled ·n a PERS-sponsored hea plan, and 

(d) Ervo ·n bo Medicare Part A and Part B. 

pl.Wlll)RStllll!d m,q 
s, l:Jelrfl anctm diqcr 

psllesbe~~ 
pn,cl.d. 
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Actuarial Section 

Milliman Actuari.11 Valuation 

Re6ree 
Heallhcare­
Under Age 65 
(RHIPA) 

• Milliman 

Surviving Spouse or 

Dependent Bigibilily 

Benefit Amount 

Retiree Elig:ibirlty 

Surviving Spouse or 

Dependent Eligibility 

Benefit 

Summary of Pl.In Provis"'ons 

A swviving spouse or dlependen of a deceased R lA e 

retiree is ei,gible for R benefits · they are enrolled in both 
edicare Part A and Part B. and eithe.rof the fo · g aneria 

are met: 

(a) Curre receiving a retirement lowance from the System. 

(b ) The suviving spouse or dependent was covered under the 
eligible retiree's PERS-sponsored ea insurance a the 
·me ,of the retiree's death and the deceased retiree retired 

betcre May 1, 1Q91. 

A monthly ,contribution of up $60 per re · ree is applied ID 

PERS-sponsored edicare supplemental irtSUrance costs-. 

RE!bed PERS members who were state employees at the ·me of 
retirement, are e ed in a PERS-sponsored eal1h p , and 
are not eligible far edicare. 

A swviving spouse or dependent of a deceased RHCPA-er ible 
re is ible for RHIPA benefits if they are not yetelg e for 

edicare. and either of the following criteria are met: 

(a) Currenily receiving a retirement lowance from the System, 
or 

(b) The sUJViving spouse oc dependen was covefl!d under the 
le retiree's PERS-5ponsored health plan the time of 

the retiree's death and the deceased retiree retired o or 
September29, 1Q91 . 

A percentage (as shown in the table below) of the maxim m 
monthly subsidy based on years of service. The m · um 
monthly subsidy is <:alcu led annu ly as the average d. ce 
between the e irtSUranoe pr-emiums · by active state 

employees and the premiLm retirees would y if they were 
ted separately from active state employees. 

The maximum moo subsidy for 2021 is $428.17 per- man 

Years o.f Service with State I I 
Employer Subsidized Amount 

Under8 0% 

B~Q 50% 

10--14 60% 

15-19 70% 

20--24 80% 

25-29 .Q0% 

30& Over 100% 
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Actuarial Section 

M m n Actuarfal Val~tion Sunwnary of Pl.iln Provisions 

Changes in 
Plan Prtwisions 

• Milliman 

Senate Bill 111 , en.acted ·n June 2021. · creased the optional death benefi available ID a 
surviving spouse when a retirement~r le member dies. Previously, this benefit was 

based on 50% of the actuari eq ivalen vahJe af the member's re · remen nefit, b this 
was increased to 100% of the actuarial eq · alent value. ouse Bi 2906 increased the 
monthly pay threshold for member redirect cootributions ID $3,333 (" xed) effective . 
2022 Both plan changes were first reflected · the December 31, 2020 advisory actu 

valuatio ·s is the first rate-setting v uation where the provisions are reflected. 

Tllllw.:rt ~ 
PwposieS andm,s 
_, bendll and mdl('f cr 

patlcs beaded by 
procul. 
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Actuarial Section 

M an Actuari.11 Valuation Summary of Plan Provisions 

Summary of Chapter 238A Provisions - OPSRP 

Normal 
Re.iremmt Date 

Normal 
Re5rement 
Allowance 

Fmal Average 
Salary 

Early Retirement 

EligibT,ty 

Early Retirement 
Allowance 

Vesting 

Vested 
Temina5on 
Be.nelit 

Police & Fire Age 60 oc age 53 with 25 years of retirement aedi 

Gener.al Service Age 65 oc age 58 with 30 years of retirement aedi 

Schoot Districts Age 65 or- age 58 30 calendar year.; o active membership 

A · gle e anrt ily equal to final average sala.iy tmes years of retirement credit 

a.ttrilbutablle ID service as fire and police times 1.8% plus fin average salary times al 
o1ha-year.; of tirement aedi ·mes 1.5%. 

The greata- of: 

• Average sa ry earned d\Jring the three calendar years in ·ch the member was paid 

the hi~est salary. even i one of 1hose years is less 1han a cale year. 

• Total sa ry eamed ,over the last 36 mon1hs o employme dMded by the actual 
months of service during tha 36-month period 

Covered salary for this p rpose includes base pay, ptu:s overtime up an average 

amount. plus bonuses, plus member contributions paid by the employer on a sa1ary 
re<lJction basis.. Excludes payments of unused vacation oc accumul ed sick leave 

re ·remen and member contributions ·355\Jmed paid" by the employer. 

For OPSRP members.. covered salary is limited by Internal Revenue Code 401(a)(17) 
The limit was $280.000 in 20 1Q. 

Under Sena Bi 1049 passed dwi g the 2019 legislative sessio the sa ry included 
in 1he determination of Final Average Salary I be imited for members begi • 
2020. The i . I be equal to $ 95,000 in 2020 and wil be indexed 

later years. 

Police & Fire Age 50 5 years of vesting service 

Gener.al Service Age 55 and 5 years of vesting service 

reduced to early retirement age. 

Five years or attainmen of norma retirement BQe. 

Same as norm (or early) retirement lowance, bu commencemen is deferred to 
normal (or early) re ·re.men date. 

Optional Forms of The norma form ,of benefit is a e annuity. AD options amounts are adjusted be 

Retiremmt actu · equivalent 

Be.nelit Options Available 

• Life a1T1uity 

• ..1o· and 50% or 100% survivor contingent efit, · or pop-up feature 

• lump sum if mo ly normal re ·re.men benefi is ess n $200 or if lump sum v ue 

Preretirement 
Death BeneR 
Bigibjq 

• Milliman 

is less than $5,000. 

Death of a vested membet" before retfrement benefits begin. 

11111 ~ tr <noar, ~ 
pwposes mars lbralher 
111 bele!I tr · .,..,.,..., ti 

try 
pro,u1. 
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Actuarial Section 

M m n Actuariill Valu.ation Summary of Pl.In Provisions 

Prerelirement 
Death Benell 

D;sability Benefit 
EfigibTJty 

Disability Benefit 
Amounts 

PostreliremeJJt 

Adjustments 

Changes in Plan 
Prc,vj.sjon$ 

• Milliman 

If the member was eigibfie for retirement. the actuaria equiv ent of the retirement 
benefi the member was eligillle lo receive at date of death. 

the member was not eigi>le for retiremen 50% of the actu · equivalent of the 
retiremen benefit the mem~ would ave been ef ·ble to receive if they ad tenninated 
employment on their date of death and re ·red at the ea est possillle date. 

Duty 

Non-Outy 

Preretnment 
Benefit 

Retirement 
Benefit 

Disablemen occurring as a direct res\.11 of a job-related · 1ury Of' 

lness. regardless of length of service. 

Di "'""'"°'nt n years of sefVice. but prior 

45% mon1h o employment before 
disab ity. reduced benefit exceeds 75% of salary. 
Benefit is pay monthly 1.9'1til normal retirement age. 

Same tam la as Norm Retirement Benefit. exoept 

Final average salary is aqusted to re ect cost-o ng increases 
from d e of disability to normal retirement age, and 

Retirement credits contru.re to aocrue from date of sabi lo 

norm retin!ment age. 

All moo pension and arm ity benefits excep uni p rchase.s are 

postretire,ment adjustments. As a resu of the Senate Bills a22 and 861 and the Oregon 
Supreme Court decision in Moro v. state of Oregon. autcmatic postretire,ment 
adjustments are based on a blended COLA as described below. 

Automatic COLA 

prior to SB 822 

ilnd SB 861 

Automatic 
Adjustments 
Provided by 
Senate Bins 822 
ilnd861 

Benefits were adjusted aMua lo reftect the increase or decrease 
· the Consumer Price ndex (Portland area - al items} as 

p lished by the Bureau of Labor S tis1ics. 

The m · um adjustment be made for any ye was 2% of the 
previous year's benefi Any CPI cha ge ·n exoess of the limit was 
accum ted for future benefit ustments which would otherwise 
be less than the linwt. o benefit was decreased below i1:s original 

amount. 

This . ation, passed in 2013. provided t prospectively 

benefits d be increased annualty based on a rnarg· te 

schedt.de. The increase is calculated as 1.25% on the first $60.000 
of annu benefit and 0.15% on amota1ts above $60.000 of a nu 

benefit. 

Sena Bi 111. enacted in ne 2021 . increased the death benefit payable to a 

sUIVM g spouse en a retiremen -eligible member dies. Previously. the benefi was 
based on 50% of the actuarial equivalent value of the member's retirement benefil. but 
this was increased to 100% of the actuarial equivalent value. House Bill 2006 · a-eased 
the monthJy pay threshold member redirect co utions to $3,333 (.,dexed) 

effective in 2022 Both plan changes were first re ected • the December 31 • 2020 
advisory acluari valuation. This is the first ra~tting valuation where the provisions 
are reflected. 
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Statistical Notes 

The Statistical Section of PERS ACFR presents 
detailed information as a context for understanding 
what the information in the financial statements, 
note disclosures, and required supplementary 
information says about the System's overall 
financial health. The data presented was extracted 
from PERS' information systems. 

Financial Trends 

These schedules contain trend information to 
help the reader understand how the System's 
financial performance and well-being have changed 
over time. Financial information is presented on an 
accrual basis. 

The Schedules of Additions by Source, 
Deductions by Type, and Changes in Fiduciary Net 
Position are presented on both a fiscal- and 
calendar-year basis. The System prepares its 
financial statements on a fiscal-year basis but has its 
actuarial valuations performed on a calendar-year 
basis. 

The Schedule of Earnings and Crediting at 
December 31 shows earnings available for crediting 
(net of administrative expenses) and the rates 
approved by the PERS Board for the programs it 
administers. 

The Schedule of Benefit Expenses by Type 
provides additional detail about benefit expenses for 
fiscal years reported in the aggregate in the 
Schedules of Deductions by Type. 

Operating Information 
These schedules contain data to help illustrate 

how the information in the System's financial 
reports relates to the services the System provides 
and the activities it performs. 

The Schedule of Average OPEB Benefits for 
Retirement Health Insurance Account and Schedule 
of Average OPEB Benefits for Retiree Health 
Insurance Premium Account show the average 
monthly other postemployment healthcare benefits 
and the number of retirees receiving benefits under 
each plan. 

The Schedule of Average Defined Benefit 
Pension Payments presents average monthly 
benefits, final average salary, and number of 
retirees still receiving benefits by year of 
retirement. 

The Schedule of Benefit Recipients by Benefit 
Type shows retired members by benefit level, 
benefit type, and payment option selected. 
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Statistical Section 

The Schedule of Retirement System Membership 
shows demographics of membership over a period 
of time. The fiscal year schedule shows membership 
over the last nine years. The calendar-year schedule 
is in five-year increments going back to 1985. 

The Schedule of Principal Participating 
Employers shows the 10 employers with the largest 
number of current employees, along with aggregate 
information for the remaining employers with 
current employees. 

The Schedule of Participating Employers lists all 
employers as of June 30, 2022, to show public 
employers of the state of Oregon participating in 
PERS. 
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Statistical Section 

Additions by Source - Retirement Programs 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

EmEloyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2013 $ 16,985,722 $ 834,161,587 10.26 % $ 6,949,742,064 $ 7,800,889,373 
2014 15,319,270 915,236,878 10.54 9,886,700,639 10,817,256,787 
2015 13,785,439 1,123,256,703 12.25 2,364,479,372 3,501,521,514 
2016 14,214,341 977,332,329 10.37 413,915,853 1,405,462,523 
2017 13,177,984 1,022,201,249 10.18 7,660,055,575 8,695,434,808 
2018 12,558,631 1,390,111,534 13.84 6,247,472,490 7,650,142,655 
2019 11,354,366 1,720,183,341 16.21 4,010,048,029 5,741,585,736 
2020 10,179,238 2,299,006,203 18.99 923,260,755 3,232,446,196 
2021 160,309,347 2,161,450,927 17.67 18,998,415,630 21,320,175,904 
2022 160,097,904 4,030,158,539 31.14 789,784,656 4,980,041,099 

Employee Pension Stability Accounts (included in Defined Benefit Pension Plan above) 

EmEloyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2021 $ 150,427,846 $ NIA NIA % $ 22,744,173 $ 173,172,019 
2022 152,691,859 NIA NIA 24,233,448 176,925,307 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

EmEloyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2013 $ 510,796,006 $ NIA NIA % $ 635,350,054 $ 1,146,146,060 
2014 527,303,202 NIA NIA 977,439,367 1,504,742,569 
2015 563,417,649 NIA NIA 276,949,224 840,366,873 
2016 566,450,233 NIA NIA 76,509,002 642,959,235 
2017 605,277,281 NIA NIA 948,360,842 1,553,638,123 
2018 622,296,460 NIA NIA 772,501,114 1,394,797,574 
2019 647,139,479 NIA NIA 565,351,952 1,212,491,431 
2020 711,193,387 NIA NIA 242,628,243 953,821,630 
2021 578,414,037 NIA NIA 2,560,936,405 3,139,350,442 
2022 630,155,422 NIA NIA (218,607,143) 411,548,279 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

EmEloyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2013 $ 74,248,188 $ NIA NIA % $ 135,572,819 $ 209,821,007 
2014 92,174,335 NIA NIA 203,181,598 295,355,933 
2015 99,796,739 NIA NIA 48,617,428 148,414,167 
2016 107,286,636 NIA NIA 3,166,856 110,453,492 
2017 121,701,967 NIA NIA 189,041,478 310,743,445 
2018 134,259,568 NIA NIA 169,577,769 303,837,337 
2019 139,543,729 NIA NIA 104,963,768 244,507,497 
2020 150,478,458 NIA NIA 73,406,068 223,884,526 
2021 151,995,862 NIA NIA 630,011,342 782,007,204 
2022 195,637,308 NIA NIA (348,864,446) (153,227,138) 
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  

Statistical Section 

Deductions by Type - Retirement Programs 
For the last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits ExPenses Refunds Total 
2013 $ 3,556,059,999 $ 33,505,928 $ 17,439,568 $ 3,607,005,495 
2014 3,837,870,411 31,247,350 25,560,094 3,894,677,855 
2015 3,927,167,032 35,739,837 16,481,215 3,979,388,084 
2016 4,193,307,712 40,567,225 13,154,578 4,247,029,515 
2017 4,346,282,735 43,546,184 15,961,744 4,405,790,663 
2018 4,642,717,844 37,751,319 13,876,294 4,694,345,457 
2019 4,815,058,600 38,403,320 11,903,642 4,865,365,562 
2020 5,045,931,154 52,083,371 18,855,297 5,116,869,822 
2021 5,237,137,595 59,084,400 11,934,465 5,308,156,460 
2022 5,468,215,109 58,696,368 14,893,205 5,541,804,682 

Employee Pension Stability Accounts (included in Defined Benefit Pension Plan above) 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits ExPenses Transfers Total 
2021 $ $ 480 $ $ 480 
2022 528 18,089,202 18,089,730 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits ExPenses Refunds Total 
2013 $ 241,326,511 $ 7,093,871 $ N/A $ 248,420,382 
2014 330,535,801 6,934,980 N/A 337,470,781 
2015 319,978,740 7,565,611 N/A 327,544,351 
2016 364,549,091 8,478,008 N/A 373,027,099 
2017 417,119,098 9,481,014 N/A 426,600,112 
2018 546,866,343 12,309,768 N/A 559,176,111 
2019 490,459,364 12,568,466 N/A 503,027,830 
2020 611,602,249 11,828,627 N/A 623,430,876 
2021 577,899,925 12,827,760 N/A 590,727,685 
2022 744,712,857 12,158,259 N/A 756,871,116 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits ExPenses Refunds Total 
2013 $ 70,550,942 $ 874,584 $ N/A $ 71,425,526 
2014 89,652,030 997,202 N/A 90,649,232 
2015 84,177,564 1,018,468 N/A 85,196,032 
2016 91,351,490 1,202,786 N/A 92,554,276 
2017 97,089,531 1,330,947 N/A 98,420,478 
2018 116,331,317 1,469,816 N/A 117,801,133 
2019 123,057,988 2,278,273 N/A 125,336,261 
2020 118,349,853 2,071,770 N/A 120,421,623 
2021 136,614,998 2,419,306 N/A 139,034,304 
2022 161,003,068 1,834,870 N/A 162,837,938 
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  

Statistical Section 

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Retirement Programs 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2013 $ 7,800,889,373 $ 3,607,005,495 $ 4,193,883,878 $ 54,285,029,854 $ 58,478,913,732 
2014 10,817,256,787 3,894,677,855 6,922,578,932 58,478,913,732 65,401,492,664 
2015 3,501,521,514 3,979,388,084 (477,866,570) 65,401,492,664 64,923,626,094 
2016 1,405,462,523 4,247,029,515 (2,841,566,992) 64,923,626,094 62,082,059,102 
2017 8,695,434,808 4,405,790,663 4,289,644,145 62,082,059,102 66,371,703,247 
2018 7,650,142,655 4,694,345,457 2,955,797,198 66,371,703,247 69,327,500,445 
2019 5,741,585,736 4,865,365,562 876,220,174 69,327,500,445 70,203,720,619 
2020 3,232,446,196 5,116,869,822 (1,884,423,626) 70,203,720,619 68,319,296,993 
2021 21,320,175,904 5,308,156,460 16,012,019,444 68,319,296,993 84,331,316,437 
2022 4,980,041,099 5,541,804,682 (561,763,583) 84,331,316,437 83,769,552,854 

Employee Pension Stability Accounts (included in Defined Benefit Pension Plan above) 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2021 $ 173,172,019 $ 480 $ 173,171,539 $ 0 $ 173,171,539 
2022 176,925,307 18,089,730 158,835,577 173,171,539 332,007,116 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2013 $ 1,146,146,060 $ 248,420,382 $ 897,725,678 $ 4,392,119,800 $ 5,289,845,478 
2014 1,504,742,569 337,470,781 1,167,271,788 5,289,845,478 6,457,117,266 
2015 840,366,873 327,544,351 512,822,522 6,457,117,266 6,969,939,788 
2016 642,959,235 373,027,099 269,932,136 6,969,939,788 7,239,871,924 
2017 1,553,638,123 426,600,112 1,127,038,011 7,239,871,924 8,366,909,935 
2018 1,394,797,574 559,176,111 835,621,463 8,366,909,935 9,202,531,398 
2019 1,212,491,431 503,027,830 709,463,601 9,202,531,398 9,911,994,999 
2020 953,821,630 623,430,876 330,390,754 9,911,994,999 10,242,385,753 
2021 3,139,350,442 590,727,685 2,548,622,757 10,242,385,753 12,791,008,510 
2022 411,548,279 756,871,116 (345,322,837) 12,791,008,510 12,445,685,673 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2013 $ 209,821,007 $ 71,425,526 $ 138,395,481 $ 1,133,567,631 $ 1,271,963,112 
2014 295,355,933 90,649,232 204,706,701 1,271,963,112 1,476,669,813 
2015 148,414,167 85,196,032 63,218,135 1,476,669,813 1,539,887,948 
2016 110,453,492 92,554,276 17,899,216 1,539,887,948 1,557,787,164 
2017 310,743,445 98,420,478 212,322,967 1,557,787,164 1,770,110,131 
2018 303,837,337 117,801,133 186,036,204 1,770,110,131 1,956,146,335 
2019 244,507,497 125,336,261 119,171,236 1,956,146,335 2,075,317,571 
2020 223,884,526 120,421,623 103,462,903 2,075,317,571 2,178,780,474 
2021 782,007,204 139,034,304 642,972,900 2,178,780,474 2,821,753,374 
2022 (153,227,138) 162,837,938 (316,065,076) 2,821,753,374 2,505,688,298 
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  

Statistical Section 

Additions by Source - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Em~loyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2013 NIA $ 47,294,060 0.57 % $ 35,636,711 $ 82,930,771 
2014 NIA 48,253,398 0.56 56,194,217 104,447,615 
2015 NIA 53,648,437 0.59 15,606,876 69,255,313 
2016 NIA 44,587,963 0.47 4,246,552 48,834,515 
2017 NIA 49,785,501 0.50 57,566,224 107,351,725 
2018 NIA 47,997,918 0.48 50,869,212 98,867,130 
2019 NIA 49,615,345 0.47 35,959,368 85,574,713 
2020 NIA 6,359,609 0.06 8,595,287 14,954,896 
2021 NIA 2,963,356 0.02 171,822,210 174,785,566 
2022 NIA 2,458,525 0.02 7,546,640 10,005,165 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Em~loyer Contributions 
Fiscal Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2013 NIA $ 3,443,805 0.14 % $ 499,279 $ 3,943,084 
2014 NIA 6,149,608 0.24 739,056 6,888,664 
2015 NIA 6,887,258 0.25 266,949 7,154,207 
2016 NIA 10,966,837 0.39 228,057 11,194,894 
2017 NIA 11,863,776 0.39 2,027,506 13,891,282 
2018 NIA 13,290,145 0.45 2,383,184 15,673,329 
2019 NIA 14,009,075 0.45 2,455,173 16,464,248 
2020 NIA 11,241,801 0.32 772,391 12,014,192 
2021 NIA 11,724,345 0.31 16,296,899 28,021,244 
2022 NIA 8,264,936 0.20 764,731 9,029,667 
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  

Statistical Section 

Deductions by Type - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits1 Expenses Refunds Total 
2013 $ 30,777,470 $ 1,149,475 NIA $ 31,926,945 
2014 34,112,567 1,044,937 NIA 35,157,504 
2015 31,922,820 1,279,427 NIA 33,202,247 
2016 33,602,540 1,256,017 NIA 34,858,557 
2017 31,186,802 1,288,059 NIA 32,474,861 
2018 32,503,140 1,281,744 NIA 33,784,884 
2019 32,234,400 1,312,229 NIA 33,546,629 
2020 31,827,780 1,272,953 NIA 33,100,733 
2021 31,334,950 1,287,002 NIA 32,621,952 
2022 30,609,060 1,604,127 NIA 32,213,187 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Fiscal Administrative 
Year Benefits1 Expenses Refunds Total 
2013 $ 4,093,736 $ 169,137 NIA $ 4,262,873 
2014 4,925,743 170,901 NIA 5,096,644 
2015 4,230,808 188,598 NIA 4,419,406 
2016 4,682,975 259,850 NIA 4,942,825 
2017 4,327,944 285,895 NIA 4,613,839 
2018 4,659,536 277,596 NIA 4,937,132 
2019 4,486,752 318,425 NIA 4,805,177 
2020 4,112,640 252,995 NIA 4,365,635 
2021 3,672,820 292,231 NIA 3,965,051 
2022 3,432,236 665,569 NIA 4,097,805 

1 Benefit payments paid by RHIA and RHIPA consisted of Healthcare Premium Subsidies 
exclusively. 
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  

Statistical Section 

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2013 $ 82,930,771 $ 31,926,945 $ 51,003,826 $ 266,579,777 $ 317,583,603 
2014 104,447,615 35,157,504 69,290,111 317,583,603 386,873,714 
2015 69,255,313 33,202,247 36,053,066 386,873,714 422,926,780 
2016 48,834,515 34,858,557 13,975,958 422,926,780 436,902,738 
2017 107,351,725 32,474,861 74,876,864 436,902,738 511,779,602 
2018 98,867,130 33,784,884 65,082,246 511,779,602 576,861,848 
2019 85,574,713 33,546,629 52,028,084 576,861,848 628,889,932 
2020 14,954,896 33,100,733 (18,145,837) 628,889,932 610,744,095 
2021 174,785,566 32,621,952 142,163,614 610,744,095 752,907,709 
2022 10,005,165 32,213,187 (22,208,022) 752,907,709 730,699,687 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Fiscal Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2013 $ 3,943,084 $ 4,262,873 $ (319,789) $ 4,559,382 $ 4,239,593 
2014 6,888,664 5,096,644 1,792,020 4,239,593 6,031,613 
2015 7,154,207 4,419,406 2,734,801 6,031,613 8,766,414 
2016 11,194,894 4,942,825 6,252,069 8,766,414 15,018,483 
2017 13,891,282 4,613,839 9,277,443 15,018,483 24,295,926 
2018 15,673,329 4,937,132 10,736,197 24,295,926 35,032,123 
2019 16,464,248 4,805,177 11,659,071 35,032,123 46,691,194 
2020 12,014,192 4,365,635 7,648,557 46,691,194 54,339,751 
2021 28,021,244 3,965,051 24,056,193 54,339,751 78,395,944 
2022 9,029,667 4,097,805 4,931,862 78,395,944 83,327,806 
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  

Statistical Section 

Additions by Source - Retirement Programs 

For the Last Ten Years Ended December 311: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Em2loyer Contributions 
Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 

Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2012 $ 14,148,372 $ 862,934,319 10.99 % $ 7,201,022,711 $ 8,078,105,402 
2013 18,664,061 1,496,033,607 17.68 8,595,803,270 10,110,500,938 
2014 13,200,528 937,788,619 10.48 4,342,718,450 5,293,707,597 
2015 14,362,049 1,127,799,421 12.25 1,232,493,098 2,374,654,568 
2016 13,085,105 976,297,293 10.17 4,290,378,888 5,279,761,286 
2017 14,668,384 1,179,420,962 10.77 9,343,076,932 10,537,166,278 
2018 10,447,081 1,745,401,831 16.96 226,842,118 1,982,691,030 
2019 11,373,682 2,019,260,325 18.27 8,608,031,425 10,638,665,432 
2020 9,600,323 2,094,082,795 17.72 5,070,001,230 7,173,684,348 
2021 10,187,455 3,461,593,218 27.32 14,711,614,436 18,183,395,109 

Employee Pension Stability Accounts 
Em2loyer Contributions 

Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2020 $ 62,303,384 $ NIA NIA % $ 5,109,277 $ 67,412,661 
2021 162,137,599 NIA NIA 44,889,059 207,026,659 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

Em2loyer Contributions 
Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 

Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2012 $ 499,094,923 $ NIA NIA% $ 623,896,684 $ 1,122,991,607 
2013 542,566,655 NIA NIA 814,928,040 1,357,494,695 
2014 511,048,423 NIA NIA 450,087,155 961,135,578 
2015 596,936,756 NIA NIA 140,226,970 737,163,726 
2016 597,188,543 NIA NIA 518,172,223 1,115,360,766 
2017 613,683,342 NIA NIA 1,213,845,362 1,827,528,704 
2018 638,930,679 NIA NIA (61,712,368) 577,218,311 
2019 687,121,432 NIA NIA 1,247,407,081 1,934,528,513 
2020 635,159,734 NIA NIA 825,974,438 1,461,134,172 
2021 600,925,794 NIA NIA 1,887,877,326 2,488,803,120 

Deferred Compensation Plan 
Em2loyer Contributions 

Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 
Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2012 $ 78,115,678 $ NIA NIA% $ 105,067,553 $ 183,183,231 
2013 88,901,454 NIA NIA 207,310,080 296,211,534 
2014 92,495,435 NIA NIA 102,188,822 194,684,257 
2015 97,373,493 NIA NIA 15,087,160 112,460,653 
2016 109,040,225 NIA NIA 83,913,037 192,953,262 
2017 120,454,924 NIA NIA 212,359,507 332,814,431 
2018 144,365,735 NIA NIA 62,553,479 206,919,214 
2019 144,923,289 NIA NIA 217,040,897 361,964,186 
2020 145,621,685 NIA NIA 386,028,153 531,649,838 
2021 167,423,263 NIA NIA 286,846,437 454,269,699 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
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  

Statistical Section 

Deductions by Type - Retirement Programs 

For the Last Ten Years Ended December 31~ 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Calendar Administrative Intraccount 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Transfers Total 
2012 $ 3,351,430,408 $ 31,807,897 $ 17,970,250 - $ 3,401,208,555 
2013 3,708,827,767 34,271,919 25,529,913 3,768,629,599 
2014 3,888,166,333 35,187,183 17,850,587 3,941,204,103 
2015 4,068,416,728 37,333,754 15,932,985 4,121,683,467 
2016 4,248,984,127 41,936,746 14,931,267 4,305,852,140 
2017 4,495,375,698 41,149,466 14,404,077 4,550,929,241 
2018 4,737,604,779 36,802,183 13,668,587 4,788,075,549 
2019 4,908,681,141 44,666,591 10,664,553 4,964,012,285 
2020 5,137,911,088 56,720,875 17,513,367 (741,278) 5,211,404,052 
2021 5,340,818,040 60,156,727 15,529,724 (9,927,633) 5,406,576,858 

Employee Pension Stability Accounts 

Calendar Administrative Intraccount 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Transfers Total 
2020 $ - $ 240 $ NIA $ 741,278 $ 741,518 
2021 504 9,927,633 9,928,137 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

Calendar Administrative Intraccount 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Transfers Total 
2012 $ 218,180,975 $ 5,528,973 $ NIA $ NIA $ 223,709,948 
2013 301,297,929 7,164,598 NIA NIA 308,462,527 
2014 332,722,945 7,315,352 NIA NIA 340,038,297 
2015 343,688,428 7,746,075 NIA NIA 351,434,503 
2016 386,689,618 9,106,820 NIA NIA 395,796,438 
2017 497,309,999 9,958,373 NIA NIA 507,268,372 
2018 508,929,082 13,454,299 NIA NIA 522,383,381 
2019 545,539,814 12,321,208 NIA NIA 557,861,022 
2020 655,602,622 12,255,726 NIA NIA 667,858,348 
2021 708,475,122 12,572,339 NIA NIA 721,047,461 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

Calendar Administrative Intraccount 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Transfers Total 
2012 $ 65,498,582 $ 783,755 $ NIA $ NIA $ 66,282,337 
2013 79,075,903 982,625 NIA NIA 80,058,528 
2014 92,995,075 998,023 NIA NIA 93,993,098 
2015 82,398,740 1,050,769 NIA NIA 83,449,509 
2016 81,073,521 1,374,662 NIA NIA 82,448,183 
2017 101,419,280 1,390,830 NIA NIA 102,810,110 
2018 131,272,865 1,483,023 NIA NIA 132,755,888 
2019 120,101,006 2,705,025 NIA NIA 122,806,031 
2020 129,947,918 2,007,705 NIA NIA 131,955,623 
2021 145,991,333 2,154,367 NIA NIA 148,145,700 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
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  

Statistical Section 

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Retirement Programs 
For the Last Ten Years Ended December 311

: 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Calendar Net Position3 

Year Additions Deductions2 Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2012 $ 8,078,105,402 $ 3,401,208,555 $ 4,676,896,847 $ 51,144,650,137 $ 55,821,546,984 
2013 10,110,500,938 3,768,629,599 6,341,871,339 55,821,546,984 62,163,418,323 
2014 5,293,707,597 3,941,204,103 1,352,503,494 62,163,400,642 63,515,904,136 
2015 2,374,654,568 4,116,424,013 (1,741,769,445) 63,515,904,136 61,774,134,691 
2016 5,279,761,286 4,305,852,140 973,909,146 61,774,134,691 62,748,043,837 
2017 10,537,166,278 4,551,871,595 5,985,294,683 62,748,043,837 68,733,338,520 
2018 1,982,691,030 4,788,075,549 (2,805,384,519) 68,733,338,520 65,927,954,001 
2019 10,638,665,432 4,964,012,285 5,674,653,147 65,927,954,001 71,602,607,148 
2020 7,173,684,348 5,211,404,052 1,962,280,296 71,602,607,148 73,564,887,444 
2021 18,183,395,109 5,406,576,858 12,776,818,251 73,564,887,444 86,341,705,695 

Employee Pension Stability Account 

Calendar Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2020 $ 67,412,661 $ 741,518 $ 66,671,143 $ - $ 66,671,143 
2021 207,026,659 9,928,137 197,098,521 66,671,143 263,769,664 

Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan 
Individual Account Program 

Calendar Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2012 $ 1,122,991,607 $ 223,709,948 $ 899,281,659 $ 3,965,399,708 $ 4,864,681,367 
2013 1,357,494,695 308,462,527 1,049,032,168 4,864,681,367 5,913,713,535 
2014 961,135,579 340,038,297 621,097,282 5,913,713,535 6,534,810,817 
2015 737,163,726 351,434,503 385,729,223 6,534,810,817 6,920,540,040 
2016 1,115,360,766 395,796,438 719,564,328 6,920,540,040 7,640,104,368 
2017 1,827,528,704 507,268,372 1,320,260,332 7,640,104,368 8,960,364,700 
2018 577,218,311 522,383,381 54,834,930 8,960,364,700 9,015,199,630 

2019 1,934,528,513 557,861,022 1,376,667,491 9,015,199,630 10,391,867,121 
2020 1,461,134,172 667,858,348 793,275,824 10,391,867,121 11,185,142,945 
2021 2,488,803,120 721,047,461 1,767,755,659 11,185,142,945 12,952,898,604 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

Calendar Net Position 
Year Additions Deductions Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 
2012 $ 183,183,231 $ 66,282,337 $ 116,900,894 $ 1,069,191,072 $ 1,186,091,966 
2013 296,211,535 80,058,528 216,153,007 1,186,091,966 1,402,244,973 
2014 194,684,257 93,993,098 100,691,159 1,402,244,973 1,502,936,132 
2015 112,460,653 83,449,509 29,011,144 1,502,936,132 1,531,947,276 
2016 192,953,262 82,448,183 110,505,079 1,531,947,276 1,642,452,355 
2017 332,814,431 102,810,110 230,004,321 1,642,452,355 1,872,456,676 
2018 206,919,214 132,755,888 74,163,326 1,872,456,676 1,946,620,002 
2019 361,964,186 122,806,031 239,158,155 1,946,620,002 2,185,778,157 
2020 531,649,838 131,955,623 399,694,215 2,185,778,157 2,585,472,372 
2021 454,269,699 148,145,700 306,124,000 2,585,472,372 2,891,596,372 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
2Balances are restated for calendar years 2012 to 2015 due to prior period adjustments. 
3Balances restated for calendar years 2013, 2014, and 2017 to correct amounts. 
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  

Statistical Section 

Additions by Source - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Years Ended December 311

: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Em~loyer Contributions 
Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 

Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2012 $ NIA $ 48,118,569 0.38 $ 35,088,054 $ 83,206,623 
2013 NIA 47,729,940 0.59 46,420,994 94,150,934 
2014 NIA 49,466,294 0.56 25,754,870 75,221,164 
2015 NIA 48,846,297 0.55 7,995,269 56,841,566 
2016 NIA 48,339,520 0.59 31,003,380 79,342,900 
2017 NIA 49,167,576 0.50 72,787,020 121,954,596 
2018 NIA 49,483,717 0.48 1,768,069 51,251,786 
2019 NIA 30,090,293 0.27 76,707,399 106,797,692 
2020 NIA 3,000,272 0.03 46,001,641 49,001,913 
2021 NIA 2,605,114 0.02 132,841,555 135,446,669 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Em~loyer Contributions 
Calendar Member Percent of Annual Net Investment 

Year Contributions Dollars Covered Payroll and Other Income Total 
2012 $ NIA $ 3,450,509 0.10 $ 557,438 $ 4,007,947 
2013 NIA 4,708,305 0.15 588,465 5,296,770 
2014 NIA 6,378,015 0.19 361,915 6,739,930 
2015 NIA 8,747,711 0.24 131,852 8,879,563 
2016 NIA 11,621,895 0.25 933,866 12,555,761 
2017 NIA 12,646,688 0.40 2,915,300 15,561,988 
2018 NIA 13,587,039 0.45 (36,367) 13,550,672 
2019 NIA 12,766,276 0.37 5,311,670 18,077,946 
2020 NIA 11,367,169 0.31 4,470,919 15,838,088 
2021 NIA 10,144,057 0.26 13,179,625 23,323,682 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
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  

Statistical Section 

Deductions by Type - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Years Ended December 311

: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Calendar Administrative 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Total 
2012 $ 30,375,640 $ 837,282 NIA $ 31,212,922 
2013 31,132,920 1,095,853 NIA 32,228,773 
2014 31,636,379 1,167,459 NIA 32,803,838 
2015 32,273,928 1,223,215 NIA 33,497,143 
2016 32,385,680 1,206,654 NIA 33,592,334 
2017 32,438,822 1,275,297 NIA 33,714,119 
2018 32,422,620 1,374,059 NIA 33,796,679 
2019 32,074,620 1,311,208 NIA 33,385,828 
2020 31,655,700 1,277,801 NIA 32,933,501 
2021 31,052,710 1,413,606 NIA 32,466,316 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Calendar Administrative 
Year Benefits Expenses Refunds Total 
2012 $ 3,968,267 $ 134,246 $ NIA $ 4,102,513 
2013 4,323,159 172,485 NIA 4,495,644 
2014 4,615,612 180,524 NIA 4,796,136 
2015 4,680,196 214,500 NIA 4,894,696 
2016 4,340,503 288,507 NIA 4,629,010 
2017 4,578,655 273,005 NIA 4,851,660 
2018 4,608,776 290,534 NIA 4,899,310 
2019 4,365,646 297,957 NIA 4,663,603 
2020 3,867,431 280,878 NIA 4,148,309 
2021 3,553,564 436,931 NIA 3,990,495 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
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  

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - OPEB 
For the Last Ten Years Ended December 311

: 

Retirement Health Insurance Account 

Calendar 
Year Additions Deductions 
2012 $ 83,206,623 $ 31,212,922 
2013 94,150,934 32,228,773 
2014 75,221,164 32,803,838 
2015 56,841,566 33,497,143 
2016 79,342,900 33,592,334 
2017 121,954,596 33,714,119 
2018 51,251,786 33,796,679 
2019 106,797,692 33,385,828 
2020 49,001,913 32,933,501 
2021 135,446,669 32,466,316 

Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account 

Calendar 
Year Additions Deductions 
2012 $ 4,007,946 $ 4,102,513 
2013 5,296,770 4,495,644 
2014 6,739,930 4,796,136 
2015 8,879,563 4,894,696 
2016 12,555,761 4,629,010 
2017 15,561,988 4,851,660 
2018 13,550,672 4,899,310 
2019 18,077,946 4,663,603 
2020 15,838,088 4,148,309 
2021 23,323,682 3,990,495 

$ 

$ 

Statistical Section 

Net Position 
Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 

51,993,701 $ 239,610,514 $ 291,604,215 
61,922,161 291,604,215 353,526,376 

42,417,326 353,526,376 395,943,702 
23,344,423 395,943,702 419,288,125 
45,750,566 419,288,125 465,038,691 
88,240,477 465,038,691 553,279,168 
17,455,107 553,279,168 570,734,275 
73,411,864 570,734,275 644,146,139 
16,068,412 644,146,139 660,214,551 

102,980,354 660,214,551 763,194,905 

Net Position 
Net Change Beginning of Year End of Year 

(94,567) $ 4,539,401 $ 4,444,834 
801,126 4,444,834 5,245,960 

1,943,794 5,245,960 7,189,754 
3,984,867 7,189,754 11,174,621 
7,926,751 11,174,621 19,101,372 

10,710,328 19,101,372 29,811,700 
8,651,362 29,811,700 38,463,062 

13,414,343 38,463,062 51,877,405 
11,689,779 51,877,405 63,567,184 
19,333,187 63,567,184 82,900,371 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are distributed as of December 31. 
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Statistical Section 

Schedule of Earnings and Crediting 
at December 311: 

Credited 

Tier One Earnings Individual 
Calendar Available for Variable Earnings/ Account 

Year Crediting TierOne TierTwo (Loss) Credited Program 
2012 14.53 % 8.00 % 14.68 % 18.43 % 14.09 
2013 15.76 8.00 15.62 25.74 15.59 
2014 7.24 7.75 724 2 4.29 3 7.05 
2015 1.87 7.75 1.87 (1.61) 1.85 
2016 7.15 7.50 7.15 8.76 7.13 
2017 15.23 7.50 15.23 26.48 14.72 
2018 0.23 7.20 0.23 (10.03) (0.63) 
2019 13.27 7.20 13.27 28.80 13.35 
2020 7.18 7.20 7.18 11.77 8.37 
2021 20.14 7.20 20.14 18,88 16.18 

1Calendar year-end information is provided because earnings are credited as of December 31. 
2Earnings rate includes allocation from settlement of Murrayv. PERB litigation. 
3Earnings rate includes allocation from settlement of White, et al. v. PERB litigation. 

Schedule of Benefit Expenses by Type -
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30: 

Disa bili!Y: Benefits 
Fiscal Service Retirement Death 
Year Benefits Du:tt Non-Du:tt Benefit Totals Benefits 
2013 $3,422,618,167 $17,242,718 $ 111,616,337 $3,551,477,222 $4,582,777 
2014 3,701,010,685 17,739,646 113,317,283 3,832,067,614 5,802,797 
2015 3,790,050,384 17,943,338 113,129,130 3,921,122,852 6,044,180 
2016 4,045,951,252 18,896,881 118,534,433 4,183,382,566 9,925,146 
2017 4,204,153,060 18,965,495 118,479,583 4,341,598,137 4,684,598 
2018 4,497,671,956 19,356,946 120,819,135 4,637,868,037 4,849,807 
2019 4,666,793,109 20,360,781 123,821,174 4,810,975,064 4,083,536 
2020 4,894,294,688 21,041,469 124,420,605 5,039,756,762 6,174,392 
2021 5,084,114,373 21,560,657 126,540,003 5,232,215,032 4,922,561 
2022 5,312,844,561 22,366,119 127,272,097 5,462,482,777 5,732,332 

Schedule of Average OPEB Benefits for Retirement Health Insurance Account1 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022: 

Years Credited Service 
Average Monthly Benefit 
Final Average Salary 
Number of Active Retirees 

8+ 
$60.00 

NIA 
41,718 

Schedule of Average OPEB Benefits for Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account1 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022: 

Average Monthly Benefit 
Final Average Salary 
Number of Active Retirees 

8-9 
$ 223 

NIA 
6 

10-14 
$ 267 

NIA 
11 

Years Credited Service 
15-19 20-24 

$ 311 $ 356 
NIA NIA 

31 71 

1 Effective years of retirement and final average salary are not available for OPEB. 
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% 

Refunds 

Normal 
$10,074,038 

13,614,833 
7,283,720 
6,342,385 
6,589,962 
5,145,792 
3,356,265 
8,105,287 
4,721,963 

4,984,900 

25-29 
$ 400 

NIA 
151 

Death 
$7,365,530 

11,945,261 
9,197,495 
6,812,193 
9,371,782 
8,730,502 
8,547,377 

10,750,010 
7,212,502 
9,908,305 

30+ 
$ 445 

NIA 
337 

Total 
$3,573,499,567 

$ 

3,863,430,505 
3,943,648,247 
4,206,462,290 
4,362,244,479 
4,656,594,138 
4,826,962,242 
5,064,786,451 
5,249,072,058 
5,483,108,314 

Total 
415 

NIA 
607 



  

Statistical Section 

Schedule of Average Defined Benefit Pension Payments 

Retirement Effective Dates Years Credited Service 
July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2022 0-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 21-25 26-30 31+ Total 

2013 Average Monthly Benefit $778 $1,168 $1,622 $2,109 $2,830 $4,156 $5,887 $2,834 
Final Average Salary $3,705 $3,839 $4,459 $5,028 $5,931 $6,656 $6,956 $5,420 
Number of Active Retirees 371 917 1,058 1,079 1,319 1,141 934 6,819 

2014 Average Monthly Benefit $818 $1,161 $1,527 $1,945 $2,710 $3,909 $5,703 $2,671 
Final Average Salary $3,577 $3,648 $4,355 $5,009 $5,911 $6,403 $6,946 $5,306 
Number of Active Retirees 388 1,008 1,100 1,204 1,408 1,219 926 7,253 

2015 Average Monthly Benefit $665 $905 $1,356 $1,887 $2,536 $3,733 $5,588 $2,454 
Final Average Salary $3,922 $3,818 $4,529 $5,177 $5,777 $6,549 $7,350 $5,415 
Number of Active Retirees 292 819 983 1,090 1,139 1,091 639 6,053 

2016 Average Monthly Benefit $764 $948 $1,338 $1,905 $2,519 $3,696 $5,545 $2,548 
Final Average Salary $3,579 $3,801 $4,525 $5,213 $5,893 $6,832 $7,349 $5,547 
Number of Active Retirees 328 844 985 1,116 1,234 1,290 800 6,597 

2017 Average Monthly Benefit $735 $1,058 $1,395 $1,874 $2,653 $3,668 $5,632 $2,661 
Final Average Salary $3,658 $3,876 $4,549 $5,432 $6,214 $7,033 $8,112 $5,837 
Number of Active Retirees 371 893 1,075 1,182 1,170 1,372 1,031 7,094 

2018 Average Monthly Benefit $814 $1,071 $1,356 $1,826 $2,630 $3,562 $5,296 $2,551 
Final Average Salary $3,923 $3,988 $4,393 $5,437 $6,390 $7,077 $8,039 $5,862 
Number of Active Retirees 346 939 1,052 1,337 1,216 1,492 952 7,334 

2019 Average Monthly Benefit $857 $985 $1,286 $1,870 $2,685 $3,633 $5,164 $2,423 
Final Average Salary $4,007 $3,946 $4,560 $5,590 $6,541 $7,418 $8,347 $5,902 
Number of Active Retirees 407 963 1,009 1,204 1,106 1,265 736 6,690 

2020 Average Monthly Benefit $809 $977 $1,212 $1,780 $2,733 $3,793 $5,068 $2,484 
Final Average Salary $3,917 $4,153 $4,559 $5,465 $6,858 $7,919 $8,548 $6,146 
Number of Active Retirees 398 892 1,096 1,140 1,254 1,224 888 6,892 

2021 Average Monthly Benefit $703 $999 $1,248 $1,809 $2,680 $3,796 $4,917 $2,466 
Final Average Salary $4,025 $4,117 $4,620 $5,709 $6,781 $8,040 $8,213 $6,171 
Number of Active Retirees 403 843 907 1,113 1,246 1,160 807 6,479 

2022 Average Monthly Benefit $748 $955 $1,192 $1,648 $2,680 $3,817 $4,851 $2,468 
Final Average Salary $4,696 $4,429 $5,033 $5,582 $6,950 $8,194 $8,687 $6,461 
Number of Active Retirees 376 917 1,069 1,185 1,355 1,300 976 7,178 
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Statistical Section 

Schedule of Benefit Recipients by Benefit Type 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Monthly 
Benefit Number of TyEe of Retirement • Refund Annui!Y Options•• LumE-Sum Options •• 
Amount Retirees 1 2 3 4 5 Annuity 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 

$ 1-500 17,140 13,838 43 76 2,671 512 927 6,096 5,'372 943 739 1,470 1,296 297 
501-1,000 22,045 18,349 75 414 2,453 754 1,860 7,911 7,360 1,795 1,212 891 799 217 

1,001-1,500 18,503 15,407 74 519 1,841 662 1,559 6,192 6,668 1,679 891 674 653 187 
1,501-2,000 15,965 13,365 61 495 1,537 507 1,330 4,890 6,025 1,625 777 530 639 149 
2,001-2,500 14,153 12,096 55 469 1,142 391 1,193 4,165 5,407 1,481 629 523 619 136 
2,501-3,000 12,242 10,617 64 360 933 268 1,0'37 3,381 4,831 1,268 518 458 636 113 
3,001-3,500 10,423 9,164 45 293 721 200 8'37 2,831 4,258 1,2'37 382 336 443 99 
3,501-4,000 9,033 8,097 57 185 577 117 709 2,483 3,758 1,138 357 203 321 64 
4,001-4,500 7,946 7,218 42 136 484 66 628 2,090 3,5'37 1,024 311 138 170 48 
4,501-5,000 6,777 6,254 29 92 367 35 452 1,778 3,101 944 281 87 101 33 
5,001-5,500 5,997 5,600 18 49 297 33 409 1,557 2,838 852 201 38 75 27 
5,501-6,000 4,995 4,622 12 43 299 19 349 1,274 2,334 774 165 27 58 14 

6,000+ 15,107 14,120 37 59 844 47 837 3,362 7,325 2,907 474 62 115 25 

Totals 160,326 138,747 612 3,190 14,166 3,611 12,127 48,010 62,814 17,667 6,937 ~437 5,925 !,409 

• Tyge of Retirement •• Annuity and Lumg-Sum Qi2tions 

1-Normal 1- No benefit for beneficiary 
2 - Duty Disability 2 - Beneficiary receives same monthly benefit for life 
3- Non-Duty Disability 3- Beneficiary receives half the monthly benefit for life 
4 -Survivor Payment 4 -15-year certain 
5 -Alternate Payee 

Schedule of Retirement System Membership 
at December 31: Five Year Increments 

Five Year Increments 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 
State Agencies 37,824 46,187 45,068 42,434 38,076 48,018 47,331 50,261 
School Districts 47,590 48,144 55,734 63,133 56,756 79,798 66,184 72,508 
Political Subdivisions 26,238 33,177 40,635 53,291 50,085 65,332 54,662 57,889 
Inactive Members 15,920 23,225 32,033 44,830 47,289 40,481 42,849 47,565 

Total Non-Retired 127,572 150,733 173,470 203,688 192,206 233,629 211,026 228,223 

Retired Members 
and Beneficiaries 46,181 55,540 64,796 82,355 101,213 110,573 136,298 156,277 
Total Membership 173,753 206,273 238,266 286,043 293,419 344,202 347,324 384,500 

Administrative Expense1 $2,905,072 $8,901,091 $13,500,677 $24,358,550 $40,056,600 $38,029,071 $47,934,435 $72,956,312 
Pension Roll (one month) $18,083,614 $33,175,888 $58,457,531 $122,467,087 $202,633,214 $265,490,496 $333,044,107 $408,717,504 

1 Fiduciary Funds only. 

Schedule of Retirement System Membership 
at June 30: 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
State Agencies 45,774 47,620 47,868 48,099 48,320 49,699 49,506 51,340 50,782 
School Districts 64,824 66,434 68,648 69,510 71,238 73,164 72,258 71,894 73,911 

Political Subdivisions2 54,376 54,536 55,160 55,696 56,439 53,464 56,913 56,864 56,247 
Inactive Members 43,646 44,786 45,925 45,709 45,993 48,786 46,530 48,384 51,814 

Total Non-Retired 208,620 213,376 217,601 219,014 221,990 225,113 225,207 228,482 232,754 

Retired Members 
and Beneficiaries 129,138 132,506 136,435 136,435 145,863 149,386 153,622 156,500 160,326 
Total Membership 337,758 345,882 354,036 355,449 367,853 374,499 378,829 384,982 393,080 

Administrative Expense1 $40,395,370 $45,791,942 $51,763,886 $55,931,659 $53,090,243 $54,880,713 $63,911,998 $75,910,699 $74,959,193 
Pension Roll (one month) $303,834,899 $317,090,746 $337,405,252 $355,414,652 $376,397,537 $382,187,402 $399,447,944 $416,186,453 $432,881,154 

1 Fiduciary Funds only. 
2 Includes Community Colleges 
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Statistical Section 

Schedule of Principal Participating Employers 
Current Fiscal Year and Nine Years Ago 

2022 2013 
Numberof Percent of Numberof Percent of 

Current EmEloiees Rank Total sistem Current EmEloiees Rank Total sistem 
State of Oregon 50,782 1 28.07 % 45,019 1 27.58 % 
Portland Public Schools 5,983 2 3.31 5,279 3 3.23 
Portland, City of 5,246 3 2.90 4,390 5 2.69 
Salem-Keizer Public Schools 5,207 4 2.88 4,491 4 2.75 
Multnomah County 4,984 5 2.75 4,394 6 2.69 
Beaverton School District 4,596 6 2.54 3,907 7 2.39 
Oregon Health & Science University 3,564 7 1.97 5,081 2 3.11 
Hillsboro School District #11 2,423 8 1.34 2,329 8 1.43 
Portland Community College 2,134 9 1.18 2,421 9 1.48 
Clackamas County 2,118 10 1.17 1,934 10 1.18 
All Others* 93,903 51.90 84,014 51.47 

Total 180,940 100.00 % 163,259 100.00 % 

* "All Others" consisted of: 

Counties 13,780 7.62 % 10,547 6.46 % 
Municipalities 13,391 7.41 12,317 7.55 
School Districts 53,584 29.62 47,291 28.97 
Community Colleges 5,010 2.77 6,058 3.71 
Other Political Subdivisions 8,138 4.50 7,801 4.78 
Total All Others 93,903 51.90 % 84,014 51.47 % 
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  

Statistical Section 

Schedule of Participating Employers (898) 

State(108) 
Appraiser Certification and licensure 

Board 
Board of Accountancy 

Board of Architect Examiners 

Board of Chiropractic Examiners 

Board of Examiners for Engineering and 

Land Surveying 

Board of Geologist Examiners 

Board of Optometry 

Board of Parole and Post-Prison 

Supervision 

Board of Pharmacy 

Bureau of Labor and Industries 

Commission on Indian Services 

Commission on Judicial Fitness and 

Disability 

Construction Contractors Board 

Department of Administrative Services 

Department of Agriculture 

Department of Aviation 

Department of Consumer and Business 

Services 

Department of Corrections 

Department of Education 

Department of Energy 

Department of Environmental Quality 

Department of Human Services 

Department of Justice 

Department of Land Conservation and 

Development 

Department of Military-Federal Employees 

Department of Revenue 

Department of State Lands 

Department of State Police 

Department of Transportation 

Department of Veterans' Affairs 

Higher Education Coordinating Commission 

District Attorneys Department 

Eastern Oregon University 

Employment Department 

Employment Relations Board 

Forestry Department 

Geology and Mineral Industries 

Health Related Licensing Boards 

Judges PERS 

Judicial Department 

Land Use Board of Appeals 

Landscape Contractors Board 

Legislative Administration Board 

(Committee) 

Legislative Assembly 

Legislative Committees 

Legislative Fiscal Office 

Legislative Policy & Research Committee 

Long Term Care Ombudsman 

Mental Health Regulatory Agency 

Military Department 

Office of Legislative Counsel 

Office of the Governor 

Office of the State Treasurer 

Oregon Advocacy Commissions Office 

Oregon Beef Council 

Oregon Board of Dentistry 

Oregon Board of Massage Therapists 

Oregon Board of Medical Examiners 

Oregon Business Development Department 

Oregon Commission for the Blind 

Oregon Corrections Enterprises 

Oregon Criminal Justice Commission 

Oregon Dairy Products Commission 

Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 

Oregon Dungeness Crab Commission 

Oregon Education Investment Board 

Oregon Film and Video 

Oregon Forest Resources Institute 

Oregon Government Ethics Commission 

Oregon Health Authority 

Oregon Hop Commission 

Oregon Housing and Community Services 

Oregon Institute of Technology 

Oregon Liquor & Cannabis Commission 

Oregon Parks and Recreation Department 

Oregon Patient Safety Commission 

Oregon Potato Commission 

Oregon Racing Commission 

Oregon Salmon Commission 

Oregon State Bar 

Oregon State Bar Professional Liability Fund 

Oregon State Board of Nursing 

Oregon State library 

Oregon State University 

Oregon Tourism Commission 

Oregon Trawl Commission 

Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board 

Oregon Wheat Commission 

Oregon Youth Authority 

Physical Therapist licensing Board 

Portland State University 

Psychiatric Security Review Board 

Public Defense Services Commission 
Public Employees Retirement System 

Public Safety Standards and Training 

Public Utility Commission 

Real Estate Agency 

Secretary of State 

Southern Oregon University 

State Accident Insurance Fund 

State Board of Clinical Social Workers 

State Board of Tax Practitioners 

State Lottery Commission 

State Marine Board 

Teacher Standards and Practices Commission 

Travel Information Council 

University of Oregon 

Water Resources Department 

Western Oregon University 
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Political Subdivisions (479) 

AdairRFPD 
Adair Village, City of 

Albany, City of 

Amity Fire District 

Amity, City of 

Applegate Valley RFPD 9 

Arch Cape Water/Sanitary District 

Ashland Parks Commission 
Ashland, City of 

Astoria, City of 

Athena, City of 

Aumsville RFPD 

Aumsville, City of 

AuroraRFPD 

Aurora, City of 

Baker County 

Baker County library District 

Baker Valley Irrigation District 

Baker City, City of 

Bandon, City of 

Banks Fire District 13 
Banks, City of 

Bay City, City of 

Beaverton, City of 

Bend Metropolitan Park and Recreation 

District 

Bend, City of 

Benton County 

Black Butte Ranch RFPD 

Black Butte Ranch Service District 

Boardman RFPD 

Boardman, City of 

Brookings, City of 

Brownsville RFPD 

Burns, City of 

Burnt River Irrigation District 

Butte Falls, Town of 

CanbyFPD62 

Canby Utility Board 

Canby, City of 

Cannon Beach RFPD 
Cannon Beach, City of 

Canyon City, Town of 

Canyonville, City of 

CareOregon 
Carlton, City of 

Cascade Locks, City of 

Cave Junction, City of 

Central Cascades Fire and EMS 
Central Oregon Coast Fire and Rescue District 

Central Oregon Intergovernmental Council 

Central Oregon Irrigation District 

Central Oregon Regional Housing Authority 

Central Point, City of 

Charleston RFPD 
Chetco Community Public library Board 

Chiloquin, City of 

Chiloquin-Agency Lake RFPD 
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Oackamas County 

aackamas County Fair 

Oackamas County Fire District 1 

Oackamas County Vector Control District 

aackamas River Water 

Oackamas River Water Providers 

aatskanie Library District 

aatskanie People's Utility District 

aatskanie RFPD 

aatskanie, City of 

aatsop County 

Oean Water Services 

aoverdale RFPD 

CoburgRFPD 

Coburg, City of 

Colton RFPD 70 

Columbia City, City of 

Columbia County 

Columbia County 911 Communications 

District 

Columbia Drainage Vector Control District 

Columbia River Fire and Rescue 

Columbia River PUD 

Community Services Consortium 

Condon, City of 

Coos Bay, City of 

Coos County 

Coos County Airport District 

Coquille, City of 

Corbett Water District 

Cornelius, City of 

Corvallis, City of 

Cottage Grove, City of 

Crescent RFPD 

Creswell, City of 

Crook County 

Crook County RFPD 1 

Crooked River Ranch RFPD 

Crystal Springs Water District 

Culver, City of 

Curry County 

Curry Public Library District 

Dallas, City of 

Dayton, City of 

Depoe Bay RFPD 

Depoe Bay, City of 

Deschutes County 

Deschutes Public Library District 

Deschutes Valley Water District 

DexterRFPD 

Douglas County 

Douglas County RFPD 2 

Douglas County Soil and Water 

Conservation District 

Drain, City of 

Dufur, City of 

Dundee, City of 

Dunes City, City of 

Durham, City of 

Eagle Point, City of 

East Fork Irrigation District 

East Umatilla County RFPD 

Echo, City of 

Elgin, City of 

Elkton, City of 

Enterprise, City of 

Estacada Cemetery Maintenance District 

Estacada RFD 69 

Estacada, City of 

Eugene Water and Electric Board 

Eugene, City of 

Fairview Water District 

Fairview, City of 

Falls City, City of 

Farmers Irrigation District 

Fern Ridge Community Library 

Florence, City of 

Forest Grove, City of 

Fossil, City of 

Garibaldi, City of 

GastonRFPD 

Gaston, City of 

Gearhart, City of 

Gervais, City of 

Gilliam County 

Gladstone, City of 

GlideRFPD 

Gold Beach, City of 

Gold Hill, City of 

GoshenRFPD 

Grant County 

Grant County Emergency Communications 

Grants Pass Irrigation District 

Grants Pass, City of 

Greater St. Helens Aquatic District 

Greater Toledo Pool Recreation District 

Green Sanitary District 

Gresham, City of 

Halsey, City of 

Halsey-Shedd RFPD 

Happy Valley, City of 

Harbor Water PUD 

Harney County 

Harney Health District 

Harrisburg Fire and Rescue 

Harrisburg, City of 

Helix, City of 

Heppner, City of 

Hermiston, City of 

High Desert Park and Recreation District 

Hillsboro, City of 

Hines, City of 

Hood River County 

Hood River, City of 

Hoodland RFD 74 

Horsefly Irrigation District 

Housing Authority of Oackamas County 

Housing Authority of Jackson County 

Home Forward 

Hubbard RFPD 

Hubbard, City of 

Huntington, City of 
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Statistical Section 

Ice Fountain Water District 

Idanha-Detroit Rural Fire Protection District 

Illinois Valley RFPD 

ImblerRFPD 

Imbler, City of 

Independence, City of 

Irrigon, City of 

Jackson County 

Jackson County Fire District 3 

Jackson County Fire District 4 

Jackson County Fire District 5 

Jackson County Fire District 6 

Jackson County Vector Control District 

Jacksonville, City of 

Jefferson County 

Jefferson County EMS District 

Jefferson County Library District 

Jefferson County RFPD 1 

Jefferson County SWCD 

Jefferson RFPD 

Jefferson, City of 

John Day, City of 

Jordan Valley, City of 

Joseph, City of 

Josephine County 

Juntura Road District 

Junction City RFPD 

Junction City, City of 

KeizerRFPD 

Keizer, City of 

Keno Rural Fire Protection District 

King City, City of 

Klamath County 

Klamath County Emergency Communications 

Klamath County Fire District 1 

Klamath Falls, City of 

Klamath Housing Authority 

Klamath Vector Control District 

Knappa Svensen Burnside RFPD 

La Grande Rural Fire Protection District 

La Grande, City of 

LaPineRFPD 

Lafayette, City of 

Lake Chinook Fire And Rescue District 

Lake County 

Lake County Library District 

Lake Health District 

Lake Oswego, City of 

Lakeside Water District 

Lakeside, City of 

Lakeview, Town of 

Lane Council of Governments 

Lane County 

Lane Fire Authority 

League of Oregon Cities 

Lebanon Aquatic District 

Lebanon RFPD 

Lebanon, City of 

Lincoln City, City of 

Lincoln County 

Linn County 



  

Statistical Section 

Linn-Benton Housing Authority 

Lowell, City of 

Lowel!RFPD 

Lyons, City of 

Lyons Fire District 

Madras, City of 

Malheur County 

Malin, City of 

Manzanita, City of 

Mapleton Water District 

Marion County 

Marion County Fire District 1 

Marion County Housing Authority 

Maupin, City of 

McKenzie RFPD 

McMinnville Water and Light Department 

McMinnville, City of 

Medford Irrigation District 

Medford Water Commission 

Medford, City of 

Merrill, City of 

Metolius, City of 

METRO 

Metropolitan Area Communication 

Commission 

Mid-COiumbia Center for Living 

Mid-COi um bia Fire And Rescue 

Mid-Valley Behavioral Care Network 

Mill City RFPD 

Mill City, City of 

Millersburg, City of 

Millington RFPD 

Milton-Freewater, City of 

Milwaukie, City of 

Mist-Birkenfeld RFPD 

Mohawk Valley RFD 

Molalla RFPD 73 

Molalla, City of 

Monmouth, City of 

MonroeRFPD 

Monroe, City of 

Moro, City of 

Morrow County 

Mosier Fire District 

Mt. Angel Fire District 

Mt. Angel, City of 

Mt. Vernon, City of 

Mulino Water District 23 

Multnomah County 

Multnomah County Drainage District 1 

Multnomah County RFPD 14 

Myrtle Creek, City of 

Myrtle Point, City of 

Nehalem Bay Fire and Rescue 

Nehalem Bay Health District 

Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency 

Nesika Beach-Ophir Water District 

Neskowin Regional Sanitary Authority 

Neskowin Regional Water District 

Nestucca RFPD 

Netarts Water District 

Netarts-Oceanside RFPD 

Netarts-Oceanside Sanitary District 

Newberg, City of 

Newport, City of 

North Bend City Housing Authority 

North Bend, City of 

North Central Public Health District 

North Clackamas County Water Commission 

North Douglas County Fire and EMS 

North Lincoln Fire & Rescue District 1 

Marion Area Multi-Agency Emergency Telecom 

North Morrow Vector Control District 

North Plains, City of 

North Powder, City of 

North Wasco County Parks & Recreation 

District 

Northeast Oregon Housing Authority 

Northern Oregon Corrections 

Northwest Senior and Disability Services 

Nyssa Road Assessment District 2 

Nyssa, City of 

Oak Lodge Water Services District 

Oakland, City of 

Oakridge, City of 

Ochoco Irrigation District 

Odell Sanitary District 

Ontario, City of 

Oregon Cascades West COG 

Oregon City, City of 

Oregon Community College Association 

Oregon Health & Science University 

Oregon Municipal Electric Utilities 

Association 

Oregon School Boards Association 

Oregon Trail Library District 

Owyhee Irrigation District 

Parkdale RFPD 

Pendleton, City of 

Philomath Fire and Rescue 

Philomath, City of 

Phoenix, City of 

Pilot Rock, City of 

Pleasant Hill Goshen Fire and Rescue 

Pleasant Hill RFPD 

Polk County 

Polk County Fire District 1 

Polk Soil and Water Conservation District 

Port of Astoria 

Port of Cascade Locks 

Port of Columbia County 

Port of Coos Bay, International 

Port of Garibaldi 

Port of Hood River 

Port of Newport 

Port of Portland 

Port of The Dalles 

Port of Tillamook Bay 

Port of Umatilla 

Port Orford Public Library 

Port Orford, City of 

Portland Development Commission 
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Portland, City of 

Powers, City of 

Prairie City, City of 

Prineville, City of 

Rainbow Water District 

Rainier Cemetery District 

Rainier, City of 

Redmond Area Park and Recreation District 

Redmond Fire and Rescue 

Redmond, City of 

Reedsport, City of 

Riddle, City of 

Rockaway Beach, City of 

Rockwood Water PUD 

Rogue River RFPD 

Rogue River Valley Irrigation District 

Rogue River, City of 

Roseburg Urban Sanitary Authority 

Roseburg, City of 

Rural Road Assessment District 3 

Salem Housing Authority 

Salem, City of 

Salmon Harbor Marina 

Sandy RFPD 72 

Sandy, City of 

Scappoose Public Library District 

Scappoose RFPD 

Scappoose, City of 

ScioRFPD 

Seal Rock RFPD 

Seal Rock Water District 

Shady Cove, City of 

Sheridan Fire District 

Sheridan, City of 

Sherman County 

Sherwood, City of 

Siletz Rural Fire Protection District 

Silver Falls Library District 

Silverton RFPD 2 

Silverton, City of 

Sisters and Camp Sherman RFPD 

Sisters, City of 

Siuslaw Public Library District 

Siuslaw RFPD 1 

South Fork Water Board 

South Lane County Fire and Rescue 

South Suburban Sanitary District 

Southwest Lincoln County Water District 

Springfield, City of 

St. Helens, City of 

Stanfield, City of 

Stayton RFPD 

Stayton, City of 

Sublimity RFPD 

Suburban East Salem Water District 

Sunrise Water Authority 

Sunriver Service District 

Sutherlin Water Control District 

Sutherlin, City of 

Sweet Home Cemetery Maintenance District 

Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District 
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Sutherlin, City of 

Sweet Home Cemetery Maintenance District 

Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District 

Sweet Home, City of 

Talent Irrigation District 

Talent, City of 

Tangent RFPD 

Tigard, City of 

Tillamook County Emergency 

Communications District 

Tillamook County Soil and Water 

Conservation District 

Tillamook Fire District 

Tillamook People's Utility District 

Tillamook, City of 

Toledo, City of 

Tri-City Water and Sanitary Authority 

Tri-COunty Cooperative Weed Mgmt Area 

Troutdale, City of 

Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue 

Tualatin Valley Irrigation District 

Tualatin Valley Water District 

Tualatin, City of 

Turner, City of 

Turner Fire District 

Umatilla County 

Umatilla County Fire District #1 

Umatilla County Soil and Water District 

Umatilla County Special library District 

Umatilla RFPD 7-405 

Umatilla, City of 

Umatilla-Morrow Radio and Data District 

Vale, City of 

Valley View Cemetery Maintenance District 

Veneta, City of 

Vernonia RFPD 

Vernonia, City of 

Waldport, City of 

Wallowa County 

Wallowa, City of 
Warrenton, City of 

Wasco County 

Wasco County Soil and Water Conservation 

District 

Washington County 

Washington County Consolidated 

Communications Agency 

West Extension Irrigation District 

West Llnn, City of 

West Multnomah Soil and Water 

Conservation District 

West Side Fire District 

West Slope Water District 

West Valley Fire District 

West Valley Housing Authority 

Western Lane Fire and EMS Authority 

Westfir, City of 

Weston Cemetery District 

Weston, City of 

Wheeler, City of 

Wickiup Water District 

Willamina, City of 

Wilsonville, City of 

Western Lane Ambulance District 

Winchester Bay Sanitary District 

Winston, City of 

Winston-Dillard Fire District 

Winston-Dillard Water District 

Wood Village, City of 

Woodburn Fire District 

Woodburn, City of 

Wy'East Fire District 

Yachats RFPD 

Yachats, City of 

Yamhill Communications Agency 

Yamhill County 

Yamhill Fire Protection District 

Yamhill, City of 

Yoncalla, City of 

Community Colleges (17) 

Blue Mountain Community College 

Central Oregon Community College 

Chemeketa Community College 

Oackamas Community College 

Oatsop Community College 

Columbia Gorge Community College 

Klamath Community College 

Lane Community College 

Llnn-Benton Community College 

Mt. Hood Community College 

Oregon Coast Community College 

Portland Community College 

Rogue Community College 

Southwestern Oregon Community College 

Tillamook Bay Community College 

Treasure Valley Community College 

Umpqua Community College 

School Districts (294) 
Alliance Charter Academy 

Amity School District 
Arco Iris Spanish Immersion Charter School 

Armadillo Technical Institute 

Baker CSD 161 

Baker CSD 30 1 

BakerCSD51 

BakerCSD61 

Baker Web Academy 

Beaverton School District 481 

Bend International School 

Benton CSD 171 

Benton CSD 1J 

Benton CSD 5091 

Benton CSD 71 

Bridge Charter Academy 

Butte Falls School District 

Cannon Beach Academy 

Cascade Heights Public Charter School 

Cascade School District #5 

Center For Advanced Learning 

Central Curry School District 1 

City View Charter School 

Oackamas Charter Alliance 1 
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Oackamas County ESD 

Oackamas CSD 108 

Oackamas CSD 115 

Oackamas CSD 12 

Oackamas CSD 3 

Oackamas CSD 46 

Oackamas CSD 53 

Oackamas CSD 62 

Oackamas CSD 71 

Statistical Section 

Canby School District 

Oackamas Charter Alliance 2 

Oatskanie School District 61 

Oatsop CSD 10 

Oatsop CSD lC 

Oatsop CSD 30 

OatsopCSD8 

Coburg Community Charter School 

Columbia CSD 13 

ColumbiaCSD471 

Columbia CSD 502 

Columbia Gorge Education Service District 

Condon Admin. School District 251 

CoosCSD13 

CoosCSD31 

CoosCSD41 

CoosCSD54 

CoosCSD8 

CoosCSD9 

Crater Lake Charter Academy 

CrookCSD 

Curry CSD 17C 

Curry CSD 2CJ 

Dallas Community School 

Dayton School District 8 

Desert Sky Montessori 

Deschutes CSD 1 

Deschutes CSD 21 

Deschutes CSD 6 

Douglas County ESD 
Douglas CSD 1 

Douglas CSD 105 

Douglas CSD 116 

Douglas CSD 12 

Douglas CSD 130 

Douglas CSD 15 

Douglas CSD 19 

Douglas CSD 21 

Douglas CSD 22 

Douglas CSD 32 

Douglas CSD 34 

Douglas CSD 4 

Douglas CSD 70 

Douglas CSD 77 

Eagle Charter School 

EagleRidge High School 

Eddyville Charter School 

Eola Hills Charter School 

Estacada Web and Early College Academy 1 

Forest Grove Community School 

Fossil School District 211 
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Statistical Section 

Gervais School District #1. 

Gilliam CSD 3 

Grant County ESD 

Grant CSD 161 

GrantCSD17 

GrantCSD4 

GrantCSDB 

Grant School District 3 

Greater Albany Public Schools BJ 

Harmon Academy 

Harney CSD 10 

Harney CSD 13 

Harney CSD 16 

Harney CSD 28 

HarneyCSD3 

HarneyCSD4 

HarneyCSD5 

HarneyCSD7 

Harney CSD UH1J 

Harney ESD Region 17 

Harrisburg School District 7 

High Desert Education Service District 

Hillsboro School District 1J 

Hood River CSD 

Hope Chinese Charter School 

Howard Street Charter School, Inc. 

Inavale Community Partners 

Insight School Of Oregon Charter 

Intermountain ESD 

Ione School District 

Jackson CSD 35 

Jackson CSD 4 

Jackson CSD 5 

Jackson CSD 549C 

Jackson CSD 59 

Jackson CSD 6 

Jackson CSD 9 

Jackson CSD 94 

Jefferson County ESD 

Jefferson CSD 4 

Jefferson CSD 41 

Jefferson CSD 509 J 

Jefferson CSD 8 

Jordan Valley School District 3 

Josephine County UJ School District 

Josephine CSD 7 

KairosPDX 

Kings Valley Charter School 

Klamath CSD CU 

Klamath Falls Qty Schools 

Knappa School District #4 

Knova Learning Oregon 

Lake County ESD 

LakeCSD11C 

LakeCSD14 

LakeCSD18 

LakeCSD21 

LakeCSD7 

Lane County ESD 

LaneCSD1 

LaneCSD19 

LaneCSD28J 

LaneCSD32 

LaneCSD40 

Lane CSD 4513 

LaneCSD4J 

LaneCSD52 

LaneCSD66 

LaneCSD68 

LaneCSD69 

LaneCSD71 

LaneCSD76 

LaneCSD79J 

LaneCSD90 

LaneCSD97J 

Le Mende Immersion Charter School 

Lewis and Oark Montessori Charter School 

LlncolnCSD 

Llnn Benton Llncoln ESD 

Llnn CSD 129 J 

LlnnCSD55 

Llnn CSD 552C 

LlnnCSD9 

LlnnCSD95C 

Logos Public Charter School 

Lourdes Charter School 

Luckiamute Valley Charter School 

Madrone Trail Public Charter School 

Malheur CSD 12 

Malheur CSD 26C 

Malheur CSD 29 

Malheur CSD 61 

Malheur CSD 66 

Malheur CSD 81 

Malheur CSD 84 

Malheur CSD BC 

Malheur ESD Region 14 

Marion CSD 103C 

Marion CSD 14CJ 

Marion CSD 15 

Marion CSD 45 

Marion CSD 91 

Mastery Learning Institute 

Metro East Web Academy 

Molalla River Academy 

Molalla River School District 

MorrowCSD 

Mosier Community School 

Multisensory Institute Teaching Children 

Multnomah Learning Academy 

Multnomah County ESD 

Multnomah CSD 1 

Multnomah CSD 10 

Multnomah CSD 28-302 JT 

Multnomah CSD 3 

Multnomah CSD 39 

Multnomah CSD 51JT 

Multnomah CSD 7 

Multnomah CSD R-40 

Nixya'awii Community School 

North Central ESD 

North Powder School District 
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North Santiam School District 291 

North Wasco CSD 21 

Northwest Regional ESD 

Opal School 

Oregon Charter Academy 

Oregon Connections Academy at Prairie Qty 

Oregon Family School 

Oregon Virtual Academy 

Oregon Virtual Education East 

Oregon Virtual Education West 

Personalized Learning, Inc. 

Phoenix School, The 

PolkCSD13J 

PolkCSD2 

PolkCSD21 

PolkCSD57 

Portland Village School 

Powell Butte Community Charter School 

Renaissance Public Academy 

Ridgeline Montessori Public Charter School 

River's Edge Academy Charter School 

Sage Community School 

Salem-Keizer Public Schools 

Sand Ridge Charter School 

Sauvie Island School 

Scappoose School District 1J 

Sheridan AllPrep Academy 

Sheridan Japanese School Foundation 

ShermanCSD 

Sherwood Charter School 

Siletz Valley Early College Academy 

Siletz Valley School 

Silver Falls School District 

Sisters Web and Early College Academy #3 

South Coast ESD Region 7 

South Columbia Family School 

South Harney School District 33 

South Wasco County School District 1 

Southern Oregon ESD 

Springfield Academy Of Arts & Academics 

Springwater Environmental Sciences School 

Summit Learning Center 

Sunny Wolf Charter School 

Sweet Home Charter School 

The Cottonwood School of Qvics and Science 

The Emerson School 

The Ivy School 

The Lighthouse School 

The Valley School of Southern Oregon 

The Village School 

Three Rivers Charter School 

Tillamook CSD 101 

Tillamook CSD 56 

Tillamook CSD 9 

Trillium Charter School 

Umatilla County Administrative School 

District1R 

Umatilla CSD 16R 

Umatilla CSD 29RJ 

Umatilla CSD 2R 

Umatilla CSD 5 
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Umatilla CSD 29R1 

Umatilla CSD 2R 

Umatilla CSD 5 

Umatilla CSD 61R 

Umatilla CSD 6R 

Umatilla CSD 7 

Umatilla CSD SOR 

Umatilla CSD BR 

UnionCSD1 

UnionCSD11 

UnionCSD15 

UnionCSD23 

UnionCSD5 

Valley Inquiry Charter School 

Wahtonka Community School 

Wallowa County Region 18 ESD 

Wallowa CSD 12 

Wallowa CSD 21 

Wallowa CSD 54 

Wallowa CSD 6 

WascoCSD29 

Washington CSD 13 

Washington CSD 15 

Washington CSD 231 

Washington CSD 511JT 

Participation of Employers in Defined Benefit and Other Postemployment Benefit Plans 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan - all 898 employers participate 

RI-IlA OPEB Plan - all 898 employers participate 

RI-IlPA OPEB Plan - all 108 state agency employers participate (see page 175) 
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Statistical Section 

Washington CSD 881 

West Lane Technical Learning Center 

Wheeler CSD 55U 

Wheeler CSD 1 

Willamette Connections Academy 

Willamette ESD 

Woodland Charter School 

Yamhill CSD 1 

Yamhill CSD 29JT 

Yamhill CSD 30-44-631 

Yamhill CSD 40 

Yamhill CSD 481 
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